

ELLIIT

Excellence Center at Linköping – Lund in Information Technology

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Contact:

Chair of the steering group: Per Dannetun (LiU), per.dannetun@liu.se Chair of the program management group: Ass. Prof. Inger Erlander Klein (LiU), inger.erlander.klein@liu.se Director: Prof. Erik G Larsson (LiU), erik.g.larsson@liu.se Co-director: Prof. Fredrik Tufvesson (LU), fredrik.tufvesson@eit.lth.se Program Coordinator: Angela Sanseverino (LiU), <u>angela.sanseverino@liu.se</u>



INSTRUCTIONS

Within ELLIIT, we have defined the terms "core" and "environment". The core comprises, among others, individuals engaged in the ELLIIT management, PIs and co-PIs of ELLIIT projects, ELLIIT Recruited Faculty, as well as Postdocs and Ph.D. students working in ELLIIT projects. The expectation on ELLIIT's core is to normally report not only work directly funded by ELLIIT but also activities that are to some extent connected thereto, such as keynotes, courses, outreach, awards, patents, industry collaborations and open source software contributions. We ask that you to bear that in mind when completing the report.

Please do not change the document formatting.

1) ELLIIT Project PIs/co-PIs (Calls A-C) and ELLIIT Recruited Faculty:

- Go to "Input from ELLIIT Projects" and find your Project(s) <u>or your name</u>. Fill in the required information under the 14 specified sections. For sections where you do not have anything to report, please explicitly state N/A.
- Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty, research engineers etc): here we ask that you report everyone who <u>has been involved</u> in the project at any point in time (i.e. <u>not only during 2022</u>).
- For the section "Main scientific achievements", please write a coherent story (2-3 paragraphs) about the most important results. No publication lists here.
- For the section "List of patent applications", please add (only) patent applications <u>published</u> <u>during 2022</u>
- At the end of the document, there is an Appendix to be completed by **all Project Pls/co-Pls and ELLIIT recruited faculty**. Please fill in information about "Other recruitments in the broader ELLIIT environment", "Guest researchers and visiting students" as well as "Ph.D. and licentiate defences".

2) PIs/co-PIs of ELLIIT Infrastructure Initiatives and ELLIIT Gender Projects:

• Please report your main achievements, status of the project, recruitments/ persons involved in the projects, etc.

Deadline: April 15, 2023.



Table of Contents

Introduction	7
The expansion of ELLIIT	7
Management structure	7
ELLIIT calls 2020-2022, approved projects	8
ELLIIT Call A	8
A1: Cooperative Autonomous Vehicles: Vehicular Communications for Maneuver Coordination in Urb Environment	
A2: Scalable Data Processing in Networked Systems	10
A3: Autonomous Radiation Mapping and Isotope Composition Identification by Mobile Gamma Spect	
A4: Secure Transparent Communications in the Industrial Internet	16
A5: Dynamics and Control of Data-Driven Networks	21
A6: Robust motion planning	23
A7: Effective Business Prototyping for Software Startups	
A8: Gazing at Code Review(s)	29
A9: Safety and Resilience in Multi-Vehicle Behavioral Control for Autonomous Ground Vehicles	32
A10: Privacy-Preserving Machine Learning for Synthetic Spatio-Temporal Trajectory Data Generation	
A11: Novel Sounder Development, Parameter Estimation and Modeling for lower THz Radio Channels	
A12: Usable digital twins in healthcare	
A13: Deepfakes and the curse of GANS	
A14: Embodied Visual Active Learning	
A15: Relation Extraction with Deep Neural Language Models	
A16: Control-as-a-Service: Resilient feedback control systems for Industry 4.0 based on Commercial-C	
Shelf components and cloud platforms	
A17: Multistatic high-resolution sensing at THz	
A18: Rational Oversampling in Coherent Optical	
A19: Software Regression Testing with Near Failure Assertions	
A20: Efficient and Reliable Training of Generative Adversarial Networks	
A21: Protecting software against side-channel leakage	
A22: Human Interaction with Autonomous Minibuses (HIAM)	
ELLIIT Call B	69
B1: Ultra-reliable wireless for 6G applications	69
B2: Baseband Processing for Beyond 5G Wireless	75
B3: Energy-efficient ICs for 6G and radars transceivers	81
B4: 5G/6G Security	
B5: 6G wireless, sub-project: vehicular communications	90
B6: Robust and Secure Control over the Cloud	94
B7: Quality assurance in continuous software engineering	98
	2



B9: Collaborative robotics 107 B10: Geometrically Constrained Learning for Vision 111 B11: Local Positioning Systems 114 B12: Visual Feature Based Data Reduction 119 B13: Scalable Optimization for Learning in Control 123 B14: Autonomous Force-Aware Swift Motion Control 126 B15: Information Handling in Industrial IoT 132 ELLIIT Coll C 138 C1: Dynamics of complex socio-technological network systems 138 C2: Developing core-technologies for tree-based models 141 C3: Real-Time Realistic Pixel Synthesis using Deep Learning for Augmented and Virtual Reality 144 C4: Brain-Based Monitoring of Sound 146 C5: GPAI – General Purpose AI Computing 149 C6: In situ real-time characterization of large 5G and beyond antenna systems 153 C7: The DiaVoc project: Diagnosing vocal characteristics to track patients' health 156 C8: Situation Aware Perception for Safe Autonomous Robotics Systems 167 D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures 167 D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures 167 D3: Officerte optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems 168	B8: Cloud Tooling for Large-Scale Cyber-Physical System Model-Based Development	102
B11: Local Positioning Systems 114 B12: Visual Feature Based Data Reduction 119 B13: Scalable Optimization for Learning in Control 123 B14: Autonomous Force-Aware Swift Motion Control 126 B15: Information Handling in Industrial IoT 132 ELLIIT Call C 138 C1: Dynamics of complex socio-technological network systems 138 C2: Developing core-technologies for tree-based models 141 C3: Real-Time Realistic Pixel Synthesis using Deep Learning for Augmented and Virtual Reality 144 C4: Brain-Based Monitoring of Sound 146 C5: GPAI - General Purpose AI Computing 149 C6: In situ real-time characterization of large SG and beyond antenna systems 153 C7: The DiaVoc project: Diagnosing vocal characteristics to track patients' health 156 C8: Situation Aware Perception for Safe Autonomous Robotics Systems 160 C9: Data Sharing for Industry 4.0 Machine Learning 163 ELLIIT Call D 167 D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures 167 D2: Integrated reactive motion planning and motion control 167 D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy 168 D4: Visual analytics of lar		
B12: Visual Feature Dased Data Reduction 119 B13: Scalable Optimization for Learning in Control 123 B14: Autonomous Force-Aware Swift Motion Control 126 B15: Information Handling in Industrial IoT 132 ELLIIT Coll C 138 C1: Dynamics of complex socio-technological network systems 138 C2: Developing core-technologies for tree-based models 141 C3: Real-Time Realistic Pixel Synthesis using Deep Learning for Augmented and Virtual Reality 144 C4: Brain-Based Monitoring of Sound 146 C5: GPAI – General Purpose AI Computing 149 C6: In situ real-time characterization of large SG and beyond antenna systems 153 C7: The DiaVoc project: Diagnosing vocal characteristics to track patients' health 156 C8: Situation Aware Perception for Safe Autonomous Robotics Systems 160 C9: Data Sharing for Industry 4.0 Machine Learning 167 D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures 167 D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy 168 D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks 168 D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems 168 D6: FL410T: Energy-Ef		
B13: Scalable Optimization for Learning in Control 123 B14: Autonomous Force-Aware Swift Motion Control 126 B15: Information Handling in Industrial IoT 132 ELLIIT Coll C 138 C1: Dynamics of complex socio-technological network systems 138 C2: Developing core-technologies for tree-based models 141 C3: Real-Time Realistic Pixel Synthesis using Deep Learning for Augmented and Virtual Reality 144 C4: Brain-Based Monitoring of Sound 146 C5: GPAI – General Purpose AI Computing 149 C6: In situ real-time characterization of large SG and beyond antenna systems 153 C7: The DiaVoc project: Diagnosing vocal characteristics to track patients' health 156 C8: Situation Aware Perception for Safe Autonomous Robotics Systems 160 C9: Data Sharing for Industry 4.0 Machine Learning 167 D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures 167 D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy 168 D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks 168 D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems 169 D7: DDOS detection in SG/6G networks 168 D6: FL4IoT: Energy-Effici		
B14: Autonomous Force-Aware Swift Motion Control 126 B15: Information Handling in Industrial IoT 132 ELLIIT Coll C 138 C1: Dynamics of complex socio-technological network systems 138 C2: Developing core-technologies for tree-based models 141 C3: Real-Time Realistic Pixel Synthesis using Deep Learning for Augmented and Virtual Reality 144 C4: Brain-Based Monitoring of Sound 146 C5: GPAI - General Purpose AI Computing 149 C6: In situ real-time characterization of large 5G and beyond antenna systems 153 C7: The DiaVoc project: Diagnosing vocal characteristics to track patients' health 156 C8: Situation Aware Perception for Safe Autonomous Robotics Systems 160 C9: Data Sharing for Industry 4.0 Machine Learning 167 D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures 167 D2: Integrated reactive motion planning and motion control 167 D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy 168 D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks 168 D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems 168 D6: FL4IoT: Energy-Efficient Federated Learning for Internet of Things (IoT) Systems 169 <td>B12: Visual Feature Based Data Reduction</td> <td>119</td>	B12: Visual Feature Based Data Reduction	119
B15: Information Handling in Industrial IoT 132 ELLIIT Coll C 138 C1: Dynamics of complex socio-technological network systems 138 C2: Developing core-technologies for tree-based models 141 C3: Real-Time Realistic Pixel Synthesis using Deep Learning for Augmented and Virtual Reality 144 C4: Brain-Based Monitoring of Sound 146 C5: GPAI – General Purpose AI Computing 149 C6: In situ real-time characterization of large 5G and beyond antenna systems 153 C7: The DiaVoc project: Diagnosing vocal characteristics to track patients' health 156 C8: Situation Aware Perception for Safe Autonomous Robotics Systems 166 C9: Data Sharing for Industry 4.0 Machine Learning 167 D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures 167 D2: Integrated reactive motion planning and motion control 167 D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy 168 D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks 168 D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems 168 D6: FL4IoT: Energy-Efficient Federated Learning for Internet of Things (IoT) Systems 169 D7: DDoS detection in SG/6G networks 169		
ELLIIT Coll C 138 C1: Dynamics of complex socio-technological network systems 138 C2: Developing core-technologies for tree-based models 141 C3: Real-Time Realistic Pixel Synthesis using Deep Learning for Augmented and Virtual Reality 144 C4: Brain-Based Monitoring of Sound 146 C5: GPAI — General Purpose AI Computing 149 C6: In situ real-time characterization of large 5G and beyond antenna systems 153 C7: The DiaVoc project: Diagnosing vocal characteristics to track patients' health 156 C8: Situation Aware Perception for Safe Autonomous Robotics Systems 160 C9: Data Sharing for Industry 4.0 Machine Learning 167 D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures 167 D2: Integrated reactive motion planning and motion control 167 D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy 168 D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks 168 D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems 168 D6: FL4IOT: Energy-Efficient Federated Learning for Internet of Things (IoT) Systems 169 D7: DDoS detection in SG/6G networks 169 D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping 170 <td></td> <td></td>		
C1: Dynamics of complex socio-technological network systems. 138 C2: Developing core-technologies for tree-based models. 141 C3: Real-Time Realistic Pixel Synthesis using Deep Learning for Augmented and Virtual Reality. 144 C4: Brain-Based Monitoring of Sound 146 C5: GPAI — General Purpose AI Computing 149 C6: In situ real-time characterization of large 5G and beyond antenna systems. 153 C7: The DiaVoc project: Diagnosing vocal characteristics to track patients' health 156 C8: Situation Aware Perception for Safe Autonomous Robotics Systems. 160 C9: Data Sharing for Industry 4.0 Machine Learning 167 D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures. 167 D2: Integrated reactive motion planning and motion control 167 D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy 168 D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks. 168 D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems. 168 D6: FL4IoT: Energy-Efficient Federated Learning for Internet of Things (IoT) Systems. 169 D7: Db3 detection in SG/6G networks 169 D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping. 170 D10: Optimal estimation and	B15: Information Handling in Industrial IoT	132
C2: Developing core-technologies for tree-based models. 141 C3: Real-Time Realistic Pixel Synthesis using Deep Learning for Augmented and Virtual Reality. 144 C4: Brain-Based Monitoring of Sound 146 C5: GPAI — General Purpose AI Computing 149 C6: In situ real-time characterization of large 5G and beyond antenna systems. 153 C7: The DiaVoc project: Diagnosing vocal characteristics to track patients' health. 156 C8: Situation Aware Perception for Safe Autonomous Robotics Systems. 160 C9: Data Sharing for Industry 4.0 Machine Learning 167 D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures. 167 D2: Integrated reactive motion planning and motion control 167 D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy. 168 D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks 168 D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems. 168 D6: FL4IoT: Energy-Efficient Federated Learning for Internet of Things (IoT) Systems 169 D7: DD0S detection in SG/6G networks 169 D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping 170 D10: Optimal estimation and control at scale. 170 D11: Near memory computing for data-centri	ELLIIT Call C	
C2: Developing core-technologies for tree-based models. 141 C3: Real-Time Realistic Pixel Synthesis using Deep Learning for Augmented and Virtual Reality. 144 C4: Brain-Based Monitoring of Sound 146 C5: GPAI — General Purpose AI Computing 149 C6: In situ real-time characterization of large 5G and beyond antenna systems. 153 C7: The DiaVoc project: Diagnosing vocal characteristics to track patients' health. 156 C8: Situation Aware Perception for Safe Autonomous Robotics Systems. 160 C9: Data Sharing for Industry 4.0 Machine Learning 167 D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures. 167 D2: Integrated reactive motion planning and motion control 167 D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy. 168 D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks 168 D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems. 168 D6: FL4IoT: Energy-Efficient Federated Learning for Internet of Things (IoT) Systems 169 D7: DD0S detection in SG/6G networks 169 D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping 170 D10: Optimal estimation and control at scale. 170 D11: Near memory computing for data-centri	C1: Dynamics of complex socio-technological network systems	
C4: Brain-Based Monitoring of Sound 146 C5: GPAI — General Purpose AI Computing. 149 C6: In situ real-time characterization of large 5G and beyond antenna systems 153 C7: The DiaVoc project: Diagnosing vocal characteristics to track patients' health 156 C8: Situation Aware Perception for Safe Autonomous Robotics Systems 160 C9: Data Sharing for Industry 4.0 Machine Learning 167 D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures. 167 D2: Integrated reactive motion planning and motion control 167 D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy. 168 D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks. 168 D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems 169 D7: DDoS detection in 5G/6G networks 169 D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping. 170 D1: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures 171 D1: Optimal estimation and control at scale 170 D1: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures 171 D1: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software. 172 S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure. 172 S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrast		
C5: GPAI — General Purpose AI Computing149C6: In situ real-time characterization of large 5G and beyond antenna systems153C7: The DiaVoc project: Diagnosing vocal characteristics to track patients' health156C8: Situation Aware Perception for Safe Autonomous Robotics Systems160C9: Data Sharing for Industry 4.0 Machine Learning167D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures167D2: Integrated reactive motion planning and motion control167D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy168D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks168D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems169D7: DDOS detection in 5G/6G networks169D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping170D1: Optimal estimation and control at scale170D1: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures171D12: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software172S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure172S2: LISA - Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access173S3: Research Platform for G6, Sub-T12 Radar, and Beyond174S4: Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at Linköping and Lund175S5: Connectivity and compute lab for edge computing – the 5G lab175S6: AlOps: A scalable research platform for artificial intelligence176S7: Visualization Support and Consulting – Infrastructure, Software, and Competence177		
C5: GPAI — General Purpose AI Computing149C6: In situ real-time characterization of large 5G and beyond antenna systems153C7: The DiaVoc project: Diagnosing vocal characteristics to track patients' health156C8: Situation Aware Perception for Safe Autonomous Robotics Systems160C9: Data Sharing for Industry 4.0 Machine Learning167D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures167D2: Integrated reactive motion planning and motion control167D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy168D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks168D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems169D7: DDOS detection in 5G/6G networks169D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping170D1: Optimal estimation and control at scale170D1: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures171D12: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software172S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure172S2: LISA - Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access173S3: Research Platform for G6, Sub-T12 Radar, and Beyond174S4: Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at Linköping and Lund175S5: Connectivity and compute lab for edge computing – the 5G lab175S6: AlOps: A scalable research platform for artificial intelligence176S7: Visualization Support and Consulting – Infrastructure, Software, and Competence177	C4: Brain-Based Monitoring of Sound	146
C6: In situ real-time characterization of large 5G and beyond antenna systems 153 C7: The DiaVoc project: Diagnosing vocal characteristics to track patients' health 156 C8: Situation Aware Perception for Safe Autonomous Robotics Systems 160 C9: Data Sharing for Industry 4.0 Machine Learning 163 ELLIIT Coll D 167 D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures 167 D2: Integrated reactive motion planning and motion control 167 D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy 168 D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks 168 D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems 168 D6: FL4IoT: Energy-Efficient Federated Learning for Internet of Things (IoT) Systems 169 D7: DDOS detection in 5G/6G networks 169 D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping 170 D10: Optimal estimation and control at scale 170 D11: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures 171 D12: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software 172 S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure 172 S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access 173 S3	C5: GPAI — General Purpose AI Computing	149
C7: The DiaVoc project: Diagnosing vocal characteristics to track patients' health 156 C8: Situation Aware Perception for Safe Autonomous Robotics Systems 160 C9: Data Sharing for Industry 4.0 Machine Learning 163 ELLIIT Coll D 167 D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures 167 D2: Integrated reactive motion planning and motion control 167 D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy 168 D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks 168 D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems 168 D6: FL4IoT: Energy-Efficient Federated Learning for Internet of Things (IoT) Systems 169 D7: DDoS detection in 5G/6G networks 169 D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping 170 D10: Optimal estimation and control at scale 170 D11: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures 171 D12: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software 172 S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure 172 S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access 173 D3: Research Platform for 6G, Sub-THz Radar, and Beyond 174 S4: Joint Autonomous Sys		
C8: Situation Aware Perception for Safe Autonomous Robotics Systems. 160 C9: Data Sharing for Industry 4.0 Machine Learning 163 ELLIIT Call D 167 D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures. 167 D2: Integrated reactive motion planning and motion control 167 D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy 168 D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks 168 D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems 168 D6: FL410T: Energy-Efficient Federated Learning for Internet of Things (IoT) Systems 169 D7: DDoS detection in 5G/6G networks 169 D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping 170 D9: Efficient Mid-range Wireless Power Transfer with Intelligent Surfaces (EMPTIS) 170 D10: Optimal estimation and control at scale 170 D11: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures 171 D12: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software 172 S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure 172 S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access 173 S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access 173 S3: Research P		
C9: Data Sharing for Industry 4.0 Machine Learning163ELLIIT Coll D167D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures167D2: Integrated reactive motion planning and motion control167D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy168D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks168D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems168D6: FL4IoT: Energy-Efficient Federated Learning for Internet of Things (IoT) Systems169D7: DDoS detection in 5G/6G networks169D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping170D9: Efficient Mid-range Wireless Power Transfer with Intelligent Surfaces (EMPTIS)170D10: Optimal estimation and control at scale170D11: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures171D12: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software172S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure172S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access173S3: Research Platform for 6G, Sub-THz Radar, and Beyond174S4: Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at Linköping and Lund175S5: Connectivity and compute lab for edge computing – the SG lab175S6: AlOps: A scalable research platform for artificial intelligence176S7: Visualization Support and Consulting – Infrastructure, Software, and Competence177		
ELLIIT Call D 167 D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures 167 D2: Integrated reactive motion planning and motion control 167 D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy 168 D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks 168 D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems 168 D6: FL4IoT: Energy-Efficient Federated Learning for Internet of Things (IoT) Systems 169 D7: DDoS detection in 5G/6G networks 169 D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping 170 D9: Efficient Mid-range Wireless Power Transfer with Intelligent Surfaces (EMPTIS) 170 D10: Optimal estimation and control at scale 170 D11: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures 171 D12: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software 172 S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure. 172 S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access 173 S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access 173 S3: Research Platform for 6G, Sub-THz Radar, and Beyond 174 S4: Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at Linköping and Lund 175 S5: Connectivity and co		
D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures.167D2: Integrated reactive motion planning and motion control167D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy.168D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks.168D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems.168D6: FL4IoT: Energy-Efficient Federated Learning for Internet of Things (IoT) Systems.169D7: DDoS detection in 5G/6G networks169D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping.170D9: Efficient Mid-range Wireless Power Transfer with Intelligent Surfaces (EMPTIS)170D10: Optimal estimation and control at scale170D11: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures171D12: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software.172S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure172S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access173S3: Research Platform for 6G, Sub-THz Radar, and Beyond174S4: Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at Linköping and Lund175S5: Connectivity and compute lab for edge computing – the 5G lab176S7: Visualization Support and Consulting – Infrastructure, Software, and Competence177		
D2: Integrated reactive motion planning and motion control167D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy168D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks168D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems168D6: FL4IoT: Energy-Efficient Federated Learning for Internet of Things (IoT) Systems169D7: DDoS detection in SG/6G networks169D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping170D9: Efficient Mid-range Wireless Power Transfer with Intelligent Surfaces (EMPTIS)170D10: Optimal estimation and control at scale170D11: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures171D12: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software172S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure172S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access173S3: Research Platform for GG, Sub-THz Radar, and Beyond174S4: Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at Linköping and Lund175S5: Connectivity and compute lab for edge computing – the 5G lab175S6: AlOps: A scalable research platform for artificial intelligence176S7: Visualization Support and Consulting – Infrastructure, Software, and Competence177		
D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy.168D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks.168D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems.168D6: FL4IoT: Energy-Efficient Federated Learning for Internet of Things (IoT) Systems169D7: DDoS detection in 5G/6G networks169D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping.170D9: Efficient Mid-range Wireless Power Transfer with Intelligent Surfaces (EMPTIS)170D10: Optimal estimation and control at scale170D11: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures171D12: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software.172S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure172S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access173S3: Research Platform for 6G, Sub-THz Radar, and Beyond174S4: Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at Linköping and Lund175S5: Connectivity and compute lab for edge computing – the 5G lab175S6: AlOps: A scalable research platform for artificial intelligence.176S7: Visualization Support and Consulting – Infrastructure, Software, and Competence177		
D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks168D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems168D6: FL4IoT: Energy-Efficient Federated Learning for Internet of Things (IoT) Systems169D7: DDoS detection in 5G/6G networks169D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping170D9: Efficient Mid-range Wireless Power Transfer with Intelligent Surfaces (EMPTIS)170D10: Optimal estimation and control at scale170D11: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures171D12: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software172S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure172S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access174S4: Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at Linköping and Lund175S5: Connectivity and compute lab for edge computing – the 5G lab175S6: AIOps: A scalable research platform for artificial intelligence176S7: Visualization Support and Consulting – Infrastructure, Software, and Competence177		
D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems168D6: FL4IoT: Energy-Efficient Federated Learning for Internet of Things (IoT) Systems169D7: DDoS detection in 5G/6G networks169D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping170D9: Efficient Mid-range Wireless Power Transfer with Intelligent Surfaces (EMPTIS)170D10: Optimal estimation and control at scale170D11: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures171D12: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software172S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure172S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access173S3: Research Platform for 6G, Sub-THz Radar, and Beyond174S4: Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at Linköping and Lund175S5: Connectivity and compute lab for edge computing – the 5G lab176S7: Visualization Support and Consulting – Infrastructure, Software, and Competence177		
D6: FL4IoT: Energy-Efficient Federated Learning for Internet of Things (IoT) Systems169D7: DDoS detection in 5G/6G networks169D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping170D9: Efficient Mid-range Wireless Power Transfer with Intelligent Surfaces (EMPTIS)170D10: Optimal estimation and control at scale170D11: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures171D12: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software171ELLIIT Infrastructure Initiatives172S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure172S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access173S3: Research Platform for 6G, Sub-THz Radar, and Beyond174S4: Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at Linköping and Lund175S5: Connectivity and compute lab for edge computing – the 5G lab175S6: AIOps: A scalable research platform for artificial intelligence176S7: Visualization Support and Consulting – Infrastructure, Software, and Competence177		
D7: DDoS detection in 5G/6G networks169D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping170D9: Efficient Mid-range Wireless Power Transfer with Intelligent Surfaces (EMPTIS)170D10: Optimal estimation and control at scale170D11: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures171D12: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software171ELLIIT Infrastructure Initiatives172S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure172S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access173S3: Research Platform for 6G, Sub-THz Radar, and Beyond174S4: Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at Linköping and Lund175S5: Connectivity and compute lab for edge computing – the 5G lab176S7: Visualization Support and Consulting – Infrastructure, Software, and Competence177		
D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping.170D9: Efficient Mid-range Wireless Power Transfer with Intelligent Surfaces (EMPTIS)170D10: Optimal estimation and control at scale170D11: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures171D12: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software.171ELLIIT Infrastructure Initiatives.172S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure.172S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access173S3: Research Platform for 6G, Sub-THz Radar, and Beyond174S4: Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at Linköping and Lund175S5: Connectivity and compute lab for edge computing – the 5G lab176S7: Visualization Support and Consulting – Infrastructure, Software, and Competence177		
D9: Efficient Mid-range Wireless Power Transfer with Intelligent Surfaces (EMPTIS)170D10: Optimal estimation and control at scale170D11: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures171D12: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software171ELLIIT Infrastructure Initiatives172S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure172S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access173S3: Research Platform for 6G, Sub-THz Radar, and Beyond174S4: Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at Linköping and Lund175S5: Connectivity and compute lab for edge computing – the 5G lab176S7: Visualization Support and Consulting – Infrastructure, Software, and Competence177	· ·	
D10: Optimal estimation and control at scale170D11: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures171D12: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software171ELLIIT Infrastructure Initiatives172S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure172S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access173S3: Research Platform for 6G, Sub-THz Radar, and Beyond174S4: Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at Linköping and Lund175S5: Connectivity and compute lab for edge computing – the 5G lab175S6: AIOps: A scalable research platform for artificial intelligence176S7: Visualization Support and Consulting – Infrastructure, Software, and Competence177		
D11: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures171D12: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software171ELLIIT Infrastructure Initiatives172S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure172S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access173S3: Research Platform for 6G, Sub-THz Radar, and Beyond174S4: Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at Linköping and Lund175S5: Connectivity and compute lab for edge computing – the 5G lab175S6: AIOps: A scalable research platform for artificial intelligence176S7: Visualization Support and Consulting – Infrastructure, Software, and Competence177		
D12: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software		
ELLIIT Infrastructure Initiatives172S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure.172S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access173S3: Research Platform for 6G, Sub-THz Radar, and Beyond174S4: Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at Linköping and Lund175S5: Connectivity and compute lab for edge computing – the 5G lab175S6: AIOps: A scalable research platform for artificial intelligence176S7: Visualization Support and Consulting – Infrastructure, Software, and Competence177		
S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure.172S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access173S3: Research Platform for 6G, Sub-THz Radar, and Beyond174S4: Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at Linköping and Lund175S5: Connectivity and compute lab for edge computing – the 5G lab175S6: AIOps: A scalable research platform for artificial intelligence176S7: Visualization Support and Consulting – Infrastructure, Software, and Competence177		
S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access173S3: Research Platform for 6G, Sub-THz Radar, and Beyond174S4: Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at Linköping and Lund175S5: Connectivity and compute lab for edge computing – the 5G lab175S6: AIOps: A scalable research platform for artificial intelligence176S7: Visualization Support and Consulting – Infrastructure, Software, and Competence177	ELLIII Infrastructure Initiatives	172
 S3: Research Platform for 6G, Sub-THz Radar, and Beyond	S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure	172
 S4: Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at Linköping and Lund	S2: LISA – Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access	173
 S5: Connectivity and compute lab for edge computing – the 5G lab	S3: Research Platform for 6G, Sub-THz Radar, and Beyond	174
S6: AlOps: A scalable research platform for artificial intelligence		
S7: Visualization Support and Consulting – Infrastructure, Software, and Competence	S5: Connectivity and compute lab for edge computing – the 5G lab	175
	S6: AIOps: A scalable research platform for artificial intelligence	176
S8: Visionen 2.0		
	S8: Visionen 2.0	179



Input from ELLIIT recruited faculty	179
Jörn Janneck, Associate Professor in Embedded System Design (LU)	179
Bo Bernhardsson, Professor in Automatic Control (LU)	179
Tom Ziemke, Professor in Cognitive Systems (LiU)	
Ingrid Hotz, Professor in Visualization (LiU)	
Jürgen Börstler, Professor in Software Engineering (BTH)	191
Björn Landfeldt, Professor in Communication networks (LU)	194
Cristian Sminchisescu, Professor in Computer Vision (LU)	197
Michael Lentmaier, Associate Professor in Communication (LU)	199
Jonas Unger, Professor in Computer Graphics (LiU)	201
Andreas Kerren, Professor in Information Visualization (LiU)	
Fredrik Lindsten, Associate Professor in Machine Learning (LiU)	
Richard Pates, Associate Professor in Control of Large-Scale Autonomous System (LU)	
Zheng Chen, Assistant Professor in Communication Systems (LiU)	218
Farnaz Adib Yaghmaie, Assistant Professor in Automatic Control with focus on Reinforceme (LiU)	
Viktor Larsson, Assistant Professor in Mathematics (LU)	222
Susanna F. de Rezende, Assistant Professor in Theoretical Computer Science (LU)	224
Daniel Jung, Associate Professor in Fault Diagnostics and Prognostics (LiU)	227
Soheil Samii, Associate Professor in Cyber-Physical Systems (LiU)	229
Maria De Lauretis, Associate Senior Lecturer in Electromagnetic Compatibility (HH)	
Henry Edison, Associate Senior Lecturer in Software Engineering (BTH)	233
Yiannis Karayiannidis, Associate Professor in Automatic Control with focus on Robotics (LU)	234
Onur Günlü, Assistant Professor of Information-Theoretic Privacy and Security (LiU)	237
ELLIIT Gender projects	239
LiU Division of Media and Information Technology LTH Mathematics BTH	240
Report on the additional work of the gender equality team	242
Focus groups for gender equality actions	242



	Which measures are effective?		
	Plan for 2023	243	
A	PPENDIX	245	
	Other recruitments in the broader ELLIIT environment	245	
	List of Ph.D. and licentiate defenses	246	
	Guest researchers and visiting students	247	
	List of invited talks, keynotes, plenaries, tutorials and other significant dissemination events	247	
	List of distinguished lectures 2022	248	
	References 2022		
	Scientific peer-reviewed publications in refereed journals	2	49
	Scientific peer- reviewed conference papers	2	76
	Licentiate theses	3	03
	PhD theses	3	04
	Chapters in books	3	06
	Reports		
	Proceedings Edition	3	08
	Books	3	08



Introduction

The expansion of ELLIIT

ELLIIT underwent a significant expansion in 2020, with a total annual budget of currently 110 MSEK (2023). The funding is pre-allocated as 45 % to each of LiU and LU, and 5 % to each of BTH and HH. In June 2020 a new agreement between the four partners was signed, that outlines the forms of management and cooperation. A principle for the use of funding was established, which determines that 30-50% of the funding should be used for the support of projects and 30-50% of should be used to fund tenured and tenure-track positions in the ICT area covered by the scope of ELLIIT. 0-20 % of the funding should be used for special initiatives.

Management structure

The ELLIIT management structure and roles has evolved since 2020, to account for the extended funding and increase in scope. From July 2020, the program is governed by a Steering Group (SG) and a Program Group (PG). The PG is led by a Chair and includes the Director and the co-Director. These governing bodies are seconded by the ELLIIT Operations Team, that provide administrative, fiscal and communication support.

The steering group (SG) has had monthly meetings during 2022. The SG decides about the allocation of the project funding and oversees the appointment processes of the ELLIIT permanent positions. It monitors the development of the research projects, and takes initiatives to new project calls, as well as to twinning activities between the university sites and research groups. The SG members are nominated by the partner sites and formally appointed by LiU.

The Program Group (PG) is appointed by the ELLIIT SG and is composed of ELLIIT senior researchers. The PG is responsible for the day-to-day management of the program, follow- up of the scientific activities and planning future activities.

More details are available on the ELLIIT website, <u>www.elliit.se</u>



ELLIIT calls 2020-2022, approved projects

ELLIIT Call A

In 2020, ELLIIT invited proposals for postdoctoral projects to explore new directions within the scope of the ELLIIT Technology Foresight 2030. In total, 84 applications were submitted, and 22 postdoctoral projects were funded, listed below. These projects run for two years, 2020-2022.

A1: Cooperative Autonomous Vehicles: Vehicular Communications for Maneuver Coordination in Urban Environment

PI: Alexey Vinel, Halmstad Participating researcher: Maria Kihl, LU

Summary

Vehicle-to-everything (V2X) communications is a crucial component of future autonomous vehicles. Our objective is to design V2X protocols for maneuver coordination which would serve as a basis for Levels 3-4 autonomous driving and enable safe cooperative maneuvering in urban environment. This postdoctoral research proposal initiates new ELLIIT activity in focus themes 1 and 3 as a collaboration between Professor Alexey Vinel at Halmstad University (PI) and Professor Maria Kihl at Lund University (co-PI). The project is driven by the needs of Swedish automotive industry, specifically Volvo Cars.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

Connected and automated vehicles (CAVs) will be a key component for future cooperative intelligent transportation system (C-ITS). Since the adoption of C-ITS is not foreseen to happen instantly, not all of its elements are going to be connected at the early deployment stages. We consider a scenario, when the vehicles approaching traffic light are connected to each other, but the traffic light itself is not cooperative. Information about indented trajectories such as decisions on how and when to accelerate, decelerate and stop, is communicated amongst the vehicles involved. We provide an optimization-based procedure for efficient and safe passing of traffic lights (or other temporary road blockage) using vehicle-to-vehicle communication (V2V). We locally optimize objectives that promote efficiency such as less deceleration and larger minimum velocity, while maintaining safety in terms of no collisions. The procedure is computationally efficient as it mainly involves a gradient decent algorithm for one single parameter.

Formal models for the safety validation of autonomous vehicles have become increasingly important. To this end, we present a safety framework for longitudinal automated driving. This framework allows calculating minimum safe inter-vehicular distances for arbitrary ego vehicle control policies. We use this



framework to enhance the Responsibility-Sensitive Safety (RSS) model and models based on it, which fail to cover situations where the ego vehicle has a higher decelerating capacity than its preceding vehicle. For arbitrary ego vehicle control policies, we show how our framework can be applied by substituting real (possibly computationally intractable) controllers with upper bounding functions. This comprises a general approach for longitudinal safety, where safety guarantees for the upper-bounded system are equivalent to those for the original system but come at the expense of larger inter-vehicular distances.

2. Awards and recognitions

The article G. Sidorenko, A. Fedorov, J. Thunberg and A. Vinel, "Towards a Complete Safety Framework for Longitudinal Driving," in IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Vehicles, 7(4), 2022 has been "the most popular" in the journal according to the IEEE portal.

3. External funding attracted

ternized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022					
Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project		
SafeSmart – Safety of Connected Intelligent Vehicles in Smart Cities (HH)	ККЅ	2MSEK KKS + 2MSEK HH + 2MSEK in-kind	4 years		
EPIC – Emergency Vehicle Traffic Light Pre- emption in Cities (HH)	VINNOVA	1.2MSEK	2 years		

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Taqwa Saeed (2 years postdoc)	0000-0002-0081-427X	2021-2023
Galina Sidorenko (PhD-student)	0000-0001-8587-2251	from 2021

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

The main scientific results have been achieved in cooperation between Lund University (Aleksei Fedorov), Halmstad University (Alexey Vinel, Johan Thunberg, Galina Sidorenko, Felipe Valle). Taqwa Saeed was with Halmstad University and now with Lund University.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022



7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

N/A

8. International collaboration

N/A

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

N/A

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

N/A

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar $\ensuremath{\mathsf{N/A}}$

14. Open source software contributions

N/A

A2: Scalable Data Processing in Networked Systems

PI: Anders Rantzer, Lund Co-PIs: Richard Pates, LU, Claudio Altafini, LiU, Anders Hansson, LiU

Summary

This project aims to develop scalable algorithms to monitor, predict, and analyze data from largescale dynamic networks. In line with ELLIIT focus theme Big Data and Network Science, the objectives are: 1. To exploit structural properties (such as graph properties, symmetries and conservation laws) in large dynamic networks to for scalable estimation and filtering with noisy and unreliable data. 2. To develop tools to support network operators monitoring the behaviour of networked systems, through scalable



algorithms with provable performance guarantees. They will build on classically established tools for small systems and focus on techniques for extension to large-scale settings. The theory will be supported by applications to emerging areas such as the operation of energy networks with increasing levels of renewable penetration, congestion predictions in city traffic and information propagation in social networks.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

Progress continued on two main fronts:

First, a methodology for designing structured optimal filters and control laws for transportation networks was developed. The method allows for the systematic and scalable implementation of globally optimal control laws and state-estimators. The results were applied to a range of transportation network models, with a particular emphasis on irrigation networks.

Continued research results with relevance to the optimal control of electric power systems, were presented at the Conference on Decision and Control, and published in Control System Letters. A further 15 project relevant journal and conference contributions from the PI and co-PIs were published.

2. Awards and recognitions

Plenary lecture at Reglermöte 2022, Luleå

Plenary lecture at 17th IEEE International Conference on Control and Automation, Neaples Plenary lecture at 10th IFAC Symposium on Robust Control Design, Kyoto, Japan Invited virtual seminar IFAC/IEEE webinar series on Nonlinear Control Systems Invited virtual seminar at Peking University Invited virtual seminar at Beijing Institute of Technology

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title				Fundin	ig source	Granted amount	Duration
						per year	of project
Scalable	Control	of	Interconnected	ERC:	European	0.5 MEUR	2019-2024
Systems				Resear	rch Council		
Statistical	and	Adversarial	Learning in	WASP	collaboration	1.1 MSEK	2019-2024
Continuous Sys	tem Contro	bl		projec	t		
Throughput	Cont	rol in	Autonomous	WASP	PhD project	0.9 SEK	2019-2024
Networks							



AI	for	Guidance,	Navigation	and	Control	European	Space	35 kEUR	2021-2022
(Al4	GNC)					Agency			
Leai	rning in I	Networks: Struc	cture, Dynamics	, and Cor	ntrol	WASP NEST	project	1.0 MSEK	2022-2026

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021-2022, from 2021, etc)
Johan Lindberg	0000-0001-9491-8354	2020-2022

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

There were two main meetings between the PIs and coPIs in 2022 to discuss the key research directions for the project, at the ELLIIT Annual workshop, and the Swedish Control Conference.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

Research discussions with industrial partner emulate.energy were maintained through the year.

8. International collaboration

N/A

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

N/A

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
The CoPI developed new masters course starting Lund January 2022: FRTN75 Learning Based Control	MSc



12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Member of the steering committee for the International Symposium on Mathematical Theory of Networks and Systems Member of Editorial Board for the journal Annual Reviews in Control Member of WASP research management group for Mathematics in Al Member of review panel for completed projects funded by the European Research Council. Member of the IEEE Control Systems Society Fellow Evaluating Committee Member Evaluation Committee for Wallenberg Academy Fellows Member of the Advisory Board for Lecture Notes in Control and Information Sciences at Springer Verlag Heidelberg Member of the IEEE Control System Society Technical Committee on Nonlinear Systems and Control Member of the IFAC Technical Committee on Nonlinear Systems Member of the IPC for L4DC - Conference on Learning for Decision and Control, ETH Zürich, 2021. General Co-chair for the organization of European Control Conferenence 2024 in Stockholm

14. Open source software contributions N/A

A3: Autonomous Radiation Mapping and Isotope Composition Identification by Mobile Gamma Spectroscop

PI: Anders Robertsson, Lund

Participating researchers: R Johansson, LU, M Greiff, LU, R Tyllström, LU, E Rofors, LU

Summary

During commissioning, operation and decommissioning of nuclear power plants, particle accelerators and industries dealing with radioactive materials, there is a need to monitor radiation levels and isotope composition over large swathes of land surrounding the facilities. Ideally, this would be done regularly by an automated system, but during today's decommissioning of the Barsebäck plant and the building of European Spallation Source (ESS) in Lund, such measurements are taken manually using handheld devices by foot, or along roads around the facilities using car-mounted detector systems. Consequently, the goal of this project is to develop statistical methods for inference of radioactive isotope composition from



gamma-radiation spectroscopy taken from an autonomous Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV), permitting the automation of the process of radiation monitoring. This will be a joint project between (i) the Department of Automatic Control (Lund University) responsible for the development of novel algorithmic solutions, (ii) the Department of Nuclear Physics (Lund University) providing new radiation detectors capable of being carried by the UAV, and (iii) the School of Aviation (TFHS) providing the piloting and expertise during field experiments. The proposed project is well aligned with the priority item 1 in the 2030 ELLIIT foresight, as it will involve new models for decision-making and control with novel ways of representing and identifying the radiation intensity functions. This will be done with methods closely related to non-parametric machine learning, also aligning nicely with point A in the 2030 foresight. Consequently, we believe that this is a project ideally suited for ELLIIT due to its compatibility with the foresight, and we strongly believe that it will grant ELLIIT good exposure if the result is taken into active use at ESS.

- 1. Main scientific achievements during 2022
- 2. Awards and recognitions
- 3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)



- 5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022
- 6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022
- 7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors
- 8. International collaboration
- 9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry
- 10. List of patent applications published during 2022

Patent title	Application Number



11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)

- 12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar
- 13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar
- 14. Open source software contributions

A4: Secure Transparent Communications in the Industrial Internet

PI: Andrei Gurtov, LiU

Summary

Industry 4.0 (Focus theme 4) calls for combining industrial machine sensor connectivity with cloud big data analytics. Sample application areas include smart factories, autonomous ships and vehicles, predictive maintenance and optimizations of flights. This project builds new collaboration with Lund University, Prof. Christian Gehrmann (Lund University) in the area of Industrial Internet for a postdoc position. It focuses and secure and scalable interworking of industrial equipment with assets protection and privacy control.



Thus, Secure Data Sharing and Privacy with Standardization are main proposed thrust areas. It is of high relevance to industrial partners such as Combitech, Ericsson and ABB.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

QUIC Throughput and Fairness over Dual Connectivity: We have examined the impact of Dual Connectivity (DC) on QUIC, a protocol that has not been previously studied in relation to DC. Through a series of experiments, we have demonstrated how QUIC is affected by DC parameters and network conditions. The results provide insights for network operators on how to deploy DC to achieve optimal performance and fairness for end-to-end service.

A user-centric privacy-preserving authentication protocol for IoT-AmI environments: We have developed a privacy-assuring authentication protocol for Ambient Intelligence (AmI) Internet of Things (IoT) applications. The protocol uses blockchain and fog computing for unforgeability, non-repudiation, and efficient bandwidth utilization. It also employs physically unclonable functions (PUF), biometrics, and Ethereum powered smart contracts for preventing attacks. The proposed protocol is computationally inexpensive and resource-efficient, providing a better solution than conventional centralized infrastructure-based authentication approaches.

Optimization of relay placement for scalable virtual private LAN services: This work focuses on providing secure connectivity for geographically dispersed devices to a protected LAN network through Virtual Private LAN Services. Traditional IP routing protocols are not sufficient for this, so encrypted HIP/IPsec tunnels are used. However, the number of tunnels can grow exponentially, so the introduction of relaying is proposed. The work studies the effects of relay-based routing and proposes an algorithm that provides an approximate but efficient solution, leading to a reduction in memory required for routing tables.

Dew-Cloud-Based Hierarchical Federated Learning for Intrusion Detection: This work addresses the issue of securing data in IoT devices, which are increasingly being used due to the pandemic. The proposed solution is a Dew-Cloud based model that uses hierarchical federated learning with a hierarchical long-term memory model deployed on distributed Dew servers and supported by cloud computing. The model achieves high training accuracy with minimum loss and outperforms existing schemes in terms of performance metrics. The proposed solution provides a higher level of data privacy and greater availability of critical IoT applications.

Towards 6G-Enabled Internet of Vehicles: Security and Privacy: The emergence of 6G mobile wireless networks will enable innovative applications, including the Intelligent Transportation System and Smart Cities. However, such systems have stringent requirements for ultra-low latency, high reliability, and massive connections. Providing security and privacy is a top priority, and this sudy discusses the potential role of enabling technologies such as AI, network softwarisation, blockchain, and physical layer authentication in ensuring the expected level of security and privacy for the Internet enabled physical systems.



A Wireless Caching Helper System Serving Heterogeneous Traffic with Secrecy Constraints: This research analyzes the performance of a wireless caching system with heterogeneous traffic and relaying capabilities while ensuring secrecy for one of two receiving users. The study investigates the impact of the relay's storage split and the presence of an eavesdropper on the system's average throughput and delay, considering various transmission parameters. The work provides valuable insights for designing wireless caching systems that meet secrecy requirements and improve their performance.

- 2. Awards and recognitions
- Prof. Andrei Gurtov, the principal investigator, has been recognized as one of the top 2% of scientists worldwide in the Scopus Database by Stanford University.
- Research.com, a highly regarded platform, has acknowledged Prof. Andrei Gurtov as a distinguished researcher in the field of computer science.
- 3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
Automation Program II	Trafikverket	800,000 SEK	3 Years

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021-2022, from 2021, etc)
Ioannis Avgouleas	-	2020-12-17 to 2021-09-30
Gurjot Singh	0000-0002-0732-1478	2022-03-15 to 2023-03-15

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

The LiU researchers in the project have been collaborating with Lund University (Prof. Christian Gehrmann).

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

We are working closely with Billy Josefsson from Luftfartsverket to secure the communication ecosystem in the aviation industry.



- 7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors
- We invited Joakim from Ericsson to give lectures to our bachelor's and master's students at LiU.
- We conducted cybersecurity research in cooperation with Ericsson and Knowit in Linköping.
- We have worked and are working closely with Shahid Raza (RISE AB) on various cybersecurityrelated research problems.
- We had talks with Shiva Sander-Tavallaey from ABB and Axel Bååthe from SAAB The Rainforest, discussing the possibilities of applying our cybersecurity solutions to their industrial problems.
- 8. International collaboration

There are many ongoing international collaborations. A few of them are listed below:

- Madhusanka Liyanage, University College Dublin, Ireland.
- Pardeep Kumar, Swansea University, United Kingdom.
- An Braeken, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Belgium.
- Pawani Porambage, VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland, Espoo, Finland.
- Corinna Schmitt, Universität der Bundeswehr, München, Germany.
- Stuart W. Card, AX Enterprize, USA.
- 9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry
- Yousef Hashem and Elmedin Zildzic, 'Endpoint Intrusion Detection and Response Agents in Embedded RAN Products: A suitability and performance evaluation,' Ericsson AB, Linköping.
- Adrian Bystrom and Mattias Salo, 'An evaluation of eXpress Data Path from a 5G perspective: Offloading packet processing functions of a 5G simulator to a driver context,' Telefonaktiebolaget LM Ericsson, Linköping.
- Hanna Gustafsson & Hanna Kvist, 'Cyber Security Demonstrations using Penetration Testing on Wi-Fi Cameras,' Totalförsvarets forskningsinstitut – FOI, Linköping.
- 10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership



Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
TDTS04: Computer Networks and Distributed Systems	Undergraduate
TDTS06: Computer Networks	Graduate
TDTS11: Computer Networks and Internet Protocols	Undergraduate
TDDE21: Advanced Project: Secure Distributed and Embedded Systems	Graduate

- 12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar
- Prof. Andrei Gurtov and his team developed the open-source protocol HIP, which anonymizes the identities of devices over the internet and was used as a core component by Tempered Networks. Recently, Tempered Networks was acquired by Johnson Controls.
- Prof. Andrei Gurtov, along with the team, prepared the IETF Draft on Drone Remote Identification Protocol (DRIP) Architecture, which is currently under review. Additionally, the research team also provided codes on GitHub for support, extension, and feedback.
- We received appreciation from both industry and academia for our work presented at the SIGCOMM conference.
- Prof. Andrei Gurtov delivered a talk on "Computer Science Research Today and in the Future" at Swedsoft.

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

- Prof. Andrei Gurtov (PI) has served as an Associate Editor for the Sensors journal.
- Prof. Andrei Gurtov (PI) is currently serving as Chair of IEEE Sweden section.
- Prof. Andrei Gurtov served as a session chair at the 22nd Seminar of the Swedish IT Security Network (SWITS 2022) in Karlstad.
- Prof. Andrei Gurtov played a vital role in ensuring the quality of accepted papers and various activities as part of the program committee for the 30th IEEE International Conference on Network Protocols.
- Prof. Andrei Gurtov is currently serving as an Editorial Board Member for the Internet of Things Section in the Sensors Journal.
- Prof. Andrei Gurtov served as a Guest Editor for the special issue titled "Smartphone Sensors for Driver Behavior Monitoring Systems," published by the Sensors Journal.



 Prof. Andrei Gurtov also served as a Guest Editor for the special issue titled "Research and Practice Special Issue on Distributed Ledger Technology (DLT) for Beyond 5G Systems," published by ACM Transactions on Distributed Ledger Technologies.

14. Open source software contributions

- PI and his team contributed to the development of OpenHIP, an open-source protocol. Along with that, they have developed an open-source attack simulator to raise awareness among stakeholders about potential cyber threats.
- Prof. Andrei Gurtov and his team developed DRIP, an open-source protocol, for the reliable identity verification of drones.

A5: Dynamics and Control of Data-Driven Networks

PI: Claudio Altafini, LiU Participating researchers: Anders Rantzer, LU, Erik G. Larsson, LiU

Summary

The overall goal of this project is to interface control systems and network science methodology, with the purpose of investigating the following specific topics:

- 1. developing network-level graph learning approaches from big data;
- 2. predicting emerging global dynamical properties (e.g. "opinion" formation, polarization, clustering, etc.) on the resulting networks;
- 3. designing network control algorithms.

The project is in the focus theme Big Data and Network Science of the ELLIIT 2030 Technology Foresight. The requested funding is meant to cover a 2-year postdoctoral position.

- 1. Main scientific achievements during 2022
- Graph-learning approaches from big data: We have developed algorithms to investigate conditional independence in Gaussian graphical models, and applied them to multiomics data in Systems Biology.
- Emerging Global dynamical properties: We have developed a complete classification of Laplacians on signed graphs, investigating their convergence to consensus, in both time-invariant and time varying case. The main properties that allow this classification have to do with a particular extension of Perron-Frobenius theory to signed matrices, the so-called eventual positivity property and its variants. Discrete-time versions of the results have also been obtained, extending results valid for stochastic matrices (and inhomogeneous Makrov chains).
 - 2. Awards and recognitions



N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
Multiagent dynamics and collective decisions on signed graphs	Vetenskapsrådet	1M SEK	4 years
Multi-resolution dynamical modeling of multiple sclerosis	Swedish Foundation for Strategic Research		5 years

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Carmela Bernardo, postdoc	From 2022

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

In 2022, we have collaborated with Univ of Sydney, Chinese Academy of Science, Tongji University in Shanghai, Univ of Sannio, Benevento, Italy.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

The PI collaborated with various groups at IFM and Medical Faculty at LiU, in the framework of a joint SSF sponsored project called "Multi-resolution dynamical modeling of multiple sclerosis". Data-driven models that are somewhat related to the topics we are developing in this project were published in a couple of journal papers.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

N/A

8. International collaboration

N/A

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry



10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Opinion Dynamics on Social Networks	PhD

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Our research on climate negotiations was highlighted in a LiU news article entitled "A mathematical model may give more efficient climate talks", see <u>https://liu.se/en/news-item/matematisk-berakningsmodell-kan-ge-mer-effektiva-klimatsamtal</u>

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

The PI served as Associate Editor for Automatica and for IEEE Trans on Control of Network Systems. He was also Guest Editor for a special Issue on on "Dynamics and Behavior in Social Networks" also for the IEEE Trans. on Control of Network Systems". He was on the IPC committee of the 11th Int. Conference on Complex Networks and Their Applications, and of the 9th Workshop on Distributed Estimation and Control of Networked Systems (NecSys'22).

14. Open source software contributions N/A

A6: Robust motion planning

PI: Daniel Axehill, LiU Participating researchers: Johan Löfberg, LiU

Summary

The research considers motion planning problems in unstructured environments where there are nonnegligible model uncertainties and disturbances present. There is a fundamental trade-off between performance and robustness of a motion plan. If the performance of a system is pushed to its limits in



terms of input, state, and collision avoidance constraints, any discrepancy in the a priori knowledge could result in dangerous situations. To avoid this, a conservative plan is often computed. In the research in this project, the aim is to, in different ways, incorporate more precise and up-to-date information about disturbances and to decrease uncertainties in the plan that traditionally often are handled by introducing conservativeness. The research considers four different directions to provide a better combination of performance and safety: disturbance-parameterized motion primitives to explicitly take into account disturbances, real-time improvement to essentially convert an open-loop plan to a closed-loop policy, learning to eliminate systematic errors over time, and High-Performance Computing (HPC) in the cloud to be able to consider advanced approaches at reasonable computation times.

- 1. Main scientific achievements during 2022
- A unifying complexity certification framework for active-set QP methods has been presented.
- A high-performing QP algorithm has been implemented in library-free C-code and made available at github under the name daqp. The algorithm and software have been shown to be very competitive compared to other state-of-the-art software commonly used for MPC.
- A novel integrated robust motion planning and control framework has been developed. The main idea is to introduce the notion of disturbance-parameterized motion primitives, which can be used on-line to optimally exploit disturbances and feedforward from them rather than to counteract them as previous approaches typically do. The work includes theory, algorithms, and a challenging marine application.
- We have developed an algorithm that is capable of exactly certifying the computation *time* for a standard active-set QP solver. This is a big step forward and has interesting applications in, e.g., model predictive control.
- Our work within exact complexity certification of MILP and MIQP solvers took important steps forward including, e.g., to include the possibility to compute suboptimal solutions.
 - 2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
Predictive control for belief-space planning	EOARD	1,47MSEK	2 years
iDecide	FFI, Vinnova	1,1MSEK	4 years



Unified task planning and optimal-control- based motion planning	WASP industrial PhD	1MSEK	5 years
iQDeep	FFI, Vinnova	1MSEK	4 years
Real-time certification and self-optimization of interior-point and branch-and-bound software for predictive control		1MSEK	5 years
Real-time certification and reinforcement learning code generation for model predictive control		971kSEK	4 years

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Abhishek Dhar (Postdoc)	0000-0001-6061-7860	From September 2021

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

During 2022, the PI and the post-doc within the project have collaborated with a researcher from ETH Zürich, a collaboration which continues during 2023.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

The PI has research collaborations with Scania CV, Saab Dynamics and FOI.

8. International collaboration

There has been collaboration with a researcher at ETH Zürich, which was initiated during the ELLIIT focus period during fall 2022. Furthermore, during the preparation of a PhD student study trip to the UK, the PI has collaborated with professors from University of Cambridge, University of Oxford, Imperial College London, and Kings College London.



- 9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry
- Hilding Gunnarsson & Adam Åsbrink. Intelligent Drone Swarms: Motion Planning and Safe Collision Avoidance Control of Autonomous Drone Swarms. Performed at Saab Dynamics.
- Ester Brandås & Sandra Ljungberg. Collision Avoidance for Complex and Dynamic Obstacles.
 Performed at Toyota Material Handling.
- Lloyd Kizito, An Adaptive Strategy For Short Term Stock Trading Using Reinforcement Learning. Performed at Celerus Capital AB.
- Axel Ek, Neural Network Based Control Design for a Unicycle System. Performed at Combine.
- 10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Automatic control project course TSRT10: several projects are strongly connected to research projects.	undergraduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

The PI led a PhD student study trip to the UK involving around 50 PhD students, including visits to University of Cambridge, University of Oxford, Imperial College London, and Kings College London.

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar N/A

14. Open source software contributions

Daqp: <u>https://github.com/darnstrom/daqp</u> (now integrated into YALMIP) ASCertain: <u>https://github.com/darnstrom/ASCertain.jl</u> YALMIP: <u>https://github.com/yalmip/YALMIP</u>



A7: Effective Business Prototyping for Software Startups

PI: Elizabeth Bjarnason, LU

Summary

Software startups develop innovative software-intense products under uncertain conditions and with a severe lack of resources. While launching a startup is relatively easy through the availability of open-source software and pay-as-you-go services, acquiring paying customers and thriving in uncertain conditions are among their top challenges, and startups often waste precious time and resources on developing features that are not successful in the market and run a high risk of failing. One important success factor of new business ventures is to test the business idea early on to validate its viability in the market. While prototyping is emphasized in recent methods such as Lean Startup. and Design Thinking, there is little research on how to effectively use prototypes integrated in the dynamic business context of startups. For this reason, we propose exploring the use of different types of prototypes, their costs and benefits, through literature reviews, theory building and case studies. Our aim is to provide actionable guidelines that can support startups in making more effective use of prototyping for validating new ideas, and for communicating with stakeholders. Software startups can then more accurately pinpoint which business ideas are viable and shorten the leadtime to market these products, and thereby increase their chances of success. The project was finalised in June 2022.

- 1. Main scientific achievements during 2022
- Validated and revised our theoretical framework / model of prototyping aspects (first published in 2021). The revised version is currently under review at Empirical Software Engineering Journal.
- Explored prototyping technology in startups and identified challenges and opportunities for startups to improve their adoption of prototyping technology. The work was done in collaboration with Dr. V Gupta (Alcala, Spain). The results have been published in IT Professional.
 - 2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

N/A

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021-2022, from 2021, etc)
Elizabeth Bjarnason	0000-0001-9070-0008	2020-2022



5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

- Collaboration with Dr. Ali, BTH, on model and criteria for selecting software.

- Initial dialog with Prof. Lavesson, BTH, on prototyping in relationship to AI and SMEs.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{N/A}}$

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

- Collaboration with various startups in the Lund/Malmö region.

- 8. International collaboration
- Collaboration with Dr. V Gupta from university of Alcala, Spain.
 - 9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

N/A

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
ETSN15 Requirements Engineering: student projects in collaboration with local startup companies	Graduate
ETSF25 Business of Software: Expanded with a section on prototyping in software startups	Undergraduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar



- 13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar
- Reviewing for Requirements Engineering Journal, Transactions of Software Engineering, Information and Software Technology Journal, Software and Systems Modelling Journal
- Served on programme committee for the Int. Conf. On Requirements Engineering
- 14. Open source software contributions

N/A

A8: Gazing at Code Review(s)

PI: Emma Söderberg, LU

Participating researchers: Luke Church, Univ. Cambridge/LU, Diederick Niehorster, LU, Markus Nyström, LU, Johanna Persson, LU, Christofer Rydenfält, LU, Christoph Reichenbach, LU, Jürgen Börstler, BTH

Summary

Modern code review, where developers use tools to review code diffs to improve quality and build shared understanding, has gained wide-spread adoption in industry. Consequently, developers are spending a lot of time trying to understand and review other developers' code. Given the limited supply of (expensive) engineers there is much to be gained from simplifying this task. Progress in the area of eye-tracking (measuring what engineers look at and in what order) has opened up the possibility of providing developer tools that can adapt to the current needs of a developer in a specific context. Using eye-tracking, we aim to study modern code review and to investigate how intelligent assistance, driven by eye-tracking, may assist developers during this activity. This project proposal is aimed at the ELLIIT focus theme 'next-generation software technology' (theme C) and is a cross-disciplinary collaboration between Computer Science, Software Engineering, Design Sciences, and Psychology at LU and BTH.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

The empirical code review study carried out in the project was wrapped up and the results were reported in two publications:

- Söderberg, E., Church, L., Börstler, J., Niehorster, D. C., and Rydenfält, C. (2022). "What's bothering developers in code review?" ICSE-SEIP'22: 44th International Conference on Software Engineering: Software Engineering in Practice, 2022.
- Söderberg, E., Church, L., Börstler, J., Niehorster, D. C., and Rydenfält, C. (2022). "Understanding the Experience of Code Review: Misalignments, Attention, and Unit of Analysis". EASE'22: 26th International Conference on Evaluation and Assessment in Software Engineering, June 2022.

The final pieces of the GANDER framework developed in the project came together during 2022 to a point where it's been used to run gradually larger user studies. The first results exploring gaze-assistance in code



review were accepted for publication in the beginning of 2023, along with the contribution of the platform which is now released as open-source as part of the publication:

- Saranpää, W., Apell Skjutar, F., Heander, J., Söderberg, E., Niehorster, D. C., Mattsson, O., Klintskog, H., and Church, L. (2023). "GANDER: a Platform for Exploration of Gaze-driven Assistance in Code Review". EMIP'23: International Workshop on Eye Movement in Programming, June 2023.
- <u>https://gitlab.com/lund-university/gander</u>
- 2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

"DAPPER: Seamless, Tailored Code Review", academic PhD project funded by WASP 2023-2027, was proposed based on the results from the empirical code review study of this project.

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
ADAPT: Adaptive Developer Tools	VR	680k	2020-2024
ADAPT: Adaptive Developer Tools	SSF	2M	2020-2025

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Olivia Mattsson (amanuens)	0009-0008-4640-9326	2021
Hedda Klintskog (amanuens)	0009-0003-2683-154X	2021
William Saranpää (amanuens)	0009-0005-0811-3354	2022-2023
Felix Apell Skjutar (amanuens)	009-0001-4076-430X	2022-2023

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Joint collaboration between LU and BTH on the empirical code review study in the project.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

The empirical code review study in the project brought together researchers in the project working in Human-computer Interaction, Programming Tools, Software Engineering, Eye-tracking, and Psychology.



7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

Collaboration agreement with Axis Communication.

8. International collaboration

N/A

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

N/A

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
EDAG05: Agile Software Development, which includes code review which connects to the GANDER project.	undergraduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Söderberg contributed to the ELLIIT Tech Talk series and also presented results from the project at Lindholmen Software Days in Oct 2022 ("Making Code Review Fit for Purpose").

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Söderberg was associate editor of volume 6 of the Programming Journal, PC chair of the <Programming> conference, and artifact evaluation co-chair for ICPE. She joined the steering committee of SLE and AOSD (overseeing the Programming Journal and the <Programming> conference).

14. Open source software contributions

The platform developed in the project has been shared as open-source at <u>https://gitlab.com/lund-university/gander</u>



A9: Safety and Resilience in Multi-Vehicle Behavioral Control for Autonomous Ground Vehicles

PI: Erik Frisk, LiU Participating researchers: Lars Nielsen, LiU, Björn Olofsson, LiU

Summary

In this project we will develop techniques for fault-tolerant decision making and resilient behavioral control of autonomous ground vehicles in multi-vehicle traffic situations, strengthening an academically and industrially relevant research topic. The main topic area is "1. Autonomous vehicles and robots" and the application concerns techniques to introduce resilience to disturbances and faults and ensure safety for autonomous vehicles in traffic scenarios where there are multiple vehicles, being autonomous or not. A key is to include the dynamic behavior of the controlled vehicle for proper decision making.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

In addition to the PI and co-PIs, post-doc Victor Fors and PhD student Theodor Westny have been active in this project. Focus has been on safety and resilience in different multi-vehicle traffic situations. Main efforts have been directed to the development of methods for decision making and prediction in uncertain multi-agent environments. To safely navigate in complex traffic situations, e.g., a busy roundabout or intersection, reliable prediction of surrounding vehicles over a control horizon and methods to act in a resilient way is one possibility to increase safety and robustness of automated vehicles. The two key scientific achievements during 2022 have been 1) a method for acting in an uncertain world, published in IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Vehicles, and 2) methods for probabilistic prediction of intentions and actions of surrounding traffic.

Branching MPC in multi-vehicle scenarios with adversarial disturbance models

An approach to resilient planning and control of autonomous vehicles in multi-vehicle traffic scenarios has been developed in this research. The strategy called *Adversarial Disturbance-Sequence Branching Model Predictive Control (ADSB-MPC)* is based on model predictive control, where alternative predictions of the surrounding traffic are determined automatically such that they are intentionally adversarial to the ego vehicle. This provides robustness against the inherent uncertainty in traffic predictions and to reduce conservatism, an assumption that other agents are of no ill intent is formalized. Simulation results from highway driving scenarios show that the ADSB-MPC in real-time negotiates traffic situations out of scope for a nominal MPC approach and performs favorably to state- of-the-art reinforcement-learning approaches without requiring prior training. The results also show that the controller performs effectively, with the ability to prune disturbance sequences with a lower risk for the ego vehicle. The research has during 2022 been presented in a main scientific publication in the IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Vehicles:



Victor Fors, Björn Olofsson, and Erik Frisk, "Resilient Branching MPC for Multi-Vehicle Traffic Scenarios Using Adversarial Disturbance Sequences", in IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Vehicles, 2022, <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/TIV.2022.3168772</u>.

Intent and trajectory prediction of surrounding vehicles in complex multi-vehicle scenarios One possibility to achieve resilient autonomous motion planning is robust predictions of surrounding road users' future behavior. The use of learning-based methods for such models and predictors is a promising research topic. For this purpose, a model has been developed and analyzed in

Westny, Theodor, Joel Oskarsson, Björn Olofsson, and Erik Frisk, "MTP-GO: Graph-Based Probabilistic Multi-Agent Trajectory Prediction with Neural ODEs." Preprint, 2023 (arXiv:2302.00735).

The model encodes the scene using temporal graph neural networks to produce the inputs to an underlying motion model. A key finding is that it is highly beneficial to preserve the graph structure both in the understanding of the scene and in the predictor part of the model. The motion model is implemented using neural ordinary differential equations where the state-transition functions are learned with the rest of the model. Multimodal probabilistic predictions are obtained by combining the concept of mixture density networks and Kalman filtering. The results illustrate the predictive capabilities of the proposed model across various data sets, outperforming several state-of-the-art methods on a number of metrics. In this work, the significant benefits of using differential-constraints in the predictor were shown. Then, it becomes natural to investigate what kind of motion constraints should be used for best performance. Examples of alternatives are simple kinetic models, kinematic vehicle motion models, or neural ODEs that are learnt in parallel to the predictor models. The motion flexible models have the advantage of better capturing the motion of different traffic participants, e.g., cars, trucks, cyclists, or pedestrians. This research was accepted for presentation at a main conference in the area, the IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium

Westny, Theodor, Joel Oskarsson, Björn Olofsson, and Erik Frisk, "Evaluation of Differentially Constrained Motion Models for Graph-Based Trajectory Prediction", accepted for publication at 2023 IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium (<u>arXiv:2302.00735</u>).

2. Awards and recognitions N/A

3. External funding attracted



4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021-2022, from 2021, etc)
Victor Fors, post-doc	0000-0003-4034-2868	2021-2022
Jian Zhou, PhD student	0000-0002-1050-3037	2020-
Theodor Westny, PhD student	0000-0001-9075-7477	2020-

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Significant joint research has been performed between Div. Vehicular Systems, LiU and Dept. Automatic Control, LU. Björn Olofsson (LU) is a Senior Lecturer at Dept. Automatic Control and spends 20% at LiU, active in different ELLIIT activities (including projects A9, B14, and S4). The Ph.D. students Theodor Westny and Jian Zhou are active within the projects (with Björn Olofsson as co-supervisor). This organization of staff and supervision establishes a very strong connection between the two research groups involved in this subproject.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

- 7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors
- VTI (tire models and road geometry characteristics, Dr. Sogol Kharrazi)
- AB Berntec (efficient and safe motion planning, Dr. Karl Berntorp)
- 8. International collaboration

N/A

- 9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry
- AB Volvo (Motion Control and Planning for Heavy Vehicles)
- FOI (Automated landing of UAV on AGV)

10. List of patent applications published during 2022



11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Autonomous vehicles – planning, control, and learning systems	2 nd cycle

The 2nd cycle course at LiU, "Autonomous vehicles – planning, control, and learning systems", developed by Erik Frisk, Björn Olofsson, and Jan Åslund at Div. Vehicular Systems, LiU, was given during the fall semester of 2022. Results from this ELLIIT subproject are used in the course, including guest lectures from ELLIIT researchers, and is thus an excellent dissemination platform for making the research in ELLIIT accessible to Master's students in the engineering educational programs. The elective course attracted over 90 students, and also this year received excellent grades in the course evaluation.

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

- 13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar
- Erik Frisk is director of Zenith at LiU
- Erik Frisk is a member of IPC for IFAC Safeprocess, 2021 (postponed to 2022 due to COVID)
- Lars Nielsen is a member of ELLIIT steering group
- Lars Nielsen is a member of WASP-HS Board
- Lars Nielsen is a member of IPC for IFAC Advances in Automotive Control Conference 2022
- 14. Open source software contributions
- <u>https://github.com/westny/imb-behavior-prediction</u> Vehicle Behavior Prediction and Generalization Using Imbalanced Learning Techniques
- <u>https://github.com/westny/mtp-go</u>
 MTP-GO: Graph-Based Probabilistic Multi-Agent Trajectory Prediction with Neural ODEs



A10: Privacy-Preserving Machine Learning for Synthetic Spatio-Temporal Trajectory Data Generation

PI: Fredrik Heintz, LiU

Summary

A major open research challenge is developing privacy-preserving machine learning methods that both achieves high performance and privacy guarantees even though the original training data contains sensitive personal information. The applications are abundant, from making cities safer, via on-demand public transportation systems to improved medical diagnosis. The goal of the project is to develop new machine learning methods for creating synthetic spatiotemporal trajectory data sets preserving the privacy of the individuals in the original data. The project will 1) extend generative adversarial network (GAN) methods to learn generative spatiotemporal trajectory models and 2) develop new Bayesian Optimization methods for creating tailored privacy-preserving synthetic data sets using these generative models. The project has access to unique trajectory data of people, busses and trains through collaborations with organizations such as Telia, Trafikverket and Östgötatrafiken. These organizations are also very interested in applying the results of the research. The project will fund a postdoc and lies in topic A with strong connections to topics B and E in the ELLIIT 2030 Technology Forecast with important applications in themes 1 and 2. It complements and significantly extends ongoing research and will further strengthen the existing research collaborations with Lund University.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

Work done:

- a. Co- Authored An encyclopedia of the major scientific and technical terms related to Trustworthy Artificial Intelligence under the chapter Fairness, Equity, and Justice by Design. (http://tailor.isti.cnr.it/handbookTAI/TAILOR.html)
- b. Bt-GAN: Generating Fair Synthetic Healthdata via Bias-transforming Generative Adversarial Networks – We have developed a Bias-transforming Generative Adversarial Networks (Bt-GAN), a fair synthetic data generator, for the healthcare domain to tackle the correlation biases in the electronic healthcare datasets, MIMIC III (Medical Information Mart Intensive Care, version 3). The results demonstrate that we achieve state-of-the-art accuracy with significantly better fairness and minimal bias amplification. Furthermore, we perform an explainability analysis to substantiate our study. This work is under review in 'AAAI/ACM conference on Ethics'.
- c. Fair Latent Deep Generative Models (FLDGM) for Syntax-agnostic and Fair Synthetic Data Generation - There is a lack of study in learning fair Deep Generative Models to reach an optimal point between accessibility, fairness, quality, and flexibility (fine-tuning to various architectures, tasks, and fairness measures). To address this, we proposed Fair Latent Deep Generative Models (FLDGM) as enablers for more flexible and stable training of fair DGMs, by first learning a syntax-agnostic, model-agnostic fair



latent vector representation of the data. This separates the fairness optimization and data generation processes thereby boosting stability and optimization performance. We conduct extensive experiments on image and tabular domains using Generative Adversarial Networks (GANs) and Diffusion Models (DM) and compare them to the state-of-the-art in terms of fairness and utility. Our proposed FLDGM achieves superior performance in generating high-quality, high-fidelity, and high-diversity fair synthetic data compared to the state-of-the-art fair generative models. This work is under review in ICML.

Work in progress:

- a. A Systematic Review on Fair-XAI: the Interaction between Fairness and Explainability in Machine Learning Motivated by recent studies that showed incorporating explanations into decision-making increases the system's transparency and trust, we conduct a systematic review on Fair-XAI, the interaction between fairness and explainability framework. Considering the various aspects of Fair-XAI methods, we propose a Fair-XAI wheel that covers six core properties of Fair-XAI that must be verified and evaluated. Moreover, we identify some challenges and conflicts in the interactions that could open potential future avenues to enhance the trustworthiness of a system. Being the first review of this kind, we hope this survey may inspire scholars to take on these problems by examining current research in their respective domains. Writing in progress and planning to submit in IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks and Learning Systems.
- b. Fair Generative models via hints-based knowledge distillation in latent space This work addresses fairness of synthetic data under the settings that the training data is not available, but we have access to a small fair dataset. Planning to submit in ECAI.
 - 2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

N/A

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Resmi Ramachandran Pillai (postdoc)	0000-0002-4302-9327	2021-2023
William Ejnervall (master student)		2022-2023

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022



Active cooperated with other research institutes as part of the EU TAILOR Network developing the scientific foundations for Trustworthy AI. Contributed chapters to the TAILOR Handbook of Trustworthy AI.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

The TAILOR network includes researchers from many research fields, and the TAILOR Handbook of Trustworthy AI is an interdisciplinary collaboration.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

The use of synthetic data is interesting to many companies and organizations. Discussions with Region Östergötland are ongoing. A Master thesis was completed with NFC on the use of synthetic faces for training face detection systems for the Swedish Police. Two Master theses were also completed with Sectra.

- 8. International collaboration
- Collaborated with the TAILOR network, an EU network developing the scientific foundations for Trustworthy AI, publishing an encyclopaedia of the major scientific and technical terms related to Trustworthy Artificial Intelligence under the chapter Fairness, Equity, and Justice by Design. (http://tailor.isti.cnr.it/handbookTAI/TAILOR.html)
- Presented on the topic "Generating fair synthetic healthcare data through information- constrained optimization" in MIRAI2.0 TEG AI Workshop 4 on Industry 5.0 and Society 5.0 (<u>https://www.mirai.nu/workshops-2022/</u>) as part of Sweden-Japan collaboration.
 - 9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry
- Ted Gustafsson and Alfred Sporre from NFC (Industry) on "Synthetic face generation".
- Markus Wetterberg and Sebastian Flinck Lindström from **Sectra (Industry)** on "Uni-Modal Fusions Compared to Multi-Modal Classifiers on the Categorization of Medical Objects".
- Oscar Linnarsson from **Sectra (Industry)** on "Classification of Magnetic Resonance Imaging Sequence Type Using a Deep Multi-Modal Neural Network".
 - 10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A



11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

N/A

- 12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar
- Presented a poster at SSDL 2023
- Participated in the ACAI-TAILOR Summer School 2022, Barcelona, Spain, and actively involved in the discussions and collaboration sessions.

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

- Keynote speaker in "International Conference on Advanced Information Science and Computing Systems" on 'Ensuring fairness in synthetic data generation – general overview' organized by ICFOSS and Christ Nagar College, Trivandrum, India.
- Advisory Committee member in "International Conference on Emerging Trends: Innovations & Challenges in Information Technology and Management" organized by BHARATI VIDYAPEETH'S Institute of Management and Information Technology (NBA Accredited).

14. Open source software contributions

N/A

A11: Novel Sounder Development, Parameter Estimation and Modeling for lower THz Radio Channels

PI: Fredrik Tufvesson, LU

Summary

The rapid evolution of wireless communication systems has significantly changed the daily life of people in the past decades. Fifth Generation (5G) and beyond 5G (B5G) wireless communication systems are expected to provide much higher network capacities, multi-Gigabit-per-second (Gbps) data rates, low latency and ultra-reliable communication while at similar cost and energy dissipation as today. The millimeter-wave (mmWave) and lower THz frequency bands (30-300 GHz) have been seen as the key enabler for B5G. Research for understanding the mmWave and lower THz propagation channel is essential, since the propagation channels are distinct at different frequency bands, and devices and applications



have to be designed with the constraints set by the propagation channel. Currently, extensive measurements and investigations have been conducted across the world at 28, 38, 60, and 73 GHz. Standard bodies and projects such as 3GPP, METIS and mmMAGIC have also proposed channel models for below-100 GHz frequency bands based on extensive field data. Compared to frequencies below 100 GHz, there are much wider spectrum slots available above 100 GHz, which have the potential for advanced applications such as wireless backhaul for fix links, indoor/WiFi access, velocity sensors, passive mmWave cameras, radar, navigation, and on-body communication. Among the spectrum slots, the D-band (110-170 GHz) is favorable due to the low atmospheric absorption loss and its very wide available spectrum. However, very little is known about the channel characteristics at this lower THz band. The reasons for the scarcity of investigations include the difficulties in developing double-directional channel sounders for dynamic channel characterization, efficiently and accurately extracting propagation channel parameters from the measurement data and developing low-complexity channel models yet with high fidelity to the real channels. To fill the gaps, the project aims to explore the "new frequency bands" and the possibilities these open up for. The goal of the project is to create basic theory, technology and knowledge in channel characterization, parameter estimation, and modeling for the lower THz channel. We aim to gain the very first understanding, make breakthroughs and provide guidelines to open up for realistic system design and performance analysis of communication, positioning and sensing in the lower THz band.

- 1. Main scientific achievements during 2022
- We continued working on the switched-array-based mmWave channel sounder and the mirror-based sub-THz channel sounder. We successfully made the mmWave channel sounder work in a good condition. The corresponding high-resolution algorithm was also developed. Both the sounder and algorithm have been tested and verified in measurements and simulations. Summarizing papers have been submitted or are under preparation.
- Meanwhile, the progress of upgrading the sounder to 140 GHz band is smooth. We successfully monitored the output pulses from the mirror sensors.
- We have also acquired a LiDAR system, which was and will be used for channel measurement and data fusion-based research.
- In addition, we have successfully secured several grants from EU, VR and Kungliga fysiografiska sällskapet to continue the research work defined in A11.
 - 2. Awards and recognitions
 - VR starting grant
 - MSCA postdoctoral grant
 - Kungliga fysiografiska sällskapet Grant
 - 2022 IEEE Antennas and Propagation Ulrich L. Rohde Innovative Conference Paper Award Finalist (Top 5), Paper: Zhang, G., Cai, X., Nielsen, J. O., Pedersen, G. F., & Tufvesson, F. (2022). A Scatterer



Localization Method Using Large-Scale Antenna Array Systems. In IEEE Conference on Antenna Measurements & Application.

- X.Cai, IEEE Senior membership
- 3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022	
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
TALENT: Lower THz rAdio propagation channeL sounding, parameter Estimation and modeliNg Towards 6G and beyond	EU	110 kEUR	2022-2024
Breaking the Barriers of Terahertz Communications: Understanding Wave Propagation for 6G	VR	1 million SEK	2023-2027
Fast and Intelligent Modeling for Lower THz Radio Channels	Kungliga fysiografiska sällskapet	125 kSEK	2022-2024
MINTS, Millimeter-wave NeTworking and Sensing for Beyond 5G) (also relevant in B01)	EU, MSCA ITN	3.9 MEUR (LU: 564 kEUR)/4 years	2020-2024
Massive MIMO technologies and applications (also relevant in B01, B02, B03)	Ericsson		2019-2023

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021-2022, from 2021, etc)
Xuesong Cai	0000-0003-3353-2479	2021-2022 (postdoc), and onwards (assis. Prof.)

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

The insights from this project will be used in the joint EU project 6GTandem where LU and LiU are partners. The project starts in January 2023.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

Milimeter wave and sub-THz channels knowledge is fundamental for reliable communication, radio based positioning and vehicular communication and positioning. Hence there are strong links to project B01, B11 (Local Positioning Systems) and B05 (6G wireless, vehicular communication).



7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

Millimeter wave channel sounding is fundamental for our joint projects within the Vinnova/FFI project 5G-Pos (5G positioning for enhanced traffic safety) with Ericsson, Chalmers, Veoneer, Qamcom, CEVT and our bilateral project with Ericsson.

- 8. International collaboration
- Joint publication of LU and Peking university, China, regarding sub-THz channel modeling
- Hosted a visiting PhD student from Aalborg University, Denmark, joint publications of LU and Aalborg University on mmWave scatterer localization, Measurement data of mm-wave large-scale antenna array shared from Aalborg University
- Hosted a guest assis. prof. from Tongji University, China

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

- Linfeng Chen, Performance evaluation and modeling of a beam-simulation system for MIMO communications, with Ericsson
- Dexin Kong and Swaroop Nambala, Ray-tracing Based Investigations on the Deployment of RISs in Indoor Scenarios, with Sony (to be finished 2023)
- Guillermo Jiménez Alonso , Design and analysis of antenna selection in massive MIMO, with Ericsson
 - 10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Wireless Systems design principles, course content is continuously updated with current research results	Master
Advanced Course in Electrical and Information Technology, the availabe hardware and measurement data are being used for students to conduct research-related projects	Master



- 12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar
- Wireless Communications meet Terahertz, NMT days at Lund University, Lecture for high school students and teachers (in March 2023)

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

- Chaired a session in IEEE CAMA 2022
- Organizing two special sessions for IEEE CAMA 2023 and IEEE SPAWC 2023
- Editor of Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing

14. Open source software contributions N/A

A12: Usable digital twins in healthcare

PI: Gunnar Cedersund, LiU

Summary

In 2019, the Swedish translation for "Digital twins" entered the public Swedish dictionary, SAOL. Digital twins are computer models, which can describe, e.g., the specific physiology in a patient. Nevertheless, all others' digital twins only describe a single organ or function in the human body, such as blood flow. We have developed the only digital twin that combines such diverse aspects as brain activity, blood flow, metabolism, and inflammation into a single model. This is the result of almost 20 years of ongoing mechanistic modelling. A first prototype for this twin was launched at Almedalen last summer, and this has been followed by high-profile keynote presentations at the biggest medical institute in the world, the National Institute for Health (NIH), and by keynotes at national conferences such as "IT i vården"-dagen, ModProd, etc. However, to make this initial prototype usable in actual healthcare, there are remaining challenges that must be overcome. In this project, we will accomplish this in three steps. Step 1: to overcome the practical, legal, and ethical challenges with creating an information platform where patientspecific data and information from all relevant sources can be stored. This is made possible by Cory Robinson (CR, LiU), who is an expert on such ethical and legal issues, and by Erik Sundvall (ES, LiU), who is information architect at Region Östergötland, and responsible for handling electronic (EHR) and personal healthcare records (PHR). Step 2: to create new hybrid AI methodologies, which combines the strengths of mechanistic modelling and machine learning, and which allows e.g. for usage of a large variety of smalland large-scale data, to create personalized digital twins. This is made possible by the main applicant Gunnar Cedersund (GC, LiU), who combines his unique models with expertise from the EU-network



Precise4Q (P4Q, precise4q.eu), where expertise on machine learning resides. Step 3: To design new Intelligent Assistants, which combines the digital twins with the new patient-specific data storages, and which is helpful for both medical doctors, patients and ordinary citizen. This is made possible because we have started a spin-off company, SUND, and joined forces with the Visual Sweden MeDigiT project. The strength of this project is that we developed ground-breaking hybrid AI approaches (Topic A) to be able to extract information from a wide variety of Big Data sources (Topic 2); that we also deal with legal, ethical and commercial challenges (Topic B); and that we combine all of this into an Intelligent Assistant tool (Topic 5). Because of this unique combination, this project will result in usable digital twins for healthcare. The twins will be tested at LiU (GC, ES, CR), in Lund (Karin Stenkula, KS) and in Germany and Spain (P4Q).

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022 This project finished its activities in 2021.

2. Awards and recognitions N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

N/A

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Feras Faez Elias		
Valentin Kindesjö		
Gustav Magnusson		
Peter Thompson		

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

N/A

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

N/A



8. International collaboration

N/A

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

N/A

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

N/A

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar $\ensuremath{\mathsf{N/A}}$

14. Open source software contributions N/A

A13: Deepfakes and the curse of GANS

PI: Jeff Yan, Llu This project did not start.



A14: Embodied Visual Active Learning

PI: Kalle Åström, LU Participating researchers: Cristian Sminchisescu, LU

Summary

One of the major difficulties of machine learning is the need for ground truth labelling. This is costly and cumbersome and limits the potential use-cases. In this project we explore solutions to this problem, by developing methods that use little or no annotation. This includes new self-supervised learning such as (BYOL, SimCLR), embodied visual learning and new formulations such as future object prediction.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

During 2022 we have made progress in several areas of learning with little or no annotation. Within embodied visual active learning, where an agent is set to explore a 3d environment with the goal of acquiring visual scene understanding by actively selecting views for which to request annotation, we have made progress, see for results published in 2022 and collected in Gärtner, E. PhD thesis "Active and Physics-Based Human Pose Reconstruction". We have also started studying how limited labeling such as labelling ground truth sparsely in time can be used for learning detectors that exploit motion and propose the task Future Object Detection, in which the goal is to predict the bounding boxes for all visible objects in a future video frame, see Tonderski, A., Johnander, J., Petersson, C., & Åström, K. (2022). "Learning Future Object Prediction with a Spatiotemporal Detection Transformer". Note that dynamics are learnt without having labels for consecutive frames which would normally be needed to learn sensor and object dynamics. We have continued our work on self-supervised learning for motion classification. We extend the Bootstrap Your Own Latent (BYOL) strategy for representation learning on skeleton sequence data and propose a new data augmentation strategy including two asymmetric transformation pipelines. We have several results in this area both in terms of scientific papers and master's theses. In the project we have also explored how reinforcement learning can be used for learning with little annotation, e.g., within Pirinen, A., Samuelsson, A., Backsund, J., & Åström, K. (2022). Aerial View Goal Localization with Reinforcement Learning.

2. Awards and recognitions N/A



3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
WASP (Industrial PhD student) Olivier Moliner	WASP (KAW) and Sony	600+ KSEK	2018-2023
WASP (Academic PhD student) Erik Gärtner	WASP (KAW)	750+ KSEK	2018-2022
WASP (Industrial PhD student) Adam Tonderski	WASP (KAW) and Zenseact	600+ KSEK	2020-2024
WASP-NTU Hangwei Qian	WASP (KAW) and NTU	800 KSEK	2021-2022

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Kalle Åström	0000-0002-8689-7810	2020-2022
Cristian Sminchisescu	0000-0001-5256-886X	2020-2022
Adam Tonderski	0000-0002-2160-4386	2020-2022
Hangwei Qian	0000-0003-4831-0748	2020-2022
Erik Gärtner	0000-0001-5139-7050	2020-2022
Olivier Moliner	0000-0002-2190-9307	2020-2022

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

We have had several inter-university cooperations, for example between Lund and NTU, through the WASP-NTU project involving Hangwei Qian.

- 6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022
- N/A
 - 7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

Cooperation with industry and institutes include cooperation with the research institute RISE on reinforcement learning and with the companies Zenseact, Google and Sony.



8. International collaboration

International cooperation includes cooperation with Google in Zurich, NTU in Singapore and ETH in Zurich.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry $\ensuremath{\mathsf{N/A}}$

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

N/A

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Kalle Åström participated in the ELLIIT tech talks theme 3, "Intelligent assistants and tools".

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Kalle Åström served as Area Chair for ECCV 2022.

14. Open source software contributions

N/A

A15: Relation Extraction with Deep Neural Language Models

PI: Marco Kuhlmann, LiU Participating researchers: Pierre Nugues, LU (did not participate)

Summary

The field of natural language processing (NLP) has seen major progress during the last few years with the development of deep neural language models, which learn tasks such as question answering, machine translation, and text summarization without any explicit supervision. This project will apply these models



to the task of extracting semantic relations between named entities from raw text. Our main goal is to design, implement, and evaluate an end-to-end system for relation extraction based on deep neural language models. Because training these models from scratch is extremely resource intensive, we are specifically interested in developing methods for maximizing the performance that can be obtained by fine-tuning pre-trained models, and in particular models for smaller languages such as Swedish. Main topic area Focus Theme 5, 'Intelligent assistants and tools'.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

The main achievement of the project is a study on how to reduce the computational cost of fine-tuning large language models. A language model is initially pre-trained on a large volume of data and then adapted to a target downstream task. Fine-tuning is among the widely used adaptation techniques for knowledge transfer from the pre-training to the target domain. However, despite its simplicity and tremendous success in knowledge transfer, fine-tuning comes at an extensive computational cost, limiting applications. Furthermore, it reduces the deployment of language models in a cloud environment due to in-place parameter updates, which specialise language models and decrease their re-usability. Our project initially addressed the weaknesses of fine-tuning large language models for relation extraction. We then generalized the approach to a larger task domain of structure prediction, modeling the interactions between words within a sentence. Our experimental results show that our proposed solution can retain more than 99% of the fine-tuning performance at a fraction of the training cost, while being as efficient as a fine-tuned model at inference time. Furthermore, compared with other techniques, our adaptation method performs significantly better on standard test, benchmarks while addressing the computational cost and the sharability issues of fine-tuning.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Swedish Interdisciplinary School in Computational Social Science (SISCSS). Research Environment Grant, Vetenskapsrådet. Main PI: Jacob Habinek (Linköping University). 2022–2025

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021-2022, from 2021, etc)
Ali Basirat	0000-0002-4718-886X	2021–2022

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022



During his employment, postdoc Ali Basirat cooperated with other research institutes such as the Research Institutes of Sweden (RISE), Uppsala University, Sweden, and Radboud University, Netherlands. The projects were connected to Ali's previous work on Universal Dependency parsing, a standard task in structure prediction, and the interpretability of word embeddings, a by-product of language models for word representation.

Related to this project, Marco Kuhlmann was involved in several other collaborations with researchers from Chalmers University of Technology (WASP Collaboration Project 'Interpreting and Grounding Pre-Trained Representations for Natural Language Processing'), Umeå University (WASP Collaboration Project 'A Practical Theory of Computation for Modern Neural Network Architectures') and KTH (WASP NEST STING: Synthesis and analysis with Transducers and Invertible Neural Generators).

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

Ali Basirat's had external collaborations with the Department of Linguistics and Philology at Uppsala University and the Department of Modern Languages and Cultures at Radboud University, Netherlands. Both groups work on the explainability and interpretability of representation learning developed in natural language processing from a linguistic point of view. The cooperation with Radboud University also led to a better understanding of the concept of "climate" in English literature.

Marco Kuhlmann collaborated with the Institute for Analytical Sociology at Linköping University, which resulted in a successful research proposal for a Research Environment Grant from Vetenskapsrådet (see above).

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

N/A

8. International collaboration

Ali has collaborated with Radboud University, Netherlands on a project studying the lexical meaning change of the concept climate.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

Lukas Borggren. Automatic Categorization of News Articles with Contextualized Language Models. MSc in Computer Science and Engineering, 2021. Project commissioned by Bonnier News, Stockholm/Sundsvall.

Agaton Sjöberg. Extracting Transaction Information from Financial Press Releases. MSc in Computer Science and Engineering, 2021. Project commissioned by Modular Finance, Stockholm.



10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
TDDE09 Natural Language Processing, student supervision	Advanced level
TDDE16 Text Mining, project supervision	Advanced level

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar N/A

14. Open source software contributions

We will make our codes freely available in a public git repository. The code is now available in <u>LiU's Gitlab</u> repository.

A16: Control-as-a-Service: Resilient feedback control systems for Industry 4.0 based on Commercial-Off-The-Shelf components and cloud platforms

PI: Maria Kihl, LU

Participating researchers: Anton Cervin, LU, Karl-Erik Årzén, LU, Anders Robertsson, LU, Emma Fitzgerald, LU, William Tärneberg, LU, Niklas Carlsson, LiU

Summary

The proposed project addresses the challenge of realizing highly time-sensitive and mission-critical feedback control systems for Industry 4.0 in the clouds. However, to take advantage of the clouds, rather than adapting the clouds to the control systems, we approach the problem by adapting the control systems to the clouds. The project proposes to address system performance, architecture, and management challenges associated with realizing a so-called Control-as-a-Service. The project is highly cross-disciplinary and the first of its kind in ELLIIT and it will be a starting point for a larger project.



1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

During 2022, two papers were written and submitted, but acceptance is still pending. The main work has been to validate the real-time performances of two published and well-known solutions industrial control systems, one for intrusion detection and one for distributed MPC. The solutions have previously only been analyzed using theoretical models and numerical investigations. In our work, the solutions were deployed in an edge-cloud testbed and analyzed. The results show several real-time challenges when taking the theoretical solutions to real systems.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

N/A

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
SEC4FACTORY	SSF	5 MSEK	2018-2024
IMMINENCE	Vinnova (Celtic next)	1.8 MSEK in total	2021-2023

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021-2022, from 2021, etc)
Emma Cuthbert	0000-0001-5219-8248	2021-2022

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

N/A

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

N/A

8. International collaboration

N/A



- 9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry $\ensuremath{\mathsf{N/A}}$
 - 10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

- 11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership
- N/A
 - 12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Maria Kihl participated in the ELLIIT tech talks theme 1, "Industry 4.0".

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar $N\!/\!A$

14. Open source software contributions $\ensuremath{\mathsf{N/A}}$

A17: Multistatic high-resolution sensing at THz

PI: Mats Pettersson, BTH

Participating researchers: Hans Hellsten, HH, Fredrik Gustafsson, LiU

Summary

Multistatic high-resolution sensing at THz frequencies is the goal of this project, with applications in many areas, such as industry, logistics, health care, and surveillance. Autofocus for THz SAR imaging is the first step in future multistatic THz SAR system development. Project members Mats Pettersson at Blekinge Institute of Technology and other partners, including both Hans Hellsten in Halmstad university and Fredrik Gustafsson at Linköping university, have had strong and long collaborations for more than 20 years. We have good knowledge on UWB SAR system development, UWB SAR imaging, bistatic system development, bistatic SAR imaging, and even THz SAR measurements and imaging. All of these factors will ensure the project's success. The topic relates to many areas in ELLIIT 2030 Technology Foresight but we have chosen topic area 3.



1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

In 2022 four journal papers and one conference paper associated with the project were published. The project focus was THz sensing and building efficient algorithms as described in the project proposal. In 2022 the main contribution was autofocus and bistatic research, and we contained algorithm development to improve the performance of the time-domain backprojection algorithms. We also published a paper on a new frequency domain UWB algorithm in collaboration with the University of Duisburg-Essen in Germany. Another publication focused on frequency domain algorithms for FMCW radars was also submitted. This work was done in collaboration between Blekinge Institute of Technology, Halmstad University and Linköping University and the work is pending a journal publication. During 2022 we also conducted experiments that will be published soon.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Project title	Funding source		Duration of
		per year	project
Radio occultation for space weather by new constellation of commercial satellites		1 094 000kr	2023-2026

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021-2022, from 2021, etc)
Yevhen Ivanenko	0000-0002-3928-6064	2020-2023

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Collaboration in algorithm development and real measurements up to 1.5 THz with Aman Batra and Thomas Kaiser at the University of Duisburg-Essen in Germany.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

N/A



8. International collaboration

Collaboration in algorithm development and real measurements up to 1.5 THz with Aman Batra and Thomas Kaiser at the University of Duisburg-Essen in Germany.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

N/A

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

N/A

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar $N\!/\!A$

14. Open source software contributions

N/A

A18: Rational Oversampling in Coherent Optical

PI: Oscar Gustafsson, LiU Participating researchers: Håkan Johansson, LiU

Summary

Optical networks provide a backbone of the contemporary and future communication infrastructure, enabling high-speed interconnection among the myriad of devices connected through fixed or wireless interfaces. As such the project considers an area being a fundamental enabler for several of the ELLIIT topic areas (1, 2, 3, 4, A, D), although the area so far has not been directly addressed in the ELLIIT context. It is believed to be closest to topic 1. To obtain very high date rates, typically, very high sample rates are used,



limited by ADC/process technology. To maximize the utilization of available ADCs, only limited oversampling can be used. However, transmit and receive filters, synchronization, and most equalizer structures are expecting an integer number of samples per symbol. While possible to upsample in the receiver, this comes at a cost, both for the oversampling filters and for performing the signal processing at an even higher sample rate. The purpose of this project is to develop efficient algorithms and architectures performing the required signal processing at a fractional oversampling rate.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

The associated PhD student has continued the work though, resulting in evaluation of simplified timedomain FIR filters for chromatic dispersion compensation (CDC). In addition, techniques for designing CDC filters in the frequency-domain implemented using overlap-save techniques has been proposed. By not zero-extending the impulse response, but rather including those values in the design procedure, better compensation can be obtained at the same arithmetic cost. This builds on recent work, analyzing the effects of overlap-save implementation in practice. Additional work includes architectural trade-offs when realizing CDC filters in the frequency domain, illustrating that the minimal arithmetic complexity does not always give the least energy consuming solution.

The recruitment work has continued and a postdoc recruitment round has been organized. Unfortunately, this was unsuccessful as the preferred candidate accepted another position late in the process.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
Large intelligent surfaces	SSF	6.5 MSEK	2021-2025
Calibration of Time-Interleaved ADCs	Huawei	1 MSEK	2020-2022
Receiver linearization techniques	Huawei	800 kSEK	2021-2023

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021-2022, from 2021, etc)
Cheolyong Bae, PhD student	0000-0003-3382-5175	From 2020



Krishna Chaitanya Patchava, postdoc	0000-0002-0987-1000	2021
-------------------------------------	---------------------	------

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Per Larsson-Edefors, Chalmers, has been involved in some of the discussions related to the project. We expect an extended collaboration when a new postdoc is recruited.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

N/A

8. International collaboration

N/A

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

N/A

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
The PI has been involved in the program board of the Applied Physics and Electrical Engineering (Y) program	Undergraduate
A grant for developing a processor simulator was obtained from the pedagogical development group at LiU	Undergraduate and graduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A



13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar N/A

14. Open source software contributions

The PI was promoted to a core developer of Matplotlib.



A19: Software Regression Testing with Near Failure Assertions

PI. Per Runeson, LU

Summary

Automated testing (AT) is one of the cornerstones of agile software engineering, with its short development cycles. In continuous integration/deployment (CI/CD) pipelines, AT is a safeguard against software regression due to side effects, unintentional changes, or changes in the environment. While AT provides huge benefits for agile software engineering, there is a risk that the test cases are too specific – only testing one sample pair of input–output – thus making them inefficient. We propose "near failure assertion" to analyse variation around the output of a test case. In contrast to the standard assertion, where test cases are asserted a specific output value or condition, the proposed approach asserts the 'surrounding' values, to identify if the software feature works as expected or is at risk of failing. The assertion is hence not only a binary pass/fail, but a pass/fail risk distribution. The new approach – inspired by near crash analysis in traffic monitoring – is expected to provide more information from each of the automated test cases, and thereby make regression testing more efficient. The project will be conducted within our collaboration with BTH or extended with other relevant partners.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

The postdoc working in the project, Dr. Masoumeh Taromirad, has worked on the project during the full year and achieved three major outcomes.

- 1. A survey of the literature on assertions in software testing.
- 2. Exploration of a new concept for testing, Near Failure Analysis using Behavioural Dynamic Data
- 3. Presentation of the initial findings at the PROFES conference in Jyväskylä, Finland.

Firstly, the analysis of 95 articles on assertions, summarizing the state of research on the topic, indicates that there is little work directly focused on assertions and thus research is needed.

Secondly, the main concept of the project is explored and evaluated. The approach taken is to monitor behavioural dynamic data, such as memory consumption and execution time, during general testing. Then an ML prediction model is trained on the data to indicate risk for erroneous functional behavior, based on the dynamic data. Validation on the Math project from Defects4J provided early indications of a precision and recall in the range of 85-95%.

Thirdly, these initial results were published at the PROFES conference in Jyväskylä, Finland, published by Springer.

The concept was further developed, and a journal publication is at the time of writing under review.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A



3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted per year	amount	Duration project	of
Continuous Quality Assurance ML Pipelines for Trustworthy AI with coPI Dr. Markus Borg	WASP	1 MSEK		2022-2026	

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Masoumeh Taromirad	0000-0002-0838-928X	2021-2023

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Participation in LU-BTH workshop in Karlskrona.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

N/A

8. International collaboration

N/A

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

Martin Hansson Tomicic, *Return on investment and maintenance in a mobile test automation implementation*, Robert Bosch Sweden AB <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/student-papers/search/publication/9103108</u>

Thomas Rodenberg, *Optimizing regression benchmarking for network video products*, Axis Communications AB <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/student-papers/search/publication/9076590</u>

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A



11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
One student at MSc level contributed to the research project by doing a project on data collection for the experiment.	Undergraduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Per Runeson participated in the ELLIIT tech talks theme 11, "Digital business models and legal aspects".

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar N/A

14. Open source software contributions

Software framework for the experiments made available open source.

A20: Efficient and Reliable Training of Generative Adversarial Networks

PI: Pontus Giselsson, LU

Summary

Generative adversarial networks (GANs) are generative networks designed to learn probability distributions of training data. They consist of two deep neural networks with opposite objectives. One network, the generator, generates new fake data instances, while the other, the discriminator, evaluates them for authenticity. This adversarial structure gives rise to training problems with saddle-point structure. These are inherently different from standard deep neural network training (minimization) problems and are considered very difficult to train. A reason is that stochastic gradient descent (SGD), that works well for standard deep learning training, is often blindly applied to also train GANs. SGD, and its deterministic counterpart gradient descent, may fail to converge even on very simple convex-concave saddle-point problems. This research program will provide a strong mathematical foundation for training of GANs. A starting point will be a recently submitted paper [CV:paper[S1]] by the project proposer. It introduces the novel mathematical concept of nonlinear resolvents, and a nonlinear forward-backward method. Two, among many, special cases of the proposed method are forward-backward-forward splitting (FBF) and the



extra-gradient method (EG) that both can solve saddle-point problems. Our framework opens up a completely new research direction in large-scale optimization and it sheds new light on how FBF and EG work. This project will take the first steps into this research direction with one long term objective being to devise algorithms that efficiently and reliably can train GANs.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

In 2021, we numerically examined the effectiveness of different training algorithms for generative adversarial networks (GANs). We found that while Stochastic Gradient Descent (SGD) and Adam algorithms are widely used for the minimax training problem, alternatives like stochastic optimistic gradient descent and the stochastic extra-gradient method offer superior robustness and stability without compromising performance. We also initiated theoretical research on algorithms applicable to minimax problems in 2021 and has continued with this in 2022. We focused on the convex-concave and nonsmooth setting that is not yet fully understood or explored. This is a first step towards understanding and developing methods in the nonconvex-nonconcave and nonsmooth setting. The main scientific achievement during 2022 is the development of a flexible algorithm framework that can, e.g., solve minimax problems. The theoretical analysis allows for many degrees of freedom in the algorithm framework. This research opens the possibility to explore these degrees of freedom to devise better algorithms with improved performance compared to existing alternatives.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
WASP PhD grant	WASP	1 MSEK	4 years
VR etableringsbidrag	VR	1 MSEK	4 years

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Oskar Larsson		2021
Martin Morin	0000-0003-4221-6873	2020-2021
Sebastian Banert	0000-0001-8110-6007	2021-2022



5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Initiated cooperation with INRIA, Paris.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

N/A

8. International collaboration Initiated cooperation with INRIA, Paris.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

N/A

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

N/A

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Created popular science video on optimization: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=5puSzvO12jg&t=2s</u>

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Editor (with A. Gibali and T. Humphries) of special issue in Journal of Applied Numerical Optimization.

14. Open source software contributions N/A



A21: Protecting software against side-channel leakage

PI: Thomas Johansson, LU

Summary

We investigate attacks using side-channel leakage in software implementations, in particular, towards libraries implementing standard security protocols and cryptographic primitives such as OpenSSL. The focus is on cache-timing attacks of different forms and will include both developing attacks as well as different protection methods, such as guaranteeing a constant-time implementation. The work will continue a recently established research direction for the group.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

HQC is a candidate algorithm for standardization by NIST, currently in round 4 in the standardization process. We have developed the first chosen-ciphertext (CC) cache-timing attacks on the reference implementation of HQC. We build a cache-timing-based distinguisher for implementing a plaintext-checking (PC) oracle. The PC oracle uses side-channel information to check if a given ciphertext decrypts to a given message. This is done by identifying a vulnerability during the generating process of two vectors in the reference implementation of HQC. We also developed a new method of using PC oracles for chosen-ciphertext side-channel attacks against HQC, which may have independent interest. We show a general proof-of-concept attack, where we use the Flush+Reload technique and also derive, in more detail, a practical attack on an HQC execution on Intel SGX, where the Prime+Probe technique is used. We show the exact path to do key recovery by explaining the detailed steps, using the PC oracle. In both scenarios, the new attack requires much fewer PC oracle calls than previous work.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
Secure and Private Connectivity in Smart Environments	SSF	1100000	2019-2024
WASP: Lightweight cryptography for autonomous vehicles	WASP	1000000	2019-2022

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022



Side-channel Vulnerability and threat analysis with machine learning awareness	MSB	950000	2021-2025
Strategic Mobility: New constructions of format-preserving encryption	SSF	550000	2023-2024
Analysis of emerging cryptographic algorithms	VR	1000000	2019-2023

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Senyang Huang, postdoc	0000-0002-5922-3685	2021-2023

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

N/A

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

Collaboration with Ericsson.

8. International collaboration

Collaboration with University of Adelaide and University of Melbourne.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry $\ensuremath{\mathsf{N/A}}$

10. List of patent applications published during 2022 $\ensuremath{\text{N/A}}$



11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Advanced cryptography	graduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Ongoing standardization work through Ericsson on the specification of the 3GPP 256-bit Confidentiality and Integrity Algorithms for the Air Interface based on the SNOW family of stream ciphers

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Co-chair PQCrypto 2022, 2023, Assoc. Editor IEEE Trans. On Information Theory 2021-

14. Open source software contributions

Attack implementations available as open source

A22: Human Interaction with Autonomous Minibuses (HIAM)

PI: Tom Ziemke, LiU

Participating researchers: Sam Thellman (LIU), Jan Andersson (VTI), Anna Anund (VTI)

Summary

The project is a collaboration between the Cognition & Interaction Lab at IDA/LiU (PI: Tom Ziemke) and human factors researchers at (VTI; co-PIs: Anna Anund and Jan Andersson), within ELLIIT Focus Theme 1 – Autonomous vehicles and robots. The project addresses the interaction of the autonomous minibus platform ELIN on LiU's Campus Valla with pedestrians, bicyclists, car drivers, and the safety drivers monitoring the buses' operation. The fact that the minibus platform has been operating on Campus Valla since late 2019 (with initial funding from LiU and VTI, among others) offers unique research opportunities for empirical and systematic studies of human interaction with autonomous vehicles in the real world over extended periods of time. Methodologies for such research are at this point, however, still underdeveloped, due to the novelty, complexity and interdisciplinary nature of crucial research issues, such as the mechanisms of human (social) trust in such autonomous vehicles. The new postdoc carries out



empirical studies of how people interact with the minibuses (through behavioral observations, questionnaires, in-depth interviews, etc.) and focuses in particular on the development of quantitative and qualitative methods, experimental protocols, and measurements for the study of human interaction with autonomous vehicles. This is expected to generate new research directions for larger future projects in collaboration between LiU and VTI.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

The project started in January 2022. Three conference papers on human prediction of autonomous bus behavior as well as perceptual and cognitive perspective taking toward automated vehicles were submitted (and accepted) to the ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction (presented in March 2023).

Ziemke and Thellman in November 2022 received funding from VR (Swedish Research Council) for a new three-year project on "Social Cognition in Human-Robot Interaction", which is broader (involving different types of robots), but also addresses human interaction with automated vehicles, based on the work in this project (A22).

2. Awards and recognitions

Tom Ziemke gave an invited talk on "Mental State Attribution in Social Robotics" at the workshop on "Behavior Adaptation and Learning for Assistive Robotics" (BAILAR), held in conjunction with the 31st International Conference on Robots & Human Interactive Communication (ROMAN 2022), held in Naples, Italy, in August/September.

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

N/A

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021-2022, from 2021, etc)
Sam Thellman (postdoc)	0000-0003-0098-5391	from January 2022
Franziska Babel (research engineer/ postdoc)	0000-0001-8249-7708	from April 2023
Philipp Hock (postdoc)	0000-0002-9831-9241	from April 2023



5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

N/A

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

The project is a collaboration of researchers in computer science, cognitive science, human factors and traffic psychology at LiU and VTI.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

The project is carried out in collaboration with VTI. The project is very much in line with LiU and VTI's strategic collaboration, which aims to promote long-term mutual development and competitiveness, as well as the joint research initiative *"Ride the Future"* (https://ridethefuture.se/).

8. International collaboration

N/A

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

N/A

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Ethics of AI and interactive autonomous systems	graduate/PhD
Critical perspectives on AI	graduate/PhD

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Tom Ziemke gave popular-scientific lectures on the public perception of AI and its limitations as part LiU's popular-science week in October 2022 (https://liu.se/artikel/popularvetenskapliga-veckan) as well as the Swedish Air Force Museum's theme day on "Tomorrow's Technology" in January 2023.



13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Tom Ziemke served as program co-chair for the conference CogSIMA 2022, the *IEEE Conference on Cognitive and Computational Aspects of Situation Management*, held in Sorrento, Italy, in June 2022.

14. Open source software contributions

N/A

ELLIIT Call B

In December 2020 the ELLIIT Research projects had been running for five years and reached their intended closing date. The ELLIIT board decided to initiate 15 new projects, in mostly existing constellations of PIs/co-PIs, and that will run from 2021 to 2025.

B1: Ultra-reliable wireless for 6G applications

PI: Fredrik Tufvesson, LU Co-PI: Erik G. Larsson, LiU

Summary

This project proposal combines a theoretical approach to ultra-reliable low latency communication for 6G, with channel characterization and modelling for the same purpose, a system wide perspective and hardware friendly approaches for distributed communication, all aiming to maximize diversity and point-to-point communication reliabilities better than 99,999% while still keeping the introduced latency below 100 us.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

We have been working on the topic of ultra-low latency grant-free random access. During 2022, his research focused on the development of a distributed activity detection algorithm in distributed multiple-input multiple-output (MIMO) systems and a learning-based random access control policy.

The first algorithm, called distributed approximate message passing (AMP), allows an access point to compute a local log-likelihood ratio (LLR) for each serving user. The activities are determined purely by aggregating the LLRs, resulting in a performance loss that is acceptable compared to fully coherent



processing while significantly reducing the fronthaul overhead. Additionally, heuristic user association and power control schemes were explored to enhance performance in realistic scenarios. This work was published in the IEEE Wireless Communications Letters.

The second algorithm empowers each user to make joint pilot selection and power control decisions based on real-time observations of the environment. Although originated from multi-agent reinforcement learning, the algorithm was substantially adapted to incorporate model knowledge for highly efficient training; the resulting performance is close to the case without pilot collision. This work resulted in a paper that is currently under review in an IEEE journal.

1.1. Plans for 2023

In 2023 we will continue develop refined algorithms for activity detection. Especially we have recently started work that departs from the block-fading assumption commonly used in much literature, and considers continuous variations of the channel response as function of time and frequency. Initial results are promising.

- 2. Awards and recognitions
- E. G. Larsson highly cited according to ISI Web of Science, 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022
 - 3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
H2020 REINDEER	EU		2021-2024
SURPRISE (cyber security call)	SSF	1.1 MSEK	2018-2022
Wireless Communications and Sensing Wallenberg Technology Beyond 5G	KAW	3.6 MSEK	2020-2024
Adversarial attacks on the wireless physical layer	VR	1 MSEK	2020-2023
Commissioned research (LiU)	Ericsson	1.3 MSEK	2021-2022
Massive MIMO technologies and applications	Ericsson		2019-2023
"Optimizing Radio Access Networks for efficient massive MIMO operation	SSF industrial PhD student	0.5 MSEK	2019-2023
H2020 5G-SMART, 5G for smart manufacturing	EU	10.2 MEUR (LU: 249 kEUR)/3 years	2019-2022



MINTS, Millimeter-wave NeTworking and Sensing for Beyond 5G) (also relevant in A11)	EU, MSCA ITN	3.9 MEUR (LU: 564 kEUR)/4 years	2020-2024
MIMO-Sensor for Positioning and Autonomous Drive, MIMO-PAD (also relevant in B11)	Vinnova/FFI	22.7 MSEK (LU: 1.3 MSEK)/4 years	2019-2023
5G-Pos, 5G positioning for enhanced traffic safety" (also relevant in B06 and B11)	Vinnova/FFI	6.7 MSEK (LU: 2.5 MSEK)/4 years	2020-2022

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Sai Thoota, postdoc	0000-0001-9957-8467	2022-
Thanh Tung Vu, postdoc	0000-0002-8342-4567	2022-
Martin B. Andersson, Ph.D. student	0000-0002-3469-726X	2022-

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

LiU and LU have cooperated within the EU-funded H2020-REINDEER project, where both are partners. They also together have the project "Large intelligent surfaces" funded by the SSF, focusing on development of large-scale distributed MIMO systems.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

The activities are highly interlinked with other ELLIIT projects and other external joint projects. Within ELLIIT there are strong connections to the A11 postdoc project and to the PhD student projects in B2 and vehicle and B positioning.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

Under a bilateral agreement between Ericsson Research and LiU/ISY/Communication systems, continuing throughout 2021-2022, research is being undertaken on aspects of distributed massive MIMO, and on the design of wireless networks to support machine learning applications.

There is also a strong connection to the bilateral project Massive MIMO technologies and applications betweeen LU and Ericsson. Furthermore, There are industrial PhD students with Volvo cars, Terranet, Ericsson and joint Vinnova/FFI projects with partners Volvo cars, Terranet, Chalmers, Qamcom, Scania,



RISE, TietoEvry, related to the project. In the MSCA ITN MINTS we have been working with Sony on Reflective Intelligent Surfaces.

8. International collaboration

Co-authored papers with, among others, QU Belfast; Princeton Univ.; Univ. Southhampton; Polytechnic U. Hong Kong. KU Leuven, Aalborg University, TU Graz, University of Trento In the related EU projects and MSCA ITN, there is of course an extensive international collaboration.

- 9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry
- Estimating Forest Variables from LiDAR Pointcloud Data Using a Deep Learning Approach, Digital Edge, Stockholm
- The Effect of Distortions Induced by Adaptive Antenna Arrays in GNSS-Applications, FOI, Linköping
- Energy-efficient monitoring system for fire extinguishers, Mikrodust, Lund
- Investigating and Modeling Uplink Processing in 5G NR Multisector Scheduler Simulator, Ericsson, Lund
- Beamformed Channel Matrix Positioning Using 5G Testbench CSI data With a Deep-Learning Pipeline, Ericsson, Lund
- Hybrid Wireless Positioning, uBlox, Malmö
- Simple RSRP Fingerprint Collection Setup and Indoor Positioning in 5G, Ericsson, Lund

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

Patent title	Application Number
Server and agent for reporting of computational results during an iterative learning process	WO2022214162A1
Methods, control node, wireless device and access node for estimation of path loss and channel response	EP4097895A1
Signal detection of a backscattering device	WO2022268331A1
Downlink synchronization signals	US11405877B2
Transmission of mu-mimo signals	WO2022214169A1



11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Project in wireless communication. Course content is continuously updated based on current research results	master

- Ema Beciroivic defended her Ph.D. thesis "Signal Processing Aspects of Massive MIMO", October 2022. Advisor: E. G. Larsson.
- Zakir Hussain successfully defended his licentiate thesis "Cell-Free Massive MIMO: Distributed Signal Processing and Energy Efficiency", March 2022. Advisor: E. G. Larsson.
- Unnikrishnan Kunnath Ganesan successfully defended his licentiate thesis "Distributed Massive MIMO: Random Access, Extreme Multiplexing and Synchronization", March 2022. Advisor: E. G. Larsson.
- Özgecan Özdogan successfully defended her Ph.D. thesis "Signal Processing Aspects of Massive MIMO and IRS-Aided Communications", February 2022. Advisor: E. Björnson (alumni ELLIIT recruited faculty)
- Xuhong Li successfully defended her PhD thesis "Parametric Radio Channel Estimation and Robust Localization", June 2022, Advisor: F. Tufvesson
- Sara Willhammar successfully defended her PhD thesis" Massive MIMO for dependable communication", Dec. 2022, Advisor: F. Tufvesson



12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

ELLIIT tech talks have been successfully launched during 2022. Fredrik Tufvesson was initiator and project leader for the whole production with two specific contributions from this sub-project on 6G and on Big data by Fredrik Tufvesson and Erik G. Larsson.

The Wireless Future podcast hosted by Erik G. Larsson and former ELLIIT recruited faculty Emil Björnson continues to be a major success (>20,000 subscribers), with many of the episodes having thousands of views, and many high- profile international guests, <u>Podcast: Wireless Future (All episodes)</u>



Mobile Heights Invited Talk, "6G? We haven't deployed 5G yet", Mobile Heights, Malmö, April 2022.

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

- E. G. Larsson co-guest editor of IEEE JSTSP special issue on Advanced Signal Processing in 6G Networks for Extended Reality will appear in 2023
- E. G. Larsson advisory board member for IEEE Globecom workshop on distributed intelligence, 2022
 - 14. Open source software contributions

Contributor and maintainer of the COST 2100 channel model and their extensions for massive MIMO



B2: Baseband Processing for Beyond 5G Wireless

PI: Liang Liu, LU Co-PI: Håkan Johansson, LiU

Summary

This project focuses on efficient digital baseband processing algorithms and hardware for beyond 5G wireless systems. More specifically, the project will explore system-algorithm-hardware-software codesign to tackle new research challenges in the implementation of distributed massive MIMO technology for Large Intelligent Surfaces (LIS) and Cell-free massive MIMO. To achieve this objective, researchers from Lund University, Linköping University, and Halmstad University collaborate to conduct three PhD projects on distributed processing algorithm and architecture, low-complexity digital front ends, and high-level design methodologies using many-core processor architecture. The digital baseband research in this project will cooperate with other ELLIIT projects on system level exploration and analog electronics design to achieve overall implementation efficiency.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

Subtopic 1 Distributed processing algorithm and hardware architecture:

Distributed massive MIMO, e.g., cell-free MIMO and active large intelligent surfaces, is one of the enabling technologies for Beyond 5G and 6G systems. With antennas distributed in the environment and with the up scaling of number of antennas and signal bandwidth, it is becoming very difficult to implement the traditional centralized processing architecture for massive MIMO systems. Lund University has been looking into distributed processing architectures, including distributed MIMO processing algorithms as well as the topologies to connect different processing elements together. In [B2.1], algorithm-architecture co-design has been conducted to develop distributed interference cancellation algorithms for tree-based topology. [B2.2] has looked into machine learning based distributed algorithms for high-precision radio-based positioning, when a large number of antenna panels are deployed in an indoor environment. Within this topic, Lund University has also contributed to the Deliverable 2.2 of EU project REINDEER [B2.3]. Besides on the theoretical analysis of the distributed architecture, Lund University is also building a 6G testbed using AMD/Xilinx RFSoC technology. Each RFSoC has 16 transceivers with direct RF sampling capability to form one 16-antenna panel. Distributed panels are connected via 100G Ethernet links for data exchange to perform coherence processing.

- [B2.1] Sánchez, J.R., Rusek, F., Edfors, O. and Liu, L., Distributed and Scalable Uplink Processing for LIS: Algorithm, Architecture, and Design Trade-Offs. IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing, pp.2639-2653, 2022
- [B2.2] Sánchez, J.R., Edfors, O. and Liu, L., 2021, December. Positioning for Distributed Large Intelligent Surfaces using Neural Network with Probabilistic Layer. IEEE Globecom Workshops, 2021



[B2.3] Edfors, O., Brazil, R., Petautschnig, H., Callebaut, G., Feys, T., Van der Perre, L., Larsson, E.G., Fitzgerald, E., Liu, L., Sanchez, J.R. and Tärneberg, W., 2022. Initial assessment of architectures and hardware resources for a RadioWeaves infrastructure.

Subtopic 2 Low-complexity digital front-ends (DFEs):

Three contributions:

Linearization: We have developed a low-complexity memoryless linearizer for analog-to-digital interfaces (ADIs). It is inspired by neural networks but has a substantially lower complexity than the neural-network schemes that have appeared earlier in the literature in this context. We have demonstrated that the proposed linearizer can outperform the conventional parallel memoryless Hammerstein linearizer even when the nonlinearities have been generated through a memoryless polynomial model. Further, we have proposed a design procedure in which the linearizer parameters are obtained through matrix inversion. Thereby, we avoid the costly and time consuming iterative nonconvex optimization that is traditionally used when training neural networks. Simulations have shown signal-to-noise-and-distortion ratio (SNDR) improvements of some 25 dB for multi-tone signals that correspond to the quadrature parts of OFDM signals with QPSK modulation. This work has resulted in a conference paper [B2.4].

Compensation of timing mismatch in two-channel time-interleaved ADCs: We have showed that substantial correction improvements of two-channel time-interleaved ADCs using first-order compensation schemes can be achieved when the two channels are appropriately matched to each other instead of viewing one channel as a reference and matching the other channel to this reference channel. This work has resulted in one journal paper [P2].

Low-complexity beamforming designs and channel estimation for passive intelligent surface (PIS) assisted MISO energy transfer: We have further worked on improving our earlier proposed channel estimation (CE) and low-complexity jointly-optimal transmit (active) and reflect (passive) energy beamforming (EB) design maximizing the efficacy of PIS assisted energy transfer (PET) from multiantenna power beacon (PB) to single-antenna users. This work has resulted in one journal paper [B2.6].

[B2.4] D. Rodriguez Linares and H. Johansson, "Low-complexity memoryless linearizer for analog-to-digital interfaces, 24th International Conference on Digital Signal Processing, Island of Rhodes, Greece, June 2023 (accepted).

[B2.5] Y. Wang, H. Johansson, M. Deng, and Z. Li, "On the compensation of timing mismatch in two-channel time-interleaved ADCs: Strategies and a novel parallel compensation structure", IEEE Trans. Signal Processing, vol. 70, pp. 2460-2475, 2022.

[B2.6] D. Mishra and H. Johansson, "Low-complexity beamforming designs and channel estimation for passive intelligent surface assisted MISO energy transfer", IEEE Internet of Things Journal, accepted Dec. 2022.



Subtopic 3 High-level design methodologies using distributed many-core processor architectures:

Halmstad University (HH) is concerned with finding suitable architectures for Massive MIMO algorithms used in Baseband processing of beyond 5G wireless communication systems. HH started by investigating different architectures of CNNs for a fingerprint based positioning system mMIMO algorithms used in Large Intelligent Services (LIS) for positioning services [B2.7]. The study focused on enhancing the accuracy (minimize the mean distance error) of these services in terms of accurate positioning of users using the Channel State Information (CSI) of a massive MIMO system as input data.

[B2.7] Ali Nada, Hazem Ismail Ali, Liang Liu and Yousra Alkabani. 2023. Enhancing the Accuracy of CSI-based Positioning in Massive MIMO Systems. Paper is under submission in IEEE BlackSeaCom 2023 conference.

1.1. Plans for 2023

Distributed processing algorithm and hardware architecture: Future 6G systems are supporting multiple wireless services including communication, sensing, positioning, and wireless power transfer. One of the potential topics for 2023 is to look into unified distributed processing architecture that can support multiple of these services to improve the implementation efficiency. The development of the RFSoC-based 6G testbed will continue. The plan for 2023 is to have the real-time communication service (e.g., spatial multiplexing of multiple users) implemented and verified.

Low-complexity digital front-ends (DFEs):

We will explore the proposed low-complexity linearizer and its extensions to memory linearizers, and investigate their possibilities and limitations for different classes of nonlinearities, signals, and effective resolutions (effective number of bits) both for ADIs and DAIs, in particular in the context of massive MIMO which comprises many parallel signal chains as well as crosstalk.

High-level design methodologies using distributed many-core processor architectures:

Our investigation will focus on accelerating mMIMO detection algorithms in both software and hardware domains. Regarding software, we plan to leverage potential parallelism within these algorithms and implement them using parallel languages and computational models to test them on commercial parallel platforms such as GPUs. As for hardware, we intend to create appropriate architectures that can efficiently utilize these parallel designs.

2. Awards and recognitions N/A



3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration project	of
Massive MIMO technology and application	Ericsson	One post-doc and one PhD student in the digital baseband processing	2018-2022	
BEYOND5	EU ECSEL/Vinnova	~2 MSEK for ULUND	2020-2023	
REINDEER: REsilient INteractive applications through hyper Diversity in Energy Efficient RadioWeaves technology	EU H2020		2020-2024	
Scalable and Distributed Computing for Large Intelligent Surfaces	VR	~900kSEK	2020-2023	
Large Intelligent Surfaces – Architecture and Hardware	SSF	~6 MSEK	2021-2025	
Calibration of Time-Interleaved Analog-to- Digital Converters	Huawei	824 kSEK	2020-2022	
Receiver Linearization Techniques	Huawei	800 kSEK	2022-2023	

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Deijany Rodriguez Linares		From 2021

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Besides on the inter-university cooperation within the ELLIIT project, Lund University is collocating (in the EU H2020 project REINDEER), with Linköping University, KU LEUVEN, TU Graz on developing the RadioWeave concept and systems. Within the EU project BEYOND5, Lund University is together with KTH, TU Dresden, TU Delft working on developing mmWave massive MIMO testbed for in-flight cabin communication.



6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

The department of Electrical and Information Technology (EIT), LU are working together with the Computer Science and Automatic Control and Centre for Mathematical Sciences in Lund University to conduct a measurement campaign in Lund University Humanities Lab's motion capture studio for multi-sensory positioning for indoor environment. [Yaman, I., Tian, G., Larsson, M., Persson, P., Sandra, M., Dürr, A., Tegler, E., Challa, N., Garde, H., Tufvesson, F. and Åström, K., 2023. The LuViRA Dataset: Measurement Description. arXiv preprint arXiv:2302.05309.] This is very helpful to further understand and develop the new services in Beyond 5G and 6G systems.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

Lund university: In the EU H2020 project REINDEER, the industry partners are Ericsson, Technikon, NXP, Telefonica. Within BEYOND5, Lund University is working closely with Ericsson, GlobalFoundries, Leti, MRK-IC. Linköping University has cooperated with Huawei.

8. International collaboration

Lund university is collaborating with many partners within EU project REINDEER and BEYOND5. Lund university is also collaborating with University of Michigan on efficient hardware implementation of 5G baseband processing algorithms. Linköping university cooperates with universities in Australia and China.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

Lund University:

- With Ericsson "Beam-steered Modulation in Advanced Antenna Systems"
- With Ericsson "Investigating Machine Learning for verification of AMBA APB protocol"
- With Axis "Using Approximate Computing Circuits to Optimize Performance and Power of an ASIC"
- With Ericsson "Efficient implementation of a filter library targeted at multiple platforms"

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A



11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Introduction to Structured VLSI Design (LU)	graduate
Computer Architecture (LU)	graduate
DSP-Design (LU)	graduate
Director of International master program on Embedded Electronics Enginering (Liang Liu)	graduate
Multirate Digital Signal Processing (LiU, Håkan Johansson)	graduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Liang Liu gave invited talks "Low-power digital beamforming access point" at THE SEMICONDUCTOR RENDEZ-VOUS, Lund, 2022 and "Digital baseband implementation challenges in 6G distributed networks" at 6GSymposium, 2022. Yousra Alkabani and Liang Liu gave ELLIIT tech talk "Mobile Processing Architectures and Devices"

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Liang Liu served as Technical Committee member, IEEE Circuits and Systems (CAS) Society, Circuits and Systems for Communication and VLSI Systems and Applications Technical Committees. Håkan Johansson served as a member of IEEE Int. Symp. Circuits Syst. (ISCAS) DSP track committee.

14. Open source software contributions N/A



B3: Energy-efficient ICs for 6G and radars transceivers

PI: Atila Alvandpour, LiU Co-PI: Henrik Sjöland, LU

Summary

With 6G the journey towards ever-higher carrier frequencies and bandwidths continues. For the first time in cellular systems, the carrier frequency will exceed 100 GHz and the bandwidth 10GHz. To achieve useful communication distance and radar range, devices and especially base stations will use beamforming with very large antenna arrays. The goal of this project is research and development of a small sized wideband energy-efficient IC, including RF analog front-end and analog-to-digital converter (ADC) to be used as a building block in 6G equipment for up to Tbit/s communication also capable of high-resolution radar measurements.

- 1. Main scientific achievements during 2022
- During 2022, an innovative modular system-level testbench (in Matlab) has been developed for simulating and exploring next generations massive antenna arrays and beamforming transceivers architectures with near circuit-level fidelity. This has been done in a close joint research work between Linköping and Lund sites. What makes this testbench stand out from other system-level works is the very detailed modelling level of the analog/RF and mixed-signal hardware, enabling simulations and verifications of the impact of hardware imperfections on the overall system performance and power consumption. It can also be used to obtain design specifications for each hardware block. The work has so far resulted in one submitted conference paper. The testbench is under further development and more system-level investigations will be performed.
- In Lund, a chip with baseband filters suitable for 6G frequencies has been designed and fabricated, featuring both passive and active filters. Measurements are currently on-going, and the results indicate that the filters achieve state-of-the-art performance at multi-GHz baseband frequencies. Additionally, a journal paper was published on a phase shifting mm-wave frequency generator, which can be used in massive antenna arrays.
- In Linköping, a chip with a wideband pipeline ADC, suitable as a Sub-ADC for interleaved ADCs, has been designed and fabricated. The chip has been delivered, and measurement will be started as soon as the test setup and PCB fabrication are ready. Additionally, a conference paper has been submitted and is under review.
- In Lund, the industrial PhD student Christian Elgaard at Ericsson has performed a successful investigation of adaptive bias in mm-wave Doherty amplifiers. A larger transceiver chip has been designed and fabricated together with more people at Ericsson in Lund, featuring frequency upconversion and phase shift, adaptive-bias Doherty power amplifier, as well as antenna switch and low noise amplifier for receiver. The adaptive bias shows clear linearity improvements in measurements,



also for very wideband 5G signals with 1.6GHz bandwidth, and a paper has been submitted to IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits.

- In Linköping, Alireza Saberkari, Atila Alvandpour and team have worked on and demonstrated techniques to extend the wireless power transfer range in miniaturized remotely powered microdevices to overcome the challenges of limited harvested RF energy due to the very small effective area and low gain of the mm-sized antenna utilized in these devices. We have presented a method for increasing the separation distance between an external energy source TX antenna and microdevice RX antenna beyond 10 cm by utilizing various TX antennas.
- In Linköping, Alireza Saberkari and team have worked on an integrated tunable active all-pass filterbased true time delay (TTD) element covering a 3–5-GHz ultra-wideband (UWB) frequency. It achieves a tunable delay range of 385–540 ps with 6-ps delay steps and maximum 11% absolute delay error over the desired frequency band. Accordingly, a four-channel beamforming receiver realized by the proposed TTD element is designed and examined. The results reveal a maximum steering angle of ±45° with 5° (18 steps) steering resolution for the beamforming receiver with 2-cm antenna spacing.

1.1. Plans for 2023

The plan for 2023 is to further develop the above-described system-level testbench (in Matlab) to be able to consider even more detailed hardware imperfections and their impact on the entire system. The aim is to better understand the complex interplay between different parts of the system and their performance/imperfection parameters in different scenarios, and to then be able to extract appropriate requirements for each sub-block.

For the above-mentioned baseband filters, the plan is to get the work published. The plan is also to submit a paper on a work about mm-wave quadrature frequency multipliers with digital calibration, for which the main part was designed previous years.

For the ADC mentioned above, the plan is to do the measurement and submit a journal paper. Also, a modified/improved version of the ADC is planned to be designed and fabricated, to be used as a sub-channel in a time-interleaved ADC.

2. Awards and recognitions N/A



3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount	Duration of
		per year	project
Micrometer-scale wireless cell fluorescence	SSF	33 MSEK (about	2020-2025
detection device		15 MSEK for LiU)	
Next generation distributed processing	VINNOVA	1 MSEK for LiU	2018-2022
platform for sensor signal and avionics data			
processing			
Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR)	VR	3.6 MSEK (LiU)	2023-2026
Miniaturization for Spectroscopy: A Platform			
for Portable and Sensitive Probing			

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021-
		2022, from 2021, etc)
Alireza Saberkari (Associate Prof.)	0000-0002-3242-1462	From 2021
Rikard Gannedahl (PhD student)	0000-0003-4691-2120	From 2020
Javad Bagheri (PhD student)	0000-0001-7474-6428	From 2020

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

As was briefly described under section 1, this project is based on close collaboration, joint research work between the project partners from Lund and LiU. During 2022 an innovative modular system-level testbench (in Matlab) was jointly developed for simulating and exploring next generations massive antenna arrays and beamforming transceivers architectures with near circuit-level fidelity. The work has so far resulted in one submitted conference paper, but the aim is to continue to work and generate more publications. The testbench is thus under further development and more system-level investigations will be performed. The aim is to better understand the complex interplay between different parts of the system and their performance/imperfection parameters in different scenarios, and to then be able to extract appropriate requirements for each sub-block.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

Research in Electronic circuits and systems is today very application driven and our ongoing research projects are all highly interdisciplinary projects, requiring close collaboration across a broad spectrum of knowledge, scientific areas, and engineering disciplines. As examples:



The VINNOVA project between SAAB and LiU with the title "Next generation distributed processing platform for sensor signal and avionics data processing". The project is a close collaboration between SAAB (Linköping, Göteborg, Järfälla), LiU (Integrated circuits and systems group at ISY, and software security group at IDA), KTH (electronics and embedded systems), jointly addressing new computing architectures, signal processing algorithms and systems, radio communication/radar systems, advanced IC design, hardware/software co-design, software security and algorithms.

A new industrial PhD student has just started at Ericsson in Lund with funding from SSF on the topic of Neuromorphic Computing using CMOS analog integrated circuits together with memristors. The project is a cooperation between the Electromagnetics and Nanoelectronics group (EIT, LTH), the Integrated Electronic Systems group (EIT, LTH), and Ericsson Research in Lund. The project is truly interdisciplinary involving neural networks, analog circuit design, and memristor devices.

The SSF frame project between Linköping University, Karolinska Institutet, and KTH, developing an implantable fluorescence micro-detector imaging device utilizing wireless power and data transfer for in vivo monitoring of pancreatic cells and development of new effective medicine for diabetes.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

Henrik Sjöland is the main supervisor of two industrial PhD students from Ericsson Research in Lund, in the field of integrated mm-wave transmitters and power amplifiers. The topic is very well aligned with this ELLIIT project, addressing mm-waves, wide bandwidths, and power efficiency. The two industrial PhD students are Imad ud Din and Christian Elgaard.

A new industrial PhD student has just started at Ericsson in Lund with funding from SSF on the topic of Neuromorphic Computing using CMOS analog integrated circuits together with memristors. The project is a cooperation between the Electromagnetics and Nanoelectronics group (EIT, LTH), the Integrated Electronic Systems group (EIT, LTH), and Ericsson Research in Lund.

In a close collaboration between LiU, Saab and Brazil, Atila Alvandpour has been contributing with many tutorials, lectures, courses, supervisions of Brazilian students and senior researcher at ITA Brazil on design of integrated circuits and advanced chip design techniques.

8. International collaboration

We have developed and published several innovative works and results on high-speed DACs for 6G in close collaboration (joint PhD program) between Linköping University and Nanyang Technical University (NTU) Singapore.



9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

Atila Alvandpour has been examiner and supervisor for several master projects in collaboration with Ericsson.

Henrik Sjöland has also been supervisor for several master projects in collaboration with Ericsson.

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
VLSI Chip Design (Alvandpour LiU)	undergraduate
Analog CMOS integrated circuits (Alireza Saberkari LiU)	undergraduate
Integrated radio frequency circuits (Alireza Saberkari LiU)	undergraduate
Radio electronics (Alireza Saberkari LiU)	undergraduate
Sigma-Delta data converters (Alvandpour, LiU)	graduate

- Atila Alvandpour is the director of the international master program in Electronics Engineering at LiU.

- Markus Törmänen is the director of the E program at LTH.

- Alireza Saberkari is the leader of Electronics profile for LiU undergraduate education programs.

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Atila Alvandpour has been the main contact person for the national competence hub (kompetensnav) for Integrated Circuits and Systems in the VINNOVA/Energimyndigheten/ Fromas national SIO program, 'Smartare elektroniksystems'. The competence hub aims to establish strong national network, joint collaboration, and research projects between and within electronics industry and Universities in Sweden.

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Henrik Sjöland has been an associate editor of IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems – I, the term will end mid-2023.

Henrik Sjöland is a new member of the ITPC RF sub-committee at the International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC)



Atila Alvandpour has been a member of the steering board of IEEE Nordic Circuits and Systems Conference (NORCAS) as well as technical program committee member in other international conferences such as IEEE European Solid-State Circuits (ESSCIRC).

Alireza Saberkari has been the guest editor for a Special Issue entitled "Advanced High-Performance Integrated Circuits for Sensing Technologies and IoT Applications" in "Electronics" Journal, MDPI, (ISSN 2079-9292).

14. Open source software contributions N/A

B4: 5G/6G Security

PI: Thomas Johansson, LU Co-PI: Simin Nadjm-Tehrani, LiU

Summary

Applications deployed with 5G/6G will be facing several new security challenges. This project will span a variety of research activities in 5G/6G security. This includes development and analysis of cryptographic algorithms and protocols working in low latency and constrained environments and study of implementation weaknesses of security protocols through side-channels. This includes investigating the impact of quantum computers on 5G/6G security solutions. We also consider proofs for security of protocols and cross layer analysis of security as well as security mechanisms for 5G/6G IoT applications providing specified privacy features. The project has focus on security in the URLLC use case, where the goal will be end-to-end latencies of a few milliseconds with optimized use of resources and to show that this is possible in presence of some chain of viable security mechanisms.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

A promising solution as a part of security mechanisms for 5G/6G IoT applications is the Grain-128AEAD stream cipher that we have proposed before. We have further analysed properties of the Grain-128AEAD key re-introduction, as part of the cipher initialization. We considered several possible alternatives for key re-introduction and identify weaknesses, or potential weaknesses, in them. Our results show that it seems favorable to separate the state initialization, the key re-introduction, and the A/R register initialization into three separate phases. We now propose a new cipher initialization and have updated the cipher version to Grain-128AEADv2. Previously reported and published analysis of the cipher remains valid also for this new version.

With respect to protocol formalisation and verification a newly recruited PhD student at Linköping University (Navya Sivaraman) has studied the 5G handover protocols and formalised the variant of 3GPP



handover protocol that uses the Xn interface under the threat model of an untrusted base station. She has also formalised the forward security property which ensures that given the knowledge about a session key for one handover, the future handovers by the same user equipment attached to multiple base stations in the future cannot be compromised. The formal analysis of the Xn handover and the security property, given the threat model of untrusted source base station shows that forward security does not hold using the horizontal key derivation function. The proof has been constructed in the Tamarin theorem prover and a paper on the topic is currently under review.

1.1. Plans for 2023

We will further investigate the protocol level for 5G/6G IoT applications. We will analyse the sizes of key exchange and the per-packet message size overheads when using different security protocols to secure CoAP. Small packet sizes are important for reduced energy consumption, latency, and round-trip time in constrained radio networks. We will also investigate whether a new protocol Julia for authentication for small devices (as published in a paper by authors from Assa-Abloy) would benefit from a formalisation and proof of correctness. This would enable studying protocols with small resource footprints utilised in the IoT sector with respect to provable security. Identifying the relevant proof techniques for providing such assurances will be pursued in 2023.

2. Awards and recognitions

Simin Nadjm-Tehrani was awarded the IEEE Systems, Man, and Cybernetics (SMC) Society's <u>Technical</u> <u>Committee on Homeland Security (TCHS)</u> för "IEEE TCHS Women in Homeland Security Award in July 2022. The award is given to "women leaders who have demonstrated long-standing, sustained, and impactful contributions to homeland security practice or research, providing a female role model for young women pursuing a career in the field".



3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
Secure and Private Connectivity in Smart Environments	SSF	1100000	2019-2024
WASP: Lightweight cryptography for autonomous vehicles	WASP	1000000	2019-2022
Side-channel Vulnerability and threat analysis with machine learning awareness	MSB	950000	2021-2025
Strategic Mobility: New constructions of format- preserving encryption	SSF	550000	2023-2024
Analysis of emerging cryptographic algorithms	VR	1000000	2019-2023
RICS: Research centre on Resilient Information and Control Systems (Phase 2)	MSB	2500000	2022-2024
Resource-efficient edge computing	CUGS	400000	2017-2022
Assurance for safety-critical systems that include machine learning	WASP (industry PhD student)	>1000000	2018-2023
Conceptual analysis of architectures for functional scalability, fault tolerance and security	Vinnova (NFFP)	1100000	2018-2023
Robust Deep Learning Using Symbolic Abstractions	WASP (NTU)	500000	2021-2023
WASP: Where AI meets safety and security	WASP	1000000	2022-2025

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Navya Sivaraman, PhD student		2021-
Dachao Wang, PhD student		2023-
Jing Yang, PhD student		2020-2021

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Co-supervision of one PhD at Linköping university.



6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2023

Ongoing joint work on the protocol Julia, suggested for fast and secure key agreement for IoT devices.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

Collaboration with Ericsson at both Lund University and Linköping University. Collaboration with Saab and FOI at Linköping University.

8. International collaboration

Collaboration with University of Cardiff, and ITA Brazil. Co-organiser of a Dagstuhl seminar on the topic of Digital Twins and security.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

Supervised 3 master thesis projects (5 students) at Ericsson, Combitech, Knowit (at LiU).

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Advanced cryptography	graduate
Real-time Systems	graduate
Green Computing	undergraduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Co-chair PQCrypto 2022, 2023, Assoc. Editor IEEE Trans. On Information Theory 2021-



PC Chair of European Dependable Computing Conference 2022, Associate Editor for IEEE Transactions on Dependable and Secure Systems. PC member for several conferences in the security and dependability field.

14. Open source software contributions

N/A

B5: 6G wireless, sub-project: vehicular communications

PI: Alexey Vinel, HH Co-PI: Maria Kihl, LU

Summary

The project will work with futuristic heterogeneous cooperative automated driving scenarios in smart cities, which will include both traditional and remotely human-driven vehicles as well as computer-driven vehicles in complex city environments with different levels of autonomy. We will address the challenges of scalability, robustness, and accommodate uncertainty in cooperative driving by introducing quality elasticity through a hierarchy of decision-making algorithms placed on different levels in the ecosystem of autonomous vehicles. The hierarchical solution could be based on local decision algorithms in the vehicles, edge cloud coordination of small areas, such as an intersection, and global orchestration of larger areas, in order to fulfil more global traffic requirements in, for example, a city. We will enhance the vehicular networking concepts of cooperative awareness (when vehicles exchange information about themselves), collective perception (when vehicles exchange information about objects they have observed by their local sensors) and cooperative driving (when vehicles exchange their trajectories and intentions) to achieve the degrees of flexibility required for the designed decision-making algorithms.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

HH: 1 (Cooperative Maneuvering Safety). We provide a safety analysis for emergency braking scenarios involving consecutive vehicles. The vehicles use adaptive cruise control with a constant-distance policy together with additional vehicle-to-vehicle (V2V) communication for emergency braking. We provide explicit formulas describing how the minimum safe inter-vehicle distance, for avoiding rear-end collision, can be shortened with the use of decentralized environmental notification messages. More precisely, those formulas describe the dependency of such distances on V2V communication delay. We further show how these results can be used to compute probabilities of safe braking in the presence of packet losses.

HH: 2 (Collective Perception). Sensor data sharing enables vehicles to exchange locally perceived sensor data among each other and with the roadside infrastructure to increase their environmental awareness.



Objects filtering methods for inclusion in a message are necessary to avoid overloading a channel and provoking unnecessary data processing. To address the problem of information redundancy, several rules have been proposed, but their performance has not been evaluated yet comprehensively. In the present work, the rules are further analyzed, assessed, and compared. Functional and operational requirements are investigated. A performance evaluation is realized by discrete-event simulations in a scenario for a representative city with realistic vehicle densities and mobility patterns. A score and other redundancy-level metrics are elaborated to ease the evaluation and comparison of the filtering rules.

HH: 3 (Age of Information). We introduce a mathematical framework which allows characterizing the Age of Information (AoI) in networks governed by the Carrier-Sense Multiple Access protocol. Differently from existing work, we take into account the fact that update packets sent by mobile nodes are not necessarily periodic, since packet triggering is often coupled with agents' mobility. Our approach is based on the assumption that diverse mobility-triggered message generation patterns can be modeled by a wide class of update traffic arrival processes. We develop an accurate and efficient analytical model of nodes exchanging one-hop broadcast update messages with bursty arrivals to evaluate the moments as well as entire probability distribution of several performance metrics, including AoI. An asymptotic analysis for large networks suggests a simple way to control the update message rate to minimize the AoI. We show that the optimal update rate that minimizes the mean AoI coincides with the optimum of the wireless channel utilization.

LU: During 2022, there has been continued work on autonomous intersection management (AIM) strategies for cooperative vehicles. The main achievement in this area is a Hierarchical control strategy for AIM systems. The strategy combines a centralized global layer with a decentralized local layer. Each vehicle performs a local control of its speed and direction using its own sensors. The global layer takes a holistic view of the whole intersection and gives target speeds to each vehicle. By using a hierarchical control strategy, the AIM becomes both robust and safe.

1.1. Plans for 2023

HH: The work on safety of cooperative driving, collective perception and age of information in V2V settings will continue, and the PhD student Quentin Delooz will defend his PhD thesis in June 2023, Galina Sidorenko will complete her PhD thesis by the end of 2023.

LU: The work on robust control strategies for cooperative vehicles continues, and the PhD student Zahra Chamideh will complete her PhD thesis by the end of 2023.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A



3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
IMMINENCE (LU)	Vinnova / Celtic Next	1.8 MSEK in total	June 2021 – Dec 2023
SEC4FACTORY (LU)	SSF	5 MSEK	April 2018 – Dec 2024
SafeSmart – Safety of Connected Intelligent Vehicles in Smart Cities (HH)	ккѕ	2MSEK KKS + 2MSEK HH + 2MSEK in-kind	4 years
EPIC – Emergency Vehicle Traffic Light Pre- emption in Cities (HH)	VINNOVA	1.2MSEK	2 years

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Zahra Chamideh (LU)	0000-0001-8374-7764	Since start
William Tärneberg (LU)	0000-0003-1316-8059	Since start
Maria Kihl (LU)	0000-0003-3396-1652	Since start
Felipe Valle (HH)	0000-0002-2995-8322	Since start
Johan Thunberg (HH)	0000-0002-9738-4148	Since start
Galina Sidorenko (HH)	0000-0001-8587-2251	Since start

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

There have been some cooperation activities between HH and LU, however, these activities have so far not resulted in published papers.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

There are strong links to B01 and B11 in the area of channel characterization, robust vehicular communication and vehicular positioning.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors



LU: Cooperation between LU and Volvo Cars in a Vinnova competence center proposal.

8. International collaboration

HH: Results on cooperative manuevering have been obtained with Hamburg University of Technology, Germany. Results on Collective Perception have been obtained with Technische Universität Braunschweig and Technische Hochschule Ingolstadt, Germany. Results on the AoI have been obtained with Luxembourg Institute of Science and Technology and Sapienza University of Rome, Italy.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

N/A

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
ETSN10 Network Architecture and Performance (LU)	undergraduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Outreach activities performed by Maria Kihl:

- March 2022: Tetra Pak Innovation and Science Talk
- April 2022: IVA Syd presentation
- October 2022: Presentation at Network for IT managers in Skåne
- Participated in the ELLIIT tech talks theme 1, "Industry 4.0"

Outreach activities performed by Alexey Vinel – keynote speaker at VEHITS-2022, ICCNT-2022 and SoCAV-2022.

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar N/A



14. Open source software contributions N/A

B6: Robust and Secure Control over the Cloud

PI: Anton Cervin, LU Co-PI: Zebo Peng, LiU

Summary

The project will explore how the Cloud, with its virtually infinite compute capacity, can improve the security and performance of feedback control systems. In one part, we will research verifiable computation protocols (VPC) for secure outsourcing of cloud-based control computations. In another part, we will investigate the interplay between local and cloud-based control computations and derive guarantees on robustness and performance. There is an interesting trade-off between security, round-trip delay, and control performance that will also be studied. The design techniques will be verified in experiments, where physical processes are controlled remotely over the Cloud.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

We studied several issues related to the development of a cloud-based cyber-physical system platform, with a focus on ultra-reliable low-latency communication over the cloud, at LiU. We proposed to use a 5G configured grant (CG) scheduling technique to implement a periodicity-based schedule to reduce control signaling time and guarantee service quality. This technique will enable real-time applications, such as industrial automation and control. We have studied the trade-off between scheduling flexibility and control overhead when performing CG scheduling. The problem was first formulated using satisfiability modulo theories (SMT) so that an SMT solver can be used to generate optimal solutions. To enhance scalability, we proposed two heuristic algorithms. The first one follows the basic idea of the 5G CG scheduling scheme that minimizes the control overhead. The second one enables increased scheduling flexibility of the proposed techniques have been evaluated using a large number of generated benchmarks as well as a realistic case study for industrial automation.

We have also been working on scheduling techniques for Time-Sensitive Networking (TSN), which supports real-time and reliable Ethernet communication, commonly used in automotive and industrial automation systems. The proposed TSN techniques can be eventually integrated into our cloud-based CPS platform for local communication.

The Lund partner has studied different aspects of control over the cloud and control of the cloud. By control over the cloud, we mean offloading of controllers, e.g., Model-Predictive Controllers, from the local



devices to the edge or the cloud. By control of the cloud, we mean modeling and feedback-based resource management with the aim to increase the predictability and determinism of the cloud. From Dec 2021 to Nov 2022 four PhD these on these topics were defended: "Control over the Cloud: Offloading, Elastic Computing and Predictive Control" by Per Skarin at Ericsson, "Modeling and Control for Improved Predictability of Cloud Applications" by Tommi Berner, now at Modelon, "Resource Management in Distributed Camera Systems" by Alexandre Martins, now at Attitude, and finally "Dynamical Modeling of Cloud Applications for Runtime Performance Management" by Johan Ruuskanen, now at Ericsson. All of these were funded by WASP. The student funded by ELLIIT in the current project, Max Nyberg Carlsson, has during 2022 worked on a method for how to improve the temporal robustness of a controller to various timing complications, e.g., long delays or aborted computations. The core concept of the approach is to log successful sampling and actuation events and then, at discrete time points, use non-convex parametric optimization to improve the expected performance of the controller under the assumption that the future timing behavior will be like the current one. To reduce the time complexity of the optimization algorithm, automatic differentiation is integrated for efficient gradient descent. The approach is based on a new version of the JitterTime toolbox implemented in Julia. A paper summarizing this has been accepted for the IFAC World Congress 2023 in July in Nagasaki, Japan.

1.1. Plans for 2023

The following research issues will be our focus for 2023:

- Refinement of the developed 5G configured grant (CG) scheduling technique to make it more powerful for resource optimization, at LiU.
- Integration of the CG scheduling technique with JitterTime and JitterBug, developed by the LU partner, so that control performance optimization can be achieved. This will be joint work done by both partners together.
- Development of an incremental design approach so that a 5G CG schedule will be easily extended to handle future traffic, at LiU.
- Nonlinear control of controlled server queues based on new lumped low-order models, at Lund.
- Estimation of model parameters in the above-mentioned models, at Lund.
- 2. Awards and recognitions

Zebo Peng received the IEEE Computer Society Distinguished Contributor Award in 2022.

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount	Duration	of
		per year	project	



Adaptive Software for the Heterogeneous Edge- Cloud Continuum	SSF	1.5 mSEK	2022-2027
AORTA – Advanced Offloading of Real-Time Applications	VINNOVA	1.3 mSEK	2023-2025

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021-2022, from 2021, etc)
Yungang Pan, PhD student	0000-0002-4647-2412	2021-2026
Max Nyberg Carlsson, PhD student	0000-0002-2608-1182	2021-2026
Ahmed Albayati will be hired as a PhD student in the AORTA VINNOVA project	Not available yet	From 2023
Martina Maggio, Full professor to co-supervise Max Nyberg Carlsson	0000-0002-1143-1127	From April 2023
Johan Eker, 50% Full professor to co-supervise Max Nyberg Carlsson	0000-0003-0181-3970	From April 2023

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

The two partners in LU and LiU had close cooperation, with regular project meetings and common research activities. Concrete joint work in using the JitterTime and JitterBug tools, developed by the LU partner, to quantify the performance of control when using the 5G configured grant (CG) scheduling technique, developed by the LiU partner, has been initiated.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

The LiU partner had a strong industrial collaboration with Motional (a technology leader in driverless vehicles), USA, via Dr. Soheil Samii, who is also an adjunct senior lecturer at LiU. This cooperation led to the following publications in 2022: Y. Zhou, S. Samii, P. Eles, and Z. Peng, "Time-Triggered Scheduling for Time-Sensitive Networking with Preemption," Proc. 27th Asia and South Pacific Design Automation Conference (ASP-DAC'22), Virtual, Jan. 17-20, 2022, pp. 262-267.



The Lund partner has a strong collaboration with Ericsson. During 2022 this has resulted in a joint accepted VINNOVA proposal together with Mälardalen University and Cognibotics.

8. International collaboration

Besides the international cooperation with Motional, USA, described in Section 7, the LiU partner had also close cooperation with Prof. Sudipta Chattopadhyay, Singapore University of Technology and Design (SUTD), in developing symbolic execution-based frameworks to improve the performance of graphic processing units (GPU).

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

Several LiU master thesis projects took place in collaboration with Ericsson, Infor AB, and NIRA. Several Lund master thesis projects took place together with Ericsson.

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Real-Time and Dependable Ethernet Communication with IEEE TSN standards – New Course	Graduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Zebo Peng is appointed Board Member of the European Design Automation Association (EDAA) and Associate Editor of Foundations and Trends[®] in Electronic Design Automation. Petru Eles is an Associate Editor of the IEEE Design & Test, the ACM Transactions on Embedded Computing Systems, and Real-Time



Systems. Karl-Erik Årzén is Associate Editor for Real-Time Systems, the Leibnitz Transactions on Embedded Systems (LITES), and the ACM Transactions of Cyber-Physical Systems.

14. Open source software contributions

B7: Quality assurance in continuous software engineering

PI: Nauman bin Ali, BTH Co-PI: Emelie Engström, LU

Summary

Software quality assurance includes preventive, diagnostic, and corrective mechanisms to ensure the design and development of high-quality software systems. Technological advances, like cloud computing and modern toolchains for automated builds, testing, and deployment, have enabled organizations engaging in continuous software engineering to deploy a new version of a system ever more rapidly. This new way of working requires automation and puts new requirements in terms of the role and responsibilities of quality assurance.

This project will explore the interaction between automated and manual data analysis in such contexts. We will investigate the use of data analytics and visualizations to help software engineers interpret the massive amount of data available due to activities like code analysis, version management, code reviews, testing, and product usage. Furthermore, to support integrating research activities and results in the industrial context, we will advance the work on improving the knowledge co-creation between industry and academia in software quality assurance.

- 1. Main scientific achievements during 2022
- **Source code quality:** We have completed an extensive and critical review of the evidence reported in the literature to connect the internal characteristics of source code to a software product's quality characteristics. This work has also led to the creation of a catalog of source code metrics.

We have also investigated what insights regarding source code quality and development practices can be attained using code review comments. A large number of comments makes it a challenge to identify interesting patterns manually. Therefore, to support such analysis, we have used an unsupervised machine learning approach to create clusters of review comments automatically.

- **Defect management**: We have used machine learning for both detecting defect reports that turn out to be invalid and identifying preventive actions to avoid their creation in the first place.
- **Test case quality:** We have conducted a survey to understand the perceived importance of various quality attributes of test cases. Through this survey we have also identified what are the major open research questions of practical relevance.



- Architecture evaluation: We have used scenario-based evaluation methods and prototyping to assess various quality attributes trade-offs in architectural decisions in the context of a dedicated network.
- Continuous anomaly detection: We have investigated the use of deep learning approaches for anomaly detection in multivariate monitoring data in distributed software systems. Through an industrial case study, we have conceptualized problems related to continuous monitoring in DevOps, overviewed unsupervised deep learning approaches for anomaly detection, and provided guidelines for selecting feasible methods for anomaly detection in time series. We deployed and evaluated the deep learning models in a real-world DevOps context using the Microsoft Azure cloud platform. The study demonstrated the effectiveness of timely anomaly detection through operation monitoring in DevOps for preventing severe failures in operations.
- Critical scenario identification: Critical scenario identification and testing are essential for assuring the safety and reliability of autonomous driving systems. Still, there is no standardization for identifying and using critical scenarios. We have conducted an extensive interview study with practitioners from 7 companies in the autonomous driving domain in Sweden to understand industry practices and challenges related to critical scenario identification and testing. We identified a need to combine different approaches and for more collaboration between different stakeholders and researchers to improve the situation. Through this study, we provide insights into current industry practices and identify challenges that will benefit future research.
- Industry-academia knowledge co-creation: Two successful cases of using interactive rapid reviews (IRRs) to initiate collaboration between academic researchers and industry practitioners were investigated, highlighting the importance of following predefined protocols to facilitate collaborative work, prioritizing analysis efforts based on the needs of practitioners, and the potential for spontaneous knowledge sharing and future studies within the company. We refined and published stepwise guidelines for performing IRRs to support researchers and practitioners in establishing effective partnerships.

1.1. Plans for 2023

Data and visual analytics have been proposed in software engineering to interpret large amounts of multidimensional data. However, their use in software quality assurance is insufficiently investigated. Furthermore, the cost of existing approaches is too high for practical use due to the following limitations: (a) tight coupling between analytical solutions and the underlying data collection mechanisms and (b) the need to interact with and integrate various data sources to collect all the necessary data. Using design science, we will identify and consolidate key stakeholders' information needs and develop analytical solutions to meet those needs. We will develop an information model to decouple the analytical solutions from the data sources and develop an effective and reusable data collection mechanism.

We will continue to explore the use of machine learning techniques to support software engineering tasks.



We plan to extensively review the literature on anomaly detection applied in practice to gain an overview of how different types of operational data have been used to identify early signs of software failure. We will also refine, implement, and evaluate our deep-learning solution in another industrial case.

We plan to initiate research exploring means to support AI alignment through continuous operational testing.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
SERT	KK-stiftelsen	5.99 MSEK	2018 - 2026
PLENG2	KK-stiftelsen	1.68 MSEK	2018 - 2022
OSIR	KK-stiftelsen	3.7 MSEK	2018 - 2023
WASP (PhD student)	KAW	750 KSEK	2019 - 2024
WASP (Industrial PhD student)	KAW	150 KSEK	2020 - 2024

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
PhD student Sergio Rico	0000-0002-9348-2912	2018 - 2023
PhD student Muhammad Laiq	0000-0002-5964-5554	2021 - 2026
PhD student Umar Iftikhar	0000-0003-3177-6138	2020 - 2025
PhD student Vi Tran	0000-0003-0066-1792	2018 - 2022
Dr. Muhammad Usman	0000-0002-8132-0107	2019 - 2023

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022



LTH (Sergio Rico, Emelie Engström and Martin Höst) continued their collaboration with BTH (Nauman bin Ali) on interactive rapid reviews and industry academia collaboration.

LTH (Elizabeth Bjarnasson) and BTH (Nauman bin Ali) continued their collaboration on software component selection.

LTH (Emelie Engström) and BTH (Kai Petersen, Jürgen Börstler and Nauman bin Ali) collaborated on investigating the role of theories and models for technology acceptance.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

BTH (Nauman bin Ali), LTH (Emelie Engström) continued collaboration with Axis, Ericsson and TestScouts on the role of visual and data analytics in software testing, a grant application has been submitted together.

BTH (Muhammad Laiq, Nauman bin Ali) continued their collaboration with Ericsson on software defect management.

LTH (Emelie Engström), RISE (Markus Borg) and Ericsson continued collaboration on adoption of automated bug assignment

LTH (Adha Hrusto, Per Runeson, Emelie Engström) and Skånetrafiken continued collaboration on anomaly detection in operations

8. International collaboration

BTH (Nauman bin Ali, Daniel Mendes) are collaborating with University of Groningen, Netherlands (Paris Avgeriou) and Pontifical Catholic University of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil (Marcos Kalinowski) regarding the teaching of empirical research methods in Software Engineering.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

N/A

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A



11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

N/A

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Emelie Engström (LTH) served as associate editor of TOSEM (ACM Transactions on Software Engineering and Methodology)

Emelie Engström (LTH) served as a Program committee member for the 45th International Conference on Software Engineering (ICSE)

14. Open source software contributions N/A

B8: Cloud Tooling for Large-Scale Cyber-Physical System Model-Based Development

PI: Görel Hedin, LU Co-PI: Adrian Pop, LiU

Summary

By using high-level modeling languages like Modelica or Bloqqi, complex systems can be modeled in a compact and natural way, reusing libraries for different engineering domains. The project develops novel techniques for supporting cloud-based tooling for such languages. The Lund part of the project focuses on the generation of cloud components from high-level specifications, general enough to handle the complex static semantics of cyber-physical modelling languages. The Linköping part of the project focuses on simulation-based verification of requirements using a combination of equation-based models and machine learning trained surrogate models, an easier-to-use and more expressive requirement language, and traceability in cloud-based development environments.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022



CodeProber and property probes: We have developed a new technique for interactive cloud-based exploration of static program analysis results, directly in terms of source code. The technique includes a new visual concept called *property probes*, used for displaying analysis results of individual source code elements, for example, inferred types of expressions, control-flow edges of statements, and bytecode of methods. The probes are live – they are immediately updated as the code is edited. The technique is embodied in a new open-source tool, *CodeProber*.

A Julia-based scientific metaheuristic optimization package (currently containing 10 algorithms) was developed. It can be applied to solve multiple-objective multiple-solution hard optimization problems. We have started experimenting using this package to optimize compilation phases in the OpenModelica compiler.

1.1. Plans for 2023

Test support in CodeProber: Current testing of static analysis tools is typically done using black-box testing, comparing actual tool output with an oracle. We will investigate how property probes can be extended to support robust white-box testing. Whereas white-box testing normally depends on internal representation details, making them very sensitive to implementation changes, our use of property probes will allow tests to be formulated at a high level of abstraction, overcoming this problem. We think this kind of testing will provide a very easy and flexible way to add and update fine-grained automated tests for analysis tools.

JuliaRAG framework: Reference Attribute Grammars (RAGs) is a powerful formalism for implementing static analysis tools. We will investigate how an internal domain-specific language for RAGs can be implemented in the Julia language. This will allow static analysis to be implemented at a high level directly in Julia. In this work we will combine the Lund expertise on RAGs and the Linköping expertise on Julia to develop a powerful and flexible framework, and try out the technique on the Julia parts of the OpenModelica tools.

We will continue the experimentation of using the Julia-based optimization package to improve the matching algorithm and tearing in the OpenModelica compiler. Better solutions for these optimization problems would allow much faster simulation of models as the system of equations to be solved can be minimized. When performing simulation-based verification of requirements one would need to run a large number of tests and optimally distributing the computation of the tests to different nodes in a cloud-based environment is very important. We will investigate if the new metaheuristic algorithms from the Julia-based optimization package can perform better at optimizing computation distribution than traditional algorithms.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A



3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022.

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
WASP PhD project. Explainable declarative program analysis.	WASP	1 MSEK	2019-2024
LargeDyn	VR		2019-2023
EMBrACE	ITEA/Vinnova		2019-2023

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
PhD student Anton Risberg Alaküla	0000-0003-0814-3367	2021-2026
PhD student Abdelazim Hussien	0000-0001-5394-0678	2021-2026

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

A joint LU/LiU paper has been completed and published during 2022 about the property probing technique mentioned above. It was published at the ACM International Conference for Software Language Engineering, in Auckland, New Zealand.

Monthly joint project meetings have been held during the year, as well as a project workshop in August 2021. Further, we have had joint discussions about a new collaboration subproject concerning the library support for RAGs in Julia mentioned above.

In March 2022 we gave a Modelica tutorial at Växjö university.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

We have cross-disciplinary collaboration in a project on energy and sustainability mega-game (Att vända strömmen – ett megaspel för ökad förståelse av energisystemet) where OpenModelica has been used to make future predictions via simulation from policies decided by the game participants. This is a collaboration between Linköping University with Jönköping University and Skövde Högskolan and is supported by Energimyndigheten.



7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

In June, we gave a tool demo of CodeProber at the workshop PRIDE (Practical Research IDEs) at the ECOOP conference in Berlin. We then got contacts with people from Amazon and Gitlab that were very interested in our tool. Subsequently, we gave an invited online technical talk at Gitlab's Vulnerability Research team (5-6 participants from Europe and SE Asia), and demonstrated CodeProber.

In October we gave a tutorial for the American Modelica Conference 2022: Introduction to Modeling, Simulation, Debugging, and Interoperability with Modelica and OpenModelica to both academia and industry participants. During 2022 we have collaborated with St Anna IT Research Institute and RISE – Research Institutes of Sweden on various projects and project proposals.

8. International collaboration

We have an ongoing collaboration with TU Dresden about using Reference Attribute Grammars for tool building. In November, we had a joint one-day workshop in Lund with presentations and demonstrations.

Our team has collaborated (via OSMC) with Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory on better supporting the Modelica Buildings library – a state-of-the art library for modeling and simulation of buildings and their energy consumption. We have also collaborated with ABB Germany on power plant modeling and simulation. Together with Politecnico di Milano we have collaborated on improving the modeling and simulation of <u>Dynamic Overconstrained Connectors in Modelica</u> using our Julia-based OpenModelica.jl framework. We have also continued our collaboration with FH Bielefeld - University of Applied Sciences on improving the scalability and performance of the OpenModelica compiler backend.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

We have supervised several MSc thesis projects in collaboration with industry. Examples include the following:

- Improving Tearing in a Modelica Compiler (collaboration with Modelon)
- The Evaluation of Using Backend-For-Frontend in a Microservices Environment (collaboration with Qlik).
- Visualising the outcome of an energy systems megagame (collaboration with Energimyndigheten).
 - 10. List of patent applications published during 2022



N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
We have introduced our new CodeProber tool in two advanced MSc courses in Lund: EDAN65 Compilers and EDAP15 Program Analysis. The students use CodeProber when doing lab assignments, to help debug their analyses.	Graduate
We have led the development of a new introductory programming course in Python (EDAA70), affecting the curriculum for a number of programs at LU. The course is currently given for the Chemistry, Bio Engineering, and Risk Management programs. A number of additional programs are switching from using Java to the new course next year.	Undergraduate
As part of our compiler course TDD44 we have discussed about optimization phases of OpenModelica. In the software design course TDDE45 we discuss OpenModelica in the part on domain-specific languages.	Undergraduate
In the graduate course: "Principles of Modeling and Simulation", the OpenModelica tool has been used for the exercises and demonstrations.	Graduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

We have continued the development of the open Modelica standard, and contributed suggestions for improvements to the SSP standard together with SAAB. We are also working on proposing a new standard for requirements modeling called CRML to the Modelica Association.

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Görel Hedin (LU), served as chair for the 2022 AITO Dahl-Nygaard Award Committee. This is an annual prize in the name of Ole-Johan Dahl and Kristen Nygaard, to honor their pioneering work on object-orientation.



Martin Sjölund (LiU) and Adrian Pop (LiU) organized the 14th OpenModelica workshop while Peter Fritzson (LiU) has participated in the organization of the 16th ModProd workshop.

Martin Sjölund, Prof. Peter Fritzson, Lena Buffoni, Adrian Pop, Lennart Ochel have been quest editors for the Electronics, Computer Science & Engineering, Special Issue <u>"Selected Papers from Modelica</u> <u>Conference 2021"</u>.

14. Open source software contributions

- CodeProber, a tool for source-code based exploration of program analysis results. https://github.com/lu-cs-sde/codeprober
- OpenModelica an advanced open-source CPS modeling, simulation, optimization and debugging framework that supports equation-based object-oriented languages based on the open standard Modelica. <u>https://openmodelica.org</u>
- OpenModelica.jl a Julia-based experimental framework for exploring new paradigms and extensions for physical modeling languages. <u>https://github.com/JKRT/OM.jl</u>
- OMSimulator an open-source tool for co-simulation of composite models based of FMUs, supporting the FMI and SPP open standards. <u>https://github.com/OpenModelica/OMSimulator</u>

B9: Collaborative robotics

PI: Patrick Doherty, LiU Co-PI: Elin Anna Topp, LU

Summary

Dynamic and seamless interaction between collections of humans and robotic systems in achieving complex common goals and information exchange is an essential component in collaborative robotics. In this context, distributive situation awareness is essential for supporting collective intelligence in teams of robots and human agents where it can be used for both individual and collective decision support. Additionally, one mechanism to achieve the appropriate communication between autonomous systems and humans is mixed–initiative interaction, as it allows for a genuine two–way communication through which it is possible to convey insights into the internal state of a system as well as to assess and resolve ambiguous situations in interaction. This project is multi-disciplinary in that it combines research with the topics of distributed situational awareness and mixed-initiative interaction. It also has as a goal to develop field tested systems in the area of emergency rescue using a combination of both robotic and human agents, in particular Unmanned Aircraft Systems and their interaction with human rescuers and support personnel.



1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

Lund University: A (short) paper has been published at ACM/IEEE HRI 2023 on a VR-based system for Human Robot Collaboration, targeting SaR scenarios (main author Ayesha Jena). The system is based on eye-gaze and gesture tracking to capture user commands and the target of their attention. Linköping University: A journal paper titled "RGS: RDF Graph Synchronization for Collaborative Robotics" has been submitted to Autonomous Agents and Multi-Agent Systems and is currently under review. The Linköping team has been developing a system for gathering mission information using the concept of Active Queries. The system was demonstrated during the annual WASP WARA-PS workshop in September 2022, and a scientific publication is being prepared for journal submission.

1.1. Plans for 2023

The Lund team will continue to work on the VR-interface, later also to interpret human eye-gaze and gestures regarding underlying intentions. The scenario will be integrated with WASP's WARA PS tools for simulation and 3D visualisation of the respective environment, in which the Linköping team is heavily involved. The Linköping team will continue the development of their systems for collaborative robotics in connection with this project and the WASP WARA-PS arena. Several outreach events/demonstrations are planned, including annual WARA-PS workshops and international visits in connection to activities with SAAB, among others (e.g. TeknikÅttan). Two journal publications are being prepared for submission. The first publication deals with an important issue of polygon decomposition in the context of collaborative robotic missions. The second publication proposes a data-driven approach to collaborative robotic mission generation. Mariusz Wzorek will defend his Ph.D. thesis in June 2023.

2. Awards and recognitions

Elin A. Topp (Lund PI) has been accepted into the pedagogical academy of the Faculty of Engineering, LTH, and has thus now the status of Excellent Teaching Practitioner

3. External funding attracted

Elin A. Topp has received funding from WASP for a WASP-Aalto Collaborative PostDoc Project, which is currently started (April 2023)

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022	
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
SELECTICA (LU)	EU		
Robotic Skill learning (LU)	WASP	~1MSEK	2019-2024



Autonomous Search System (LiU)	Vinnova	~1MSEK	2022-2023
WASP WARA-PS Research Arena (LiU)	WASP	~1MSEK	2017-2023

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021-2022, from 2021, etc)
Ayesha Jena, PhD student		Started April 2022
Mariusz Wzorek, Research Engineer/PhD student	0000-0003-2147-2114	From 2021
Piotr Rudol, Research Engineer/PhD student	0000-0003-3392-6742	From 2021
Cyrille Berger, Associate Professor	0000-0003-3011-1505	From 2021

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Close discussions re potential scenarios for an integration of the LU-efforts on mixed-initiative interaction with the so far existing system at LiU. The Linköping team has been informally co-advising two LU students (a master and PhD).

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

N/A

8. International collaboration

Within the RobotLab LTH at Lund University the LU researchers collaborate closely with researchers from the dept of Automatic Control.

The Linköping team collaborates with several academic and research institutions in Brazil within the AuSSys project. These institutions include IANA Tecnologia Ltda., Centers of Reference in Innovative Technologies Foundation (CERTI), Instituto Tecnológico de Aeronáutica (ITA), Comando da Aeronáutica (COMAER).

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

N/A



10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
New Course LU: Advanced Applied Machine Learning (EDAP30)	undergraduate
Coordination of new WASP Course LU: Interaction, Collaboration, Visualisation	graduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

The Lund team has been involved heavily (as in previous years) in the European Robotics Week, with lab demonstrations for school classes during one week in late November. The Linköping together with Lund team performed demonstrations during Business Europe meeting in November in Stockholm.

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Elin A. Topp has served as local arrangement co-chair for the 2023 ACM/IEEE Conference on Human Robot Interaction, March 2023, Stockholm (with significant parts of the work load also being handled in 2022) Elin A. Topp serves since summer 2021 as Associate Editor for the ACM Transactions on Human Robot Interaction (THRI)

14. Open source software contributions N/A



B10: Geometrically Constrained Learning for Vision

PI: Michael Felsberg, LiU Co-PI: Anders Heyden, LU

Summary

The project deals with using geometrical constraints for different vision tasks, such as navigation and mapmaking. In particular, we will look at using one or several homographies (describing the relation between corresponding feature points on planar surfaces), which is a very common situation in both man-made and natural environments. We will investigate incorporation of constraints obtained from homographies into different deep-learning networks, such as convolutional neural networks and also investigate the underlying geometrical constraints imposed by one or several homographies under different conditions on the intrinsic camera parameters. There are several applications of the project within SLAM, UAVs etc.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

Johan Edstedt presented a paper at ICPR 2022 in Montréal.

A paper concerning a dense correspondence learning approach for geometric matching was submitted to CVPR 2023, with Johan Edstedt as main author. The paper was subsequently accepted to CVPR 2023, and was one of the 2.5% of all submissions to be selected as a highlight.

A paper using minimal solvers for structure-from-motion problems including an IMU was presented at the WAD workshop held in conjunction with CVPR 2022 in New Orleans:

Trust Your IMU: Consequences of Ignoring the IMU Drift

Örnhag, M. V., Persson, P., Wadenbäck, M., Åström, K., & Heyden, A. In Proceedings of the IEEE/CVF Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (pp. 4468-4477), 2022.

We are currently investigating the usage of ANN:s to estimate the relative scale between tentative point correspondencens in order to use fewer points and obataining a more robust RANSAC procedure. Preliminary investigations reveals that an ANN can estimate the relative depths better than using a simple estimator based on the SIFT features.

1.1. Plans for 2023 Johan Edstedt – Presentation at CVPR 2023.

2. Awards and recognitions

The paper by Johan Edsted was selected as highlight (top 2.5% of all submissions).



Michael Felsberg was serving as Area Chair for CVPR 2023, Program Chair for SCIA 2023, and was selected as Area Chair for NeurIPS 2023.

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
NEST _main_	WASP	Ca 1.5 mkr	4
Industridoktorand Zenseact	WASP	Ca 1 mkr	4
BUL AI	WASP	Ca 4 mkr	5
Future airprt control	Vinnova	Ca 0.5 mkr	3
Uncertainties in Transformers	VR	Ca 1 mkr	5

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Ioannis Athanasiadis (PhD student)	0000-0002-5213-6757	2022-2027
William Ljungbergh (industrial PhD student)	0000-0002-0194-6346	2022-2027
Bastian Wandt (ass. Prof)	0000-0002-1559-9496	2022-2027
Cuong Le (PhD student)		2022-2027
Hannah Helgesen (PhD student)		2022-2027
Jonathan Astermark		

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Physical project meetings have been held in Linköping (May and October) and in Lund (August).

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

In collaboration with Statens Medieråd and Luleå University, the dataset for the ICPR 2022 paper has been created.



7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

Besides industrial PhD students with Zenseact, SAAB, and Husqvarna, we collaborate with Deep Forestry AB, Maxar Sweden, IKEA, Arriver (Qualcomm), Trafikverket, and Scania.

8. International collaboration

Michael Felsberg is part of the VOT committee organizing the yearly workshops and challenges on visual object tracking and segmentation together with delegates from Ljubljana, Prague, Zürich, and Birmingham. Furthermore, Michael Felsberg co-organized a visit of the ML-cluster (WASP) to Amsterdam, regarding the topic of geometry+deep learning.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

CVL supervises on average 26 theses each year, most of these with industry. CVML supervises on average 20 theses each year, most of these in collaboration with industry, such as Cellavision, Axis, Sony, Precise Biometrics, Volvo, etc.

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

Patent title						Application Number
Method for Arrangements		•		Animals	and	P4885SE00

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Computer Vision for Video Analysis	2 (Master)
Computer Vision	2 (Master)

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Interview on Deep Fakes (August 2022 SVT-Play), Presentation at "Pint of Science".



13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Michael Felsberg: PC SCIA 2023 AC CVPR 2023 AC NeurIPS 2023 AE Plos One AE CVIU Anders Heyden: AC BMVC 2022 14. Open source software contributions

All code from papers is published on GitHub.

B11: Local Positioning Systems

PI: Kalle Åström; LU

Co-PI: Fredrik Gustafsson, LiU

Researchers: Gustav Hendeby, Magnus Oskarsson, Viktor Larsson, Erik Tegler, Gustav Zetterqvist, Fredrik Tufvesson, Bo Bernhardsson, Isaac Skog.

Summary

Mapping, positioning and localization are key enabling technologies for a wide range of applications. Within ELLIIT there are several strong research groups that do fundamental research within this area for many sensor modalities, e.g. vision, radio, audio, magnetometers, radar and sonar. Within this ELLIIT project "Local Positioning Systems 2021-2025" we will concentrate on two PhD student projects, (i) Machine learning for Structure from Sound and (ii) Wearable Microphone Arrays.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

During 2022 we made several advances on the structure from sound problem, both improving the pipeline by improving the signal processing part by extending the traditional GCC-PHAT algorithm with a shiftequivariant neural network, by new geometric results concerning multi-path components in the presence of a dominant reflective plane, by new results on trilateration using motion models, and by new results on multiple offsets multilateration, see for example the papers "Extending GCC-PHAT using Shift Equivariant Neural Networks", "Sensor node calibration in presence of a dominant reflective plane", "Trilateration Using Motion Models" and "Multiple Offsets Multilateration: a new paradigm for sensor network calibration with unsynchronized reference nodes". We also made some mapping advances utilizing IMU in fast minimal solvers, by new results on minimal solvers for map merging, and integrated mapping, 114



localization and path planning in a prize winning paper "Quadrotor Control on \$\text {SU}(2)\times\mathbb {R}^{3} \$ with SLAM Integration", but also in "Trust Your IMU: Consequences of Ignoring the IMU Drift" and "Minimal Solvers for Point Cloud Matching with Statistical Deformations". We have made several results on SLAM and feature extraction for lidar data, see "Survey on 2D Lidar Feature Extraction for Underground Mine Usage", "Multi-Hypothesis SLAM for Non-Static Environments with Reoccurring Landmarks", "Linearized Direction of Arrival", "Feature Based Multi-Hypothesis Map Representation for Localization in Non-Static Environments" and "A Tightly-Integrated Magnetic-Field aided Inertial Navigation System".

Plans for 2023

The two recruited PhD students (Erik and Gustav) are now well established in their respective research groups at Lund and Linköping and have had some interaction during 2022 in terms of joint ELLIIT/WASP workshop and a few zoom meetings. During 2023 we plan to step up the interaction by having bi-weekly joint zoom meetings with the researchers in Lund and Linköping. We also plan for visits between PhD students and researchers in Lund and Linköping as well as organizing a yearly workshop on positioning and localization.

2. Awards and recognitions

Greiff, Marcus, et al. "Quadrotor Control on SU(2)xR3 with SLAM Integration." 2022 IEEE Conference on Control Technology and Applications (CCTA). IEEE, 2022. Outstanding student paper award.

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount	Duration of
		per year	project
Semantic Mapping and Visual Navigation	SSF	6 200 KSEK	2016-2022
for Smart Robots			
WASP (AcademicPhD student) David Gillsjö	WASP (KAW)	700 KSEK	2016-2022
WASP (Industrial PhD student) Malte	Wasp (KAW)	600+ KSEK	2017-2021
Larsson	and Combain		
WASP (Industrial PhD student) Axel Berg	WASP (KAW)	600+ KSEK	2018-2022
	and ARM		
WASP (Industrial PhD student) Olivier	WASP (KAW)	600+ KSEK	2018-2022
Moliner	and Sony		



ADACORSA - Airborne data collection on	EU	4000 KSEK	2020-2023
resilient system architectures			
WASP (Industrial PhD student) Kristin	WASP (KAW)	600+ KSEK	2018-2022
Nielsen	and Epiroc		
Link-Sic (Industrial PhD student):	Link-Sic	600+ KSEK	2018-2023
Robin Forsling			
WASP (Industrial PhD student)	WASP (KAW)	600+ KSEK	2021-2026
	and Zenseact		
Vinnova (PostDoc): Jeong Min Kang	Vinnova	1200 KSEK	2022-2023
VR (PhD student): Chuan Huang	VR	800 KSEK	2021-2026
WASP (Academic PhD) Hedieh Khosravi	WASP (KAW)	700 KSEK	2020-2024

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

We recruited two PhD students already in 2021 and had no more recruitments to the project in 2022.

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020- 2022; 2021-2022, from 2021, etc)
Kalle Åström	0000-0002-8689-7810	2021-
Fredrik Gustafsson	0000-0003-3270-171X	2021-
Magnus Oskarsson	0000-0002-1789-8094	2021-
Gustaf Hendeby	0000-0002-1971-4295	2021-
Erik Tegler	0000-0002-8730-8301	2021-
Gustav Zetterqvist	0000-0001-6672-4472	2021-
Fredrik Tufvesson	0000-0003-1072-0784	2021-
Bo Bernhardsson	0000-0002-6629-1889	2021-
Isaac Skog	0000-0002-3054-6413	2021-
Viktor Larsson		2021-
David Gillsjö	0000-0001-7661-1631	2021-
Malte Larsson		2021-
Axel Berg	0000-0003-4401-989X	2021-
Olivier Moliner	0000-0002-2190-9307	2021-



Kristin Nielsen	2021-
Jeong Min Kang	2021-
Chuan Huang	2021-
Adam Tonderski	2021
Hedieh Khosravi	2021-

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

There are extensive inter-university cooperation within Sweden, most notably between Lund-Linköping, but also with collaborations with Chalmers, KTH. Also we have for several years held yearly workshops to gather Swedish researchers interested in localisation and positioning. In the last years this has also been done in collaboration with the WASP Localization and Navigation Area Cluster.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

Localization and positioning are enabling technologies with use cases for example in biology and medicine. Here we are cooperating with researchers in Biology in Lund and Munich and with researchers in Medicine in Lund.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

Kalle Åström and Erik Tegler held a commissioned education course 'AI för civilingenjörer' for industry during 2022.

We are working together with the startup KATAM on map-making, positioning in forestry.

In Linköping there is cooperation with FOI on sound source localization. Anaechoic chamber experiments.

8. International collaboration

We have international collaborations with Wasa and Aalto (Kalle Åström and Magnus Oskarsson are working together with PhD student Luca Ferreira and supervisors Jani Boutellier and Juho Kannala), with the Max Planck Institute outside Munich (Kalle Åström and Magnus Oskarsson are working together with PhD student Beleyur), with Brown University (Kalle Åström and Viktor Larsson are working together with professor Kimia), with Kenya (Fredrik Gustafsson are working with Kenya Wildlife Service on wildlife preservation).

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry



Gustav Zetterqvist and Fredrik Gustafsson supervised an MSc thesis on using geophones for combating the problems with human wildlife conflicts in Africa, see (Elephant detection using a geophone network). This involved detection of the seismic waves from the elephant footstep, small array of geophones and multilateration to estimate the direction of arrival and using several geophone arrays to triangulate the position of the elephant. The work is continued by Gustav, to extend this to a conference paper that is to be submitted. A second pair of MSc students have been recruited to make a new implementation based on this paper. Fredrik has presented this work for the Kenya Wildlife Service, and we are invited to test the concept in Kenya during 2023. Magnus Oskarsson and Kalle Åström supervised Emil Eliasson on a project on Global Indoor Positioning Using Crowdsourced Data, which was done together with Combain. In another master's thesis project Leonardo Carrera and Ziliang Xiong studied radar detection Using Deep Learning. Anton Almqvist and Anton Kuusela worked on pose classification of people using high resolution radar indoor and Hjalmar Lind and Robin Bernståle studied segmentation, classification and tracking of objects using LiDAR Point Cloud Data in another project.

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

N/A

- 12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar
- Erik Tegler Inspirational talk to math-teachers (15/6 2022) arranged by Arne Ardeberg
- Kalle Åström participated in the ELLIIT tech talks theme 3, "Intelligent assistants and tools".
- 13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar
- During 2022 we worked on a bid for organizing ECCV European Conference on Computer Vision in Malmö/Copenhagen in 2026. We will continue this work in 2023.
- Kalle Åström was area chair for ECCV 2022.
- Fredrik Gustafsson and Gustaf Hendeby were general chairs for FUSION 2022 in Linköping. An international conference with approximately 350 participants.
- Gustaf Hendeby is an associate editor for IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems.



14. Open source software contributions

For several of the research results we publish open source software, for example

 <u>https://github.com/atonderski/lidarclip</u> - software for paper "LidarCLIP or: How I Learned to Talk to Point Clouds"

B12: Visual Feature Based Data Reduction

PI: Ingrid Hotz, LiU Co-PI: Bo Bernhardsson, LU

Summary

Developing Brain-Computer interfaces (BCIs) is a challenging goal that, however, is becoming more and more realistic. Brain imaging and measurement methods provide valuable data to gain the necessary knowledge about the complex functionality of the brain. The goal of the project is to make such brain data accessible for effective exploitation in medical and technological applications. The underlying concept is to develop sparse representations that can be used to guide a visual exploration process. We plan to approach this challenge by combining geometric and topological methods for dimension reduction, with learning methods to classify the obtained features, and modern interaction and rendering facilities to communicate the results.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

Withing the project we developed feature-based data reduction and analysis methods for different kinds of Brain activity measurement and imaging data.

A: Sparse representation of HARDI Data towards visual exploration: Diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging (dMRI) is a technique to measure the diffusion of water, in biological tissues. It is used to detect microscopic patterns, such as neural fibers in the living human brain, with many medical and neuroscience applications e.g. for fiber tracking. In this paper, we consider High-Angular Resolution Diffusion Imaging (HARDI) which provides one of the richest representations of water diffusion. It records the movement of water molecules by measuring diffusion under 64 or more directions. However, thereby it generates high-dimensional, large, and complex datasets. Sparse representations exploit the correlations in the data by approximating it using a sparse set of coefficients and an over-complete dictionary consisting of a set of "atoms". They have been proven successful in a large number of applications. If the original signal is sparse, it allows reconstructing the original signal with significantly fewer samples than required by the classic Nyquist–Shannon sampling. This inspired us to explore the use of sparse representation in context with HARDI data. We present a work-in-progress on sparse representation of HARDI data towards



fiber tracking and the detection of fiber crossings. (Published at 40th Swedish Symposium on Image Analysis (SSBA). Authors: Danhua Lei, Ehsan Miandji, Jonas Unger, Ingrid Hotz)

B: Subject-Specific Brain Activity Analysis in fMRI Data Using Merge Trees. A method for detecting patterns in time-varying functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) data based on topological analysis has been developed. The oxygenated blood flow measured by fMRI is widely used as an indicator of brain activity. The signal is, however, prone to noise from various sources. Random brain activity, physiological noise, and noise from the scanner can reach a strength comparable to the signal itself. Thus, extracting the underlying signal is a challenging process typically approached by applying statistical methods. The goal of this work is to investigate the possibilities of recovering information from the signal using topological feature vectors directly based on the raw signal without medical domain priors. We utilize merge trees to define a robust feature vector capturing key features within a time step of fMRI data. We demonstrate how such a concise feature vector representation can be utilized for exploring the temporal development of brain activations, connectivity between these activations, and their relation to cognitive tasks. (Presented at *IEEE* Vis collocated Workshop TopolnVis, Best Paper award. Authors: Farhan Rasheed, Daniel Jönsson, Emma Nilsson, Talha Bin Masood, and Ingrid Hotz)

C: Development of an Open-Source Human-in-the-Loop BCI Research Framework (BCI-HIL)

We have developed an open-source framework with a modular and customizable hardware-independent design, comprising a human-in-the-loop (HIL) model training and retraining, real-time stimulus control, transfer learning, and cloud computing to enable a distributed BCI-HIL research framework for online classification of electroencephalography (EEG) data. Stimuli for the subject and diagnostics for the researcher are shown on separate displays using web browser technologies. Messages are sent using the Lab Streaming Layer standard and websockets. Real-time signal processing and classification, as well as training of machine learning models, is facilitated by the open-source Python package Timeflux. While online analysis is the main target of the BCI-HIL framework, offline analysis of the EEG data can be performed with Python, MATLAB, and Julia through packages like MNE, EEGLAB, or FieldTrip. The work is summarized in a journal paper currently under review (authors: Martin Gemborn Nilsson, Pex Tufvesson, Frida Heskebeck and Mikael Johansson) The BCI-HIL framework is released under MIT license with examples at https://bci.lu.se/bci-hil.

D: Real-time Bayesian Control of Reactive Brain Computer Interfaces

A method has been developed that utilizes Bayesian optimization and feedback control to improve statistical convergence in a real-time EEG classification task. (To be presented at IFAC World Congress 2023, Authors: Pex Tufvesson, Martin Gemborn Nilsson, Kristian Soltesz, Bo Bernhardsson)



1.1. Plans for 2023

- 2. Awards and recognitions
- Ingrid Hotz was awarded the Dr Ram Kumar IISc Distinguished Visiting Chair Professor position at the Indian Institute of Science (two month stay)
- Ingrid Hotz Co-authored three papers that reveived best paper/honourable mention awards
 - o Local bilinear computation of Jacobi sets, second best paper, Journal 'The Visual Computer'.
 - Reduced Connectivity for Local Bilinear Jacobi Sets, second best paper, IEEE Vis collocated Workshop TopoInVis.
 - Subject-Specific Brain Activity Analysis in fMRI Data Using Merge Trees, Second best paper, *IEEE* Vis collocated Workshop TopoInVis.
 - 3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount	Duration
		per year [kSEK]	of project
Visual Data Analytics in e-Science	Swedish e-Science	3500	2018-2022
Applications (Hotz)	research center (SeRC)		
Topological descriptors for tracking,	VR grant 2019-05487	850	2020-2023
comparison and visual exploration of			
complex scientific data (Hotz)			
Robust topological methods for	VR grant 2018-07085	300	2020-2022
analysis of dynamic large-scale data			
for modern material design (Hotz)			
A topology-based approach to	WASP, academic PhD	1 PhD	2021-2024
patterns in dynamic network data for			
decision support (Hotz)			

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Danhua Lei. PhD for ELLIIT project, Visual Feature Based Data Reduction	0000-0002-6134-0258	From oct 2021
Martin Falk	0000-0003-1511-5006	Part of ELLIIT since 2022
Martin Gemborn Nilsson	0000-0002-5758-7362	From Jan 2021



- 5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022
- Within ELLIIT there has been a cooperation with Michael Doggett and Bo Bernhardsson from Lund University in relation to the ELLIIT project sparse representations for brain imaging data.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

- Visualization in nature is an interdisciplinary subject and thus most of our projects are either directly interdisciplinary or at least motivated by needs from other disciplines. SeRC is one of our major funding sources and it is funding interdisciplinary cooperation by bringing together IT research and scientists from application areas. Under this umbrella we have interdisciplinary cooperation with the center for medical image science and visualization (CMIV) at LiU, the physics department LiU, the fluid mechanics group at KTH and the climate research at SU.
 - 7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors
 - Ericsson AB, finances an industrial PhD student, Pex Tufvesson, working on EEG-based brain computer interfaces. He works closely together with the ELLIIT PhD student Martin Gemborn Nilsson at Automatic Control in Lund.
 - 8. International collaboration
 - The most important international collaborations are: Ingrid Hotz has collaborations with the University of Utah (USA), the Indian Institute of Science IISc, Bangalore (IN)
 - 9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

The following theses concern the use of EEG signals for improving hearing aids and have been conducted in cooperation with Oticon AB

- Julia Adlercreutz, "Brainstem response estimation using continuous sound".
- Sara Enander and Louise Karsten, "Computation Models for audiovisual attention decoding".

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A



11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Mathematical foundations for visualization (new course)	graduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

The framework BCI-HIL, described above, has been demonstrated on several occasions, including: ELLITT Annual Workshop, Ericsson Research Days, Ericsson in Lund internal research meeting. A video presenting the work for the general public has also been produced.

Ingrid Hotz participated in the ELLIIT tech talks theme 6, "Big data and network science".

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar N/A

14. Open source software contributions

Open-source software for visual analysis is as the years before still plays an important role in the group. Currently developed softwares are: **Inviwo – An open-source Visualization System with Usage Abstraction Levels**, <u>https://inviwo.org</u> a software framework for rapid prototyping visualizations. It builds the basis for the development of novel visualization research and teaching in an increasing number of research groups in the world, with a growing number of application areas. Over the last year we have been especially focusing on the integration of the open-source software TTK in inviwo. The results have been presented during diverse tutorials at major visualization conferences.

The BCI-HIL framework described under point 1D is available at https://bci.lu.se/bci-hil

B13: Scalable Optimization for Learning in Control

PI: Anders Hansson, LiU Co-PI: Anders Rantzer (LU)

Summary

Large-scale engineering applications put new demands on control theory, as most existing methods for analysis, design and verification do not scale well with increasing complexity. Furthermore, new powerful algorithms for machine learning are increasingly being used for control engineering purposes, further



adding to the complexity of analysis and verification. To counteract this, there is a strong demand for scalable optimization methods and corresponding information interfaces. Important applications areas are autonomous transportation, manufacturing and robotics. The purpose of the proposed project is to address the complexity challenges by developing and exploiting new optimization algorithms suitable for parallel and/or distributed implementation.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

The PI and the co-PI have collaborated with Daniel Cederberg, a MSc student at LiU, on developing efficient optimization routines for synthesis of minimax adaptive controllers, which was presented at the 2022 IEEE Conference on Decision and Control. The co-PI also presented another major result at the same conference; a new class of linear positive systems for which explicit formulas of scalable controllers can be derived. The PI submitted the book Optimization for Learning and Control, written together with Mats Andersen, DTU, to Wiley.

1.1. Plans for 2023

The PI is together with Lieven Vandenberghe, UCLA, supervising Daniel Cederberg on his Masters' thesis project, which is about Bregman proximal-gradient method for optimization over positive definite matrix polynomial matrices on the unit circle. The PI is also collaborating with Martin Andersen, DTU, and one of his PhD students on developing optimization algorithms for maximum likelihood system identification for networked systems. Together with the PhD student Felix Agner, the co-PI is developing scalable methods for control of district heating systems subject to capacity constraints.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title					Funding		Granted amount per year	Duration of project
Filtering for Autonomy	Situation	Awarene	ess and	Safe	WASP		~1MSEK	2023-2027
Scalable (Systems	Control	of	Interconne			European h Council	0.5 MEUR	2019-2024
Statistical a Continuous Sys	and Adver stem Control	sarial	Learning		WASP project	collaboration	1.1 MSEK	2019-2024



Throughput Networks	Control	in	Autono	omous	WASP PhD p	oroject	0.9 SEK	2019-2024
Al for Gu (Al4GNC)	idance, Na	vigation	and C		European Agency	Space	35 kEUR	2021-2022
Learning in I Control	Networks: St	ructure, I	Dynamics	s, and	WASP NEST	project	1.0 MSEK	2022-2026

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Yannick Strocka, PhD student	N/A	2021-2022
Alba Gurpegui, PhD student	N/A	From 2022

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

N/A

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors: Sub-contractor in project "AI for Guidance Navigation and Control" at European Space Agency

N/A

8. International collaboration

Prof. Lieven Vandenberghe, UCLA, Prof. Martin Andersen, DTU.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

N/A

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A



11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Optimal Control and Reinforcement Learning by PI	PhD
The CoPI developed new masters course starting Lund January 2022: FRTN75 Learning Based Control	MSc

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

The PI organized together with Fredrik Heinz and Elina Rönnberg the ELLIIT focus period Hybrid AI – Where data-driven and model-based methods meet.

14. Open source software contributions N/A

B14: Autonomous Force-Aware Swift Motion Control

PI: Anders Robertsson, LU Co-PI: Lars Nielsen, LiU

Summary

The research program for this project has a number of steps for moving autonomous force-aware swift motion control forward. Our recently derived novel methods for at-the-limit maneuvering will be extended to new scenarios, where previously non-dynamic kinematic models (with non-holonomic motion constraints) have been used under, sometimes highly restrictive, assumptions on limited slip and upper-bounded velocities. For example, maneuvering in highway driving at higher speeds (typically 70 km/h and higher) implies that consideration of the forces involved, i.e., the dynamic behavior, is of importance, e.g., if heavy-duty vehicles with their inherent roll sensitivity or mobile platforms with heavy manipulators onboard are considered. The new perspective has high potential to lead to new significant results with regard to planning and control strategies for a wide range of vehicle-maneuvering and robotic



manipulation scenarios, and will also treat scenarios with multiple vehicles and moving robots, in traffic or on work sites. The core of the project is scientific questions in swift motion control that is safe, resilient, and efficient.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

In addition to the PI and co-PI, Erik Frisk, Björn Olofsson, Theodor Westny, Jian Zhou, and Zheng Jia have been active in the project. During 2022, the second year of this project, the research by Ph.D. student Jian Zhou on model predictive control of autonomous vehicles in traffic environments with uncertain motion of surrounding vehicles has continued. The research initiated in 2021 by Ph.D. student Theodor Westny targeting extensions of previous research on force-centric methods for passenger cars to heavy vehicles has continued and has been published at a conference. Moreover, the research initiated during 2021 aiming at planning and control for force-interaction with mobile manipulators by Ph.D. student Zheng Jia has continued.

Integrated traffic-environment prediction and model predictive control

This research investigated an integrated traffic environment modeling and model predictive control (MPC) system to realize interaction-aware dynamic motion planning of an autonomous vehicle with multiple surrounding vehicles. The Interaction-Aware Interacting Multiple Model Kalman Filter (IAIMM-KF) from the literature was used to hierarchically predict maneuvers and trajectories of surrounding vehicles and to compute safe targets for the ego vehicle. The targets are terminal speed and reference lane, which are moving targets as they are updated at each time step. Then, an MPC controller was designed for the ego vehicle to generate an optimal trajectory by following the moving targets and including the prediction results to formulate collision-free constraints. The proposed interaction-aware planning method has a proactive planning ability and can avoid collisions by non-local replanning. The advantages and effectiveness of the approach have been evaluated in highway lane-change simulation scenarios. The research was presented at the European Control Conference (ECC) in London, UK during the summer of 2022

Zhou, J., Olofsson, B., & Frisk, E. (2022). "Interaction-Aware Moving Target Model Predictive Control for Autonomous Vehicles Motion Planning". In 2022 European Control Conference (ECC), 2022, pp. 154-161. IEEE.

This line of research continued during the later part of 2022, where a particular focus was to extend the controller to explicitly address the uncertainty in the maneuvers of surrounding vehicles. The multi-modal prediction uncertainties, containing both the maneuver and trajectory uncertainties of surrounding vehicles, are considered in the method for resilient motion planning of the ego vehicle. Based on the prediction of the surrounding vehicles, an optimal reference trajectory of the ego vehicle is computed by model predictive control (MPC) to follow the time-varying reference targets and avoid collisions with obstacles. A trade-off between the performance and robustness of the method can be achieved by tuning



a safety-awareness parameter in the MPC. The proposed method is evaluated in simulations of challenging highway driving scenarios and a scenario from recorded real traffic data. The research has been submitted for journal publication.

Research targeting truck-and-trailer combinations

Research by Theodor Westny, Björn Olofsson, and Erik Frisk has continued during 2022 on the topic of truck-and-trailer combinations and uncertainty predictions related to such vehicles in highly dynamic situations. Here, the involved dynamic forces and the effect of those on the movement of the vehicle chassis are essential, and in particular how uncertainty in terms of vehicle parameters of the ego vehicle influences the ability to perform certain maneuvers under given constraints (e.g., on swept area implied by available road space). Such functionality would be a valuable component for autonomous control functions in trucks to enable dynamics-based prediction with uncertainty consideration, so as to achieve proactive motion planning and control. The overall research goal is to extend the methods for force-centric control, developed for passenger cars in previous ELLIIT projects, to the case of trucks. Research during the year included further analysis and parameter-uncertainty prediction in aggressive maneuvers exciting the dynamic modes of the vehicle, resulting in at-the-limit motion of the truck-and-trailer system. The research was collected in a conference publication during 2022 and presented at a major vehicle-dynamics control conference (AVEC 2022)

Westny, T., Olofsson, B., & Frisk, E. "Uncertainties in Robust Planning and Control of Autonomous Tractor-Trailer Vehicles", In AVEC'22 The 15th International Symposium on Advanced Vehicle Control, 2022.

Dynamics-Based Optimal Motion Planning of Multiple Lane Changes using Segmentation

Avoidance maneuvers at normal driving speed or higher are demanding driving situations that force the vehicle to the limit of tire–road friction in critical situations. Research to address these aspects has been performed by Pavel Anistratov, Björn Olofsson, and Lars Nielsen. A planning strategy based on dynamic optimization and segmentation of multiple lane-change maneuvers has been developed. The alternating augmented Lagrangian method has been adopted to coordinate the solution of the segmented subproblems. The developed method includes computation of an initially feasible motion that is found to use obstacle positions and progress of vehicle variables to its advantage. Secondly, the integration with a subsequent step with segmented optimization showed clear improvements in paths and trajectories. Overall, the combined method is able to handle driving scenarios at demanding speeds, where the force interaction between the tires and ground is of critical importance. This research was published at the IFAC Conference on Advances in Automotive Control (IFAC AAC) 2022

Anistratov, P., Olofsson, B., & Nielsen, L. (2022). "Dynamics-Based Optimal Motion Planning of Multiple Lane Changes using Segmentation". 10th IFAC Symposium on Advances in Automotive Control (AAC), IFAC-PapersOnLine, 55(24), 233-240.



Research on force-centric path tracking for mobile manipulators

Research by Zheng Jia, Björn Olofsson, Lars Nielsen, and Anders Robertsson has continued during 2022 around the topic of force-centric path-tracking control for combinations of mobile platforms and robot manipulators. The problem is characterized by the interaction of force control and simultaneous satisfaction of path constraints. An example is a situation where path tracking of the robot tool is desired along certain Cartesian directions whereas control of the force interaction of the robot tool is desired along other Cartesian directions. There are also scenarios where path tracking needs to be traded against force constraints along the same dimensions. Specific research problems addressed during 2022 concern model-based predictive path-velocity adaptation with consideration of control-input limits. In addition, representation and parameterization of the surface on which the path is located have been investigated for control-design purposes.

1.1. Plans for 2023

The research by Jian Zhou, Björn Olofsson, and Erik Frisk regarding traffic environment modeling and prediction in multi-vehicle scenarios, will be further investigated. A particular aspect that will be addressed is how uncertainty of the motion of surrounding vehicles explicitly can be quantified online, and subsequently incorporated in a model-predictive control design. Here, integration of research from project A9 by PhD student Theodor Westny, is planned where data-driven prediction methods of traffic environments can be combined with advanced control techniques. Experimental evaluations are planned in the ELLIIT infrastructure Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at LiU and LU.

The research by Zheng Jia, Björn Olofsson, Lars Nielsen, and Anders Robertsson on force-centric pathtracking control for mobile manipulators will continue, by extending the results obtained so far to the case where the simultaneous motion of the mobile platform and the robot arm are considered, and thus there are interaction forces also between the platform and the ground. Experimental evaluations are also expected in the ELLIIT infrastructure Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at LiU and LU. The results are planned for submission to conference during 2023.

2. Awards and recognitions

Lars Nielsen was invited plenary speaker at IFAC AAC 2022 (IFAC Conference on Advances in Automotive Control), Columbus Ohio in August 2022, giving a talk on the subject "Force-centric perspectives on autonomous safety maneuvers".

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted	amount	Duration	of
		per year		project	



SelectiCa	EuroStars	1 MSEK	2021-2022
Semantic Mapping and Visual Navigation for Smart Robots	SSF	6 MSEK	2016-2022
KAW project	KAW	2 MSEK	2018-2022

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Two Ph.D. students, Theodor Westny and Jian Zhou, were recruited to the Division of Vehicular Systems at LiU during 2020, and they are sharing the efforts in this ELLIIT project starting in 2021.

Zheng Jia was recruited to this ELLIIT project as a Ph.D. student at Dept. Automatic Control, Lund University in September 2021.

Björn Olofsson was recruited as Senior Lecturer at Dept. Automatic Control, Lund University in 2022, continuing as affiliated researcher 20% at Linköping University within ELLIIT.

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Theodor Westny, PhD student	0000-0001-9075-7477	2020-
Jian Zhou, PhD student	0000-0002-1050-3037	2020-
Zheng Jia, PhD student		2021-
Björn Olofsson	0000-0003-1320-032X	2020-

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Significant joint research has been performed between Div. Vehicular Systems, LiU and Dept. Automatic Control, LU. Björn Olofsson (LU, affiliated with LiU) is sharing time between the two ELLIIT nodes in this project. The Ph.D. students Theodor Westny and Jian Zhou are active within the project (with Björn Olofsson as co-supervisor). Lars Nielsen (LiU) is co-supervisor for Ph.D. student Zheng Jia at Lund University. This organization of staff and supervision establishes a very strong connection between the two research groups involved in this subproject of ELLIIT.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{N/A}}$

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors



- VTI (tire models and road geometry characteristics, Dr. Sogol Kharrazi).
- AB Berntec (efficient and safe motion planning, Dr. Karl Berntorp).
- AB Volvo (research discussions)
- NIRA Dynamics (research discussions)
- 8. International collaboration

LiU collaborates with Stanford University. The former ELLIIT PhD student Victor Fors is now postdoc there, and they are implementing algorithms developed in ELLIIT research projects. Lars Nielsen has taken part in their experimental evaluations at Thunderhill Raceway Park during 2022.

- 9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry
- Toyota Material Handling (Master's thesis project)
- OMotion AB (Master's thesis project)
- Aimpoint AB (Master's thesis projects)
- BorgWarner AB (Master's thesis projects)
- Saab Kockums AB (Master's thesis projects)
- Axis AB (Master's thesis projects)
- Cognibotics AB (Master's thesis projects)
- 10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
TSFS12 Autonomous vehicles – planning, control, and learning systems at Linköping University	2 nd cycle
FRTF20 Applied robotics at Lund University	1 st cycle

The 2nd cycle course "Autonomous vehicles – planning, control, and learning systems" at LiU developed by Erik Frisk, Björn Olofsson, and Jan Åslund at Div. Vehicular Systems, LiU, was given the fourth time during the fall semester 2022. Results from this ELLIIT project are used in the course and the new course is thus an excellent dissemination platform for making the research in ELLIIT accessible to master's



students in the engineering educational programs. The elective course attracted over 90 students, and also this year received excellent grades in the course evaluation. Björn Olofsson was responsible for the 1st cycle course Applied Robotics during the fall semester 2022, given within the undergraduate education at LU.

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

RobotLab LTH at LU (Anders Robertsson director) is a research platform for industrial, mobile, and aerial robotics, which also is used extensively in education on both undergraduate and graduate level. It has become a good forum to expose ongoing research and the lab regularly receives visiting groups, with an interest in robotics as well as in more general engineering and technology. Since 2011, RobotLab LTH has annually arranged scheduled one-hour-long visits for school classes (from elementary grade 4 to high-school and college students) in conjunction with the EURobotics Week. During the EURobotics Week in November 2022, several school classes and company representatives visited the lab and experienced demos of ongoing research. In these presentations, parts of the research results demonstrated were obtained within this ELLIIT project. There were also additional activities co-organized by DIGIT@LTH & AI Lund aimed for industry, the public sector, and colleagues at Lund University.

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

- Anders Robertsson is Director of the Robot Lab at LTH.
- Lars Nielsen is a member of ELLIIT steering group.
- Lars Nielsen is a member of the WASP-HS Board.
- Lars Nielsen is a member of IPC for IFAC Advances in Automotive Control Conference 2022.

14. Open source software contributions

N/A

B15: Information Handling in Industrial IoT

PI: Nikolaos Pappas, LiU Co-PI: Emma Fitzgerald, LU

Summary

This proposal aims at a joint consideration of information generation, processing, transmission, and reconstruction in beyond 5G (B5G) massive and mission critical IoT networks by taking into account the information value. So far, in 5G networks, those processes are treated separately, and the importance and usefulness of the generated and transmitted information is ignored. This project will develop theoretical and algorithmic foundations of goal-oriented, data importance-aware communication to depart from the



separated and conventional content-agnostic paradigm which will help to reveal the potential of future hyperconnected intelligent systems. The solutions we design will be further transformed into functioning protocols, and they will be implemented in a real-world testbed that is available at Lund's site with all the components needed to mimic a smart factory scenario.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

The main achievements

<u>A Perspective on Time toward Wireless 6G</u>: The notion of latency got a prominent role in wireless connectivity, serving as a proxy term for addressing the requirements for real-time communication. As wireless systems evolve toward 6G, the ambition to immerse the digital into physical reality will increase. Besides making the real-time requirements more stringent, this immersion will bring the notions of time, simultaneity, presence, and causality to a new level of complexity. A growing body of research points out that latency is insufficient to parameterize all real-time requirements. Notably, one such requirement that received significant attention is information freshness, defined through the Age of Information (AoI) and its derivatives. In general, the metrics derived from a conventional black-box approach to communication network design are not representative of new distributed paradigms, such as sensing, learning, or distributed consensus. In this article we investigate the general notion of timing in wireless communication systems and networks, and its relation to effective information generation, processing, transmission, and reconstruction at the senders and receivers. We establish a general statistical framework of timing requirements in wireless communication systems, which subsumes both latency and AoI.

• P. Popovski, F. Chiariotti, K. Huang, A. Kalor, M. Kountouris, N. Pappas, B. Soret, "A Perspective on Time toward Wireless 6G", Proceedings of the IEEE, vol. 110, no. 8, 2022.

<u>Semantics-Aware Active Fault Detection in IoT</u>: In this work we address the problem of active fault detection in an IoT scenario, whereby a monitor can probe a remote device in order to acquire fresh information and facilitate fault detection. However, probing could have a significant impact on the system's energy and communication resources. We utilize Age of Information as a measure of the freshness of information at the monitor and adopt a semantics-aware communication approach between the monitor and the remote device. In semantics-aware communications, the processes of generating and transmitting information are treated jointly to consider the importance of information and the purpose of communication. We formulate the problem as a Partially Observable Markov Decision Process and show analytically that the optimal policy is of a threshold type. We use a computationally efficient stochastic approximation algorithm to approximate the optimal policy and present numerical results that exhibit the advantage of our approach compared to a conventional delay-based probing policy.



• G. Stamatakis, N. Pappas, A. Fragkiadakis, A. Traganitis, "Semantics-Aware Active Fault Detection in IoT", 20th International Symposium on Modeling and Optimization in Mobile, Ad Hoc, and Wireless Networks (WiOpt), 2022. (Journal under revision in IEEE Transactions on Comm.)

<u>Semantics-Aware Source Coding</u>: We consider a communication system in which the destination receives status updates from an information source that observes a physical process. The transmitter performs semantics-empowered filtering as a means to send only the most "important" samples to the receiver in a timely manner. We explore a simple policy where the transmitter selects to encode only a fraction of the least frequent realizations of the observed random phenomenon, treating the remaining ones as not not informative. For this timely source coding problem, we derive the optimal codeword lengths in the sense of maximizing a semantics-aware utility function and minimizing a quadratic average length cost. Our numerical results show the optimal number of updates to transmit for different arrival rates and encoding costs and corroborate that semantic filtering results in higher performance in terms of timely delivery of important updates. Then, we extended this work to a system with two users with heterogeneous goals.

- P. Agheli, N. Pappas, M. Kountouris, "Semantic Source Coding for Two Users with Heterogeneous Goals", IEEE Global Communications Conference (GLOBECOM), Dec. 2022.
- P. Agheli, N. Pappas, M. Kountouris, "Semantics-Aware Source Coding in Status Update Systems", IEEE ICC Workshop on Semantic Communications, 2022.

<u>Measurements of delays in real 5G systems</u> As a step towards a system for measuring and improving Age of Information, we first measure delays in real 5G networks and how they affect industrial communications.

- A. Rao, L. Corneo (Aalto, A. Zavodovski, W. Tärneberg, E. Fitzgerald, C. Kilinc, O. Rai, S. Johansson, V. Berggren, H. Riaz, and A. Johnsson, Prediction and Exposure of Delays from a Base Station Perspective in 5G and Beyond Networks, 5G and Beyond Network Measurements, Modeling, and Use Cases (5G-MEMU), pp 8–14, 2022
- H. Peng, W. Tärneberg, E. Fitzgerald, F. Tufvesson, and M. Kihl, Evaluation of Control over the Edge of a Configurable Mid-band 5G Base Station, 6th International Conference on Fog and Edge Computing, IEEE, pp. 1–5, 2022

<u>Solutions for industrial IoT communication</u> Methods for meeting the stringent requirements of industrial IoT applications in real systems with network delays. In the work on punctual cloud, we adapt the application to the realities of cloud system by predicting and mitigating delays. In the second paper below, we group IoT nodes in a factory based on their channel characteristics to allow for faster scheduling and more robust communications. In the third paper we consider intrusion detection for industrial cloud control systems.



- H. Peng, W. Tärneberg, E. Fitzgerald, and M. Kihl, Punctual Cloud: Unbinding Real-time Applications from Cloud-induced Delays, IEEE International Symposium on Networks, Computers, and Communications, pp. 1–8, 2022
- E. Fitzgerald, M. Pióro, H. Tataria, G. Callebaut, S. Gunnarsson, and L.Van der Perre, A Light Signaling Approach to Node Grouping for Massive MIMO IoT Networks, Computers, pp. 1–21, 2022
- F. Akbarian, W. Tärneberg, E. Fitzgerald, and M. Kihl, Detection and mitigation of deception attacks on cloud-based industrial control systems, 25th Conference on Innovation in Clouds, Internet and Networks (ICIN), IEEE, pp. 106–110, 2022

1.1. Plans for 2023

The plan for 2023 is that LiU and Lund side will have short visits to each other's premises to continue the plan for implementing in Lund's testbed the AoI metric, AoI-aware and importance-aware scheduling algorithms. There will be one visit from Lund to LiU during spring/summer and a visit from LiU to Lund during the fall. We expect two joint conference papers to be submitted within 2023. In LU, we will continue building the AoI testbed.

2. Awards and recognitions

N. Pappas got the following awards:

- <u>2022 Best Student Conference Paper Award in Swedish Communication Technologies Workshop</u> (Swe-CTW 2022)
- <u>2022 Top 2% scientists list, single year impact</u>, in the area of Networking and Telecommunications
- 2022 Journal of Communications and Networks (JCN) Best Paper Award

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
"Physical Layer Secrecy for IoT Networks with Heterogeneous Traffic"	Swedish Research Council (VR)	350ksek	2 years
"Low Latency Communications for Wireless Networks: Exploiting Traffic Characteristics"	Zenith	480ksek	6 years
"Semantics-Empowered Communication for Networked Intelligent Systems"	Swedish Research Council (VR)	980ksek	4 years
"ETHER - sElf-evolving terrestrial/non- Terrestrial Hybrid nEtwoRks"	Horizon Europe	2600ksek for 3 years	3 years



4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Mehrdad Salimnejad, PhD student, LiU	0000-0002-0111-0717	From 2022
Ali Nikkhah, PhD student, LiU	0000-0001-8883-6926	From 2022
Suleyman Sadikhov, PhD student, LU		From 2022

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

We are collaborating with Emma Fitzgerald and Maria Kihl from Lund.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

We are in contact with ERICSSON for more close collaboration in the topics of this project.

8. International collaboration

N. Pappas has active collaboration with:

- M. Kountouris, EURECOM, France
- H. Dhillon, Virginia Tech, USA
- A. Ephremides, University of Maryland, College Park, USA
- H. Yang, ZJU-UIUC Institute of Zhejiang University, China
- P. Popovski, Aalborg University, Denmark
- X. Dimitropoulos, University of Crete, Greece
- T. Charalambous, University of Cyprus, Cyprus
- T. Quek, SUTD, Singapore
- P. Mankar, IIIT Hyderabad, India
- P. Mohapatra, Indian Institute of Technology Tirupati, India
- Osvaldo Simeone, King's College London, UK
- Yansha Deng, King's College London, UK
- 9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

T. Aspegårdh and L. Gardebrand, "Machine Learning-based Prediction of Handovers and Unnecessary Handovers in a Long-Term Evolution Network", ERICSSON, Linköping



10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

N/A

- 12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar
- N. Pappas is
- Secretary for the <u>IEEE Tactile Internet TC</u>
- Co-chair for the Special Interest Group on IoT in Tactile Internet (IEEE Technical Committees)
- Voting Member at the <u>IEEE Working Group P1918.1 Tactile Internet: Application Scenarios, Definitions</u> and Terminology, Architecture, Functions, and Technical Assumptions

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

N. Pappas was the keynote chair for the IEEE SPS - EURASIP summer school on "Defining 6G: Theory, Applications, and Enabling Technologies", Linköping, 2022.

N. Pappas

Chair/co-chair:

- IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC) 2022
- IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference (WCNC) 2022
- IEEE SECON 2022 Workshops Co-Chair
- IEEE Future Networks World Forum 2022 Workshop on Incorporating Physical Layer Security in 6G Security Protocols

Editorial:

- Area Editor, IEEE Open Journal of Communications Society
- Expert Editor for Invited Papers, IEEE Communications Letters
- Editor, IEEE Transactions on Machine Learning in Communications and Networking
- Editor, IEEE Transactions on Communications
- Editor, IEEE/KICS Journal of Communications and Networks

Tutorials:

• IEEE SPS - EURASIP summer school on "Defining 6G: Theory, Applications, and Enabling Technologies", Goal-oriented and semantic communications



- IEEE/CIC ICCC 2022: Age of Information Optimizations in Wireless Networks: Theories, Applications, and Beyond
- IEEE ICC 2022: Age of Information in Wireless Networks: Fundamentals and Applications
- Spring School 2022: Emerging and future communication networks: technologies, architectures, and tools: Semantics Communications for Future Wireless Communications
 - 14. Open source software contributions

Pizza: Node Grouping for Massive MIMO: <u>https://bitbucket.org/emmafitzgerald/pizza</u>

ELLIIT Call C

The ELLIIT steering committee decided in September 2020 to allocate up to 20 MSEK per year during five years for new Ph.D. student projects to commence in the spring of 2021. In total, 44 applications were submitted, and 9 PhD projects were funded. These projects will from 2021 to 2025.

C1: Dynamics of complex socio-technological network systems

PI: Claudio Altafini, LiU Co-PI: Emma Tegling, LU

Summary

This project investigates how opinions and beliefs propagate on "social networks", i.e., on networks of individuals interacting over socio-technological media and influencing each other through social ties. The main scientific goal is to use data and dynamical models in order to understand the mechanisms by which sociologically relevant macroscopic collective behaviors can emerge from microscopic (i.e., individual-level) interactions.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

At LiU, we have developed a model which we call concatenated Friedkin-Johnsen (FJ) model, dealing with a concatenation of opinion dynamics processes, i.e., a sequence of discussions in each of which an agent is behaving stubbornly, i.e., it is defending its own viewpoint when interacting with other agents. For this model, we have then investigated how an agent having a certain budget of stubbornness to spend in the concatenation of discussions should behave in order to maximize its social power. The problem is formulated as a strategic game, whose solution can be explicitly computed. It turns out that the optimal solution (which is a Nash equilibrium for the strategic game, as well as a dominant strategy under certain



assumptions) relies on a basic principle which we call "early mover advantage" expressing the fact that a stubborn behavior in the early discussions of the sequence.

In Lund, a version of the concatenated Friedkin-Johnsen model was studied, where the stubbornness of each agent was adjusted depending on the outcome of a vote taked at the end of each discussion. The idea is to capture a feedback process from an observation of where the group's opinion is headed, to the behavior of agents. The work was presented at the 2022 IEEE Conference of Decision and Control in Cancun, Mexico.

In Lund, we also focus on describing network structures for the purpose of structure inference based on data. For this purpose, we study the class of effective resistance matrices and their potential use as an alternative description of networks. We also study a novel class of growing networks with degree bounds, which have relevance both in engineered and social networks.

1.1. Plans for 2023

In LiU, we plan to apply the methodology to climate negotiations, where the concatenated FJ model is of relevance.

In Lund, the focus on network structures is combined with a focus on new models for opinion dynamics that capture large-scale political phenomena, e.g. polarization, normalization of extreme opinions and urban-rural conflicts.

We will host the Focus period on Network Dynamics in September 2023, hopefully initiating many new collaborations.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
Multiagent dynamics and collective decisions on signed graphs	Vetenskapsrådet	1 M SEK	4 years
Multi-resolution dynamical modeling of multiple sclerosis	Swedish Foundation for Strategic Research		5 years

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021-2022, from
		2021, etc)



Luca Gino Claude Lebon (PhD student)	From 2022
Luka Bakovic (PhD student)	From 2022
David Ohlin (PhD student)	2021 (Since 2022 funded by another project)

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

N/A

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

The PI collaborated with various group at IFM and Medical Faculty at LiU, in the framework of a joint SSF sponsored project called "Multi-resolution dynamical modeling of multiple sclerosis". Data-driven models that are somewhat related to the topics we are developing in this project were published in a couple of journal papers.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

N/A

8. International collaboration

We have collaborated with Univ of Sydney, Chinese Academy of Science, Tongji University in Shanghai, Univ of Sannio, Benevento, Italy.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

N/A

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Opinion Dynamics on Social Networks	PhD course



12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Our research on climate negotiations was highlighted in a LiU news article entitled "A mathematical model may give more efficient climate talks", see <u>https://liu.se/en/news-item/matematisk-berakningsmodell-kan-ge-mer-effektiva-klimatsamtal</u>

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

The PI served as Associate Editor for Automatica and for IEEE Trans on Control of Network Systems. He was also Guest Editor for a special Issue on on "Dynamics and Behavior in Social Networks" also for the IEEE Trans. on Control of Network Systems". He was on the IPC committee of the 11th Int. Conference on Complex Networks and Their Applications, and of the 9th Workshop on Distributed Estimation and Control of Networked Systems (NecSys'22).

The Co-PI participated in the development of the report "Control for Societal-Scale Challenges: Roadmap 2030" (edited by A. Annaswamy, K.H. Johansson and G. Pappas) in an initiative from the IEEE Control Systems Society (CSS). She was on the IPC committee of the 9th Workshop on Distributed Estimation and Control of Networked Systems (NecSys'22) (among others) and co-organized the inaugural CSS Day.

14. Open source software contributions N/A

C2: Developing core-technologies for tree-based models

PI: Krzysztof Bartoszek, LiU Co-PI: Niklas Wahlberg, LU

Summary

Graph learning is an important topic in science and technology. In this project we will develop new methods for tree-structured graphs, motivated by phylogenetics but with potential use in other networkbased applications e.g. network routing, and discovery and analysis of gene-regulatory networks. We will develop probabilistic models for tree-structured graphs that enable learning these graphs from data while reasoning about the uncertainties in the learnt structures. We will also contribute to the development of probabilistic programming languages (PPLs), on which there is currently a lot of focus in the AI and ML communities, for automatic and efficient inference in these models.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022



Under 2022 we have continued work on developing Bayesian inference methods for tree-structured Gaussian models. Mr. Brahmantion has completed implementing a method for 1D data, and has been working on the multivariate case. The key component, is that in different time epochs, different Gaussian models are permitted.

We have explored datasets using the maximum likelihood PCMFit estimation package, that furthermore can estimate the change points of the Gaussian processes on the tree. Our experiments showed that its detected change point correspond well to coherent clades of species.

1.1. Plans for 2023

Finalize the Bayesian approach for multivariate data. Explore effects of missing tree leaves when inferring networks from a collection of trees.

- 2. Awards and recognitions N/A
- N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
Inference for branching Markov process models - the mathematics and computations of phylogenetic comparative methods		700kkr	2018-2021

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021-2022, from 2021, etc)
Bayu Beta Brahmntio (PhD student)		From 2021
Etka Yapar (PhD student)		From 2021
Krzysztof Bartoszek (faculty PI)		From start, 2021
Niklas Wahlberg (faculty, co-PI)		From start, 2021

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Collaboration with Prof. Wahlberg in the sciope of the ELLIIT grant



6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

We are closely collaborating with biological groups concerning the analysis of tree structured data, and development of analysis methods. We are also in touch with matheticians from the Polish Academy of Sciences on building networks from collections of trees.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

N/A

8. International collaboration

Nicolaus Copernicus University, Poland collaboration wth Dr. Marcin Piwczyński.

University of Oslo, Norway collaboration with Dr. Kjetil Lysne Voje.

Florida International University, USA collaboration with Dr. Jason Pienaar and Dr. Jesualdo Feuntes-Gonzalez.

University of Gdańsk, Poland collaboration with Dr. Monika Mioduchowska.

University of the Balearic Islands, collaboration with Dr. Joan Carles Pons Mayol.

Collaboration with the YUIMA team (various Japanese, Italian Universities) on running the YUIMA Conference and SDE school in Linkoping (took place in March 2023).

Polish Academy of Sciences, discussions on starting a joint project with Prof. Paweł Dłotko

- 9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry
- N/A only academic master theses
 - 10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Advanced R Programming	masters
Computational Statistics	masters
Bioinformatics	masters



12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Organizing the Statistics part of the LiU Seminar Series in Statistics and Mathematical Statistics

14. Open source software contributions

Continued development work on the mvSLOUCH, RMaCzek, pcmabc open source R packages on CRAN. Continued developmen of code for analyzing COVID19 data, code is publicly available on GitHub.

C3: Real-Time Realistic Pixel Synthesis using Deep Learning for Augmented and Virtual Reality

PI: Michael Doggett, LU Co-PI: Karl Johan Lundin Palmerius, LiU

Summary

Augmented and Virtual Reality will have a major impact on future Human Computing Interfaces. This project aims to solve the challenges of generating the realistic images necessary to ensure the level of immersion to make these new platforms essential. By using high quality physical accurate resources, combined with the latest techniques in Deep Learning combined with Real-Time Rendering, we will address the challenges of immersive realistic imagery for Augmented and Virtual Reality.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

At Lund University n 2022 reseach was performed on lighting for Augmented Reality working with a Microsoft Hololens 2. This research showed how a fast representation of light sources can be captured interactively by a camera running on a RaspberryPi attached to the Hololens. This representation of light can then be used to light Virtual objects to match objects that exist in the real world. This work resulted in the submission of a paper entitled, "Sparse Spatial Shading in Augmented Reality".

Also during 2022 research work begun on Neural Rendering with a focus on NeRFs. We hope this to be a major area of research in 2023. Michael Doggett PhD student, Pierre Moreau, defended his Ph.D. on 2022-01-14, with a title, "Towards Fully Dynamic Surface Illumination in Real-Time Rendering using Acceleration Data Structures".



1.1. Plans for 2023

In January 2023 Michael Doggett (LU) meet with Peter Westerdahl (LiU) and Karljohan Lundin Palmerius (LiU) to discuss the future for the project going forward. Karljohan will take the place of Patric Ljung as the Co-PI for the project. Karljohan is actively working to employ a PhD student to work on the LiU side of the work so that collaborative work can proceed in 2023.

At LU research will focus on Neural Rendering, in particular on NeRFs.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
Efficient GPU Programming for Visual and Autonomous Software Systems	WASP	800,000sek	2018-2022

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Rikard Olajos (PhD student, LU)	Since 2021

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

N/A

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

Michael Doggett and Rikard Olajos (LU) participated in the ELLIIT meeting in Linköping 19-20 October.

8. International collaboration

N/A



9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

At Lund University, "Simulating optical depth for participating media using ray tracing", by Lukas Mattsson, in cooperation with Calle Lejdförs, Tencent R&D Europe, supervised by Michael Doggett. "Graphical Overlay based on Web Technologies for Live Streams", by Daniel Pendse and Gustav Sjölin, at Spiideo AB, supervised by Erik Zivkovic, and Michael Doggett at Lund University.

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

N/A

- 12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar
- 13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Michael Doggett was ACM SIGGRAPH Symposium on Interactive 3D Graphics and Games ACM SIGGRAPH I3D 2022 Conference Co-Chair.

Michael Doggett was an associate editor for Computers and Graphics Journal.

14. Open source software contributions N/A

C4: Brain-Based Monitoring of Sound

PI: Martin Enqvist, LiU Co-PI: Maria Sandsten, LU

Summary

The outcome of this project will be a set of optimized methods to continuously monitor recorded electroencephalogram (EEG) measurements from the brain in order to estimate and track sound processing in the brain. The increasing requirements on audio products for hearing aids (HAs), together



with recent invention of EEG electrodes that fit in the ear will call for robust methods with high time and spatial resolution of the EEG. In this project, we intend to attack the problem of complex listening environments (e.g., the cocktail party problem) and we will provide a better understanding for how the sound is processed at different stages in the brain for both normal-hearing (NH) and hearing impaired (HI) listeners, opening up for future advanced HA solutions. Experiments and technical solutions will be on the scientific frontier through the collaboration with researchers at Eriksholm Research Centre (part of the world-leading HA manufacturer Oticon A/S).

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

During 29 August to 1 September, Oskar Keding and Maria Sandsten participated in the European Signal Processing Conference (EUSIPCO 2022) in Belgrade, Serbia, presenting the submission: "Robust Phase Difference Estimation of Transients in High Noise Levels".

In 2022 a major focus in Oskar Keding's project has been development of novel methods for robust coherence estimation, especially for estimating coupling between EEG and speech envelope. Conference papers within this scope are submitted to EUSIPCO 2023 and INTERSPEECH 2023. Extended work in reassigned spectrograms for phase difference estimation has been performed using multitapers and has been submitted to EUSIPCO 2023.

During 2022, Johanna Wilroth has primarily worked on estimation of linear filters for EEG source localization in a competing-talker scenario and a paper about this has been accepted for the IFAC World Congress 2023. Furthermore, a paper about domain adaptation for EEG-based auditory attention decoding has been finalized and submitted to the Journal of Neural Engineering. Johanna has also presented posters at Reglermöte in Luleå and at the International Conference on Cognitive Hearing Science for Communication (CHSCOM) in Linköping.

1.1. Plans for 2023

Oskar Keding and Johanna Wilroth will participate in the Winter School in Hearing Acoustics in Oldenburg, Germany. Johanna Wilroth will submit a paper to the IEEE Conference on Decision and Control about nonlinear modeling and compensation for EEG-based speech tracking. Furthermore, Johanna Wilroth will be involved in pilot tests carried out by a postdoc in a related project.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022



Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
LINK-SIC (two projects within this center)	VINNOVA	1800 kSEK	2017-2023

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021-2022, from 2021, etc)
Oskar Keding		PhD student at Lund University since 2021
Johanna Wilroth	0000-0002-1762-7454	PhD student at Linköping University since August 2021

- 5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022
- Regular meetings on Teams every month
- Doctoral students and supervisors participated in CHSCOM 2022 in Linköping 12-15 June.
- Doctoral students and supervisors participated in the ELLIIT meeting in Linköping 19-20 October.
 - 6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

An established collaboration with Eriksholm Research Centre and Oticon A/S via Martin Skoglund and Emina Alickovic.

- 7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors
- Regular meetings on Teams every month
- Doctoral students and supervisors have regular biweekly meetings.
- Several visits to the Eriksholm Research Center, Oticon A/S, Denmark, where training and exchange of research results took place. Johanna Wilroth gave a talk about Domain *Adaptation for Attention Steering* at an Eriksholm symposium and participated in the Demant Summer School on Translational Research at Eriksholm Research Center.
 - 8. International collaboration

In 2022, Oskar Keding and Emina Alickovic participated in Coghear 2022 in Washington, DC between June 6th and 10th.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry



Oscar Hermansson: A deep learning approach to brain tracking of sound (Martin Skoglund examiner, Emina Alickovic and Johanna Wilroth supervisors)

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Martin Enqvist is vice chairman for the committee for electrical engineering, physics and mathematics at Linköping University.	

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar Martin Enqvist is associate editor for IEEE Control Systems Letters.

14. Open source software contributions

N/A

C5: GPAI – General Purpose AI Computing

PI: Håkan Grahn, BTH Co-PI: Jörn Janneck, LU and Christoph Kessler, LiU

Summary

AI hardware accelerators are starting to be commonplace today and we foresee they will evolve by integrating more general-purpose friendly features, similar to the way GPUs evolved into GPGPUs more than a decade ago. Contemporary accelerators are highly parallel, specialized, and often limited-precision devices with higher performance per Watt than general CPUs and they are targeting a relatively narrow application domain, i.e., neural networks (deep learning) processing. We will address the challenges involved when using these AI accelerators for more general processing by (i) novel hardware and system



software techniques, (ii) suitable computational models, and (iii) domain-specific programming models, languages and tools.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

The LiU group contributed new results in systematic design-space exploration in energy-efficient hardware-software co-design of parallel streaming computations on heterogeneous parallel systems, and in analyzing the performance portability of single-source high-level parallel programs.

We also compiled a first collection of computational patterns in mixed AI+X computations to guide further software developments in the project. This led to initial ideas for extending the SkePU high-level programming framework targeting heterogeneous computer systems (which is developed as a long-term open-source effort by the LiU group) towards special support for DNN computations to obtain a first mixed-domain pattern-based programming framework for practical evaluations in the project.

The LU group (LU) continued exploring actor networks and dataflow computational models as candidate models for programming GPAI infrastructure. To that end, LU considered the problems of mapping and scheduling of streaming task graphs to multicore and heterogeneous architectures. The goal is an automated design space exploration flow, using causation traces for informing design choices both in hardware and in software. Working in close cooperation with LiU, LU began improving on the "crown scheduling" technique to leverage data dependent behaviour in streaming programs and actor networks (ongoing work).

The BTH group has published a survey paper on 79 low-power AI accelerators published during 2019-2022 and their properties. The output from that survey highlights that very few accelerator proposals break the 10 TOPS/W barrier, which calls for novel approaches to improve the performance per Watt. Further, focus for accelerator development in recent years has been on CNNs and deep learning, while acceleration support for transformers and neuromorphic accelerators (e.g., spiking neural networks) are on the raise.

1.1. Plans for 2023

We have concrete plans for energy-efficient adaptive scheduling of parallel streaming computations on homogenous multicore CPUs, combining the LiU team's crown scheduling approach with trace-driven analysis and scheduling techniques developed by the LU team. We also plan to add and evaluate support for DNN computations in SkePU, see above.

LU plans to collaborate more closely with BTH and LiU, which has already started. The plan is to develop tools and algorithms for simulation, instrumentation, mapping and scheduling of programs described through the design patterns discovered and delineated by LiU onto GPAI hardware defined by BTH.



To take the next steps in the project, we are currently performing a comparative study where we evaluate different simulation and evaluation frameworks for

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
Adaptive Software for the Heterogeneous Edge- Cloud Continuum (ASTECC) (Kessler, IDA/LiU)	SSF	6 MSEK	Dec. 2022- Nov. 2027
HINTS: Human-Centered Intelligent Realities (CS/BTH)	Knowledge Foundation	6 MSEK	2022-2028
Directed Air Data Link (CS/BTH)	VINNOVA	800kSEK	2020-2023

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Sehrish Qummar (PhD student, LiU)	0000-0003-0179-0238	Since March 2022
August Ernstsson (postdoc, LiU)	0000-0001-6514-4601	Since autumn 2022
Christoffer Åleskog (PhD student, BTH)	0000-0002-0476-4177	Since Jan. 2022
Michail Boulasikis (PhD student, LU)	0000-0003-1982-0773	Since 2021

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

We have had monthly meetings with all partners during 2022, as well as physical meetings. Further, we have had joint discussions on papers, providing cross-site input and feedback on studies and results, and joint PhD courses. The inter-university cooperation will deepen during 2023 through inter-site visits by the Ph.D. students.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors



CS/BTH has ongoing collaborations with, e.g., Ericsson and City Network (submitted project applications), Saab (ongoing project, "Directed Air Data Link"), and several other companies in the ongoing HINTS project.

8. International collaboration

Cooperation of the LiU group (Kessler) with the group of Prof. J. Keller at FernUniversität in Hagen, Germany, about systematic design-space exploration in energy-efficient hardware-software co-design of parallel streaming computations on heterogeneous multi-core systems, resulting in two open-access articles (one in 2022, one in 2023).

Cooperation of the LiU group (Kessler) with the group of Prof. D. Griebler at PUCRS, Brasil, about evaluating performance portability in single-source high-level parallel programs.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

LiU: R. Andersson: *Optimization of hardware trace processing on a clustered 5G multicore CPU architecture by multi-threading.* External project at Ericsson Linköping. Presentation 15 jan 2022. BTH: Anton Dewitz and William Olofsson: "The Hare, the Tortoise and the Fox: Extending Anti-Fuzzing," with TrueSec, Faculty of Computing, Blekinge Institute of Technology, Sweden, June 2022.

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Parallel Software Quality (new PhD course in spring 2022)	Graduate (LiU/IDA)
Advanced Computer Architecture (PhD course, May – Nov. 2022)	Graduate (CS/BTH)

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Invited presentation by C. Kessler on "Pseudorandom number streams as a shared resource in heterogeneous parallel computing" at the annual meeting of the H2020 COST action CERCIRAS in Copenhagen, 2022.



13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar N/A

14. Open source software contributions

N/A

C6: In situ real-time characterization of large 5G and beyond antenna systems

PI: Mats Gustafsson, LU Co-PI: Magnus Berggren, LiU

Summary

This project produces a technique for in situ measurements of mm-wave devices enabling rapid verification and testing of 5G and beyond systems with inexpensive and accessible measurement equipment. The technique is made possible by a non-intrusive metasurface constructed to transform radiation to heat imaged by an infrared camera. With the suggested technique very low power levels corresponding to devices in consumer products can be measured.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

We have manufactured several mm-wave metasurfaces based on screen printing technology to investigate sensitivity to image electromagnetic fields for different patterns and ink mixtures. Initial measurements are promising and indicate good performance for 22-30GHz radiation. We have also developed algorithms for array processing and calibration of the recorded IR images. Results have been presented at EuCAP 2022 and IEEE APS 2022.

1.1. Plans for 2023

Improving sensitivity of the system by tuning the multiphysics problem of tradeoff between electromagnetic, thermal, and infrared properties of the metasurface. Initially, we will investigate different substrates for increased emissivity and reduced thermal conductivity. We will also investigate 3D printing to enable increased flexibility in manufacturing of the surfaces.

We have also planned for validation measurements together with industrial partners during 2023.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022



Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
DCC - Digital Cellulose Center	VINNOVA	2,34 MSEK (LiU part)	2022-2027

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Isak Engquist, faculty LiU, acting LiU PI	0000-0001-5635-6140	From 2021
Deyu Tu, faculty LiU, acting LiU PI from 2023	0000-0002-8875-408X	From 2023
Marzieh Zahibipour, PhD student, LiU		2021-2022
Hamza Khalid, PhD student, LiU		Recruited 2022, starting 1 Feb 2023
Johan Lundgren, post doc, LU		From 2021

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Bi-weekly meetings on zoom have been arranged, providing a forum for discussions and coordination. The project group met physically at the ELLIIT workshop in Linköping, October 19-20, 2022. We also had a project meeting in conjunction with the workshop focusing on the collaborative aspects and reviewing manufacturing options. Several design ideas have been discussed between the universities, with mutual exchanges of experiences of design, material choices, manufacturing, etc.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

Circuits and systems: Prof. R Forchheimer (LiU, SE); **Paper electronics** (displays and identification): Profs. L. Wågberg (KTH, SE); **Nano sensors:** Mattias Borg (LU)

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

Collaboration with DP Patterning in Norrköping for manufacturing of metasurfaces.

Collaboration with RISE in Norrköping for screen printing of metasurfaces.

Scheduled a test measurement with Torleif Martin at QAMCOM about using the developed metasurface surfaces for evaluation of satellite array antennas. Ongoing discussions with Ericsson for validation of base station and EMF performance at mm-waves. Hopefully, have test measurements in 2023.

8. International collaboration



Synthesis, spectroscopy and characterization of organic electronic materials: Profs. G Hadziioannou (U. Bordeaux, FR), I McCulloch (KAUST, SA), A Facchetti (NW U., USA), JW Andreasen, (DTU Energy, DK), M. Mas-Torrent (ICMAB-CSIC, ES), A. Salleo (Stanford, USA); Paper electronics: (displays and identification): J. Reynolds (Georgia Tech, USA); Antenna measurements: Samel Arslanagic (DTU Space, DK), Antenna design: Anja Skrivervik (EPFL, CH); Optimal design: Miloslav Capek (CTU, CZ), Lukas Jelinek (CTU, CZ), Kurt Schab (SCU, US)

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

One master thesis (Arvid Bläser, supervised by Deyu Tu) in collaboration with Ligna Energy AB was successfully defended at LOE-LiU in June 2022. The thesis reports a self-autarkic IoT label to monitor indoor temperature and humidity without the need of change/charging the battery.

Master thesis "Wide-Angle Radome Design for Low-Cost Additive Manufacturing", Martin Fajerberg and Mattias Nylander, Axis Communications AB, successfully defended at LU in June 2022. Supervised by Johan Lundgren.

Patent title	Application Number
Absorption sheet, system and method for performing radiation characterization	PRV 2051181-2
An absorption sheet for absorbing power from an electromagnetic wave, system for performing a radiation characterization, method for measuring an electromagnetic radiative near field using the same	PCT/EP2021/077704

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
EITN90 Radar and remote sensing: Development of class room mm-wave synthetic aperture radar labs	Graduate
PhD courses Organic Electronics 1 and 2: Lectures on printing methods and ink properties for printed electronics	Graduate



- 12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar
- M. Gustafsson was a keynote speaker at Singapore Workshop on Antennas 2022
- M. Gustafsson taught a short course on 'Optimal inverse design' at APS 2022 in Denver
- M. Gustafsson and J. Lundgren supervised the 'BirdFeeder Collective Team' in the IEEE APS student design contest (3rd place)
- M. Gustafsson co-organized a workshop 'Functional Electromagnetic Structures Workshop' together with SAAB AB and IEEE, May 5
- 13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar
- M. Gustafsson, IEEE Antennas and Propagation best paper award committee member.
- M. Gustafsson, ERC panel member
- M. Berggren, SPIE Conference Committee Member, SPIE, San Diego
- M. Berggren, Chair of the board, SSF (2022-)
- M. Berggren, Director, the Wallenberg Initiative Materials Science for Sustainability (WISE) (2022-)
- D. Sjöberg, Chair Swedish National Committee of Radio Science
 - 14. Open source software contributions

FE2MS (Fast and Efficient ElectroMagnetic Solvers), Niklas Wingren, https://github.com/nwingren/fe2ms: Finite element - boundary integral hybrid code based on FEniCSx.

SDCM (Scattering Dyadic Characteristic Modes) Open source package implementation in commercial fullwave solvers. Miloslav Capek, Johan Lundgren, Mats Gustafsson, Kurt Schab, Lukas Jelinek <u>https://github.com/kschab/scattering-dyadic-characteristic-modes#readme</u>

C7: The DiaVoc project: Diagnosing vocal characteristics to track patients' health

PI: Andreas Jakobsson, LU Co-PI: Johan Sanmartin Berglund, BTH

Summary

This project focuses on the diagnosis and tracking of health conditions that affect patients' voices, such as Neurocognitive disorders (NCDs) (cognitive decline), pulmonary disorder (COPD), and heart failure conditions (HF). Using longitudinal voice recordings, matched with medical information, we will develop mathematical vocal features, distance measures, and machine learning techniques suitable for tracking



and classifying relevant vocal changes. These features will improve clinical assessments of underlying health conditions and increase treatment efficacy and prediction of prognosis. A key strength of the project are our transdisciplinary perspectives in the cross-section between health science and engineering technology.

The project has employed two Ph.D. students, Niloofar Momeni (LU) and Alper Idrisoglu (BTH). During parts of 2021 and 2022, Niloofar Momeni has been on parental leave.

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

In 2022, Alper Idrisoglu carried out a systematic literature review (SLR) covering the period from 2012 to the entire year of 2022, with the aim of exploring the current state-of-the-art machine learning techniques used in the diagnosis or monitoring of voice disorders from the perspective of applied health technology. The SLR process involved screening 2220 articles from three databases, out of which 145 articles were deemed suitable for synthesis. The study selection was performed together with the Ana Luiza Dallora, PhD (supervisor). The SLR analyzed the trends in the research and was successful in identifying gaps in the literature of the area that ground the work that will come next. The findings have been submitted for publication in JMIR, and the team is currently responding to the reviewers' feedback. In parallel with the SLR process, the BTH team has initiated the collection of voice data through the VoiceDiagnostic application. The team has obtained more than 2000 recordings from over 70 participants across four groups, namely Parkinson's Disease (PD), Cardiovascular Disorder (CD), Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD), and a Healthy Control Group (HC).

The team at LU has worked primarily on voice features as well as motion analysis of patients suffering from Parkinson's disease (PD). The latter is in the form of a close collaboration with researchers in neurology, and have resulted in two M.Sc. thesis projects on this topic (by Gustaf von Grothusen and by Marlon Almström and Hoa Tran) as well as the initial work on a joint publication of the classification of motion patterns for PD patients. We have also worked together with speech therapists in determining vocal patterns for PD patients and for persons suffering from gender dysphoria, work that will continue into 2023. This work has resulted in one M.Sc. thesis project (by Mira Kjellin). There has also been work on the classification of children suffering from a cleft-pallet using vocal data, resulting in one M.Sc. thesis on this topic (by Rebecca Svensson).

1.1. Plans for 2023

During 2023, the LU group plans to finalize an initial work on the classification of PD based on voice data. For this, the group is utilizing data from the public mPower data set as well as own recordings conducted in collaboration with neurologists at LU as well as the BTH team. A collaboration with speech therapists at LU and in Linköping is also ongoing for studies on both PD patients and persons suffering from gender dysphoria. The group is investigating possibilities to provide personalized



speech therapy for the latter group (initially), investigating connections between key vocal aspects and treatments. It is our hope that we can also finalize an initial work on this study during 2023.

In 2023, the BTH team has commenced the analysis of the voice data that has been collected, with the goal of creating and evaluating a voice dataset for an automated system that can diagnose and monitor Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD). The team's objective is to complete the experimental procedures, finalize the results, and summarize their findings for publication. Furthermore, the team plans to continue the process of collecting new data alongside this analysis.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Alper Idrisoglu, PhD student BTH

Marlon Almström, MSc student LU

Rebecca Svensson, MSc student LU

Hoa Tran, MSc student LU

Mira Kjellin, MSc student LU

Gustaf von Grothusen, MSc student LU

None related to the ELLIIT project (LU). Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

N/A

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Niloofar Momeni, PhD student LU	0000-0002-9435-9772	2021-2027

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

As part of the collaboration on cleft-pallet children's voices, the group at LU has collaborated with Karolinska University, and for the vocal features also with Abo academy in Finland.

0000-0003-1558-2309

2021-2025

2022

2022

2022

2022

2021-2022

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022



The LU group have during 2022 extensively collaborated with speech therapist and neurologist, the latter related to both speech and motions. The latter collaboration has resulted in a joint publication that will be submitted during the spring of 2023 on how different motion patterns for PD patients may be determined using a worn mobile phone.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

The group at LU has during the entire project collaborated closely with the start-up VoiceDiagnostic Sweden AB on the analysis and recording of voices.

8. International collaboration

Åbo academy, Finland.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

N/A

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Time series analysis, LU (illustrative examples based on research)	Undergraduate (4 th /5 th year)

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Prof. Jakobsson has during 2022 and 2023 given several popular science presentations. In these, he commonly refers to this ongoing project to illustrate the potential in AI research. In the year 2022, Alper Idrisoglu attended the ELLIT workshop held at Linköping University and plans to participate in the ELLIT workshop to be held in 2023 at Lund University. Additionally, Alper presented the project as a guest lecturer in a course, in a workshop, and conference held at BTH.



13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar Prof. Jakobsson acts as an Associate Editor for Elsevier Signal Processing.

14. Open source software contributions N/A

C8: Situation Aware Perception for Safe Autonomous Robotics Systems

PI: Volker Krueger, LU Co-PI: Per-Erik Forssén, LiU

Summary

This project will address the areas of sensing, analytics and learning. We will develop a modular adaptable situation-aware approach for perception, such that autonomous robotic systems (ARS) such as autonomous cars or robots can decide in each situation how to sense. Consider the famous first accident of an autonomously driving Tesla, where the perception system missed a white trailer in front of a bright horizon because the sensing system was not able to adapt. Adaptability of sensing will make ARS safer, more robust to situation changes, and reduce costs and time for network training, programming and testing, thus making robots more accessible to SMEs. This will require advances in probabilistic modelling of perceptual outcomes and will use latent space learning and latent space tracking to adapt the perception to the situation. Scientific progress will be evaluated in an agile manner under realistic scenarios on our robot platforms (robotic arms and mobile robots, autonomous model cars, in/outdoors).

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

The PhD student Simon Kristoffersson Lind has published his first paper where he proposed a method to adapt camera parameters according to a normalizing flow-based out-of-distribution detector. A small-scale study was conducted that showed that adapting camera parameters according to this out-of-distribution detector leads to an average increase of 3 to 4 percentage points in mAP, mAR and F1 performance metrics of a YOLOv4 object detector. As a secondary result, this paper also showed that it is possible to train a normalizing flow model for out-of-distribution detectors.

The PhD student Ziliang Xiong started in September 2022, and has been working on addressing overconfidence in CNNs for robotic applications. An initial presentation on the work plan was given at the ELLIT workshop in Linköping, October 2022. A paper is currently in preparation with the test case of horizon line estimation (which is geometrically equivalent to a camera up-vector estimation). By having the CNN output full probability distributions for the estimated parameters (aka. *Regression by classification*), it is possible to express uncertainty as a less peaked distribution, and ambiguity in input as a multi-modal



distribution. This however requires that the training is set up in the correct way and uses a suitable loss function. How to set up the training, and how to quantify the quality of the output uncertainty is the focus of the paper.

1.1. Plans for 2023

Simon Lind's has implemented the normalizing flow-based out-of-distribution detection on the Heron robot (see Project S1) to investigate the performance in a robotics context. It turned out that the COCO image database is considerably different from the usual robotics applications. While COCO has mostly long focal-length images with everyday objects scattered in different locations whereas the robotics applications have usually wide-angle views with potentially different illumination conditions in different parts of the image. While the work in 2022 computed the normalizing flows (NF) for the whole image we need to investigate how the NF can be computed locally.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
Smart Twins for Forest Environment	Visual Sweden	34kkr	202102-202306
Augmented operator	Visual Sweden	230kkr	202101-[L] SEP 202212
Dorsal stream robot vision	Swedish Research Council	900kkr	202301-202612

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Simon Kristofferson Lind		Started 2021-07
Ziliang Xiong		Started 2022-09

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

There was little collaboration between LU and LiU due to the leaving of the LiU PhD student. LiU has hired a new PhD student, and we already had a first meeting in Oct. 2022. We will start to have more regular meetings in the project in 2023, initially over video, but we may also have the occasional on-site meeting



when this is called for. In the autumn of 2023 we plan to have a project where LiU students test the SkiROS system developed in Lund, on the Heron robot available in Linköping (see ELLIIT Projects S1 and S4).

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

LU has submitted an application for an industrial collaboration with Tetra Pak where image processing reliability is of high priority. Simon Lind's results will be of importance here.

LiU has submitted an application to Formas with VTI and NOSP. The project will study uncertainty representation and characterisation for large scale mapping and semantic segmentation in city environments, and connects to the ELLIIT project in this respect.

8. International collaboration

N/A

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

LU has a master thesis project collaboration with ABB for exploring the idea of the situational fingerprint. The goal of the project is to focus first on an industrial environment with limited complexity.

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Per-Erik has given one of the modules in the WASP course Learning Feature Representations, autumn 2022	WASP PhD
Per-Erik has developed a new master's course "3D Computer Vision"	Master



Volker is using results in	his course Intelligent Autonomous	Master
Systems		

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Per-Erik Forssén has given a Popular Science talk on "Populärvetenskapliga veckan" October 2022, on the topic of "3D vision in self-driving cars and humans".

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Per-Erik Forssén was general chair for the Swedish Symposium on Image Analysis and Deep Learning 2023, March 2023.

14. Open source software contributions N/A

C9: Data Sharing for Industry 4.0 Machine Learning

PI: Per Runeson, LU Co-PI: Christian Kowalkowski, LiU

Summary

With the emergence of machine learning (ML) techniques into Industry 4.0 applications, increasing volumes of data are required to train ML applications. This project explores novel business models for business-to-business (B2B) data sharing and designs new methods and tools to govern data sharing – supporting data ecosystems. We 1) explore how mutual benefit of pooling data from multiple organizations may be balanced with their business values, and 2) design technical solutions to support versioning, encryption, differential privacy, licensing, maintaining and collaborating around shared data sets.

The project has employed two Ph.D. students, Konstantin Malysh (LU) and Tanvir Ahmed (LiU).

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

During 2022, the project team has initiated collaboration with companies in different industry sectors.
 The team at LiU presented their first work on data affordance for inter-firm data sharing in industrial settings at an international conference on servitization. Having reviewed the literature on



affordance, Tanvir Ahmed's proposed an affordance lens to identify the action possibilities of data for firms, a measure that has not yet been used for intangible artifacts, such as data. A revised conceptualization was submitted to and accepted for presentation at the leading academic marketing conference (AMA Winter). In parallel, Christian Kowalkowski has conducted complementary research on digital platforms and subscription business models in business-to-business markets.

- The team at LU has approached the topic from the angle of open source tools and ecosystems. Konstantin Malysh has reviewed the literature in search for findings on tool support for data ecosystems, and concluded that there is very limited availability of such tools. Therefore, a multiple case study is planned to explore industry practice on data sharing, with a dual focus on business models, and tools and governance of data sharing. Malysh is accepted as an affiliated PhD student with the WASP program, which implies attending PhD courses and partaking in a study trip in Swedish industry.

- As a concluding contribution from earlier projects on open data, Linåker and Runeson published a paper entitled *Sustaining Open Data as a Digital Common - Design principles for Common Pool Resources applied to Open Data Ecosystems* at OpenSym 2022 https://doi.org/10.1145/3555051.35550. This paper applies Ostrom's design principles for Common Pool Resources to open data and provides a foundation for further work on open data ecosystems governance.

1.1. Plans for 2023

During the Spring of 2023, the project team jointly plans to finalize the multiple case study on data sharing. We aim for 7-10 case companies to understand the current state (practices, experiences, challenges) of data sharing as the driver of the informational flow inside and between companies.

The LiU group plans to finalize at least two case studies how manufacturing companies are managing data sharing with ecosystem partners and customers for data-driven service innovation. The units of analysis are manufacturing companies and their governance of digital platforms for service innovation. Overall, the aim is to conduct three to four comprehensive case studies in different business-to-business industries, analyze the material, and prepare for the submission to an A level management journal. In parallel, the group will be involved in conceptual research on customer experience management in business-to-business markets, together with a team of leading marketing and service scholars.

The LU group aims to explore current tools for data sharing, to investigate their matching with the needs identified in the company case study.



2. Awards and recognitions

Christian Kowalkowski was a Highly Cited Researcher 2022 by Clarivate, as the only Sweden-based scholar in Economics and Business.

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{N/A}}$

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Tanvir Ahmed	0000-0002-4798-4823	2021-2026
Konstantin Malysh	0000-0002-3659-3093	2021-2026

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

LU and LiU have collaborated in planning of the multi case study, which is executed spring 2023. We have had project meetings in conjunction with the ELLIIT workshop and digitally three other times during the year.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

The project is interdisciplinary in nature, with researchers from the computer science and industrial marketing disciplines.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

Case studies ongoing in several industry domains.

8. International collaboration

Professor Wolfgang Ulaga, INSEAD, France

Professor Bård Tronvoll and David Sörhammar, Norway Inland University, Norway



9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

Christian Bilevits, Adam Hägglund, *Data Ecosystem as a solution for Intra-Organizational Data Sharing: Benefits and Challenges and Requirements*, Axis Communications AB, <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/student-papers/search/publication/9076585</u>

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

N/A

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Per Runeson and Christian Kowalkowski participated in the ELLIIT tech talks, theme 11. Digital business models and legal aspects, talking about Open source and open data and Digitalization and servitization respectively.

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Christian Kowalkowski served as editor (together with Prof Tim Baines and Dr Ali Z. Bigdeli, Aston University) for a 2022 special issue on "Servitization in the digital era" in the *Journal of Service Management*. He will also co-edit a forthcoming special issue on "Extending and sustaining B2B engagement in a digitalized and automated world" in *Industrial Marketing Management*.

Per Runeson and Johan Linåker served as editors (together with Anneke Zuijderwijk and Amanda Brock) for a 2022 special issue on Collaborative Aspects of Open Data in Software Engineering in *IEEE Software*.

14. Open source software contributions N/A



ELLIIT Call D

The ELLIIT Steering Group (SG) decided in 2022, to allocate up to 10 MSEK per year during five years for new Ph.D. student projects to commence early 2023. In total, 48 applications were submitted, and 11 PhD projects were funded. Following the same instructions, a call for proposals from Halmstad University was launched in November 2022. Eight applications were received, of which one were funded. A total of 12 projects will run from 2023 to 2027.

D1: Protocol security verification using dynamic key structures

PI: Mikael Asplund, LiU Co-PI: Christian Gehrmann, LU

Summary

Provably secure communication solutions will be needed for the continued trust in future digital services. In this PhD project we propose a new approach to taming the inherent computational complexity of protocol security analysis by providing the means and the tools to leverage model structures (e.g., dynamic key dependencies) in models of security mechanisms and to use these structures to automate security analysis. The project is composed of three main tasks (i) automated model structure analysis, (ii) developing a theory on dependency relations, and (iii) modular protocol specification and verification. We leverage previous and ongoing work in secure protocol analysis with two recently started industryoriented research projects involving Sectra, Ericsson and Saab.

D2: Integrated reactive motion planning and motion control

PI: Daniel Axehill, LiU Co-PI: Anders Robertson, LU

Summary

The objective with the proposed research is to significantly extend the recent work by the PI's former PhD students Oskar Ljungqvist and Kristoffer Bergman in the area of optimization-based motion planning and control. The proposed work considers optimal motion planning, where motions that are optimal in terms of a user-defined (e.g., energy) performance measure are computed. Overall, several novel research directions are proposed with the overarching goal to obtain an efficient integrated motion-planning algorithm with the benefits that Bergman's method has, but extended to also be able to reliably work in a reactive setup implementing optimal control in feedback form for problems containing disturbances and dynamic obstacles. To reach that goal, research with the aim to significantly advance the computational



efficiency of the employed algorithms is proposed. Furthermore, this development also needs to go handin-hand with control theory, to exploit the available margins but also to be able to guarantee not to break them.

D3: ACRE - Approximate Computing Reducing Energy

PI: Oscar Gustafsson, LiU Co-PI: Joachim Rodrigues, LU

Summary

Trading energy for accuracy is a promising approach to reduce the computing energy dissipation. Especially, for classes of applications with inherent resiliency, including AI/ML, significant reductions can be obtained. We focus on the novel and visionary area of modifying exact arithmetic operators to also perform more complex operations approximately with a focus on floating-point representations. This brings energy savings from approximate computing into general purpose processors.

D4: Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks

PI: Andreas Kerren, LiU Co-PI: Richard Pates, LU

Summary

Multilayer networks are a relatively new way to model complex real-world systems that demand novel and efficient solutions for their analysis. Especially when regarding large and heterogeneous data typically used in power systems control, the use of multilayer networks for data representation, modeling, and analysis is promising. To explore such multilayer technological networks and to incorporate the human perspective into the analysis process for increasing the trust into the results, interactive visualization approaches are key. This project will be performed in an interdisciplinary team; we will study and develop novel visual analytics approaches for the exploration and analysis of multilayer technological networks, which is not only highly relevant for the field of visual analytics, but also for the energy efficiency of power systems.

D5: Discrete optimisation for automatic decision-making in large-scale complex systems

PI: Elina Rönnberg, LiU



Co-PI: Susanna F. de Rezende, LU

Summary

Improved methods for solving discrete optimisation problems have a great potential to contribute to sustainability and energy efficiency, as well as to trustworthiness of systems. The goal of this project is to push the limits for which scheduling and resource allocation problems can be successfully solved. Both the mathematical programming and computer science communities have long and strong traditions of developing optimisation methods for such problems, but with limited interaction. The core novelty of this project is in hybridising methods from these communities and integrating them into decomposition frameworks.

D6: FL4IoT: Energy-Efficient Federated Learning for Internet of Things (IoT) Systems

PI: Amir Aminifar, LU Co-PIs: Christoph Kessler, LiU; Petru Eles, LiU

Summary

The new generation of artificial intelligence (AI) and machine learning (ML) techniques have recently been shown to require non-negligible energy for both training and inference. FL4IoT will focus on developing efficient machine learning techniques to overcome their energy overheads, by taking advantage of the inherent heterogeneity of the Internet of Things (IoT) platforms, towards a new generation of sustainable AI/ML techniques. We believe that this project is highly relevant for key industry players, including Ericsson, with collaboration/exchange possibilities, particularly in connection with the recent SSF project "Adaptive Software for the Heterogeneous Edge-Cloud Continuum."

D7: DDoS detection in 5G/6G networks

PI: Christian Gehrmann, LU Co-PI: Mikael Asplund, LiU

Summary

The huge amount of cellular connected devices can be used to launch Distributed Denial of Service (DDoS) attacks which are a severe threat against telecommunication infrastructures and services. The new analytic function introduced by 3GPP in 5G, Network Data Analytics Function (NWDAF), supports anomaly detection, the first step towards DDoS blocking even if few such functions have so far been introduced. In general, relatively little research work addresses next generation cellular network, machine learning, DDoS



detection. In this PhD project we investigate different anomaly detection strategies with focus on resource allocation and mobility-oriented attacks as well as low-rate DDoS. The research is directed towards obtaining appropriate data for these attack classes and, in the next step, identification of appropriate machine learning detection principles for these classes. The research is built upon and extends a recently started research cooperation with Ericsson Research.

D8: Revisiting data associations in large-scale mapping

PI: Viktor Larsson, LU Co-PIs: Mårten Wadenbäck,LiU; Michael Felsberg, LiU

Summary

This project concerns 3D mapping methods which are used to enable re-localization and navigation in large-scale environments. In particular, we will focus on sparse reconstruction methods where the input is a set of images, which can be passively acquired from autonomous agents. In the scope of the project we will significantly improve the robustness and accuracy of the current pipelines by proposing novel methods for adaptively updating the data associations used in the estimation pipeline.

D9: Efficient Mid-range Wireless Power Transfer with Intelligent Surfaces (EMPTIS)

PI: Buon Kiong Lau, LU Co-PI:

Summary

Today, small devices can only be charged efficiently by wire connection or short-range, magnetic coupling based wireless power transfer (WPT), which is inconvenient to users. Long-range WPT has been attempted, but high efficiency will require impractically large antennas. EMPTIS, our proposed project, aims to leverage the widely-deployed large intelligent surfaces (LISs) envisioned for 6G to realize mid-range WPT with drastically improved efficiency, while ensuring safe operation for future green Internet-of-Things (IoT) devices and applications.

D10: Optimal estimation and control at scale

PI: Richard Pates, LU Co-PI: Anders Hansson, LiU



Summary

Many classical optimal methods for estimation and control have provable robustness and performance guarantees that can enhance the sustainability and resilience of engineering systems. However, their implementation typically requires all-to-all communication of sensor measurements, making them an infeasible choice for many practical applications. The aim of the project is to systematically investigate optimal estimation and control approaches through the lens of sparse linear algebra. In particular, the project aims to exploit techniques from sparse linear algebra to reduce the communication burden of classical optimal estimation and control methods. Reducing the need for communication will allow these methods to be applied in important sensor rich application areas, such as autonomous vehicles, transportation networks, and power grids. This has the potential to greatly improve energy efficiency and resilience in these applications, where suboptimal design approaches, that typically provide no formal guarantees, must currently be used for reasons of system scale.

D11: Near memory computing for data-centric architectures

PI: Joachim Rodrigues, LU Co-PI: Oscar Gustafsson, LiU

Summary

A promising technique to boost performance and energy efficiency in data-centric computing architectures is the integration of computation logic in the near proximity of on-chip memory. In this project, we propose hardware/software co-optimized near memory computing (NMC) techniques, having the advantage of being scalable for various architectures and applications (e.g., ML/AI or baseband processing). Our techniques will improve computation speed by several orders of magnitude at a negligible hardware cost, increase energy efficiency, be validated by hardware/software co-verification in a virtual platform, and will be confirmed with measurements of a RISC-V processor based silicon realization.

D12: Static Analysis of Energy Usage in Software

PI: Wojciech Mostowski, HH Co-PI: Christoph Reichenbach, LU

Summary

This project focuses on developing new methods in static analysis to achieve verifiable energy efficiency of software. Research on energy efficiency typically focuses on hardware, but a lavishly designed or buggy program can easily waste the hardware design efforts by being unaware of the energy consumption



intricacies of the execution platform. To help capture energy consumption requirements and guarantees for software, we will develop specific program annotations in design-by-contract style that take into account power consumption of the underlying program constructs, from single statement up to complete procedures. We then propose two different static analysis methods of different precision, working in separation or combination, to help in (i) verifying the annotations, and in (ii) proposing candidate annotations. When verification succeeds, power consumption annotations give quantified statements about energy efficiency. When verification fails, the failure can point to power consumption related bugs, e.g., so-called resource leaks. Combined with platform-specific power consumption models, we can then derive absolute statements about power consumption (on platform X the program uses at most Y power), or relative statements (program A is more energy efficient than program B). One of the prerequisites for such analysis is a suitable power profile of the execution platform to be developed early in the project. Our research will be supported by suitable and realistic case studies where appropriate.

ELLIIT Infrastructure Initiatives

The ELLIIT management has identified infrastructure as a critical part for further development of the research activities within ELLIIT. They have therefore investigated the needs for infrastructure support within the ELLIIT research environment. In order to get a broad view for further strategic discussions, the SG and PG invited researchers from the ELLIIT environment to suggest infrastructure support initiatives. The ELLIIT Infrastructure Initiatives are important platforms that enable experimental research as well as demonstration and real-world validation of research results. All infrastructures are open to all researchers in ELLIIT.

S1: LTH Robotics Lab Infrastructure

PI: Volker Krueger, LU Co-PI: Anders Robertsson LU

Summary

The joint vision of LU and LiU is the development of software for autonomous robotic systems (ARS) that are able to perform a predefined task through goal-directed sensing, thinking, learning and acting. This includes the ability to:

1. use a variety of sensory data such as vision, force and torque from sensors across the entire robot,

2. use machine learning and AI-based reasoning for reliable interpretation of the sensory data and autonomous decision making for



3. controlling safely, with suitable forces, its actuators.

A key focus of LU is to maintain and support the software SkiROS for enabling the ARS.

Lund University and Linköping University collaborate with the same robot platform (Heron) to allow easy replication of results for indoor environments. The robot platform Heron is based on a MIR200 mobile robot and a UR5e universal robot. In addition, Lund University has available a Boston Dynamics SPOT robot with LiDAR and arm for experimentation in outdoor environments as well.

This initiative facilitates the exchange of hardware and software knowledge and code between ELLIIT sites, also making the resources available for research to the complete ELLIIT environment.

Main achievements so far and status

* Marcus Klang was hired in Oct. 2022 at LU as a robotics software engineer.

* We had our first international hackathon at LTH in January 2023 with participants from Aalborg University in DK, from ABB and LiU. The goal was to exchange software knowledge between collaborating partners, in particular the ELLIIT partners LU and LiU. Dr. Marcus Klang was leading the hackathon. The hackathon also kicked off the concrete collaboration between the two software engineers at LU and at LiU, Marcus Klang and Ola Johansson (see Project S4).

* Considerable extensions were done to the code-base that resulted into multiple submissions to IEEE conferences.

* A funding application for a collaboration with Tetra Pak was submitted, the project will be based on the SkiROS software base.

* We had this year the first master students at LU who actively and successfully working with the SkiROS software base. This is the first example where students are able to achieve advanced project results with complex robotic hardware within the short duration of a master thesis thanks to the software SkiROS that is able to hide-away hardware complexity.

S2: LISA - Large Intelligent Surface testbed with remote Access

PI: Ove Edfors, LU Co-PIs: Fredrik Tufvesson, LU; Liang Liu, LU

Summary

LISA provides a remote-access interface to a Large Intelligent Surface (LIS) testbed at Lund University. The LIS testbed provides means to explore extreme use of the spatial dimension in wireless applications along the lines of Massive MIMO, but with a much higher antenna count and thereby a much higher spatial



resolution. The testbed operates in the sub-6 GHz frequency range and provides software-defined highperformance digital co-processing of signals to and from each antenna element, making it possible to perform measurements as well as real-time test of algorithms for, e.g., communication, over-the-air sensing, and localization. Ground-truth measurement systems are used to calibrate spatial measurements and experimental platforms are remotely controllable. Exploiting the spatial dimension can give large gains in spectral efficiency, localization precision, link reliability, etc., while substantially reducing transmitted energy. This makes LIS technology a prime candidate for future wireless systems, such as 6G and beyond.

S3: Research Platform for 6G, Sub-THz Radar, and Beyond

PI: Lars Ohlsson Fhager, LU

Co-PIs: Henrik Sjöland, LU; Daniel Sjöberg, LU; Buon Kiong Lau, LU

Summary

This platform is useful for laboratory validation of hardware research in wideband millimetre wave (mmW) and sub-THz technology. It enables probed and free-space characterisation of emerging hardware for 6G wireless, quantum computing, and sub-THz radar. The platform provides a route towards next generation efficient sub-THz hardware, providing equipment that can be used beyond the low-end mmW range. A new testbed with high-end modular equipment unlocks laboratory validation of circuit, antenna, device, and materials innovations. This platform establishes infrastructure nodes for 6G, sub-THz radar, and research beyond.

Main Achievements

We have finalized seven public procurement procedures, or similar, for the purchase of modern measurement equipment. Many of the instruments are of modular build and can thereby be further reconfigured and upgraded. To extend the scope of the research platform and to combat adverse economic developments, the project acquired additional co-funding from LTH in the fall of 2022.

Status of the Project

The research platform is primarily awaiting order delivery from main equipment suppliers, but a few instruments have already been delivered. We aim to finalize the last orders for small equipment in the coming months. The equipment of the research platform, listed below, adds to that previously available in EIT Research Lab, LU, and ECH, HH.

- EIT Research Lab, LU
 - o SQA (delivered)
 - o VNA+EXT
 - o RTO
 - o ...
- ECH, HH



S4: Joint Autonomous Systems Lab at Linköping and Lund

PI: Erik Frisk, LiU Co-PI: Björn Olofsson, LiU and LU

Summary

The overall objective of the joint lab with Lund University is the development of research platforms that features:

A. use of a variety of sensory data such as vision, force, and torque from sensors across the entire robot,

B. force-aware planning and control for safety and efficient sensing,

C. use of machine learning and AI-based reasoning for reliable interpretation of sensory data and autonomous decision making for autonomous systems.

The research platform at Linköping University mirrors a combined autonomous ground vehicle and robotarm setup already available at Lund University. In addition, sensors for perception and small-scale autonomous vehicles for collaborative scenarios are included. This initiative thus facilitates the exchange of hardware and software knowledge and code between ELLIIT sites, also making the resources available for research to the complete ELLIIT environment. The platform will be integrated with the <u>ELLIIT</u> <u>infrastructure Visionen 2.0</u>.

The current status is that a research engineer, Ola Johansson, has been recruited to the lab during 2022. The work building up the lab, including procuring and acquiring all needed equipment, is progressing well. During 2022, several orders of equipment have been made, and delivery will take place during the first half of 2023. Operation of the robot and sensing system, including synchronization with the activities in Lund, is expected during 2023.

S5: Connectivity and compute lab for edge computing - the 5G lab

PI: Maria Kihl, LU

Co-PIs: Fredrik Tufvesson, LU; William Tärneberg, LU; Haorui Peng, LU

Summary

In collaboration with Ericsson AB, this research infrastructure is a deployment with a stand-alone 5G cell including an Open5GS-based core and Ericsson Baseband 6630, operating on NR band n3. Also, there is a Kubernetes-based edge-cloud break-out with real-time support. Further, there are several industrial UEs, which can be used to connect devices to the 5G network. The tight integration of the 5G core and cloud compute resources provides a best-case performance scenario and will allow researchers to investigate cross-layer solutions that span applications, edge, core, and wireless infrastructures. The infrastructure is



in particular suitable for research on control over the cloud and Industry 4.0. With the infrastructure, timesensitive applications controlled over 5G or other edge computing systems can be deployed and validated in a real 5G network. The infrastructure lays the foundation for a competitive advantage going into 6G core and application research.

Main achievements and status

The core of the 5G-lab, the self-contained 5G base station with edge cloud, has been in operation during the whole 2022. The lab has been used for research, education, and collaboration with academia, industry and other actors. With the 5G-lab, realistic experiments can be performed for cloud-controlled mobile robots. We have developed a remote-controlled modified hoverboard connected over 5G, which has been used in several experiments. Further, the 5G-lab is part of a VR application within the call for national research infrastructures. Currently, we have two master thesis students working with the 5G-lab. One of the students is performing a master thesis in collaboration with the Swedish Sea Rescue Society (SSRS). The other student will make the hoverboard self-driving, with the intelligence in the cloud. Further, we are planning for an extension of the radio range, by placing radio units (Ericsson Dots) in the LTH Robot lab. This extension will enable experiments of cloud-controlled industrial robots.

Personnel

The following persons were involved in the project: Prof. Maria Kihl (PI), Prof. Fredrik Tufvesson (main contact with Ericsson AB), Haorui Peng (PhD student and main responsible for the base station), Oscar Sanner (student employed to develop the hoverboard solution), Ass. Prof. William Tärneberg (key researcher), Assoc. Prof. Emma. Fitzgerald (key researcher).

S6: AIOps: A scalable research platform for artificial intelligence

PI: Fredrik Heintz, LiU Co-PI: Fredrik Lindsten, LiU

Summary

Based on many years of experience working in several different AI/ML frameworks, the research group of Fredrik Heintz has developed a light-weight DevOps platform for AI and machine learning. The platform builds upon custom made tools mainly developed from open-source software. It supports containerization, detailed version control on multiple levels, and thereby reproducibility.

The platform greatly simplifies and speeds up research by allowing faster and better experimentation, especially when the methods transition from local development to execution on large-scale computing infrastructure. It works equally well for AI/ML and robotics research including highly complex full AI-robotics stacks.



For robotic research the DevOps platform includes version-controlled development environment, build environment, and run-time environment inside docker/singularity containers. The entire robot stack, as well as virtual world simulators and virtual sensors (e.g., camera, LIDAR, IMU) run inside containers that can be readily deployed on any real/virtual machine.

The platform can provide support to many groups within ELLIIT. It supports a wide range of use-cases from simpler ML applications using data sets, to interactive reinforcement learning applications, to complex robotic systems involving many different components. A research engineer is available to support researchers and provide software support, as well as accelerate and broaden the scope of machine learning by allowing large and complex experiments to run on the platform.

In 2022, Dr. Daniel de Leng was hired by LiU as a research engineer for the AIOps infrastructure initiative. In preparation for future support, the platform was deployed on an *ad-hoc* AI cluster (the Stellar environment) consisting of powerful AI workstations. This resource is actively used in the context of both student projects (including in Linköping University's AI Academy) and research activities (including by external research groups). Our experience thus far has shown that Stellar is especially useful as a complement to large clusters like Berzelius in situations where interactive sessions are difficult to get allocated, or when scheduled maintenance prevents usage close to major ML conference deadlines. Going forward, we intend to further integrate the disparate platform components and improve the ease of use by external groups.

S7: Visualization Support and Consulting - Infrastructure, Software, and Competence

PI: Ingrid Hotz, LiU Co-PI: Martin Falk, LiU

Summary

Visualization for efficient data analysis and science communication plays an increasing role in many scientific applications, including ELLIIT projects. However, effective use of visual data analysis requires access to infrastructure, overview over state-of-the-art software, hardware, and competent human support. The development and application of novel data analysis and advanced visualization methods for a large variety of applications is the focus of the scientific visualization group at the division of media and information technology at LiU in Norrköping. Since 2012, an open-source software and platform for interactive visualization, <u>Inviwo</u>, is developed, mainly driven by research needs. Inviwo is now used by researchers not just at Linköping University, but also at other universities in Europe.

The mission of this initiative is to support ELLIIT researchers with visualization competence: Visualization consultancy, access to the state-of-the-art software, hardware infrastructure available at the Visualization



Center C in Norrköping, assistance in developing applications in software packages like Inviwo. More information can be found on the dedicated website: <u>ELLIIT visualization infrastructure support</u>.

Activities in 2022:

In the past year, this project supported the ***Usable Digital Twins in Healthcare*** project headed by Gunnar Cedersund. This involved two projects, namely biomechanics simulation combined with marker-based tracking for character animation and the visualization of liver steatosis dynamics (fatty liver dynamics) based on lifestyle changes. The involvement resulted in co-supervision of two Master theses together with Gunnar Cedersund. We furthermore established a contact between *Usable digital twins in healthcare* and the InfraVis initiative of the Swedish Science Council (VR). The aim was to extend the idea of biomechanically animated characters toward interactive displays for public dissemination.

ISY projection system update

This project also provided consulting with respect to the projection system update at ISY at LiU in the planning phase.

Interstellar Jets

The visualization support also facilitated a project concerned with interstellar jets, that is mass ejection from black holes. Our contribution was to visualize the different fields of a plasma physics simulation by Mark E. Dieckmann in our visualization software package Inviwo. The visualizations enabled the discovery of new insights and findings within the data. The resulting figures and animations were included as part of the publication (under submission).

Public outreach

We reached out to the ELLIIT community during the yearly ELLIIT meetup in Linköping by advertising the Visualization Infrastructure Support project, its aims, and who can benefit. The associated poster raised some interest and sparked a number of discussions.

During the WASP Community Building Summer School 2022, we offered an afternoon session on "Data Visualization – an introduction —" to educate young researchers regarding the basic principles of visualization. More recently, we introduced and showcased Inviwo within the VR InfraVis initiative in order to promote Inviwo and identify potential contact points.

Software development

Regarding sustainable software development, considerable time was spent in improving and maintaining Inviwo (<u>inviwo.org</u>), in particular a more seamless Python integration and plotting capabilities. Since Inviwo is mostly written in C++, a Python integration allows for prototyping utilizing already existing Python



modules and attracting a wider audience. Inviwo's plotting was extended to be able to make more compelling plots including annotations.

S8: Visionen 2.0

PI: Daniel Axehill, LiU Co-PI: Michael Felsberg, LiU

Summary

The Visionen arena at LiU is a large modern research arena with an indoor positioning system and projectors directed towards the floor and (currently) one wall. The facility is by its combination of size and technical capabilities in terms of combined positioning and projection, a nation-unique demonstrator arena for drones as well as ground robots. Furthermore, it invites for advanced motion capture and interaction with AI systems through, e.g., body gestures.

As a result of the support from ELLIIT, the positioning system has been upgraded to increase the performance and the projection system will be upgraded to cover two additional walls. Furthermore, a research engineer is available to maintain the arena and support researchers working in the arena.

Input from ELLIIT recruited faculty

Jörn Janneck, Associate Professor in Embedded System Design (LU) (On sick leave)

Bo Bernhardsson, Professor in Automatic Control (LU)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

My main research focus during 2022 has been on statistical learning in combination with control. The main application area is on efficient training of EEG-based brain computer interfaces, where three PhD students are working: Frida Heskebeck (WASP), Martin Gemborn Nilsson (ELLIIT) and Pex Tufvesson (industrial PhD, financed by Ericsson). I have also started to work more in the field of data driven life science. During the year a new project was started in pharmacometric modeling where a postdoc Jesper Sundell was recruited working in cooperation with Mats Karlsson's group in Uppsala, this is financed as a WASP-DDLS synergy project with financial support from the KAW foundation. The result of this project is collected <u>here</u>, and a



short presentation is available here <u>here</u>. During 2022 my PhD student Christian Rosdahl presented his licentiate thesis "Learning-Based Controller Design with Application to a Chiller Process". In the licentiate thesis Rosdahl studied dual control and an application in control of Chiller systems, the latter in cooperation with Carrier AB. Rosdahl after this left academia and now works at Axis Communications AB. Another PhD student, for which I have been cosupervisor, finished during 2022: Martin Morin. He now works at Iternio Planning AB. I also continued to co-supervise two of Fredrik Tufvesson's PhD students: Dino Pjanic and Guoda Tian at the EIT department. The work here concerns machine learning in massive MIMO systems.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A.

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
Efficient Learning of Dynamical Systems	WASP	1MSEK	2018-2022
Optimizing the Next Generation Brain Computer Interfaces using Cloud Computing	WASP	0.7MSEK	2019-2024
Learning pharmacometric model structures from data	WASP-DDLS	1MSEK	2022-2024
Visual Feature Based Data Reduction B12	ELLIIT	1MSEK	2021-2026
Real-time Brain-Computer Interface (industrial PhD)	Ericsson AB	(Pex Tufvesson's salary)	2021-2025

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name		Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Martin Gemborn Nilsson	0000-0002-5758-7362	from 2021

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Arranged and gave a course in Autonomous Systems for 40 PhD students in the WASP program. This was done in cooperation with Patric Jensfelt KTH and Gustaf Hendeby LiU.



6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

Member of the WASP-DDLS (data-driven life science) collaboration management group, main activities during 2022 concerned preparing a 2nd joint call for synergy project to be announced in 2023.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

I continued co-supervising two of Fredrik Tufvesson's PhD students: Dino Pjanic and Guoda Tian at the EIT department. These students are financed by Ericsson in an industrial cooperation project and work on machine learning methods for efficient massive MIMO communication and positioning. I am also supervising Pex Tufvesson, an industrial PhD student financed by Ericsson.

8. International collaboration

During 2022 the most intense collaborations have been with Gerard Besson, France (Dimension reduction) and Bryan Eisenhower, USA (Chiller control).

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

Supervised 5 master students in projects in collaboration with Eriksholm's research center, part of Oticon AB: Julia Adlercreutz, Viktor Andersson, Nelly Ostreus, Sara Enander and Louise Karsten. Their projects all concerned the use of EEG-signals for improvements on hearing aids. Another master thesis project was supervised in collaboration with Ericsson AB and Fredrik Tufvesson: Andre Rath's thesis had the title "Beamformed Channel Matrix Positioning Using 5G Testbench CSI data with a Deep-Learning Pipeline".

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

Patent title	Application Number
Sistema, método para calibrar a saída acústica de campo distante de	BR112016015181B1
um vibrador marinho e vibrador marinho	

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
-------------	---------------------------------



Course in Statistical Learning and Visualisation – ELLIIT focus period Lund	PhD course
Vice Program Director for the international master program <i>Machine Learning, Systems, and Control</i> at LU.	International master's program

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

In an epidemiological modeling workshop "Pandemimodeller för framtiden", collecting many persons involved in the national handling of the pandemic including Anders Tegnell, Tom Britton, and others, I gave a seminar entitled "Hur skattar man effekten av lockdown och andra NPI :er?".

A video has been produced presenting the research in medical applications and EEG-based brain computer interfaces at the department. It is available <u>here</u>. The video is aimed for the general public.

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

I helped organize the ELLIIT focus period "Data-driven modelling and learning for cancer immunotherapy" held in Lund 2022. During the focus period I arranged, together with Magnus Fontes and Gerard Besson, a course entitled "Statistical Learning and Visualisation – A data driven tour through the cancer immunity state space".

I was a member of the examination committee for Johan Jönsson's dissertation at the Linneaus University.

14. Open source software contributions N/A

Tom Ziemke, Professor in Cognitive Systems (LiU)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

My main research focus is on the cognitive and social mechanisms involved in people's interaction with autonomous technologies, ranging from social robots to (partially) automated vehicles. Main achievements in 2022 include the following:

• Our research on the cognitive mechanisms underlying human interpretation of robot behavior resulted in two journal publications (ACM Transactions on Human-Robot Interaction, Artificial Life).



This work has also resulted in a new Swedish Research Council (VR-NT) grant on *"Social Cognition in Human-Robot Interaction"* (see details below).

- Our research on social robots in eldercare, carried out in collaboration with care homes in several municipalities in Östergötland, has been continued through empirical studies and resulted in both conference and journal papers.
- Our collaboration with researchers in design and education has resulted in two new externally funded projects on in two new project son using social robots to stimulate school kids to read: one from the Swedish Research Council (VR, HS) and one from Norrköpingsfonden (see details below).
- Research on human interaction with automated vehicles in was continued in ELLIIT project A22 (*Human Interaction with Autonomous Minibuses*) as well as VTI PhD project on remote operation of partially automated vehicles and a RISE PhD project on human interaction with systems-of-systems (in particular drone swarms).
 - 2. Awards and recognitions

I received a 2,8 million SEK project grant from the Swedish Research Council (VR, NT) for a three-year project on *"Social Cognition in Human-Robot Interaction"*. This builds on work in ELLIIT project A22, *Human Interaction with Autonomous Minibuses*, among other projects.

I am a participating researcher in two new project grants starting in 2023, on using social robots to stimulate school kids to read: one from the Swedish Research Council (HS), coordinated by Mattias Arvola (IDA, LiU), and one from Norrköpingsfonden, coordinated by Susanne Severinsson (IBL, LiU).

The European project "SmartWork – Smart age-friendly living and working environment" ended during spring 2022 and received a very positive final review.

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
SmartWork – Smart age-friendly living and working environment	European Commission, Horizon 2020	apx. 1 million SEK/year	January 2019 – March 2022
Human Interaction with Systems-of-Systems	SSF / RISE	Funding for RISE PhD student Oscar Bjurling	2019-2024
Remote operation of partially autonomous vehicles	Vinnova / VTI	Funding for VTI PhD student Christian Jernberg	2020-2025



4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Sam Thellman (postdoc)	0000-0003-0098-5391	from January 2022
Franziska Babel (research engineer/ postdoc)	0000-0001-8249-7708	from April 2023
Philipp Hock (postdoc)	0000-0002-9831-9241	from April 2023

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

See international collaboration below.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

I actively collaborate with researchers in computer science, cognitive science, design, human factors, traffic psychology, education, and gender studies, among others.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

I collaborate with both VTI and RISE. This includes the supervision of PhD students Christian Jernberg (VTI) and Oscar Bjurling (RISE). The latter also involves collaboration with SAAB Aeronautics (co-supervisor Jens Alfredsson). I also collaborate with VTI (co-PIs Jan Andersson and Anna Anund) in ELLIIT project A22 (*Human interaction with autonomous minbuses*).

Within the European project SmartWork, we collaborated with several European companies (Roessingh, Byte, SparkWorks).

8. International collaboration

Collaboration with a number of European consortium partners in the European project SmartWork (cf. above and <u>https://www.smartworkproject.eu/</u>). Collaboration with Maartje de Graaf at the University of Utrecht, Netherlands.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry $\ensuremath{\mathsf{N/A}}$

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A



11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Ethics of AI and interactive autonomous systems	graduate/PhD
Critical perspectives on AI	graduate/PhD

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Tom Ziemke gave popular-scientific lectures on the public perception of AI and its limitations as part LiU's popular-science week in October 2022 (https://liu.se/artikel/popularvetenskapliga-veckan) as well as the Swedish Air Force Museum's theme day on "Tomorrow's Technology" in January 2023.

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Tom Ziemke served as program co-chair for the conference CogSIMA 2022, the *IEEE Conference on Cognitive and Computational Aspects of Situation Management*, held in Sorrento, Italy, in June 2022 (https://edas.info/web/cogsima2022/committees.html).

14. Open source software contributions N/A

Ingrid Hotz, Professor in Visualization (LiU)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

Topological data analysis for comparison of ensemble data and time series

Exploring Cycone Evolution with Hierarchical Features: A framework for tracking and visualizing the evolution of cyclones which we organize in hierarchical groups has been developed. Our approach is based on the general concept of critical point tracking and supports the exploration of resulting tracks in a level of detail approach. The problem of tracking and visualizing cyclones is still an active area of climate research, since the nature of cyclones varies depending on geospatial location and temporal



season, resulting in no clear mathematical definition. Consequently, many methods contain multiple parameters used to distinguish cyclones of interest but do not work for general cyclone extraction across the globe. Our pipeline consists of four modular building blocks: (1) a novel critical point tracking method, used in a time-varying scalar field, (2) defining cyclonic features as groups of critical points based on merge-tree crown components, (3) tracking features and creating the hierarchy between them and (4) a hierarchical visualization of features containing a global abstract representation linked to a spatial embedding, allowing exploration on a global and local scale. The modularity of the pipeline allows each independent block to be exchanged with another method conforming to expected input and output. We demonstrate that our method is not limited to the specifics of cyclone tracking and can be used in other application areas.

- Towards Benchmark Data Generation for Feature Tracking in Scalar Fields: More and more topologybased tracking methods are presented in the visualization community, but the validation and evaluation of the tracking results are currently limited to qualitative visual approaches. To overcome this challenge a benchmark data generator for tracking methods for two- and three-dimensional timedependent scalar fields has been developed. It is built on a pipeline for creating different ground truth features that support evaluating tracking methods based on quantitative measures. In short, our approach randomly simulates a temporal point cloud with birth, death, split, merge, and continuation events, where the points are then used to derive a scalar field whose topological features correspond to the points. These scalar fields can then be used as the input for different tracking methods, where the computed tracks can be compared against the ground truth feature evolution. This approach makes it also possible to directly compare the results of different tracking methods, independent of the initial feature characterization.
- Subject-Specific Brain Activity Analysis in fMRI Data Using Merge Trees: A method for detecting patterns in time-varying functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) data based on topological analysis has been developed. The oxygenated blood flow measured by fMRI is widely used as an indicator of brain activity. The signal is, however, prone to noise from various sources. Random brain activity, physiological noise, and noise from the scanner can reach a strength comparable to the signal itself. Thus, extracting the underlying signal is a challenging process typically approached by applying statistical methods. The goal of this work is to investigate the possibilities of recovering information from the signal using topological feature vectors directly based on the raw signal without medical domain priors. We utilize merge trees to define a robust feature vector capturing key features within a time step of fMRI data. We demonstrate how such a concise feature vector representation can be utilized for exploring the temporal development of brain activations, connectivity between these activations, and their relation to cognitive tasks.

Data summarization and abstraction segmentations for visualization applications

Level of detail exploration of transition diagram ensembles. We present a pipeline for the interactive visual analysis and exploration of molecular electronic transition ensembles. Each ensemble member



is specified by a molecular configuration, the charge transfer between two molecular states, and a set of physical properties. The pipeline is targeted towards theoretical chemists, supporting them in comparing and characterizing electronic transitions by combining automatic and interactive visual analysis. A quantitative feature vector characterizing the electron charge transfer serves as the basis for hierarchical clustering as well as for the visual representations. The interface for the visual exploration consists of four components. A dendrogram provides an overview of the ensemble. It is augmented with a level of detail glyph for each cluster. A scatterplot using dimensionality reduction provides a second visualization, highlighting ensemble outliers. Parallel coordinates show the correlation with physical parameters. A spatial representation of selected ensemble members supports an in-depth inspection of transitions in a form that is familiar to chemists. All views are linked and can be used to filter and select ensemble members. The usefulness of the pipeline is shown in three different case studies.

Designing Feature Vector Representations: A case study from Chemistry. In a case study, different feature descriptors for the analysis of chemical multivariate ensemble data are investigated. The data of each ensemble member consists of three parts: the design parameters for each ensemble member, field data resulting from the numerical simulations, and physical properties of the molecules. Since feature-based methods have the potential to reduce data complexity and facilitate comparison and clustering, the focus is on such methods. Among the many options to design the feature vector representation, a few representations were selected and analyzed. Similarities and differences are explored through characteristics derived from the representations: the distribution of pairwise distances, the clustering tendency, and the rank-order of the pairwise distances. The results of our investigations partially confirmed expected behavior, but also provided some surprising observations that can be used for the future development of feature representations in the chemical domain.

The Scientific visualization group: Currently it consists of 5 PhD students, 2 research engineers and two biträdande lektorer. Besides the ELLIIT funding, the majority of the group is funded by the Swedish e-Science research center (SeRC), WASP and VR. While the SeRC research is targeted towards the development of visualization techniques motivated by specific applications, the ELLIIT funding is used to advance the underlying theoretical framework.

- 2. Awards and recognitions
- Dr Ram Kumar IISc Distinguished Visiting Chair Professor position at the Indian Institute of Science (two month stay)
- Best paper/honourable mention awards
 - Local bilinear computation of Jacobi sets, second best paper, Journal 'The Visual Computer'.
 - Reduced Connectivity for Local Bilinear Jacobi Sets, second best paper, IEEE Vis collocated Workshop TopoInVis.



 Subject-Specific Brain Activity Analysis in fMRI Data Using Merge Trees, Second best paper, *IEEE* Vis collocated Workshop TopoInVis.

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount	Duration of
		per year [kSEK]	project
Visual Data Analytics in e-Science	Swedish e-Science	3500	2018-2022
Applications	research center (SeRC)		
Topological descriptors for tracking,	VR grant 2019-05487	850	2020-2023
comparison and visual exploration of			
complex scientific data			
Robust topological methods for analysis of	VR grant 2018-07085	300	2020-2022
dynamic large-scale data for modern			
material design			
A topology-based approach to patterns in	WASP, academic PhD	1 PhD	2021-2024
dynamic network data for decision support			
ELLIIT Visualization Infrastructure Support	ELLIIT	Research	2022-2027
		engineer	
ELLIIT project, Visual Feature Based Data	ELLIT	PhD	2021-
Reduction			

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Danhua Lei. Ph.D. for ELLIIT project, Visual Feature Based Data Reduction		From oct 2021
Martin Falk		Part of ELLIIT since 2022

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

- Within ELLIIT there has been a cooperation with Michael Doggett and Bo Bernhardsson from Lund University in relation to the ELLIIT project sparse representations for brain imaging data.
- Within the Swedish E-Science Center SeRC there are collaborations with different groups at LiU, KTH and SU.



- 6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022
- Visualization in nature is an interdisciplinary subject and thus most of our projects are either directly interdisciplinary or at least motivated by needs from other disciplines. SeRC is one of our major funding sources and it is funding interdisciplinary cooperation by bringing together IT research and scientists from application areas. Under this umbrella we have interdisciplinary cooperation with the center for medical image science and visualization (CMIV) at LiU, the physics department LiU, the fluid mechanics group at KTH and the climate research at SU.
 - 7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors
 - No active industry cooperation during 2022
 - 8. International collaboration

-The most important international collaborations are: Research collaborations with the University of Utah (USA): Two weeks invited Research visit during January 2019. Research collaboration with Vijay Natarajan, professor at the Indian Institute of Science IISc, Bangalore (IN) in the topic of topology-based climate visualization (Joint proposal for VR indo-Swedish network - funded). Research collaboration with Markus Stommel, professor in technical engineering, Technical University Dortmund, Germany. Research collaboration with University of Vienna, Austria in Bio-medical Visualization.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

- Master Thesis at CloudBackend: SQL Interpreter for a Decentralized Edge dbPaaS.

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Regularly offered courses in scientific visualization in Media and Information Technology program	undergraduate
course visualization for physicists (IFM, LiU)	undergraduate
Mathematical foundations for visualization (new course)	graduate



12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

– Invited talk at the digitalization day at the institute for material sciences, Leibniz-Institut für Polymerforschung Dresden

- Ingrid Hotz participated in the ELLIIT tech talks theme 6, "Big data and network science".

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

- Scientific Advisory Board of the Dioscuri Centre in Topological Data Analysis, Poland, supported by the MaxPlanck Society
- Chair of the international workshop series for 'Topological Methods in Visualization (TopoinVis) since 2015.
- Associated editor for Journals: Computer Graphics Forum, Computer & Graphics
- Eurograpics executive committee
- Steering committee VCBM
- Coordinator of the SeRC Visualization Community, since August 2015.
- Best paper award committee IIIE Vis
- Reviewing activities for multiple international Journals and conferences.
- ICP for multiple international conferences.
- Area Curator VCGT
- Vis Young Researcher Award selection committee
- Scientific Visualization and Data Analytics Showcase (SciViz) jury.
- Organisation Committee BMI@liu day
- SeRC Management group
- SeRC community leader Visualization
- Several PhD and Habilitation commitees
- 14. Open source software contributions

Open-source software for visual analysis is as the years before still plays an important role in the group. Currently developed softwares are: Inviwo – An open-source Visualization System with Usage Abstraction Levels, <u>https://inviwo.org</u> a software framework for rapid prototyping visualizations. It builds the basis for the development of novel visualization research and teaching in an increasing number of research groups in the world, with a growing number of application areas. Over the last year we have been especially focusing on the integration of the open-source software TTK in inviwo. The results have been



presented during diverse tutorials at major visualization conferences. And the Software VIA-MD for the analysis of molecular dynamics simulation data: The software VIA-MD, developed in our group, targets the visualization of dynamic molecular data. The SW put specific emphasis on the reliable, interactive, summary aggregations that are visualized based on the multiple linked view paradigm supporting an interactive exploration. The SW includes newly developed techniques for spatial and temporal aggregation of properties e.g., used to analyze the water structure around the cellulose bundle., and intelligent selection methods that support to follow features and properties of interest over time. The software is extensively in the group of Theory and Modelling of the Laboratory of Organic Electronics (LOE, LIU). It is used as a routine tool to analyze their MD trajectories for everyday data analysis.

Jürgen Börstler, Professor in Software Engineering (BTH)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

During this period, I have done research on software quality, theories of technology acceptance, and methodological aspects of secondary studies. The research on software quality was mainly carried out in the context of projects A8 and B7; details can be found in the corresponding sections on projects A8 and B7. Besides the collaboration within projects A8 and B7, I also lead an interview study with an international group of researchers on software developers' perceptions of code quality. The results of this study show that developers' perceptions of software quality are not aligned with common quality standards.

Regarding technology acceptance, we have investigated theories of acceptance behavior and their suitability for investigating behavioral aspects of software engineering. We are particularly interested in the reasons for the adoption or rejection of software development practices which would be highly relevant for the research and practice on software process improvement. Traditionally, software process improvement is approached from a rational perspective. However, it has been observed that sufficient evidence for the efficacy of an improvement does not "naturally" lead to its adoption. In an interdisciplinary study with a local colleague with a background in psychology and economics, we identified 30 potentially relevant models and theories. Several of them have been used in researching acceptance behavior in contexts related to software development, but few have been validated in such contexts. They use constructs that capture aspects of (automatic) system 1 and (rational) system 2 oriented processes. However, their operationalizations focus on system 2 oriented processes indicating a rational view of behavior, thus overlooking important psychological processes underpinning behavior. We believe that software engineering research should use established acceptance behavior models and theories more extensively to better understand and predict practice adoption in the industry.



In a follow-up study, we are currently investigating which of those theories have been used in past research and how these theories have been operationalized in software engineering. Initial results show that the theories are used quite liberally which makes it difficult to generalize their results and to compare results between studies.

Regarding methodological aspects of secondary studies, we looked into the threat of double-counting in tertiary studies. Overlooking this issue might lead to biased results. We analyzed 47 tertiary studies in software engineering and found that double-counting might bias the results of 19 of those studies (40%). Our analysis shows that double-counting is an overlooked issue in tertiary studies in software engineering and that existing design and evaluation guidelines do not address it sufficiently. We propose recommendations that may help to identify and mitigate the issue.

One of my Ph.D. students graduated 2022 with a thesis on regression testing practice. Currently, I am cosupervising 3 Ph.D. students who are partially financed by ELLIIT. Of those three, one is co-supervised with colleagues from LU.

Furthermore, I'm a member of ELLIIT's program board, representing BTH.

2. Awards and recognitions N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

N/A

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Ebo Kwabena Bennin (postdoc)	0000-0001-9140-9271	2019-2020
Nasir Mehmood Minhas (student)	0000-0001-8177-4355	2018-2022
Mohsin Irshad (student)		2018-2021

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Within ELLIIT, I work closely together with the Software Engineering group in Lund (SERG), see projects A8 and B7. In these collaborations, we are also co-supervising Ph.D. students.

In 2022, we organized a full-day ELLIIT mini-workshop on software engineering topics at BTH with 19 researchers and Ph.D. students from LU and BTH.



Furthermore, I am working on a study on developers' perceptions of code quality with colleagues from Germany (University of Applied Sciences & Arts Hannover), the Netherlands (Utrecht University and Windesheim University of Applied Sciences), and the USA (St John's University and Virginia Tech).

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

Within BTH, we collaborated with colleagues from industrial economics on research behavioral software engineering.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

Within most projects, we are collaborating with Ericsson and Axis, see projects A8 and B7 for more information.

8. International collaboration See item 5. above.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

As the course responsible for BTH's common thesis course for all "civilingenjör" programs at BTH, I have been involved in creating some parts of the framework for such collaborations (processes and templates).

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
TE2502 Examensarbete för civilingenjörer (Degree Project in Master of Science in Engineering): Course responsible, coordinator, teacher	Graduate
PA1461 Ingenjörsarbete inom ICT – Introduktion (Introduction to Engineering Practice in ICT): Teacher	Undergraduate
Guest lecturer in several courses on research methods	Undergraduate, graduate, postgraduate



12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Jürgen Börstler participated in the ELLIIT tech talks theme 10, "Next-generation software technology".

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Since April 2019, I have been appointed as the chairman of BTH's recruiting committee. Furthermore, I'm deputy head of department at the department of software engineering at BTH. I was a member of the program committee for ICSE-JSEET 2022, the Joint Track on Software Engineering Education and Training of the 44th International Conference on Software Engineering, and the EASE2022 industry experience track (Evaluation and Assessment in Software Engineering).

14. Open source software contributions N/A

Björn Landfeldt, Professor in Communication networks (LU)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

We have for some time worked on derivations of analytical models for estimation of information freshness from a source to a sink using the Age of Information (AoI) metric. Much of the work in this field (including our own previous work) has so far focused on deriving closed form expressions for different kinds of queuing models under the assumption of varying distributions. During 2022 we took this a step further and completed a study of a much more complex system scenario where IoT systems, instead of using direct paths can use multihop communication to forward the data streams from source to sink. We made two separate contributions in the form of 1) closed form analytical expressions for the outage probability in such systems and 2) a numerical study where the results allow designers to make estimations of the outage probability when dimensioning and designing such complex IoT systems.

We have carried out a large collection of datasets on the Telenor production mobile network. The datasets include traffic volumes and patterns in the entire Stockholm region as well as a rural region in Northern Sweden. The datasets are currently being analysed and serve as input to an effort to develop traffic generation tools which will be made publicly available and published. Even though this work is not yet completed as the effort is significant and takes time, it is important to note that such data is all but non-existent in the community and the contributions will be very large once published.



2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
A5GARD	EU/CELTIC NEXT	1727 kEuro	2020-2023

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
One PhD student was hired in 2022, still waiting for visa processing.		2023-2027

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Ongoing collaboration with Dr. Nikolas papas at LiU in AoI modeling.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

Finished building a research testbed together with the AR/VR lab at LTH, the cancer research center at LU and the high-performance computing center LUNARC. We are now testing cloudification of medical VR applications in the testbed.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

We finished building a testbed for residential medical care application and are currently rolling out test services in apartments in Northern Sweden. The collaborating partners are Region Västerbotten, Sensative AB and 6 local municipalities.

We have also started a course collaboration with ICANN, the Internet foundation and Netnode and give a workshop in an existing LTH course on the architecture and performance of the global DNS system and distributed root-servers.



8. International collaboration

We have started a new collaboration with a group at Charles Sturt University in Australia on modeling of migration of computational tasks between mobile edge computing platforms.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

One masters student was supervised together with researchers at Ericsson Research.

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
I am vice chair of LG GU, the executive committee for education at LTH. In this capacity, I am jointly responsible for all education programs at LTH, setting rules and protocols for all teaching activities and deciding on all course offerings, new programs allocation of funds to departments etc.	All levels
Coordinator/teacher ETSF10 Internet protocols	undergraduate
Coordinator/teacher ETSF45 Data communication	undergraduate
Coordinator/teacher EITN95 Simulation	graduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

I was acting as program member of ACM MSWIM, one of the highly regarded conferences on modelling of wireless networks.

I was also an examiner of two Ph D. theses in 2022.



I was acting as the external expert for the Malmö University application to start education in Master of Engineering (civilingenjör) programs.

14. Open source software contributions N/A

Cristian Sminchisescu, Professor in Computer Vision (LU)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

My main scientific activities during 2022 focused on efficient physics-based modeling for of articulated structures like humans. Together with collaborators at LU and Google, we have developed several methods for highly accurate 3d physical simulation. Most existing methods are non-differentiable, and therefore slow and inaccurate. We developed differentiable dynamics methods that can handle complex articulated human structures in the presence of contact with the environment and show how these methods provide superior results both in terms of pure simulation and as regularizers as part of a visual 3d human pose and shape reconstruction process.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
3D Scene Perception, Embeddings and Neural Rendering	WASP NEST	5.000.000	2022-26

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

N/A

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Aachen University (Dr. H Petzka) Max Planck Institute (Prof. G Pons Moll) ETH Zurich (Profs. S. Tang and O. Hillliges)



ANU (Prof. Richard Hartley)

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

Google (physics-based simulation of articulated human bodies)

8. International collaboration

N/A

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

N/A

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

Patent title	Application Number
Systems and Methods for Refined Object Estimation from Image Data	17200643

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)	
Machine Learning	Undergraduate	

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Area Chair for ICLR 2022.

14. Open source software contributions

PHORHU (Photorealistic Human Reconstruction) https://phorhum.github.io/



Michael Lentmaier, Associate Professor in Communication (LU)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

Our research focuses on modern coding theory, graph-based iterative algorithms and the impact of spatial coupling on their performance. Applications include reliable communication, localization, security and group testing.

During the year 2022 we continued our research on spatially coupled iterative receivers. PhD student Muhammad Umar Farooq defended his PhD in November 2022 and is now working at Ericsson Research in Lund. His final contribution was a threshold analysis and optimization of check-irregular GLDPC codes with convolutional code constraints. This novel class of codes on graphs can be seen as a generalization of both turbo codes and LDPC codes. The construction allows for a trade-off between larger variable node degrees and stronger component codes in the code optimization procedure. I presented these results as keynote speaker at a Globecom 2022 workshop.

With the PhD student Mgeni Makambi Mashauri we continued our study of joint iterative detection and decoding of spatially coupled codes for ISI channels. As a new direction, we started to analyze Faster-than-Nyquist (FTN) signaling, with the aim to show that the gap to capacity can be reduced by spatial coupling. This will lead to new design criteria in combination with higher-order modulation. We also made some progress in designing efficient group-testing schemes based on sparse-graph codes. We were able to develop a new scheme for quantitative group-testing based on LDPC code graphs, which outperforms the corresponding GLDPC codes schemes existing in the literature (accepted for ISIT 2023). The fundamental goal is to identify defective items in a large population, where sparse graphs can reduce the number of required tests drastically if the fraction of defective items is small.

With a third PhD student, Neharika Valecha, in collaboration with Fredrik Tufvesson, we continued our work on highly accurate positioning based on mmWave massive MIMO systems, funded within the H2020 training network MINTS. During 2022 we processed the data earlier obtained during a research visit at IMDEA in Spain. The final goal is to develop a novel algorithm for angular-based indoor positioning using received signal strength (RSS) measurements in combination with codebook-based analog beamforming on the Tx and Rx side. With the help of multipath components, a single Rx with known position is sufficient to locate the Tx, without requiring any delay estimation or phase information. During Fall 2022, Neharika had a three-month research visit at KU Leuven.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{N/A}}$



4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Neharika Valecha, PhD student		from 2020
Mgeni Makambi Mashauri, PhD student		from 2019
Muhammad Umar Farooq, PhD student		2017 - 2022
Wei Zhou, PostDoc		2017 - 2019
Saeedeh Moloudi, PhD student		2013 - 2018

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Mgeni Makambi Mashauri and Muhammad Umar Farooq were co-supervised by Alexandre Graell i Amat from Chalmers University.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

N/A

8. International collaboration

I have a long history of collaboration on several facets of codes on graphs and spatial coupling with Prof. Daniel J. Costello, Jr. at University of Notre Dame, IN, USA, where I worked as a post-doctoral researcher in 2003/2004. Furthermore, I have active international collaborations with New Mexico State University, USA, Xidian University, China, Technical University Of Kaiserslautern, Germany, Technical University of Munich (TUM), Germany, the German Aerospace Center (DLR), and Duke University.

- 9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry
- Degree project, "Importance Sampling in Wireless Communication Systems with Ultra-Low Error Rates" by Bharat Maheshwari and Yewen Zhou, collaboration with Dzevdan Kapetanovic (Huawei Lund Research Center)
- I am also acting as degree project examiner at our department, with several degree projects per year in industry



10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name			Level (undergraduate/ graduate)				
Program Communio				Program	in	Wireless	undergraduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

- Chair of the IEEE VT/COM/IT Chapter Sweden since October 2021. Board member since Spring 2014. Interface to information theory society since Spring 2017.
- TPC member: IEEE Inf. Theory Symposium (ISIT 2022), IEEE Inf. Theory Workshop (ITW 2022) IEEE Globecom Workshop on Channel Coding (Globecom 2022)
- Ph.D. thesis evaluator: Yihuan Liao, University of New South Wales, Australia, August 2022
- Reviewer for several journal and conference submissions.
- 14. Open source software contributions N/A

Jonas Unger, Professor in Computer Graphics (LiU)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

The efforts within ELLIIT during 2022 have been focused in three different research areas. The first area is the development of sparse models and compressed sensing methods for imaging and computer



graphics applications, the second area is medical image analysis, and the third area is novel formulations of deep neural networks as systems of ordinary differential equations.

Our efforts in sparse modelling and efficient sampling for imaging have been directed towards computer graphics applications and simulation in digital product design. The team consists of Dr. Ehsan Miandji (post-doctoral researcher), and three PhD students Wen Cao, and Behnaz Kavoosighafi funded through the EU ITN-project PRIME, and Tanaboon Tongbuasirilai. A fundamental component in computer graphics and visualization is accurate measurement and modelling of light scattering at surfaces, where different materials, e.g., wood, metals, plastics, etc., scatter light differently. Based on our previous sparse models, we have developed novel measurement techniques based on compressed sensing for fast and accurate acquisition of scattering properties at a single point on a surface, described by the so-called bi-directional distribution function (BRDF), and how the scattering properties vary over the extent of the physical material sample, spatially varying BRDF (SVBRDF). This type of digital twins of physical material samples are key building blocks in photo-realistic image synthesis, and product visualization, and for simulation in digital design. Another key result is the formulation of a novel single sensor compressive multi-spectral light field camera. The proposed camera model is based on a main lens and a coded mask located in the optical path between the main lens and the sensor. The main contribution is a novel reconstruction algorithm that recovers the spatial, angular, and spectral image data and forms a 4D viewdependent light field image using only a single "ordinary" image sensor. Light fields are typically captured using an array of cameras (complex system) or a micro-lens arrays placed in front of a single sensor (sacrificing spatial resolution). Dr. Tanaboon Tongbuasirilai defended his PhD in February 2023.

In collaboration with the Center for Medical Imaging and Visualization (CMIV), we have carried out a series of projects in the area of digital pathology. The team consists if Dr. Gabriel Eilertsen and Dr. Karin Stacke (graduated as PhD in December 2022). In this project, we have investigated and developed formulations of deep neural networks for classification of healthy and cancer tissue from digital pathology samples. Within the research, we have focused on issues related to limited data availability, the shortage of labeled data, and the domain shift between different scanners. Key results from 2022 include new methods for how unsupervised learning can be applied in the context of digital pathology.

In the direction of deep learning, we have developed Standalone Neural ODE (sNODE), a continuousdepth neural ODE model capable of describing a full deep neural network. This project is a collaboration with associate professor George Baravdish with a joint PhD student Rym Jaroudi. The project has developed a novel nonlinear conjugate gradient (NCG) descent optimization scheme for training, where the Sobolev gradient can be incorporated to improve smoothness of model weights. We have also developed a formulation of the neural sensitivity problem and show how it is used in the NCG training. The sensitivity analysis provides a reliable measure of uncertainty propagation throughout a network and can be used to study model robustness and to generate adversarial attacks and to improve explainability. Dr. Rym Jaroudi defended her PhD in March 2023.



2. Awards and recognitions

Our efforts in developing methods and algorithms for generation of synthetic data for machine learning and data centric AI was selected for the Royal Swedish Academy of Engineering Sciences IVA-100 list, 2022.

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
Industrial PhD student in medical image analysis together with ContextVision (PI)	WASP	PhD salary and supervision	4 yrs
Post-doc project sparse modelling	KAW / ELLIIT	1 MSek	2 yrs
Post-doc project compressed sensing	KAW / ELLIIT	1 MSek	2 yrs
Wallenberg launchpad (WALP)	WASP	3 MSek	1.5 yrs
Sparseland imaging (PhD project)	WASP	1 MSek	4 yrs
Predictive rendering (2 x PhD project)	EU-ITN	1. 6 MSek	4 yrs
AI in air traffic control	LFV	1 Msek	4 yrs
Neural ODEs	ELLIIT	500 KSek	2 yrs
Synthetic data and data centric AI	WASP/ELLIIT/TFF	2 MSek	5 yrs
AI4C	Vinnova	1 MSek	3 yrs
WASP NEST	WASP	20 Msek	5 yrs

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Dr. Ehsan Miandji		From 2022

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Through ELLIIT and other research programmes, we collaborate with researchers from several universities. Some of the most relevant collaborations include Prof. Amy Loutfi Örebro University, Dr. Johanna



Björklund Umeå University, Prof. Bo Bernhardsson at Lund University, Prof. Rafal Mantiuk Cambridge University, and Dr. Michael Dogget at Lund University.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

Many of our projects are interdisciplinary. One example is our participation in the project B12: Visual Feature Based Data Reduction, led by Prof. Ingrid Hotz and Prof. Bo Bernhardsson, in which we are developing Brain-Computer interfaces (BCIs). Another example is our collaboration with Prof. Michael Felsberg (computer vision), Associate Professor Fredrik Lindsten (statistics and machine learning), and Prof. Amy Loutfi (robotics and human-computer interaction), which recently awarded us a WASP NEST grant that will enable us to work jointly on challenges related to AI alignment and integration.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

We are active in a number of collaborations with industrial partners, both directly within joint research/development projects, but also through joint M.Sc thesis projects. The collaborations most relevant to ELLIIT include Spheron (DE), Arriver, SMHI, Aurora Innovation, IKEA Marketing and Communications, and Luftfartsverket (LFV), SECTRA, and ContextVision.

8. International collaboration

During 2022 we have collaborated closely with Prof. Rafal Mantiuk at Cambridge University resulting in two papers at ICCV and at SIGGRAPH. PhD student Behnaz Kavoosighafi worked as a visiting student at Denmark Technical University (DTU) together with Dr. Jeppe Frisvad for three months, and PhD student Karin Stacke visited the Personalized Integrative Medicine (PIMed) Laborator at Stanford and worked together with Assistant Professor Mirabella Rusu. Both visits resulted in joint publications currently under review. We are also participating the EU Innovative Training Network (ITN) Predicitive Rendering in Manufacturing and Engineering (PRIME) in which we collaborate closely with universities and companies in Europe.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

Matilda Eriksson, Astrid Johansson. Narrow Pre-training for Deep Neural Networks. Project with SICK-IVP. Iris Kotsinas, Viktor Tholén. Dynamic Real-Time Simulation of Fire for Networked Multiplayer Games. Project with DICE.

David Karlsson. The World in 3D – Geospatial Segmentation and Reconstruction. Project with Combitech.



10. List of patent applications published during 2022

Patent title	Application Number
System and method for real-time tone-mapping J Unger, G Eilertsen, R Mantiuk	US 11107204
System and Method for Real-Time Tone-Mapping J Unger, G Eilertsen, R Mantiuk	US Patent application 17320689
A method, computer program, computer program product and system for representing visual information J Unger, E Miandji, P Larsson	US Patent application 17413321

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
AI data synthesis and generative models	Graduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

We continuously participate in outreach activities. This includes presentations through Visual Sweden, at the Visualization Centre C, and through WASP and ELLIIT. Recent invited presentations include: Goodbye Kansas (Visual effects), Luftfartsverket, and Denmark Technical University at DTU Compute.

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Members of our ELLIIT projects act as reviewers and IPC members for different tracks at venues such as SIGGRAPH, CVPR, SIGGRAPH Asia, HDRi, SIGRAD, and Eurographics. We have recently organized SSDL/SSBA 2023.

14. Open source software contributions



We make code and data available from all our projects. A recent example is a database with carefully captured and curated high dynamic range (HDR) images: https://www.repository.cam.ac.uk/handle/1810/340049

Andreas Kerren, Professor in Information Visualization (LiU)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

In the past year of 2022, our research within information visualization and visual analytics focused on four major aspects: multidimensional and temporal data visualization, network visualization, visual text analytics, and explainable ML/AI with the help of visualization. In the following, I briefly summarize our achievements in these areas.

- Multidimensional and temporal data visualization: Based on a successful collaboration with • colleagues from Canada and Brazil, we developed a novel incremental dimensionality reduction technique, called Xtreaming, for streaming scenarios in which a new re-projection strategy was used to update visual representations without the need to revisit the input data. This work started already in 2021, and the corresponding paper got finally published in the subsequent year. Moreover, in the previous years, we developed an immersive VR environment (head-mounted display, 3D gestural input) and a non-immersive desktop terminal (monitor, keyboard and mouse) centered around spatio-temporal data exploration. Supported through a real-time communication interface, synchronous collaborative features were integrated in both interfaces, facilitating users in their ability to establish a shared context and to make spatio-temporal references. In 2021/22, we conducted an empirical evaluation with five participant pairs to investigate aspects of usability, user engagement, and collaboration during a confirmative analysis task. The VR environment revealed good usability scores, high user engagement, as well as overall close and balanced collaboration of enthusiastic pairs during the task completion independent of their interface type, validating our approach in general. Finally, we kicked off two new projects: one project to develop novel visual analytics approaches for incremental clustering and annotation which will be performed on human transcriptomics data sets from the Human Protein Atlas; and the other one to research the use of immersive environments for the visualization and exploration of the appearance and effect of (extreme) weather events in urban areas with a focus on mapping and understanding the occurrence of urban heat in Norrköping municipality.
- Network visualization: The visualization of large and complex multivariate networks (MVNs) continues to be a great challenge as already described in the past report. In this context, we developed an interactive visual analysis interface that facilitates network exploration and comparison at different topological and multivariate attribute scales. When looking into large and complex network data sets based on social media posts, for instance, users of the visualization



approach are able to investigate text- and network-based properties of social network community interactions, identify anomalies of conflict starters, or gain insight into multivariate anomalies behind groups of negative social media posts. Note that our main focus here was on the visual analysis of subnetworks within very large networks. In another project that started already in 2021, we studied the emerging field of multivariate network embeddings and developed a strategy of combining already existing state-of-the-art single scope embedding technologies. For this, we have developed visual analytics approaches that divide an MVN into separately embeddable aspects. We then obtain a flexible vector representation which we can use as input to a novel method of similarity-based clustering, for instance.

- Visual text analytics: We applied the above mentioned joint embedding approach to propose a new method for text similarity calculations based on the combination of embedding technology and ensemble methods. By using several embeddings, instead of only one, we could show that it is possible to achieve higher quality, which in turn is a key factor for developing high-performing applications for text similarity exploitation. We also provided a prototype visual analytics tool which helps the analyst to find optimal performing ensembles and gain insights to the inner workings of the similarity calculations. Over the year, we also worked on validation and evaluation aspects in the context of text visualization: in a new user study, we focused on the evaluation of the effectiveness and efficiency of common visual representations for low-level visualization tasks in the context of sentiment visualization. The results provide evidence of strengths and weaknesses of particular representations and visual variables with respect to different tasks, as well as specific user preferences, in the context of sentiment visualization. Furthermore, I would like to highlight that we organized a Dagstuhl Seminar on visual text analytics in 2022 (https://www.dagstuhl.de/22191) that succeeded in bringing together world-renowned researchers from the visualization, natural language processing (NLP), and machine learning communities, with domain experts from several text-related research areas, to identify the most pressing and promising open problems for collaborative research. Discussions in the seminar were comprehensive, focusing on visual text analytics with the goal to provide an application-oriented research agenda. Finally, it is worth to mention that we have kept maintaining our worldrenowned and highly cited interactive online surveys, especially those on text visualization (https://textvis.lnu.se/) as well as enhancing trust in ML models with visualization (https://trustmlvis.lnu.se/).
- Explainable ML/AI with the help of visualization: Here, we have aimed to develop foundational principles, techniques, and visual analytics tools for analyzing data and machine models with diverse applications in the context of data-intensive sciences. The overall goal has been to make complex machine learning models better understandable and explainable, as well as to provide reliable trust in the models and their results. In 2022, we published two works that both cover this aspect: an evaluation of our previously developed system StackGenVis as well as the FeatureEnVi approach. StackGenVis focuses on the interactive generation of a stack of models which is an ensemble method that combines heterogeneous base models and then employs another



metamodel to summarize the predictions of those models. StackGenVis was designed to monitor and control the entire stacking process visually. We performed a comparative user study for evaluating the StackGenVis system. For this, we divided the study participants into two groups to test the usability and effectiveness of StackGenVis compared to Orange Visual Stacking (OVS) in an exploratory usage scenario using health-care data. The results indicate that StackGenVis is significantly more powerful than OVS based on the qualitative feedback provided by the participants. However, the average completion time for all tasks was comparable between both tools. Our second research focus on feature engineering led to the development of FeatureEnVi, a visual analytics system specifically designed to assist with the feature engineering process. Our system helps users to choose the most important feature, to transform the original features into powerful alternatives, and to experiment with different feature generation combinations. Additionally, data space slicing allows users to explore the impact of features on both local and global scales. The final outcome is the extraction of heavily engineered features, evaluated by multiple validation metrics.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
Visual Analytics for Enhancing Quality and Trust in Genome-wide Expression Clustering and Annotation (WASP-PI)	WASP-DDLS Joint Call	About 1.3 MSEK (WASP partner only)	2 years
Immersive Analytics for Urban Heat (co- PI)	Norrköping Fund	About 1.1 MSEK	2 years
National Research Infrastructure for Data Visualization – InfraVis (co-PI, node coordinator for LNU)	VR	About 1.5 MSEK (LNU node)	5 years
ELLIIT-funded PhD student (PI)	ELLIIT	1 MSEK	5 years

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Zeyang Huang (ELLIIT-funded PhD student)	0000-0003-3945-1274	from 2022



5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Within LiU, I established a number of new contacts and cooperations, for instance with Tema M – Environmental Change (collaboration with an ongoing project supported by the Norrköping Fund) or with Tema T – Technology and Social Change (ongoing proposal writing activities).

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

Information visualization and visual analytics are research fields that both use data from various sources and often solve domain-specific analytical problems. In this regard, interdisciplinary cooperation occurs regularly in our research. In 2022, we mainly collaborated with colleagues from the areas of systems biology, social sciences, humanities, and control systems, affiliated to KTH, Linnaeus University, and Lund University.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

In 2022, we started a WASP/DDLS-funded project together with researchers from the Science for Life Laboratory (SciLifeLab), Stockholm. Moreover, our project "Immersive Analytics for Urban Heat" has been granted funding from the Norrköping Fund and has been performed in collaboration between academia (LiU, LNU), SMHI, and Norrköping Municipality.

8. International collaboration

I regularly collaborate and publish with researchers from various countries and universities. In 2022, I would like to highlight our work with colleagues from Canada and Brazil that resulted in an interesting paper on a novel incremental dimensionality reduction technique for high-dimensional streaming data. The Dagstuhl Seminar on Visual Text Analytics (<u>https://www.dagstuhl.de/22191</u>), that I have co-organized in 2022, also led to many new international contacts. We expect a number of papers based on these collaborations to be published in the coming years.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

No supervision, but I was examiner for a master thesis project in collaboration with Saab, Linköping.

10. List of patent applications published during 2022



N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
TNM048 Information Visualization (course responsible)	undergraduate
TNM098 Advanced Visual Data Analysis (single lectures given)	undergraduate
TNM093 Practical Data Visualization and Virtual Reality (single lectures given)	undergraduate
External advisor (reference group member) for a new Master of Science program proposal at LiU called "Data-Driven Sustainable Development"	undergraduate
Involved in the further development of the LiU/MIT study program "Master of Science in Media Technology and Engineering"	undergraduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

I gave the following invited talk:

- BioVis Explorer: A Visual Guide for Biological Data Visualization Techniques. CNS Research Showcase, Indiana University Bloomington, IN, USA, Virtual Seminar.
- 13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar
- Member of the Editorial Board of Computer Graphics Forum, Wiley
- Member of the Editorial Board of the Language, Data Science and Digital Humanities book
- series, Bloomsbury Academic
- Member of the EuroVis Best PhD Award Committee 2022
- Program Committee Member of many conferences, such as IEEE VIS, EuroVis, Eurographics, VISSOFT, EuroVA, VDA, etc.



14. Open source software contributions

- In 2022, we made the source code for the following published visualization approaches available:
 - FeatureEnVi, see https://leonard.lnu.se/git/ISOVIS/FeatureEnVi
 - o HardVis, see https://github.com/angeloschatzimparmpas/HardVis

Fredrik Lindsten, Associate Professor in Machine Learning (LiU)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

My research during 2022 has been mostly centered around probabilistic models and inference, uncertainty quantification, and graph-based methods for machine learning.

In one project we investigated the effect of label noise on classification and regression models, both by analyzing the theoretical robustness to such noise (with a specific emphasis on reliable uncertainty quantification of the resulting models), and by developing an active learning method capable of incorporating such label noise/weak supervision.

In another project we analyzed a class of generative models, referred to as Generative Flow Networks (GFlowNet), that has recently received significant attention. Our results showed that these models could in fact, under certain conditions, be reinterpreted as performing a type of variational inference on an extended target construction. Our contribution has helped to shed light on this new and exciting class of generative models and to connect it to existing and more well-established models.

During 2022 we also initiated our work on a probabilistic re-interpretation of clustering-based selfsupervised learning based on the popular DINO model. DINO is a state-of-the-art method for selfsupervised representation learning from images, one of the leading machine learning paradigms today. By viewing DINO as performing clustering in the latent representation space using a von-Mises Fisher mixture model, we could identify missing terms in the original formulation of the algorithm. By introducing these missing terms to the algorithm we could observe both improved training stability and improved performance on a range of downstream tasks.

Finally, related to graph-based machine learning we continued to develop methods for bridging the gap between probabilistic graphical models and graph neural networks, leading to a generalization of our Deep Gaussian Markov Random Fields model (improved scalability and applicable to general graphs). We also developed a novel graph neural network-based methods for spatio-temporal prediction of irregularly



sampled time series. Finally, we also applied graph neural networks for developing a workflow for efficient computation of phase diagrams for novel material discovery.

2. Awards and recognitions

Notable paper at the International Conference on Learning Representation for the paper: H. Govindarajan, P. Sidén, J. Roll, and F. Lindsten, DINO as a von Mises-Fisher mixture model, in International Conference on Learning Representations, 2023.

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
Handling Uncertainty in Machine Learning	VR	1 MSEK	2021-2024
AI Powered Carbon Border Adjustments	Vinnova	Ca 2.3 MSEK	2021 Oct – 2024 Oct
Probabilistic models and deep learning - bridging the gap	WASP Collaboration Project	Ca 1 MSEK	2019 - 2023
Attentive and Disentangled Representation Learning	WASP Industrial PhD project	Ca 1 MSEK	2020 Aug – 2025 Aug
Novel AI methods for experimentally constrained protein structure prediction	WASP-DDLS Postdoc Twinning	1.25 MSEK	2022-2024
Multidimensional Alignment and Integration of the Physical and Virtual Worlds	WASP NEST	4 MSEK	2022-2027

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Gabriel Ducrocq		2022-2024
Shashi Nagarajan		2022-2027
Oskar Hidén		2022-2024

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

I regularly interact and collaborate with researchers from other countries and universities. For international collaboration, see section 8 below. For national collaboration, I have worked together with



Prof Lennart Svensson at Chalmers University of Technology on a joint project involving two PhD students, one at each site. In my WASP-DDLS project I'm collaborating with Prof Sebastian Westenhoff at Uppsala University (DDLS partner) and in our WASP NEST we are working in collaboration between Linköping University and Örebro University (co-PI Prof Amy Loutfi). I have also continued to supervise two PhD students at Uppsala University, one of whom graduated in late 2022 (Anna Wigren).

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

The Vinnova-funded project AI Powered Carbon Border Adjustments is truly interdisciplinary. It focuses on the development of an AI tool that can assist in carbon footprint calculations, for the purpose of enabling carbon border adjustment mechanisms. In addition to computer science researchers from my group, it involves project partners specializing on carbon footprint calculations (2050 Consulting), climate policies and political processes (Department of Thematic Studies, Linköping University) and industrial partners (Toyota Material Handling, Alfa Laval).

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

Through my research projects I collaborate with several companies:

- WASP Industrial PhD student project with Qualcomm (Hariprasath Govindarajan).
- Per Sidén at Qualcomm is co-supervising one of my academic PhD students (Joel Oskarsson)
- Trafikverket, Qualcomm, and IKEA are industrial project partners in our WASP NEST project, Multidimensional Alignment and Integration of the Physical and Virtual Worlds.
- The Vinnova-funded project AI Powered Carbon Border Adjustments is led by 2050 Consulting, and additional industrial project partners are Toyota Material Handling and Alfa Laval.
- Informal collaboration with SMHI related to graph neural networks for numerical weather prediction.
- 8. International collaboration

I regularly interact and collaborate with researchers from other countries and universities. During 2022, a new international collaboration was initiated by hosting a PhD student from the University of Amsterdam, Heiko Zimmermann, as a visiting student researcher in the spring. This was followed up with a research visit to the University of Amsterdam in fall 2022. This collaboration has already resulted in a joint publication: A Variational Perspective on Generative Flow Networks; Heiko Zimmermann, Fredrik Lindsten, Jan-Willem van de Meent, and Christian A. Naesseth; Transactions of Machine Learning Research (TMLR; accepted), and I'm optimistic that it will lead to further joint research initiatives. Another newly established international collaboration is with Prof Arthur Gretton's group at University College London, where my PhD student David Widmann spent a few weeks during fall 2022 as a visiting student researcher. This visit



has strengthened our international network and has also resulted in a joint publication: Fast and Scalable Score-Based Kernel Calibration Tests; Pierre Glaser, David Widmann, Fredrik Lindsten, and Arthur Gretton (submitted).

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

• Oskar Aidantausta and Patrick Asman. Land Use/Land Cover Classication of Remotely-Sensed Satellite Images of Swedish Urban Areas. Värderingsdata. (Examiner)

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
TDDE56 Foundations of AI and machine learning (contributed to development)	Undergraduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A

- 13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar
- Program Chair for ELLIIT Annual Workshop
- Area Chair for AISTATS
- Guest editor for special session on Sequential Monte Carlo Methods in Foundations of Data Science.
- 14. Open source software contributions



Richard Pates, Associate Professor in Control of Large-Scale Autonomous System (LU)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

In 2022 my research has primarily focused on:

- Scalable methods for control systems design.
- Control of electric power systems and district heating networks.
- Optimal control and estimation at scale.

This has culminated in 5 peer reviewed conference contributions, and 3 journal contributions, 2 of which were for invited special issues. The work was conducted with a network of national and international collaborators from industry and academia, spread across 4 continents. In addition, I have developed 2 PhD level courses, joined the editorial board of Control Systems Magazine as an editor to help develop educational content, and produced two educational videos promoting control theoretic content to a wider audience.

- 2. Awards and recognitions
- N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
Estimation and Control at Scale (PI)	ELLIIT	1MSEK	5 years
Visual analytics of large and complex multilayer technological networks (co-PI)	ELLIIT	1MSEK	5 years
Scalable Data Processing in Networked Systems (co-PI)	ELLIIT	1MSEK	2 years

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Johan Lindberg	0000-0001-9491-8354	2020
Julia Adlercreutz	N/A	2022



5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

During 2022 I was involved in three main international collaborations. The first was with MIT, Johns Hopkins, Peking University and Universidad ORT Uruguay, studying control theoretic bounds on the performance of test-trace and isolation schemes for mitigating disease spread. The second was with Saarland University, studying and developing software for the analysis of the impact of weakly-hard constraints on the real time performance of control systems. The third was with CNRS, on the scalable design of control systems for district heating networks.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

During 2022 I have been involved in inter-disciplinary research touching on disease spread, control of district heating networks and electrical power systems, and the analysis of the impact of real time constraints on control system performance and design.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

I have worked actively with industry in 2022 on projects with Sony Communications AB, and emulate.energy.

8. International collaboration

In 2022 I published papers with the following internationally based collaborators Andreas Ferragut – Universidad ORT Uruguay Pauline Kergus – CNRS, Toulouse Martina Maggio – Saarland University Enrique Mallada – Johns Hopkins Fernanado Paganini – Universidad ORT Uruguay Elijah Pivo – MIT Pengcheng You – Peking University

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

In 2022 I supervised the following 6 masters thesis students who were conducting their projects with Sony Mobile Communcations AB and emulate.energy Johan Fant, main supervisor, collaboration with emulate.energy Gustav Warnström, main supervisor, collaboration with emulate.energy Fredrik Sidh, main supervisor, collaboration with emulate.energy



Gustaf Sundell, main supervisor, collaboration with emulate.energy Emelie Skoog, main supervisor, collaboration with Sony Mobile Comms. AB Elin Freberg, main supervisor, collaboration with Sony Mobile Comms. AB

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Power System Stability and Control (FRT270F) - developed and taught	Graduate
Nonlinear Control Theory (FRT026F) - developed and taught	Graduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Participated in the summer of math exposition 2 (#SoME2), with an educational video on the mathematics underlying peg solitaire. I actively run and maintain a YouTube channel that focuses on educational content for mathematics and control theory.

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

I recently took a post on the editorial board of Control Systems Magazine, and am also a member of the Control System Society Technical Committee on Power Generation.

14. Open source software contributions

Coauthor on research on scalable analysis of weakly-hard software constraints, supported by the open source package WeaklyHard.jl:



Zheng Chen, Assistant Professor in Communication Systems (LiU)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

Within 2022, my research has been focusing on communication design and signal processing for distributed intelligence over wireless networks, summarized in the following three components:

- a) Scheduling and resource allocation for federated edge learning. The research outcome of this topic has resulted in one journal paper published in IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications (JSAC).
- b) Low-latency decentralized learning with partial communication. In an initial version of this work, we have studied probabilistic broadcast scheduling for distributed consensus over wireless networks, and our work has been published in IEEE Signal Processing Letters. We are currently working on collision-free broadcast set scheduling for decentralized learning.
- c) Communication-efficient data aggregation over wireless networks. In this direction, we have published several articles (magazine and conference papers) on Over-the-Air computation and its applications in federated learning systems.

In addition to scientific publication, I have also been actively engaged in event organization and served as the technical program chair for 2022 IEEE-SPS 6G Summer School and the co-chair of an IEEE GLOBECOM workshop. Both events have greatly helped to promote my own research and establish international collaboration.

2. Awards and recognitions

I have been awarded a starting grant from Swedish Research Council in 2022.

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title				Granted per year	amount	Duration project	of
Wireless Network Design for Decentralized Machine Learning		CENIIT		450k		2021-now	
4. Recruitments in connection to the pro		rojec	t (students, postd	ocs, facult	y)		
Name	ORCID		Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021-2022, from 2021,		om 2021, et	c)	
Chung-Hsuan Hu			From 2020				

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022



I have worked with Mikael Johansson and Carlo Fischione from KTH (Sweden) in a joint paper accepted in IEEE Network Magazine.

- 6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{N/A}}$
 - 7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

I have been collaborating with Ericsson Research in Linköping within my CENIIT project.

8. International collaboration

In terms of research collaboration, I have co-authored two papers with Mohammad Hatami and Markus Leinonen from University of Oulu (Finland). Through the organization of a workshop and a summer school, I have also established collaboration with Osvaldo Simeone (King's College London, UK), Vincent H. Poor (Princeton University, USA), and Petar Popovski (Aalborg University, Denmark).

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry $\ensuremath{\mathsf{N/A}}$

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

N/A

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

- Technical Program Chair for 2022 IEEE-SPS and EURASIP summer school on **Defining 6G: Theory, Applications, and Enabling Technologies**.
- Workshop co-chair for IEEE GLOBECOM workshop on "Wireless Communications for Distributed Intelligence", 2022.



- Program co-chair for ELLIIT annual workshop at Linköping University.
- Editor at IEEE Transactions on Green Communications and Networking.

14. Open source software contributions N/A

Farnaz Adib Yaghmaie, Assistant Professor in Automatic Control with focus on Reinforcement Learning (LiU)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

I have been on parental leave from 2022 and I have started working one day per week for a couple of months now. Before going on parental leave and while working part-time, my research focuses on addressing safety and uncertainty issue in online learning algorithms applicable to control systems:

- a. Observation and process noises affect the performance of controllers. In a series of works, we have studied this effect extensively and proposed approaches to tackle this issue to some degree.
- b. A major issue in the application of online learning algorithms on control systems is to ensure that the generated control input is safe. We have developed a data-driven safety certifier to intervene with the actions of the reinforcement learning algorithm to ensure safety.
- 2. Awards and recognitions
- N/A
 - 3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration o project	f
Reinforcement Learning for partially observable dynamical systems with continuous state and action spaces	Zenith	480 SEK	6 years	

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

N/A

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022



I have been collaborating with Hamidreza Modares from Michigan State University, USA in 2022. It resulted in one accepted publication, two under revision and one under preparation. I have collaborated with Johannes Andreas Stork from Örebro University in initiating, developing and teaching a 6 credits Ph.D. level course "Reinforcement Learning", for WASP.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

I have collaborated with Fredrik Heintz from IDA in initiating, developing and teaching a 6 credits Ph.D. level course "Reinforcement Learning", for WASP.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

I have been collaborating with ABB AB research corporate, SAAB AB, and Nira Dynamics within my CENIIT project but there are no collaborations in 2022 as I was mostly on parental leave.

8. International collaboration

I have been collaborating with Hamidreza Modares from Michigan State University, USA in 2022. It resulted in one accepted publication, two under revision and one under preparation.

- 9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry
- Master thesis examiner: "Labyrinth navigation using reinforcement learning with a high fidelity simulation environment." Combine.
- Master thesis supervisor: "An Adaptive Strategy For Short Term Stock Trading Using Reinforcement Learning." Celerus Capital.
 - 10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Reinforcement Learning	Ph.D. course for WASP



12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar N/A

14. Open source software contributions N/A

Viktor Larsson, Assistant Professor in Mathematics (LU)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

In 2022 many of the projects started before I joined Lund University came to fruition. We published the paper NICE-SLAM (<u>https://arxiv.org/abs/2112.12130</u>) at CVPR'22 which was one of the first RGB-D SLAM algorithms using a neural scene representation for tracking and mapping. We also published the LAMAR dataset (<u>https://lamar.ethz.ch</u>) for benchmarking localization and mappgin for augmented reality at ECCV'22. To advertise the dataset we also organized a tutorial at the same conference which was well received.

During 2022 my research was focused on exploring line-based sparse reconstruction. This has resulted in three papers; DeepLSD (https://arxiv.org/abs/2212.07766), GlueStick (https://arxiv.org/abs/2304.02008) and LIMAP (https://arxiv.org/abs/2303.17504) which are currently accepted for publication at CVPR or in submission. These three papers tackle the three components necessary for line mapping; detection, matching and triangulation.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external	projects that were	active at some	noint during 2022
iterinzed hat of external	projects that were	active at some	point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
Revisiting Data-associations for Large- Scale Mapping (Call D)	ELLIIT	1 MSEK	5



4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

N/A

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

N/A

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

N/A

- 8. International collaboration
- Ongoing collaboration with Marc Pollefeys' group at ETH Zurich and the Microsoft Mixed Reality and AI Lab in Zurich on several projects related to visual localization and mapping.
- One project with Benjamin Kimia at Brown University on using GPU accelerated homotopy continuation solvers for camera pose estimation.
- Ongoing collaboration with Tomas Pajdla (CIIRC Prague, Czechia), Anton Leykin (Georgia Tech, US), Tim Duff (Uni. of Washington, US), Luke Oeding (Auburn Uni., US) regarding camera calibration and pose estimation.
- Ongoing collaboration with Martin Oswald (University of Amsterdam, Netherlands), Zhaopeng Cui (Zhejiang University, China) on neural scene representations for SLAM.
- Ongoing collaboration with Torsten Sattler (CIIRC Prague, Czechia) and Zuzana Kukelova (CTU Prague, Czechia) on semi-generalized and hybrid pose estimation.
 - 9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

During 2022 I have supervised one master thesis at Volvo Cars regarding multi-camera 3D reconstruction and one with Axis Communications regarding semantic segmentation from fisheye images.

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A



11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Computer Vision (lecturer)	Graduate
Advanced Topics in Computer Vision (in development, first edition expected to run in fall 2023)	Graduate (PhD)

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Talk on benchmarking localization and mapping for augmented reality at the Learning Machines seminar series organized by RI.SE (<u>https://www.ri.se/en/learningmachinesseminars</u>)

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

- Area chair for International Conference of 3D Vision (3DV) 2022
- Started work as Local chair for the upcoming *European Conference of Computer Vision (ECCV)* which will be held in Malmö/Copenhagen in 2026
- Reviewer for all major computer vision conferences (CVPR/ICCV/ECCV)

14. Open source software contributions

In addition to releasing open-source code for all of my papers, I am also driving the open-source project PoseLib (<u>https://github.com/vlarsson/PoseLib</u>) which provides state-of-the-art robust estimators for camera poses.

Susanna F. de Rezende, Assistant Professor in Theoretical Computer Science (LU)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

In 2022, my VR project "Efficient proofs and circuits: a unified approach" started and I also obtained a WASP PhD student grant for the same project. I published an invited survey article titled "Proofs, Circuits



and Communication" for the SIGACT News Complexity Theory Column together with Robert Robere (University of Toronto) and Mika Göös (EPFL).

I was invited to participate in the Communication Complexity and Applications workshop at BIRS, Canada; and was invited to give talks in the following workshops:

- Theory and Practice of SAT and Combinatorial Solving, Dagstuhl, Germany
- Mathematical Approaches to Lower Bounds, ICMS, Edinburgh, UK
- Logic Colloquium, Reykjavik, Iceland
- Satisfiability: Theory, Practice, and Beyond Reunion, Simons Institute for the Theory of Computing, UC Berkeley
- 2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
Efficient proofs and computations: a unifying approach	VR	1MSEK	2022-2025
WASP (Academic PhD student) Noel Arteche	WASP (KAW)	1MSEK	2022-2026

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021-2022, from 2021, etc)
Noel Arteche		From 2022

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

I have started to collaborate with Elina Rönnberg from the Department of Mathematics at LiU. We also submitted a joint application for ELLIIT funding for a PhD position.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

N/A

8. International collaboration



- Ongoing collaboration with Kilian Risse (EPFL) and Aaron Potechin (University of Chicago).
- Ongoing collaboration with Marc Vinyals (University of Auckland) and Lukáš Folwarczný (Charles University and Institute of Mathematics of the Czech Academy of Sciences).
- Collaborated with Robert Robere (University of Toronto) and Mika Göös (EPFL) on a survey article.
- Worked on a project with Allan Sapucaia (Unicamp, now at UCLouvain); Andre Cire (University of Toronto); Pedro de Rezende (Unicamp); and Cid de Souza (Unicamp) which resulted in a paper which is under submission.
- 9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

N/A

10. List of patent applications published during 2022 $\ensuremath{\,\text{N/A}}$

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Discrete Structures in Computer Science (lecturer)	undergraduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar Guest editor for Special Issue of Theory of Computing Systems on selected papers from CSR '21; Program committee of FLoC proof complexity workshop 2022;

Program committee for STOC '23;

Co-organizer of the Proof Complexity Workshop at FOCS '21 held in February 2022;

Co-organizer of the Proof Complexity Beyond Propositional Logic Special Session at ASL 2023.

14. Open source software contributions

N/A



Daniel Jung, Associate Professor in Fault Diagnostics and Prognostics (LiU)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

I became ELLIIT-affiliated as an Associate Professor in June 2022. During 2022, my research has centered around two areas:

The first research area is data-driven fault isolation of unknown faults which is progressing in a new Vinnova-funded project (DELPHI) in collaboration with Scania. In this project I'm both involved as a researcher but also as the main supervisor for a PhD student. Our research in this area started in 2019 with a CENIIT/faculty-funded project where we are investigating how to design data-driven models from physical insights to reason about the cause of abnormal behaviour in dynamic systems and improve model interpretability. Our research has attracted attention and we have initiated discussions around collaboration with other universities and industrial partners.

The second research area is electrification of transportation where I'm involved as a researcher in one project. The project is funded by Energimyndigheten as is conducted in collaboration with Rise, Östgötatrafiken and Nobina where we are investigating optimization of charging infrastructure and batteries for public transportation. We are developing methods to decide where to put charging infrastructure and evaluate the cost when changing to electric buses. My activities in this research area have been increasing during the last three years which will continue in 2023, for example as a main supervisor for a new PhD student project and as a co-supervisor for a PhD student at the Mathematical department in a joint research project in collaboration with Scania.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
Rotfelanalys med maskininlärning	Vinnova/FFI	781 kSEK	2019-2022
DELPHI Diagnos genom att nyttja fysikaliska insikter i neurala nätverk	Vinnova/FFI	1 585 kSEK	2022-2024
Optimerad laddinfrastruktur för elektrifierad kollektivtrafik	Energimyndigheten	414 kSEK	2021-2023
Hybrid Methods for Fault Diagnosis and Prognostics	CENIIT Faculty funding	450 kSEK	2020-2025



4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	ORCID	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021-2022, from 2021, etc)
Arman Mohammadi		From 2021

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

N/A

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

We have started to collaborate with Elina Rönnberg at the Mathematical Department at LiU around Optimization and Integer Programming which is also continuing in other projects that has started in 2023.

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

As mentioned in the scientific achievements, I'm involved in research collaborations with different industrial partners. I have ongoing projects with Scania but we also have discussions around collaborations in new projects with Volvo Cars.

8. International collaboration

I'm collaborating with researchers at the Center for Automotive Research at The Ohio State University, USA. We are working with cybersecurity in automotive applications.

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

I have been on parental leave during the spring 2022 and have not been active as a supervisor for industrial MSc projects during 2022.

- 10. List of patent applications published during 2022 $\ensuremath{\,\text{N/A}}$
 - 11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Electric Machinery TSFS04	undergraduate



12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

During the fall 2022, I was one of the main responsible in arranging an information evening for MSc students about what it is like being a PhD student. We invited alumni and active PhD students to share their experiences. The goal is to attract more students to PhD studies. This was the first time we arranged this event and around 15 students attended. The feedback from the students was positive so we are planning to arrange this event again this year also.

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar $\ensuremath{\mathsf{N/A}}$

14. Open source software contributions N/A

Soheil Samii, Associate Professor in Cyber-Physical Systems (LiU)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

Our research focused on the scheduling of time-critical data communications considering cyber-physical systems that are closed over a cellular communication network. We consider configured-grant scheduling and proposed both an exact method and several efficient heuristics to schedule messages with hard deadlines.

The work focused on uplink transmission scheduling considering multiple endpoints and one base station. The work has been accepted for publication at the Design, Automation and Test in Europe Conference (DATE). The work has been extended towards a journal paper to be submitted. Future work will joint uplink and downlink scheduling, as well as extensions towards multiple base stations. Another research direction is to consider mobile applications (e.g., automotive systems) where base station that an endpoint communicates with is not fixed at design time. This calls for more adaptive methods to proactively schedule data communications.

My role has been a co-advisor of the PhD student carrying out the abovementioned research.

Note: My activity was limited to 10-20% throughout 2022.

2. Awards and recognitions



N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

N/A

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

N/A

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

Collaborated with Prof. Samarjit Chakraborty, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, and served as Guest Editor on a special issue on Automotive Systems in the ACM Transactions on Cyber-Physical Systems.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

N/A

8. International collaboration

N/A

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

N/A

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

N/A

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A



13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar Co-Chair of the Program Committee of IEEE-SA Ethernet & IP @ Automotive Technology Days, Yokohama, Japan (November 9-10, 2022).

14. Open source software contributions N/A

Maria De Lauretis, Associate Senior Lecturer in Electromagnetic Compatibility (HH)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

I joined Halmstad in August 2022. During 2022, I performed literature research on side-channel attacks based on electromagnetic leakages (EM SCAs). I submitted a paper for the IEEE EMC conference in 2023. The paper was not accepted, but we got insightful feedback that will help us sharpen our focus. I am currently supervising a Master's thesis on SCAs with a focus on microstrip design.

I started investigating Dual-Function Radar Communication (DFRC) systems due to the interest in radar applications for automotive at Halmstad.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

N/A

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

N/A

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

N/A

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022



• Collaboration with the University of Siena, Dept. of Information Engineering and Mathematics, for the Erasmus teaching program.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{N/A}}$

- 7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors
- Started to collaborate with Nibe that asked for educational material about crosstalk.
 - 8. International collaboration

N/A

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

N/A

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
Electronics design (2022)	graduate
EMC and Advanced Measurement Technology (2023)	graduate
Supervisor of 2 Master's thesis students	
Supervisor of an Erasmus student	

- 12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar
- I presented at the Elektronikmässa in Gotheborg in April 2023 about crosstalk.



13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar N/A

14. Open source software contributions N/A

Henry Edison, Associate Senior Lecturer in Software Engineering (BTH)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

While I joined BTH in Aug 2022, I came to Karlskrona in Nov 2022. During this year, I published two conference papers in ICSOB 2022, where I was the most senior researcher in the author list. My next steps include continuing my efforts to establish collaboration with industry partners to work on data-driven software engineering and analytics, mainly in the context of unstructured and dynamic software development projects. I will continue the recruitment of a PhD student before summer to join this project.

 Awards and recognitions N/A

External funding attracted
 Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

N/A

- 4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty) N/A
 - 5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

On going collaboration with researchers at:

- Free University of Bozen-Bolzano (Italy) and Sintef (Norway). We are working on data analytics and product development.
- University of Indonesia (Indonesia). We are working on agile maturity in global software development. We have submitted a paper to the Journal of Software: Evolution and Process.
- 6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A



7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

N/A

8. International collaboration

N/A

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

N/A

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A

11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

N/A

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

N/A

- 13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar
- Poster chairs, the 13th International Conference on Software Business (ICSOB) 2022, Bolzano, Italy
- 14. Open source software contributions N/A

Yiannis Karayiannidis, Associate Professor in Automatic Control with focus on Robotics (LU)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

I became ELLIIT-affiliated as an Associate Professor in Automatic Control with focus on Robotics in August 2022. Before I was Senior Researcher equivalent to Associate Professor in Research Track with the



Mechatronics Group at Chalmers University of Technology. As an Associate professor with Lund University I have kept my duties as a main supervisor of students at Chalmers.

During 2022, I have contributed to deformable object manipulation, an area where I am both involved as a researcher but also as the main supervisor for one PhD student. My research in this area has been initiated by the DARMA (DAta-driven foundations for Robust deformable object MAnipulation) WASP collaborative project and its spin-off DARMA Bridge with industrial focus. My work on deformable object manipulation have attracted the interest of several international academic partners and I have hosted three Phd students that requested collaboration in relevant topics. During 2022 I and my team published two conference papers on cable routing. The first one published in the International Conference on Robotics and Automation – ICRA 2022 and studies planning and hierarchical closed-loop inverse kinematic aspects of the problem of cable routing while the second published in International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems -- IROS 2022 incorporates haptic information obtained by force/torque sensors at the robot wrist to achieve a variety of interaction primitives for cable routing. I have presented my research on deformable object manipulation as invited speaker in the workshop ROMADO-SI@IROS22 and for the Robotics cluster and Industry Days of WASP.

Force-based control and estimation is a field that I have a long-term connection. In 2022, I have also coauthored survey paper summarizing research for manipulation in contact where I contributed in reviewing articulated motions, dual arm manipulation in contact, and control for manipulation in contact. The article was published in the journal Robotics and Autonomous Systems. Another research area, I worked during 2022 was online motion planning under constraints. In this area I have co-authored papers on trajectory scaling for addressing constraints using dynamical systems, published in ICRA 2022, and also probabilistic prediction of obstacle motion for obstacle avoidance, published in International Conference on Automation Science and Engineering – CASE 2022. Both works can be used as components of a general navigation scenario where the obstacles are moving and the robots needs to adapt its motion online to avoid them, thus ensuring safety in dynamically changing environments...

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022

Project title	Funding source	Granted amount per year	Duration of project
DAta-driven foundations for Robust deformable object MAnipulation - DARMA	WASP	PhD student salary + 30% of my time	2019-2023
Haptic-based Object Tracking	WASP	PhD student salary + 15% of supervision time	2021-2026



AIMCoR: AI-enhanced Mobile Manipulation	CHAIR AI	900 kSEK	2021-2022
Robot for Core Industrial Applications			

4. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty)

Name	Period (ex. 2020-2022; 2021- 2022, from 2021, etc)
Marko Guberina	2022-2027

5. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

I am main supervisor of three Phd students affiliated with Chalmers University of Technology. Albin Dahlin is funded by CHAIR, AI Chalmers, Rita Laezza and Gabriel Waltersson are funded by WASP. I have been cosupervisor of two Phd students affiliated at KTH, Royal Institute of Technology. Ioanna Mitsioni with main supervisor Danica Kragic presented her Thesis in February 2022. Shuangshuang Chen has as main supervisor Mårten Björkman and she is expected to present her Thesis in the beginning of 2023.

6. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

7. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

I am member of the Core Team of Wallenberg Research Arena (WARA) Robotics coordinated by ABB.

8. International collaboration

I have hosted the following international Phd students: Monica Sileo, University of Basilicata, Italy Andrea Monguzzi, Polytechnic University of Milan, Italy Ignacio Cuiral-Zueco, University of Zaragoza, Spain Mohammadreza Shetab-Bushehri, University Clermont Auvergne, France

9. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry

Classifying the motion patterns of bikes using machine learning by Filip Larsson and Pontus Hallqvist with Robert Bosch AB

Design of an Industrial Bin Picking Station by Jonathan Ramb with Odigo Consulting (co-supervisor)

10. List of patent applications published during 2022

N/A



11. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

Course name	Level (undergraduate/ graduate)
FRTN05 - Nonlinear Control and Servo Systems	Graduate

12. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

Introductory seminars to groups of students visiting the Robotics week organized as part of the European robotics week by the departments of automatic control, cognitive science and computer science at Lund University.

13. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar

Chairman for the session Compliance and Impedance Control 2, IROS 22 Associate Editor for Robotics and Autonomous Letters, European Control Conference (ECC), International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), International Conference on Intelligent Robots and

Systems (IROS)

14. Open source software contributions N/A

Onur Günlü, Assistant Professor of Information-Theoretic Privacy and Security (LiU)

1. Main scientific achievements during 2022

During October-December 2022, I have published a journal paper in IEEE Transactions on Information Theory on function computations with hidden function inputs under privacy and security constraints. The results are highly information-theoretic and illustrate the effects of having hidden random variables whose noisy/distorted versions can be observed. I have also worked on and published about an old information theoretic security problem, namely, secure source coding problem. We have established that having private keys allow to achieve strong privacy in source coding problems, which is an insight that was missing



in the literature. Furthermore, an extension of our previously proposed private federated learning method is presented at IEEE GlobeCom 2022, which applies a low-complexity compression method. Next steps for me include continuing my individual efforts to establish a strong information security group via various funding sources to significantly strengthen LiU's position in the information security and privacy area worldwide.

2. Awards and recognitions

N/A

3. External funding attracted

4. Itemized list of external projects that were active at some point during 2022 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{N/A}}$

5. Recruitments in connection to the project (students, postdocs, faculty) N/A

6. Inter-university cooperation: summary for 2022

N/A

7. Inter-disciplinary cooperation: summary, when relevant, for 2022

N/A

8. Industry and institute cooperation, inclusive research projects and courses devoted to industrial sectors

Zenith Research and Career Development Fund in collaboration with Sectra Communications AB in Linköping.

9. International collaboration

H. Vincent Poor (Princeton University, USA), Holger Boche (TU Munich, Germany), Rafael F. Schaefer (TU Dresden), Matthieu Bloch (Georgia Institute of Technology, USA)

10. Supervision of master thesis projects in collaboration with industry $\ensuremath{\mathsf{N/A}}$

11. List of patent applications published during 2022 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{N/A}}$



12. Highlights from contributions to undergraduate/graduate education, including but not limited to: new courses (including e-courses MOOC), use of research results, and education program leadership

N/A

13. Highlights from outreach activities, including popular science presentations, influence on standards, and similar

I have served for the second year as a member of the IEEE Information Theory Society (ITSoc) Student and Outreach Subcommittee.

14. Academic service activities, including chairing of conferences, editorships and similar Guest Editor for Entropy Special Issue on "Information Theoretic Methods for Future Communication Systems".

Associate Editor for EURASIP Journal on Wireless Communications and Networking.

15. Open source software contributions N/A

ELLIIT Gender projects

PIs: Nauman Ali (BTH), Carina Gelhauser (LU), Ingrid Hotz (LiU), Marlena Nowaczyk (HH), Sandra Pott (LU), Sara Maad Sasane (LU)

Report of 2022 activities

This report highlights the efforts made by the members of the ELLIIT gender equality team in promoting gender equality and creating a supportive and inclusive environment for all employees, regardless of gender.

The past year has seen several initiatives aimed at advancing gender equality within our departments. There are the general activities and commitments on the university level (see. e.g., at LiU <u>https://liu.se/en/article/lika-villkor</u>) that are also supported by our divisions and the individual research groups. These commitments from the university are valuable and indispensable, as they provide a precondition for the development of equal opportunities.

All our institutions are too big that we could manage the activities for gender equality alone, and so there are many ongoing activities without us. The focus is always local on what the community needs. E.g. at



LU electrical engineering, a focus was on diverse cultural backgrounds, and social mentoring. Social mentoring means that colleagues help and support each other when needed and in different situations within organisation. This kind of help can be particularly useful for newly recruited employees.

Let us mention some local activities that we have been conducting:

LiU Division of Media and Information Technology

Our activities were mostly focused on increasing the number of female members on the level of master and PhD, and ensuring a safe and comfortable environment for everybody. In summary, this was

- trying to change our own behavior, observe our own biases, try to compensate for them,
- actively motivate talented students who may be more reserved to consider academic research career,
- bringing the topic of biases actively up in group meetings and discussing situations of non-equal treatment,
- motivate students/employees to speak to a female senior person if they experience uncomfortable situations,
- try to find female lab assistants as role models for the students.

Thanks to these measures, the percentage of females at the PhD level increased a lot over the last years. Unfortunately, we have been less successful on the more advanced level as post-docs.

LTH Mathematics

Mentoring Program: In 2021, with the help of ELLIIT funds, the department launched a mentoring program aimed at providing support and guidance to junior female staff. The program paired experienced female staff members with junior female colleagues, providing them with the opportunity to receive mentorship and guidance as they progress in their careers. The mentoring program was well received by all participants.

Louise Petren Day: The department celebrated Louise Petren Day on June 2nd, 2022. <u>https://www.lu.se/evenemang/louise-petren-day-2022</u>.

Louise Petren was the first woman to receive a PhD in mathematics in Sweden and this day is dedicated to celebrating her achievements and legacy. The day was marked by various activities and events, including a series of guest lectures and discussions, aimed at raising awareness of gender equality issues and inspiring change within the department. In a video lecture, Inna Emelyanova described the main points of Louise Petren's research, which she had presented also in her article in the SMS bulletin, Nov 2020. The highlight of the morning was a speech given by Louise Petren's grandson, Lars Haikola, who put her life and work into context and shared personal anecdotes about her achievements and impact. In the afternoon, Irina Petterson from Chalmers University, Goteborg, gave an accessible talk on the



mathematics of material science.

EWM General Meeting Helsinki: We were actively involved in the preparation for the European Women in Mathematics (EWM) General Meeting, which was held in Helsinki in August 2022. Members of the department contributed to the event by presenting papers, leading discussions, and participating in panel discussions on topics related to gender equality in mathematics.

Career Talks: Throughout the past year, the department hosted several career talks aimed at inspiring and empowering female staff members to succeed in their careers. The talks were delivered by female leaders from a variety of fields, who shared their experiences, insights, and advice for success. The career talks were well received by attending students of all genders, and women attendees reported feeling motivated and inspired to pursue their careers.

BTH

At BTH, the department is small and there is actually only one female PhD student within ELLIIT. To support underrepresented gender, we have been involved in several programs that aim in getting young people engaged in technology.

 "Teknikdag för tjejer" - November 23, 2022: High school students from year 9 participated in this half-day event at BTH. During the day, they tried out different tech stuff combined in four workshops: app development, building a prototype car, 3D scanning, creating 3D objects, and 3D printing. Based on the evaluation from the students, they enjoyed the day very much. It is the second year BTH has organized this event. Read more at

https://bthse.sharepoint.com/lyckad-teknikdag-f%C3%B6r-tjejer-(2)

• Teknikdag för tjejer at Ericsson - January 18, 2022 and January 25, 2023 : This was a half-day event with different workshops for high school students (year 9) at Ericsson. Our students organized a workshop with lego robot programming. Approximately 40 students attended each event. Video from the event in 2022:

https://www.linkedin.com/posts/anders-bornstedt-76151a8a_ericssonkarlskrona-girlsinict-ericssonactivity-6544161315374551041-LpxL/?utm_source=share&utm_mediu_m=member_desktop

Similarly, Halmstad University's attention was on gender balance in undergraduate education. Moreover, meetings for female students were organized, where they could meet with women working in the companies' boards. The aim of this meeting was to encourage female students to pursue career in leadership. For more information:

https://www.hh.se/4.5a3f038a1683708262e1fb76.html/?url=-1225869449/api_v2/getEvent/2_0644



Report on the additional work of the gender equality team

In 2022, we aimed to isolate effective measures to improve gender equality, having at hand a limited budget, both in terms of time and money. For this, we first isolated the different focus groups:

Focus groups for gender equality actions

Promoting gender equality STEM requires a multi-pronged approach that targets a range of stakeholders, including students, educators, researchers, and institutions. Some key target groups for promoting gender equality in mathematics include:

- 1. Students: Fostering a supportive and inclusive learning environment for female students in STEM is critical to promoting gender equality in the field. This can be achieved through initiatives such as mentorship programs, female-focused clubs or activities for high schools, and female-led workshops and seminars.
- 2. Educators: Educators play a critical role in shaping students' attitudes towards mathematics and can have a significant impact on promoting gender equality in the field. This can be achieved through initiatives such as diversity and inclusion training for teachers and increasing the representation of female educators in mathematics.
- 3. Researchers: Researchers play a key role in shaping the field of mathematics and can help to promote gender equality by advocating for more inclusive policies, increasing the representation of female researchers, and promoting the work of female mathematicians.
- 4. Institutions: Institutions play a critical role in promoting gender equality in mathematics by providing resources and support for initiatives that target students, educators, and researchers, and by implementing policies and programs that promote diversity and inclusion in the field.

It's important to recognize that promoting gender equality in mathematics will require sustained effort and collaboration across these target groups, as well as continued experimentation and innovation in order to find effective approaches to this complex challenge. Additionally, it's important to recognize that gender equality in mathematics is part of a larger social and cultural issue, and that progress in promoting equality will require efforts across all sectors of society.

Which measures are effective?

It's difficult to determine which gender equality actions are the most effective as different initiatives



may have varying levels of impact depending on a variety of factors, such as the cultural context, the target audience, and the specific goals of the initiative. However, some initiatives that have been shown to be effective in promoting gender equality include:

1. Transparency: Implementing measures that enhance transparency within the department can help to ensure all members of the department that everyone's work is valued, that men and women are treated equally, and therefore to improve the work environment and make the workplace more attractive.

2. Mentorship and sponsorship programs: Providing female employees with access to role models, guidance, and support can help to close the gender gap and promote diversity and inclusion in the workplace.

3. Diversity and inclusion training: Providing training for all employees on topics such as unconscious bias, diversity, and inclusion can help to raise awareness and promote a more inclusive work environment. However, they need to be followed up by concrete action and changes in workplace culture and practices.

4. Flexible work arrangements: Offering flexible work arrangements, such as working from home, flexible schedules, and part-time work options, can help to promote gender equality by supporting women in balancing work and family responsibilities.

However, a threat to all gender equality efforts is deprecating comments from teachers and lack of buyin from leadership: Gender equality initiatives that lack support from senior leadership can be ineffective.

Plan for 2023

In 2023 we plan one overarching ELLIIT event, to bring everyone together to start building a community. Besides we consider to reserve some action funds for local activities, retaining flexibility in spending.

Overarching activities

• Main event - women's workshop: The main event aims at bringing everyone together, in a relaxed atmosphere, to start a female community.

- The event should not be in competition with the annual ELLIIT meeting where many have multiple obligations and time is tight.
- The target group is PhD and postdocs with keynotes from senior researchers.
- The event will also be used as a barometer for the current situation of female researchers in ELLIIT.

Local activities

Local activities may include

• Research internships for MSc students to give undecided talented female students a chance to experience life in an academic environment.



- Women's lunches that provide a relaxed environment to exchange experiences.
- Other local events.

Improving transparency in all levels where money and power are distributed is considered essential to generate an environment where young researchers can develop independence and take responsibility for their own funding. Making changes of this kind is a difficult task as it often targets established power structures. While no specific activities are planned yet discussions on this topic at the institutional level are consider



APPENDIX

Other recruitments in the broader ELLIIT environment

Title	Name	Site
Wallenberg WASP Professor	Hector Geffner	LiU
Associate Professor in Software Engineering	Nauman Bin Ali	BTH
Professorship in Computer Systems Engineering	Mohammad Reza Mousavi	HH
Assistant Professor in Information Technology	Yousra Alkabani	ΗΗ
Professorship in Information Technology	Mark Dougherty	нн
Professorship in Automatic Control	Claudio Altafini	LiU
Assistant Professor in Automatic Control	Isaac Skog	LiU
Professorship in Computer Science	Andrei Gurtov	LiU
Associate Professor Network Dynamics	Giacomo Como	LU
Associate Professor in Automatic Control	Martina Maggio	LU
Associate Professor in Automatic Control	Pontus Giselsson	LU
Associate Professor in Automatic Control	Kristian Soltesz	LU
Associate Professor in Computer Science	Christoph Reichenbach	LU
Associate Professor in Computer Science	Emma Söderberg	LU
Professorship in Computer Science	Volker Kreuger	LU
Assistant Professor in Computer Science	Luigi Nardi	LU
Guest Professor 2016 –	Liesbet Van der Perre	LU
Guest Professor 2018 – 2020	Ulrike Thomas	LU
Assistant professor, Electrical and Information Techn.	Amir Aminifar	LU
Associate professor, Electrical and Information Techn.	Emma Fitzgerald	LU
Associate professor in Automatic Control	Emma Tegling	LU
Assistant Professor in Mathematics	Magnus Oscarsson	LU
Associate Professor in Automatic Control	Björn Olofsson	LU



List of Ph.D. and licentiate defenses

Name	Gender	Industry-based PhD student (yes or no)	Degree (licentiate/doctoral)
Ahrnbom, Martin (LU)	Male	no	PhD
Akbarian, Fatemeh (LU)	Female	no	Licentiate
Becirovic, Ema (LiU)	Female	no	PhD
Berg, Axel (LU)	Male	no	Licentiate
Berner, Tommi (LU)	Male	no	PhD
Couderc, Noric (LU)	Male	no	Licentiate
Ernstsson, August (LiU)	Male	no	PhD
Hrusto, Adha (LU)	Female	yes	Licentiate
Kjellqvist, Olle (LU)	Male	no	Licentiate
Li, Xuhong (LU)	Female	no	PhD
Mandrioli, Claudio (LU)	Male	no	PhD
Minhas, Nasir Mehmood (BTH)	Male	no	PhD
Morales, Oscar (LiU)	Male	no	PhD
Morin, Martin (LU)	Male	no	PhD
Nordlöf, Jonas (LiU)	Male	yes	Licentiate
Rezk, Nesma (HH)	Female	no	PhD
Rodríguez Sánchez, Jesús (LU)	Male	no	PhD
Ros, Rasmus (LU)	Male	no	PhD
Rosdahl, Christian (LU)	Male	no	Licentiate
Ruuskanen, Johan (LU)	Male	no	PhD
Sadeghi, Hamed (LU)	Male	no	PhD
Sidorenko, Galina (HH)	Female	no	Licentiate
Song, Qunying (LU)	Male	no	Licentiate
Tinnerholm, John (LiU)	Male	no	Licentiate
Tran, Vi (BTH)	Female	no	Licentiate
Umar Farooq, Muhammad (LU)	Male	no	PhD
Willhammar, Sara (LU)	Female	no	PhD



Guest researchers and visiting students

Will Woodman, School of Mathematics, Statistics and Physics, Newcastle University (November 2022) Guojin Zhang, Aalborg University, visiting PhD student, March-June 2022 Alexander Marin

List of invited talks, keynotes, plenaries, tutorials and other significant dissemination events

Name of presenter	Title of talk/keynote/tutorial	Conference name (if applicable)	Place (city and country)
Atila Alvandpour (LiU)	A large series (> 20) tutorials and talks on design of efficient integrated circuits and chip design		Some online and some in LiU/ISY (LiU-Saab-Brazil collaboration)
Lars Nielsen (LiU)	Force-Centric Perspectives on Autonomous Safety Maneuvers	Advances in Automotive Control	Columbus, Ohio
Yiannis Karayiannidis (LU)	Manipulation of Deformable Linear Objects: From simulation to real world experiments	3 rd workshop on Robotic Manipulation of Deformable Objects: challenges in perception, planning and control for Soft Interaction (ROMADO-SI) at IROS 2022	Kyoto, Japan
Michael Lentmaier (LU)	Generalized LDPC codes with Convolutional Code Constraints	Keynote, IEEE Globecom Workshop on channel coding beyond 5G, Dec 2022	Rio, Brazil



List of distinguished lectures 2022

- [1] 2022-04-01 Dr. Lucy Ellen Lwakatare, Helsinki University, Finland Development of ML-enabled systems in industrial settings – An overview of practices, infrastructures, and research opportunities
 [2] 2022-04-01 Dr. Lucy Ellen Lwakatare, Helsinki University, Finland
- [2] 2022-04-01 Docent Gregory Gay, Chalmers/ Gothemburg University, Sweden Learning How to Search: Generating Effective Test Cases Through Adaptive Fitness Function Selection
- [3] 2022-05-11 Prof. Rui Dinis, Nova university, Lisbon, Portugal
 Nonlinear effects in digital communications: analytical evaluation of their effects and how to use them to improve the performance
- [4] 2022-05-17 Prof. Martin Shepperd, Gothenburg University/Brunel University London, UK The Prevalence of Errors in Machine Learning Experiments
- [5] 2022-05-19 Prof. Jeannette Wing, Columbia University, New York, USA Thrustworthy Al
- [6] 2022-05-24 Prof. John S. Baras, University of Maryland College Park (UMD), USA Three lectures: From Copernicus-Brahe-Kepler to Swarms: Learning Composable Laws from Observed Trajectories; Trusted Autonomy: Theory and Applications; Networked Cyber Physical Systems
- [7] 2022-06-10 Dr. Chris Rackauckas, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, USA Scientific Machine Learning: Where We Are and Where We Need to Go
- [8] 2022-10-06 Prof. Lars Nielsen, Linköping University, Sweden Force-Centric Perspectives on Autonomous Safety Maneuvers
- [9] 2022-10-12 Prof. Timo Rahkonen, University of Oulo, Finland RF IC design challenges for future 6G systems
- [10] 2022-10-13 Prof. Christoph Studer, ETH Zürich, Switzerland Wireless Positioning with Channel State Information and Channel Charting
- [11] 2022-10-14 Prof. Alexandre Proutiere, KTH, Stockholm, Sweden Learning Optimal Antenna Tilt Control Policies: A Contextual Linear Bandit Approach
- [12] 2022-10-17 Prof. Snorre Aunet from NTNU, Trondheim, Norway Towards sub-100 mV VDD CMOS
- [13] 2022-10-18 Dr. Fabian Fagerholm, Aalto University, Finland Designing The Right Software: Continuous experimentation and design decision-making in modern software engineering
- [14] 2022-10-21 Dr. Hei Victor Cheng, Aarhus University, Denmark New perspectives on communication environment: creation of smart radio environment and information modulation through the environment via reconfigurable intelligent surface

[15] 2022-12-08 Prof. Karl-Erik Årzén, Lund University, Sweden Modeling, Control and Learning for Improved Cloud Predictability



References 2022

Scientific peer-reviewed publications in refereed journals

- [1] K. Aduse-Poku, E. van Bergen, S. Sáfián, S. C. Collins, R. S. Etienne, L. Herrera-Alsina, P. M. Brakefield, O. Brattström, D. J. Lohman, and N. Wahlberg, 'Miocene Climate and Habitat Change Drove Diversification in Bicyclus, Africa's Largest Radiation of Satyrine Butterflies', Systematic Biology, vol. 71, no. 3, pp. 570–588, 2022.
- [2] S. R. Aghazadeh, H. Martinez-Garcia, E. Barajas-Ojeda, and A. Saberkari, 'A 3-5-GHz, 385-540ps CMOS true time delay element for ultra-wideband antenna arrays', AEU - International Journal of Electronics and Communications, vol. 149, p. 154175, 2022.
- [3] F. Agner, P. Kergus, R. Pates, and A. Rantzer, 'Combating district heating bottlenecks using load control', Smart Energy, vol. 6, p. 100067, 2022.
- [4] G. Ahani, D. Yuan, and S. Sun, 'Optimal Scheduling of Age-centric Caching: Tractability and Computation', IEEE Transactions on Mobile Computing, vol. 21, pp. 2939–2954, 2022.
- I. Ahmad, J. Suomalainen, P. Porambage, A. Gurtov, J. Huusko, and M. Höyhtyä, 'Security of Satellite-Terrestrial Communications: Challenges and Potential Solutions', IEEE Access, vol. 10, pp. 96038–96052, 2022.
- [6] F. Ahmed, P. Ding, U. Ail, M. Warczak, A. Grimoldi, T. Ederth, K. Håkansson, M. Vagin, V. Gueskine, M. Berggren, and X. Crispin, 'Manufacturing Poly(3,4-Ethylenedioxythiophene)
 Electrocatalytic Sheets for Large-Scale H2O2 Production', Advanced Sustainable Systems, vol. 6, no. 1, p. 2100316, 2022.
- [7] N. bin Ali and B. Tanveer, 'A Comparison of Citation Sources for Reference and Citation-Based Search in Systematic Literature Reviews', e-Informatica Software Engineering Journal, vol. 16, no. 1, p. 220106, 2022.
- [8] H. Aliakbari Abar, M. Mosalanejad, C. Soens, G. A. E. Vandenbosch, and B. K. Lau, '79 GHz multilayer series-fed patch antenna array with stacked micro-via loading', IEEE Antennas and Wireless Propagation Letters, vol. 21, no. 10, pp. 1990–1994, 2022.
- S. Allipuram, P. Mohapatra, N. Pappas, S. Parmar, and S. Chakrabarti, 'Performance Analysis of a MIMO System With Bursty Traffic in the Presence of Energy Harvesting Jammer', IEEE Transactions on Green Communications and Networking, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 1157–1172, 2022.
- [10] C. Altafini, G. Como, J. M. Hendrickx, A. Olshevsky, and A. Tahbaz-Salehi, 'Guest Editorial Special Issue on Dynamics and Behaviors in Social Networks', IEEE Transactions on Control of Network Systems, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 1053–1055, 2022.



- [11] D. I. Alves, C. Muller, B. G. Palm, M. Pettersson, V. T. Vu, R. Machado, B. F. Uchoa-Filho, P. Dammert, and H. Hellsten, 'Neyman-Pearson Criterion-Based Change Detection Methods for Wavelength-Resolution SAR Image Stacks', IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters, vol. 19, pp. 1–5, 2022.
- [12] O. Amador Molina, M. Aramrattana, and A. Vinel, 'A Survey on Remote Operation of Road Vehicles', IEEE Access, pp. 130135–130154, 2022.
- [13] O. Amador, M. Urueña, M. Calderon, and I. Soto, 'Evaluation and improvement of ETSI ITS Contention-Based Forwarding (CBF) of warning messages in highway scenarios', Vehicular Communications, vol. 34, p. 100454, 2022.
- [14] A. Andersen, A. E. O. Persson, and L. Wernersson, 'As-deposited ferroelectric HZO on a III–V semiconductor', Applied Physics Letters, vol. 121, no. 1, pp. 012901–012901, 2022.
- [15] A. Andersson and M. Gullberg, 'First language matters: ERPs show crosslinguistic influence on the processing of placement verb semantics', Frontiers in Psychology, vol. 13, pp. 1–19, 2022.
- [16] G. Andersson, K. Ellegård, P. Bülow, A. Denhov, K. Vrotsou, C.-G. Stefansson, and A. Topor, 'A longitudinal study of men and women diagnosed with psychosis: trajectories revealing interventions in a time-geographic framework', GeoJournal, pp. 2423–2440, 2022.
- [17] S. Andric, O.-P. Kilpi, R. Mamidala Saketh, J. Svensson, E. Lind, and L.-E. Wernersson, 'Performance, Analysis, and Modeling of III-V Vertical Nanowire MOSFETs on Si at Higher Voltages', IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, vol. 69, no. 6, pp. 3055–3055, 2022.
- [18] S. Andric, F. Lindelow, L. O. Fhager, E. Lind, and L. E. Wernersson, 'Lateral III-V Nanowire MOSFETs in Low-Noise Amplifier Stages', IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques, vol. 70, no. 2, pp. 1284–1291, 2022.
- [19] P. Anistratov, B. Olofsson, and L. Nielsen, 'Analysis and design of recovery behaviour of autonomous-vehicle avoidance manoeuvres', Vehicle System Dynamics, vol. 60, no. 7, pp. 2231–2254, 2022.
- [20] M. Anwar, L. Lundberg, and A. Borg, 'Improving anomaly detection in SCADA network communication with attribute extension', Energy Informatics, vol. 5, no. 1, 2022.
- [21] G. F. Araujo, R. Machado, and M. Pettersson, 'Non-Cooperative SAR Automatic Target Recognition Based on Scattering Centers Models', Sensors, vol. 22, no. 3, p. 1293, 2022.
- [22] A. Armada Moreira, C. Diacci, A. M. Manan Dar, M. Berggren, D. Simon, and E. Stavrinidou, 'Benchmarking organic electrochemical transistors for plant electrophysiology', Frontiers in Plant Science, vol. 13, 2022.
- [23] D. Arnström and D. Axehill, 'A Unifying Complexity Certification Framework for Active-Set Methods for Convex Quadratic Programming', IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, vol. 67, no. 6, pp. 2758–2770, 2022.



- [24] D. Arnström, A. Bemporad, and D. Axehill, 'A Dual Active-Set Solver for Embedded Quadratic Programming Using Recursive LDLT Updates', IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, vol. 67, no. 8, pp. 4362–4369, 2022.
- [25] D. Arnström, A. Bemporad, and D. Axehill, 'A Linear Programming Method Based on Proximal-Point Iterations with Applications to Multi-Parametric Programming', IEEE Control Systems Letters, vol. 6, pp. 2066–2071, 2022.
- [26] I. Arvidsson, A. Davidsson, N. C. Overgaard, C. Pagonis, K. Åström, E. Good, J. Frias-Rose, A. Heyden, and M. Ochoa-Figueroa, 'Deep learning prediction of quantitative coronary angiography values using myocardial perfusion images with a CZT camera', Journal of Nuclear Cardiology, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 116–126, 2022.
- [27] R. Athle, T. Blom, A. Irish, A. E. O. Persson, L. E. Wernersson, R. Timm, and M. Borg, 'Improved Endurance of Ferroelectric HfxZr1–xO2 Integrated on InAs Using Millisecond Annealing', Advanced Materials Interfaces, vol. 9, no. 27, p. 2201038, 2022.
- [28] R. Athle, A. E. O. Persson, A. Troian, and M. Borg, 'Top Electrode Engineering for Freedom in Design and Implementation of Ferroelectric Tunnel Junctions Based on Hf1- xZrxO2', ACS Applied Electronic Materials, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 1002–1009, 2022.
- [29] M. Attari, L. Ferreira, L. Liu, and S. Malkowsky, 'An Application Specific Vector Processor for Efficient Massive MIMO Processing', IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, pp. 1–12, 2022.
- [30] D. Badampudi, F. Fotrousi, B. Cartaxo, and M. Usman, 'Reporting Consent, Anonymity and Confidentiality Procedures Adopted in Empirical Studies Using Human Participants', e-Informatica Software Engineering Journal, vol. 16, no. 1, p. 220109, 2022.
- [31] A. Baeuerle, C. van Onzenoodt, S. der Kinderen, J. Johansson Westberg, D. Jönsson, and T. Ropinski, 'Where did my Lines go? Visualizing Missing Data in Parallel Coordinates', Computer graphics forum (Print), vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 235–246, 2022.
- [32] S. Baghersalimi, T. Teijeiro, D. Atienza, and A. Aminifar, 'Personalized Real-Time Federated Learning for Epileptic Seizure Detection', IEEE Journal of Biomedical and Health Informatics, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 898–909, 2022.
- [33] J. Bai and E. G. Larsson, 'Activity Detection in Distributed MIMO: Distributed AMP via Likelihood Ratio Fusion', IEEE Wireless Communications Letters, vol. 11, no. 10, pp. 2200– 2204, 2022.
- [34] A. Baiocchi, I. Turcanu, and A. Vinel, 'Age of Information in CSMA-based Networks with Bursty Update Traffic', IEEE Access, pp. 44088–44105, 2022.
- [35] K. Bartoszek and M. Okroj, 'Controversies around the statistical presentation of data on mRNA-COVID 19 vaccine safety in pregnant women', Journal of Reproductive Immunology, vol. 151, p. 103503, 2022.



- [36] R. H. Bayford, R. Damaso, N. Neshatvar, Y. Ivanenko, T. W. Rademacher, Y. Wu, N. Seifnaraghi,
 L. Ghali, N. Patel, I. Roitt, S. Nordebo, and A. Demosthenous, 'Locating Functionalized Gold
 Nanoparticles Using Electrical Impedance Tomography', IEEE Transactions on Biomedical
 Engineering, pp. 494–502, 2022.
- [37] R. H. Bayford, R. Damaso, N. Neshatvar, Y. Ivanenko, T. W. Rademacher, Y. Wu, N. Seifnaraghi,
 L. Ghali, N. Patel, I. Roitt, S. Nordebo, and A. Demosthenous, 'Locating Functionalized Gold
 Nanoparticles Using Electrical Impedance Tomography', IEEE Transactions on Biomedical
 Engineering, pp. 494–502, 2022.
- [38] E. Becirovic, E. Björnson, and E. G. Larsson, 'Combining Reciprocity and CSI Feedback in MIMO Systems', IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, vol. 21, no. 11, pp. 10065–10080, 2022.
- [39] A. Behrens, J. Sanmartin Berglund, and P. Anderberg, 'CoGNIT Automated Tablet Computer Cognitive Testing in Patients with Mild Cognitive Impairment: Feasibility Study', JMIR Formative Research, vol. 6, no. 3, p. e23589, 2022.
- [40] D. Belaineh Yilma, R. Brooke, N. Sani, M. G. Say, K. M. Håkansson, I. Engquist, M. Berggren, and J. Edberg, 'Printable carbon-based supercapacitors reinforced with cellulose and conductive polymers', Journal of Energy Storage, vol. 50, p. 104224, 2022.
- [41] A. Belgacem, S. Mahmoudi, and M. Kihl, 'Intelligent multi-agent reinforcement learning model for resources allocation in cloud computing', Journal of King Saud University -Computer and Information Sciences, vol. 34, no. 6, pp. 2391–2404, 2022.
- [42] K. E. Bennin, A. Tahir, S. G. MacDonell, and J. Börstler, 'An empirical study on the effectiveness of data resampling approaches for cross-project software defect prediction', IET Software, pp. 185–199, 2022.
- [43] M. Berggren, E. Glowacki, D. T. Simon, E. Stavrinidou, and K. Tybrandt, 'In Vivo Organic Bioelectronics for Neuromodulation', Chemical Reviews, vol. 122, no. 4, pp. 4826–4846, 2022.
- [44] J. Bernard and K. Vrotsou, 'Foreword to Special Section on EuroVA 2021', Computers & graphics, vol. 107, pp. A9–A9, 2022.
- [45] Bernardo, C. Altafini, and F. Vasca, 'Finite-time convergence of opinion dynamics in homogeneous asymmetric bounded confidence models', European Journal of Control, vol. 68, p. 100674, 2022.
- [46] J. Berner, A. L. D. Moraes, J. Sanmartin Berglund, and P. Anderberg, 'Technology anxiety and technology enthusiasm versus digital ageism', Gerontechnology, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 1–8, 2022.
- [47] S. Biswas and S. Dey, 'Asymptotic Performance Analysis of Distributed Non-Bayesian Quickest Change Detection with Energy Harvesting Sensors', IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems, pp. 3697–3707, 2022.



- [48] E. Bjarnason, B. Gislason Bern, and L. Svedberg, 'Inter-Team Communication in Large-Scale
 Co-Located Software Engineering: A Case Study', Empirical Software Engineering, vol. 27, no.
 2, 2022.
- [49] A. Borg and M. Svensson, 'All Burglaries Are Not the Same: Predicting Near-Repeat Burglaries in Cities Using Modus Operandi', ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information, vol. 11, no. 3, p. 160, 2022.
- [50] P. Boström-Rost, D. Axehill, and G. Hendeby, 'PMBM Filter With Partially Grid-Based Birth Model with Applications in Sensor Management', IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems, pp. 530–540, 2022.
- [51] Boutry et al., 'The Adjuvanted Recombinant Zoster Vaccine Confers Long-Term Protection Against Herpes Zoster: Interim Results of an Extension Study of the Pivotal Phase 3 Clinical Trials ZOE-50 and ZOE-70', Clinical Infectious Diseases, vol. 74, no. 8, pp. 1459–1467, 2022.
- [52] M. Boyden, A. Basirat, and K. Berglund, 'Digital Conceptual History and the Emergence of a Globalized Climate Imaginary', Contributions to the History of Concepts, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 95–122, 2022.
- [53] Brissman, J. Johnander, M. Danelljan, and M. Felsberg, 'Recurrent Graph Neural Networks for Video Instance Segmentation', International Journal of Computer Vision, vol. 131, no. 2, pp. 471–495, 2022.
- [54] R. Brooke, M. Lay, K. Jain, H. Francon, M. G. Say, D. Belaineh Yilma, X. Wang, K. Håkansson,
 L. Wågberg, I. Engquist, J. Edberg, and M. Berggren, 'Nanocellulose and PEDOT:PSS composites and their applications', Polymer Reviews, vol. 63, no. 2, pp. 437–477, 2022.
- [55] J. Broz, T. Tichy, V. Angelakis, and Z. Belinova, 'Usage of V2X Applications in Road Tunnels', Applied Sciences, vol. 12, no. 9, p. 4624, 2022.
- [56] X. Cai, X. Cheng, and F. Tufvesson, 'Toward 6G with Terahertz Communications: Understanding the Propagation Channels', IEEE Communications Magazine, 2022.
- [57] A. B. Campos, M. Pettersson, V. T. Vu, and R. Machado, 'False Alarm Reduction in Wavelength-Resolution SAR Change Detection Schemes by Using a Convolutional Neural Network', IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters, vol. 19, pp. 1–5, 2022.
- [58] M. Capek, J. Lundgren, M. Gustafsson, K. Schab, and L. Jelinek, 'Characteristic Mode Decomposition Using the Scattering Dyadic in Arbitrary Full-Wave Solvers', IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation, pp. 1–1, 2022.
- [59] B. Casas Garcia, L. Vilen, S. Bauer, K. P. Kanebratt, C. W. Huldt, L. Magnusson, U. Marx, T. B. Andersson, P. Gennemark, and G. Cedersund, 'Integrated experimental-computational analysis of a HepaRG liver-islet microphysiological system for human-centric diabetes research', PLOS One, vol. 18, no. 10, p. e1010587, 2022.
- [60] A. Chatzimparmpas, R. M. Martins, K. Kucher, and A. Kerren, 'FeatureEnVi: Visual Analytics for Feature Engineering Using Stepwise Selection and Semi-Automatic Extraction



Approaches', IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics, pp. 1773–1791, 2022.

- [61] X. Chen, D. Badampudi, and M. Usman, 'Reuse in Contemporary Software Engineering Practices - An Exploratory Case Study in A Medium-sized Company', e-Informatica Software Engineering Journal, vol. 16, no. 1, p. 220110, 2022.
- [62] X. Chen, E. G. Larsson, and K. Huang, 'Analog MIMO Communication for One-Shot Distributed Principal Component Analysis', IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing, vol. 70, pp. 3328– 3342, 2022.
- [63] J. Cheng, Y. Yan, A. Jakobsson, and W. Q. Wang, 'FDA-MIMO radar detection for independent and nonidentically distributed fluctuating targets', Digital Signal Processing: A Review Journal, vol. 129, p. 103634, 2022.
- [64] J. Cheng, C. Shen, Z. Chen, and N. Pappas, 'Robust Beamforming Design for IRS-Aided URLLC in D2D Networks', IEEE Transactions on Communications, vol. 70, no. 9, pp. 6035–6049, 2022.
- [65] J. H. Cheon and T. Johansson, 'Preface', 13th International Conference on Post-Quantum Cryptography, PQCrypto 2022, 2022.
- Y. Cherdantseva, P. Burnap, S. Nadjm-Tehrani, and K. Jones, 'A Configurable Dependency Model of a SCADA System for Goal-Oriented Risk Assessment', Applied Sciences, vol. 12, no. 10, p. 4880, 2022.
- [67] M. K. Chung, L. Liu, and O. Edfors, 'Phase-Noise Compensation for OFDM Systems Exploiting Coherence Bandwidth: Modeling, Algorithms, and Analysis', IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, vol. 21, no. 5, pp. 3040–3056, 2022.
- [68] G. Como, S. Durand, and F. Fagnani, 'Optimal Targeting in Super-Modular Games', IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, vol. 67, no. 12, pp. 6366–6380, 2022.
- [69] G. Como, F. Fagnani, and A. V. Proskurnikov, 'Reaching Optimal Distributed Estimation Through Myopic Self-Confidence Adaptation', 25th IFAC Symposium on Mathematical Theory of Networks and Systems, MTNS 2022, Bayreuthl, pp. 442–447, 2022.
- [70] G. Como and R. Maggistro, 'Distributed Dynamic Pricing of Multiscale Transportation Networks', IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, vol. 67, no. 4, pp. 1625–1638, 2022.
- [71] M. C. Coskun, G. Liva, A. G. i. Amat, M. Lentmaier, and H. D. Pfister, 'Successive Cancellation Decoding of Single Parity-Check Product Codes: Analysis and Improved Decoding', IEEE Transactions on Information Theory, pp. 1–1, 2022.
- S. Criten, P. Andersson, S. Renvert, B. Götrick, J. Sanmartin Berglund, and V. W. Bengtsson, 'Oral health status among 60-year-old individuals born in 1941-1943 and 1954-1955 and 81year-old individuals born in 1922-1924 and 1933-1934, respectively: a cross-sectional study', Clinical Oral Investigations, vol. 26, no. 11, pp. 6733–6742, 2022.
- [73] Curry, F. Heintz, M. Irgens, A. W. M. Smeulders, and S. Stramigioli, 'Partnership on AI, Data, and Robotics', Communications of the ACM, vol. 65, no. 4, pp. 54–55, 2022.



- [74] D'Acunto, E. Kokkonen, P. Shayesteh, V. Boix, F. Rehman, Z. Mosahebfard, E. Lind, J. Schnadt, and R. Timm, 'Oxygen relocation during HfO2 ALD on InAs', Faraday Discussions, vol. 236, pp. 71–85, 2022.
- [75] Dahlberg, A. E. O. Persson, R. Athle, and L. E. Wernersson, 'Ferroelectric-Antiferroelectric Transition of Hf1- xZrxO2on Indium Arsenide with Enhanced Ferroelectric Characteristics for Hf0.2Zr0.8O2', ACS Applied Electronic Materials, vol. 4, no. 12, pp. 6357–6363, Dec. 2022.
- [76] W. Daniel, I. Jusufi, R. M. Martins, K. Kucher, and A. Kerren, 'Interactive Optimization of Embedding-based Text Similarity Calculations', Information Visualization, pp. 335–353, 2022.
- [77] S. K. Dasari, A. Cheddad, J. Palmquist, and L. Lundberg, 'Clustering-based Adaptive Data Augmentation for Class-imbalance in Machine Learning (CADA): Additive Manufacturing Usecase', Neural Computing & Applications, 2022.
- [78] F. G. R. de Souza, C. M. Hirata, and S. Nadjm-Tehrani, 'Synthesis of a Controller Algorithm for Safety-Critical Systems', IEEE Access, vol. 10, pp. 76351–76375, 2022.
- [79] S. Debreslioska and M. Gullberg, 'Information status predicts the incidence of gesture in discourse: An experimental study', Discourse Processes, vol. 59, no. 10, pp. 791–827, Dec. 2022.
- [80] Q. Delooz, A. Willecke, K. Garlichs, A. C. Hagau, L. Wolf, A. Vinel, and A. Festag, 'Analysis and Evaluation of Information Redundancy Mitigation for V2X Collective Perception', IEEE Access, vol. 10, pp. 47076–47093, 2022.
- [81] A. Dhar, S. B. Roy, and S. Bhasin, 'Initial Excitation based Discrete-time Multi-Model Adaptive Online Identification', European Journal of Control, vol. 68, p. 100672, 2022.
- [82] X. Ding, H. Liang, A. Jakobsson, X. Tu, and Y. Huang, 'High-resolution source localization exploiting the sparsity of the beamforming map', Signal Processing, vol. 192, p. 108377, 2022.
- [83] P. Doherty and A. Szalas, 'A landscape and implementation framework for probabilistic rough sets using PROBLOG', Information Sciences, vol. 593, pp. 546–576, 2022.
- [84] Ducrocq, N. Chopin, J. Errard, and R. Stompor, 'Improved Gibbs samplers for cosmic microwave background power spectrum estimation', Physical Review D: covering particles, fields, gravitation, and cosmology, vol. 105, no. 10, 2022.
- [85] A. Dutceac Segesten, M. Bossetta, N. Holmberg, and D. C. Niehorster, 'The Cueing Power of Comments on Social Media: How Disagreement in Facebook Comments Affects User Engagement with News', Information, Communication & Society, vol. 25, no. 8, pp. 1115– 1134, 2022.
- [86] G. Ekström, D. C. Niehorster, and E. J. Olsson, 'Self-imposed Filter Bubbles: Selective Attention and Exposure in Online Search', Computers in Human Behavior Reports, vol. 7, p. 100226, 2022.
- [87] F. Ekström Kelvinius, R. Armiento, and F. Lindsten, 'Graph-based machine learning beyond stable materials and relaxed crystal structures', Physical Review Materials, vol. 6, no. 3, 2022.



- [88] S. N. Emhardt, H. Jarodzka, S. Brand-Gruwel, C. Drumm, D. C. Niehorster, and T. van Gog, 'What is my teacher talking about? Effects of displaying the teacher's gaze and mouse cursor cues in video lectures on students' learning', Journal of Cognitive Psychology, vol. 34, no. 7, pp. 846–864, 2022.
- [89] D. Enlund, K. Harrison, R. Ringdahl, A. Börütecene, J. Löwgren, and V. Angelakis, 'The role of sensors in the production of smart city spaces', Big Data and Society, vol. 9, no. 2, p. 205395172211102, 2022.
- [90] A. Ernstsson, N. Vandenbergen, J. Keller, and C. Kessler, 'A Deterministic Portable Parallel Pseudo-Random Number Generator for Pattern-Based Programming of Heterogeneous Parallel Systems', International journal of parallel programming, vol. 50, pp. 319–340, 2022.
- [91] E. Fitzgerald, M. Pióro, H. Tataria, G. Callebaut, S. Gunnarsson, and L. Van der Perre, 'A Light Signaling Approach to Node Grouping for Massive MIMO IoT Networks', Computers, vol. 11, no. 6, p. 98, 2022.
- [92] Flyborg, S. Renvert, J. Sanmartin Berglund, and P. Anderberg, 'Use of a powered toothbrush to improve oral health in individuals with mild cognitive impairment', Gerodontology, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 74–82, 2022.
- [93] A.Fontan and C. Altafini, 'The role of frustration in collective decision-making dynamical processes on multiagent signed networks', IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, pp. 5191–5206, 2022.
- [94] V. Fors, B. Olofsson, and E. Frisk, 'Resilient Branching MPC for Multi-Vehicle Traffic Scenarios Using Adversarial Disturbance Sequences', IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Vehicles, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 838–848, 2022.
- [95] R. Forsling, A. Hansson, F. Gustafsson, Z. Sjanic, J. Löfberg, and G. Hendeby, 'Conservative Linear Unbiased Estimation Under Partially Known Covariances', IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing, vol. 70, pp. 3123–3135, 2022.
- [96] E. Fountoulakis, T. Charalambous, N. Nomikos, A. Ephremides, and N. Pappas, 'Information Freshness and Packet Drop Rate Interplay in a Two-User Multi-Access Channel', Journal of Communications and Networks, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 357–364, 2022.
- [97] A. Franco, B. Landfeldt, C. Nyberg, and U. Körner, 'Statistical guarantee of timeliness in networks of IoT devices', Telecommunication Systems, vol. 80, no. 4, pp. 487–496, Jun. 2022.
- [98] Fredriksson, A. A. Sezer, V. Angelakis, and D. Gundlegård, 'Construction related urban disturbances: Identification and linking with an IoT-model', Automation in Construction, vol. 134, p. 104038, 2022.
- [99] Z. F. Fric, B. Martinkova, M. Rindos, A. Suchackova Bartonova, N. Wahlberg, and J. Papp Maresova, 'Molecular phylogeny and biogeography of the genus *Symbrenthia* (Lepidoptera, Nymphalidae) correlates with the past geography of the Oriental region', Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution, vol. 177, p. 107605, 2022.



- [100] A. Fyhr, J. Persson, and Å. Ek, 'Usage and usability of a national e-library for chemotherapy regimens: a mixed method study', JMIR Human Factors, vol. 9, no. e33651, pp. 1–8, 2022.
- [101] N. S. Garigapati, L. Södergren, P. Olausson, and E. Lind, 'Strained Inx Ga(1-x)As/InP near surface quantum wells and MOSFETs', Applied Physics Letters, vol. 120, no. 9, p. 092105, 2022.
- [102] Y. Gerasimov, A. Halder, A. H. Mousa, S. Ghosh, H. Padinhare, T. Abrahamsson, D. Bliman, J. Strandberg, M. Massetti, I. Zozoulenko, D. T. Simon, M. Berggren, R. Olsson, and S. Fabiano, 'Rational Materials Design for In Operando Electropolymerization of Evolvable Organic Electrochemical Transistors', Advanced Functional Materials, vol. 32, no. 32, p. 2202292, 2022.
- [103] Gerdin and H. Englund, 'Vertical, horizontal, and self control in academia: Survey evidence on their diverging effects on perceived researcher autonomy and identity', The British Accounting Review, vol. 54, no. 5, p. 101055, 2022.
- [104] H. R. Ghanavi, V. Twort, T. J. Hartman, R. Zahiri, and N. Wahlberg, 'The (non) accuracy of mitochondrial genomes for family-level phylogenetics in Erebidae (Lepidoptera)', Zoologica Scripta, vol. 51, no. 6, pp. 695–707, 2022.
- [105] Z. Ghani, S. Saha, J. Jarl, M. Andersson, J. Sanmartin Berglund, and P. Anderberg, 'Short Term Economic Evaluation of the Digital Platform "Support, Monitoring and Reminder Technology for Mild Dementia" (SMART4MD) for People with Mild Cognitive Impairment and their Informal Caregivers', Journal of Alzheimer's Disease, pp. 1629–1641, 2022.
- [106] A. Ghazanfari, T. V. Chien, E. Björnson, and E. G. Larsson, 'Model-Based and Data-Driven Approaches for Downlink Massive MIMO Channel Estimation', IEEE Transactions on Communications, vol. 70, no. 3, pp. 2085–2101, 2022.
- [107] S. N. Ghazi, P. Anderberg, J. Sanmartin Berglund, J. Berner, and A. L. D. Moraes, 'Psychological Health and Digital Social Participation of the Older Adults during the COVID-19 Pandemic in Blekinge, Sweden—An Exploratory Study', International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, vol. 19, no. 6, p. 3711, 2022.
- [108] H. Ghorbani Shiraz, Z. Ullah Khan, D. Pere, X. Liu, Y. Coppel, M. Fahlman, M. Berggren, R. Chmielowski, M. L. Kahn, M. Vagin, and X. Crispin, '3R-TaS2 as an Intercalation-Dependent Electrified Interface for Hydrogen Reduction and Oxidation Reactions', The Journal of Physical Chemistry C, vol. 126, no. 40, pp. 17056–17065, 2022.
- [109] H. Ghorbani Shiraz, M. Vagin, T.-P. Ruoko, V. Gueskine, K. Karon, M. Lapkowski, T. Abrahamsson, T. Ederth, M. Berggren, and X. Crispin, 'Towards electrochemical hydrogen storage in liquid organic hydrogen carriers via proton-coupled electron transfers', Journal of Energy Challenges and Mechanics, vol. 73, pp. 292–300, 2022.



- [110] A. Gibali, P. Giselsson, and T. Humphries, 'Editorial a Special Issue on Projection and Splitting Methods and Their Applications', Journal of Applied and Numerical Optimization, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 129–130, 2022.
- [111] J. Gladisch, V. Oikonomou, M. Moser, S. Griggs, I. McCulloch, M. Berggren, and E. Stavrinidou,
 'An Electroactive Filter with Tunable Porosity Based on Glycolated Polythiophene', Small Science, vol. 2, no. 4, p. 2100113, 2022.
- [112] A. Govaert, L. Zino, and E. Tegling, 'Population Games on Dynamic Community Networks', IEEE Control Systems Letters, vol. 6, pp. 2695–2700, 2022.
- [113] P. Graham, L. Andersson, M. W. Toucher, J. Wikner, and J. Wilk, 'Seasonal local rainfall and hydrological forecasting for Limpopo communities - A pragmatic approach', Climate Services, vol. 27, p. 100308, 2022.
- [114] S. Gregory and M. Borg, 'Looking Back, Moving Forward: A Handover', IEEE Software, vol. 39, no. 5, pp. 17–20, 2022.
- [115] M. Greiff, M. Deghat, Z. Sun, and A. Robertsson, 'Target Localization and Circumnavigation with Integral Action in R2', IEEE Control Systems Letters, vol. 6, pp. 1250–1255, 2022.
- [116] C. Grussler and P. Giselsson, 'Efficient Proximal Mapping Computation for Low-Rank Inducing Norms', Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications, vol. 192, no. 1, pp. 168–194, 2022.
- [117] J. Guedes, P. C. Patel, C. Kowalkowski, and P. Oghazi, 'Family business, servitization, and performance: Evidence from Portugal', Technological forecasting & social change, vol. 185, p. 122053, 2022.
- [118] Q. Guo, C. Hlauschek, T. Johansson, N. Lahr, A. Nilsson, and R. L. Schröder, 'Don't Reject This: Key-Recovery Timing Attacks Due to Rejection-Sampling in HQC and BIKE', IACR Transactions on Cryptographic Hardware and Embedded Systems (TCHES), vol. 2022, no. 3, pp. 223–263, 2022.
- [119] Q. Guo, A. Johansson, and T. Johansson, 'A Key-Recovery Side-Channel Attack on Classic McEliece Implementations', IACR Transactions on Cryptographic Hardware and Embedded Systems (TCHES), vol. 2022, no. 4, pp. 800–827, 2022.
- [120] V. Gupta, E. Bjarnason, and C. Gupta, 'Strategic Prototyping Technology Adoption in Startups: Framework, Challenges, and Opportunities', IT Professional: technology solutions for the enterprise, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 88–95, 2022.
- [121] M. Gustafsson, L. Jelinek, K. Schab, and M. Capek, 'Unified Theory of Characteristic Modes:
 Part I: Fundamentals', IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation, pp. 11801–11813, 2022.
- [122] M. Gustafsson, L. Jelinek, K. Schab, and M. Capek, 'Unified Theory of Characteristic Modes: Part II - Tracking, Losses, and FEM Evaluation', IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation, vol. 70, no. 12, pp. 11814–11824, 2022.



- [123] O. Günlü, R. F. Schaefer, H. Boche, and H. V. Poor, 'Private Key and Decoder Side Information for Secure and Private Source Coding', Entropy, vol. 24, no. 12, p. 1716, 2022.
- [124] M. Hamdi, A. Ben Hamed, D. Yuan, and M. Zaied, 'Energy-Efficient Joint Task Assignment and Power Control in Energy-Harvesting D2D Offloading Communications', IEEE Internet of Things Journal, vol. 9, no. 8, pp. 6018–6031, 2022.
- [125] F. A. Hashim and A. Hussien, 'Snake Optimizer: A novel meta-heuristic optimization algorithm', Knowledge-Based Systems, vol. 242, p. 108320, 2022.
- [126] Hasselquist, C. Lindstrom, N. Korzhitskii, N. Carlsson, and A. Gurtov, 'QUIC Throughput and Fairness over Dual Connectivity', Computer Networks, vol. 219, p. 109431, 2022.
- [127] M. Hatami, M. Leinonen, Z. Chen, N. Pappas, and M. Codreanu, 'On-Demand Aol Minimization in Resource-Constrained Cache-Enabled IoT Networks with Energy Harvesting Sensors', IEEE Transactions on Communications, vol. 70, no. 11, pp. 7446–7463, 2022.
- [128] F. Hayes, R. Rădulescu, E. Bargiacchi, J. Källström, M. Macfarlane, M. Reymond, T. Verstraeten, L. M. Zintgraf, R. Dazeley, F. Heintz, E. Howley, A. A. Irissappane, P. Mannion, A. Nowé, G. Ramos, M. Restelli, P. Vamplew, and D. M. Roijers, 'A practical guide to multi-objective reinforcement learning and planning', Autonomous Agents and Multi-Agent Systems, vol. 36, no. 1, 2022.
- [129] R. He, B. K. Lau, C. Oestges, K. Haneda, and B. Liu, 'Guest Editorial Artificial Intelligence in Radio Propagation for Communications', IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation, vol. 70, no. 6, pp. 3934–3938, 2022.
- [130] X. He, Z. Sun, Z. Geng, and A. Robertsson, 'Exponential Set-Point Stabilization of Underactuated Vehicles Moving in Three-Dimensional Space', IEEE/CAA Journal of Automatica Sinica, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 270–282, 2022.
- [131] M. Helali Moghadam, M. Saadatmand, M. Borg, M. Bohlin, and B. Lisper, 'An autonomous performance testing framework using self-adaptive fuzzy reinforcement learning', Software quality journal, pp. 127–159, 2022.
- [132] F. Heskebeck, C. Bergeling, and B. Bernhardsson, 'Multi-Armed Bandits in Brain-Computer Interfaces', Frontiers in Human Neuroscience, vol. 16, 2022.
- [133] R. S. Hessels, J. S. Benjamins, D. C. Niehorster, A. J. van Doorn, J. J. Koenderink, G. A. Holleman, Y. J. R. de Kloe, N. V. Valtakari, S. van Hal, and I. T. C. Hooge, 'Eye contact avoidance in crowds: A large wearable eye-tracking study', Attention, Perception & Psychophysics, vol. 84, no. 8, pp. 2623–2640, 2022.
- [134] J. Hofweber, L. Aumonier, V. Janke, M. Gullberg, and C. Marshall, 'Breaking into language in a new modality: the role of input and of individual differences in recognising signs', Frontiers in Psychology, vol. 13, pp. 1–16, 2022.



- [135] I. T. C. Hooge, D. C. Niehorster, M. Nyström, R. Andersson, and R. S. Hessels, 'Fixation classification: how to merge and select fixation candidates', Behavior Research Methods, vol. 54, no. 6, pp. 2765–2776, 2022.
- [136] A. Horga, A. Rezine, S. Chattopadhyay, P. I. Eles, and Z. Peng, 'Symbolic identification of shared memory based bank conflicts for GPUs', Journal of systems architecture, vol. 127, p. 102518, 2022.
- [137] C. Huang, R. He, B. Ai, A. F. Molisch, B. K. Lau, K. Haneda, B. Liu, C.-X. Wang, M. Yang, C. Oestges, and Z. Zhong, 'Artificial intelligence enabled radio propagation for communications Part I: Channel characterization and antenna-channel optimization', IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation, vol. 70, no. 6, pp. 3939–3954, 2022.
- [138] C. Huang, R. He, B. Ai, A. F. Molisch, B. K. Lau, K. Haneda, B. Liu, C.-X. Wang, M. Yang, C. Oestges, and Z. Zhong, 'Artificial intelligence enabled radio propagation for communications Part II: Scenario identification and channel modeling', IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation, vol. 70, no. 6, pp. 3955–3969, 2022.
- [139] A.G. Hussien, L. Abualigah, R. Abu Zitar, F. A. Hashim, M. Amin, A. Saber, K. H. Almotairi, and A. H. Gandomi, 'Recent Advances in Harris Hawks Optimization: A Comparative Study and Applications', Electronics, vol. 11, no. 12, p. 1919, 2022.
- [140] A.G. Hussien, F. A. Hashim, R. Qaddoura, L. Abualigah, and A. Pop, 'An Enhanced Evaporation Rate Water-Cycle Algorithm for Global Optimization', Processes, vol. 10, no. 11, p. 2254, 2022.
- [141] A. Hussien, A. A. Heidari, X. Ye, G. Liang, H. Chen, and Z. Pan, 'Boosting whale optimization with evolution strategy and Gaussian random walks: an image segmentation method', Engineering with Computers, vol. 39, no. 3, pp. 1935–1979, 2022.
- [142] M. Irshad, J. Börstler, and K. Petersen, 'Supporting Refactoring of BDD Specifications An Empirical Study', Information and Software Technology, vol. 141, p. 106717, 2022.
- [143] P. Isacsson, K. Jain, A. Fall, V. Chauve, A. Hajian, H. Granberg, L. Boiron, M. Berggren, K. Håkansson, J. Edberg, I. Engquist, and L. Wågberg, 'Production of energy-storage paper electrodes using a pilot-scale paper machine', Journal of Materials Chemistry A, vol. 10, no. 40, pp. 21579–21589, 2022.
- [144] Y. Ivanenko, V. T. Vu, A. Batra, T. Kaiser, and M. Pettersson, 'Interpolation Methods with Phase Control for Backprojection of Complex-Valued SAR Data⁺, Sensors, vol. 22, no. 13, p. 4941, 2022.
- [145] A. Javeed, A. L. D. Moraes, J. Sanmartin Berglund, and P. Anderberg, 'An Intelligent Learning System for Unbiased Prediction of Dementia Based on Autoencoder and Adaboost Ensemble Learning', Life, vol. 12, no. 7, pp. 1–18, 2022.
- [146] W. Jia, A. Jakobsson, and W. Q. Wang, 'Designing FDA Radars Robust to Contaminated Shared Spectra', IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems, pp. 1–13, 2022.



- [147] R. Johansson, A. Karlsson, S. F. Andler, M. Brohede, J. van Laere, M. Klingegård (Nilsson), and
 T. Ziemke, 'On the Definition and Scope of Information Fusion as a Field of Research',
 Perspectives, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 3–12, 2022.
- [148] T. Johansson, W. Meier, and V. Nguyen, 'Attacks on the Firekite Cipher', IACR Transactions on Symmetric Cryptology, vol. 2022, no. 3, pp. 191–216, 2022.
- [149] D. Jönsson, J. Kronander, J. Unger, T. B. Schön, and M. Wrenninge, 'Direct Transmittance Estimation in Heterogeneous Participating Media Using Approximated Taylor Expansions', IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics, pp. 2602–2614, 2022.
- [150] K. K. Katare, I. Yousaf, and B. K. Lau, 'Challenges and solutions for antennas in Vehicle-to-Everything services', IEEE Communications Magazine, vol. 60, no. 1, pp. 52–58, 2022.
- [151] T. Keene, V. Gueskine, M. Berggren, G. G. Malliaras, K. Tybrandt, and I. Zozoulenko, 'Exploiting mixed conducting polymers in organic and bioelectronic devices', Physical Chemistry, Chemical Physics - PCCP, vol. 24, no. 32, pp. 19144–19163, 2022.
- [152] J. Keller, S. Litzinger, and C. Kessler, 'Integrating Energy-Optimizing Scheduling of Moldable Streaming Tasks with Design Space Exploration for Multiple Core Types on Configurable Platforms', Journal of Signal Processing Systems, vol. 94, pp. 849–864, 2022.
- [153] M.T. Khan, M. A. Alhartomi, S. Alzahrani, R. A. Shaik, and R. Alsulami, 'Two Distributed Arithmetic Based High Throughput Architectures of Non-Pipelined LMS Adaptive Filters', IEEE Access, vol. 10, pp. 76693–76706, 2022.
- [154] N. A. Khan, N. R. Butt, and A. Jakobsson, 'Iterative missing data recovery algorithm for nonstationary signals', Signal, Image and Video Processing, vol. 16, no. 7, pp. 1731–1738, 2022.
- [155] Z. Khan, U. Ail, F. Ajjan, J. Phopase, N. Kim, D. Kumar, Z. Khan, J. Nilsson, O. Inganäs, M. Berggren, and X. Crispin, 'Towards printable water-in-polymer salt electrolytes for high power organic batteries', Journal of Power Sources, vol. 524, p. 231103, 2022.
- [156] Z. Khan, U. Ail, F. Ajjan, J. Phopase, Z. Khan, N. Kim, J. Nilsson, O. Inganäs, M. Berggren, and
 X. Crispin, 'Water-in-Polymer Salt Electrolyte for Slow Self-Discharge in Organic Batteries',
 Advanced Energy and Sustainability Research, vol. 3, no. 1, p. 2100165, 2022.
- [157] D. Klötzl, T. Krake, Y. Zhou, I. Hotz, B. Wang, and D. Weiskopf, 'Local bilinear computation of Jacobi sets', The Visual Computer, vol. 38, pp. 3435–3448, 2022.
- [158] C. Kowalkowski, A. Z. Bigdeli, and T. Baines, 'Guest editorial: the future of servitization in a digital era', Journal of Service Management, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 59–69, 2022.
- [159] M. Kuhlmann, A. Maletti, and L. K. Schiffer, 'The tree-generative capacity of combinatory categorial grammars', Journal of computer and system sciences (Print), vol. 124, pp. 214– 233, 2022.
- [160] D. Kumar, Z. Khan, U. Ail, J. Phopase, M. Berggren, V. Gueskine, and X. Crispin, 'Self-Discharge in Batteries Based on Lignin and Water-in-Polymer Salt Electrolyte', Advanced Energy and Sustainability Research, vol. 3, no. 10, p. 2200073, 2022.



- [161] J. Källström, R. Granlund, and F. Heintz, 'Design of simulation-based pilot training systems using machine learning agents', Aeronautical Journal, vol. 126, no. 1300, pp. 907–931, 2022.
- [162] S. Lander, J. Erlandsson, M. Vagin, V. Gueskine, L. Korhonen, M. Berggren, L. Wågberg, and X. Crispin, 'Sulfonated Cellulose Membranes: Physicochemical Properties and Ionic Transport versus Degree of Sulfonation', Advanced Sustainable Systems, vol. 6, no. 11, p. 2200275, 2022.
- [163] S. Lander, M. Vagin, V. Gueskine, J. Erlandsson, Y. Boissard, L. Korhonen, M. Berggren, L. Wagberg, and X. Crispin, 'Sulfonated Cellulose Membranes Improve the Stability of Aqueous Organic Redox Flow Batteries', Advanced Energy and Sustainability Research, vol. 3, no. 9, p. 2200016, 2022.
- [164] R. Larsson, G. Erlingsdóttir, J. Persson, and C. Rydenfält, 'Teamwork in home care nursing: A scoping literature review', Health and Social Care in the Community, vol. 30, no. 6, pp. 3309– 3327, 2022.
- [165] K. Lau, 'Characteristic Modes: Into the Mainstream and the Path Beyond [Guest Editorial]', IEEE Antennas and Propagation Magazine, vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 12–13, 2022.
- [166] K. Lau, M. Capek, and A. M. Hassan, 'Characteristic modes progress, overview, and emerging topics', IEEE Antennas and Propagation Magazine, vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 14–22, 2022.
- [167] M. Lei, B. Yu, X. Zhang, S. Fowler, B. Yu, and P. Wang, 'Joint power control and user scheduling for backbone-assisted industrial wireless networks with successive interference cancellation', Telecommunications Systems, vol. 81, no. 1, pp. 41–52, 2022.
- [168] X. Li, E. Leitinger, A. Venus, and F. Tufvesson, 'Sequential Detection and Estimation of Multipath Channel Parameters Using Belief Propagation', IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, vol. 21, no. 10, pp. 8385–8402, 2022.
- [169] Z. Li, M. Oskarsson, and A. Heyden, 'Detailed 3D human body reconstruction from multi-view images combining voxel super-resolution and learned implicit representation', Applied Intelligence, vol. 52, no. 6, pp. 6739–6759, 2022.
- [170] H. Liang, X. Ding, A. Jakobsson, X. Tu, and Y. Huang, 'Sparse optimization for nonlinear group delay mode estimation', Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, vol. 152, no. 4, pp. 2187–2203, 2022.
- [171] Q. Liang, H. Aliakbari Abar, and B. K. Lau, 'Co-designed millimeter-wave and sub-6GHz antenna for 5G smartphones', IEEE Antennas and Wireless Propagation Letters, vol. 21, no. 10, pp. 1995–1999, 2022.
- [172] C.-C. Lin and A. Vinel, 'Recent Internet of Things Applications in Smart Grid and Various Industries', Mobile Networks and Applications, vol. 27, pp. 139–140, 2022.
- [173] J. Linåker, P. Runeson, A. Zuiderwijk, and A. Brock, 'Collaborative Aspects of Open Data in Software Engineering', IEEE Software, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 31–35, 2022.



- [174] P. J. G. Lisboa, M. Jayabalan, S. Ortega-Martorell, I. Olier, D. Medved, and J. Nilsson, 'Enhanced survival prediction using explainable artificial intelligence in heart transplantation', Scientific Reports, vol. 12, no. 1, 2022.
- [175] Y.-P. Liu, S. Yngman, A. Troian, G. D Acunto, A. Jönsson, J. Svensson, A. Mikkelsen, L.-E. Wernersson, and R. Timm, 'Hydrogen plasma enhanced oxide removal on GaSb planar and nanowire surfaces', Applied Surface Science, vol. 593, p. 153336, 2022.
- [176] V. Losenicky, L. Jelinek, M. Capek, and M. Gustafsson, 'Method of Moments and T-Matrix Hybrid', IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation, vol. 70, no. 5, pp. 3560–3574, 2022.
- [177] L. Lundberg and H. Grahn, 'Research Trends, Enabling Technologies and Application Areas for Big Data', Algorithms, vol. 15, no. 8, p. 280, 2022.
- [178] A. Lundgren and D. Jung, 'Data-driven fault diagnosis analysis and open-set classification of time-series data', Control Engineering Practice, vol. 121, p. 105006, 2022.
- [179] J. Lundgren, K. Schab, M. Capek, M. Gustafsson, and L. Jelinek, 'Iterative Calculation of Characteristic Modes Using Arbitrary Full-Wave Solvers', IEEE Antennas and Wireless Propagation Letters, pp. 1–5, 2022.
- [180] J. Luo, Y. Zhang, J. Yang, D. Zhang, Y. Zhang, Y. Zhang, Y. Huang, and A. Jakobsson, 'Online Sparse DOA Estimation Based on Sub–Aperture Recursive LASSO for TDM–MIMO Radar', Remote Sensing, vol. 14, no. 9, p. 2133, 2022.
- [181] A. Löfstrand, R. Jafari Jam, J. Svensson, A. Jönsson, H. Menon, D. Jacobsson, L.-E. Wernersson, and I. Maximov, 'Directed Self-Assembly for Dense Vertical III–V Nanowires on Si and Implications for Gate All-Around Deposition', Advanced Electronic Materials, vol. 8, no. 9, p. 2101388, 2022.
- [182] R. Magnusson, O. Rundquist, M. J. Kim, S. Hellberg, C. H. Na, M. Benson, D. Gomez-Cabrero, I. Kockum, J. N. Tegner, F. Piehl, M. Jagodic, J. Mellergård, C. Altafini, J. Ernerudh, M. Jenmalm, C. Nestor, M.-S. Kim, and M. Gustafsson, 'RNA-sequencing and mass-spectrometry proteomic time-series analysis of T-cell differentiation identified multiple splice variants models that predicted validated protein biomarkers in inflammatory diseases', Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences, vol. 9, 2022.
- [183] M. Mahdavi, S. Weithoffer, M. Herrmann, L. Liu, O. Edfors, N. Wehn, and M. Lentmaier, 'Spatially Coupled Serially Concatenated Codes: Performance Evaluation and VLSI Design Tradeoffs', IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, vol. 69, no. 5, pp. 1962–1975, 2022.
- [184] R. Mamidala Saketh, J. Svensson, S. Skog, S. Johannesson, and L.-E. Wernersson, 'Low-Frequency Noise in Vertical InAs/InGaAs Gate-All-Around MOSFETs at 15 K for Cryogenic Applications', IEEE Electron Device Letters, vol. 43, no. 12, pp. 2033–2033, 2022.



- [185] C. Mandrioli and M. Maggio, 'Testing Self-Adaptive Software with Probabilistic Guarantees on Performance Metrics: Extended and Comparative Results', IEEE Transactions on Software Engineering, vol. 48, no. 9, pp. 3554–3572, 2022.
- [186] R. Manoj, M. Sadeghi, and E. G. Larsson, 'Downlink Power Allocation in Massive MIMO via Deep Learning: Adversarial Attacks and Training', IEEE Transactions on Cognitive Communications and Networking, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 707–719, 2022.
- [187] L. Massai, G. Como, and F. Fagnani, 'Equilibria and Systemic Risk in Saturated Networks', Mathematics of Operations Research, vol. 47, no. 3, pp. 1781–1801, 2022.
- [188] G. Mastantuoni, T. van Chinh, I. Engquist, L. A. Berglund, and Q. Zhou, 'In Situ Lignin Sulfonation for Highly Conductive Wood/Polypyrrole Porous Composites', Advanced Materials Interfaces, vol. 10, no. 1, 2022.
- [189] M. Masud, G. Singh, P. Kumar, and A. Gurtov, 'A user-centric privacy-preserving authentication protocol for IoT-Aml environments', Computer Communications, vol. 196, pp. 45–54, 2022.
- [190] C. Mattsson, T. Johansson, and J. Andreasson, 'Schooling in the racist badlands: health team professionals' understanding of the problem of racist opinions and practices among students', Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research, pp. 1–14, 2022.
- [191] H. Menon, N. P. Morgan, C. Hetherington, R. Athle, M. Steer, I. Thayne, A. Fontcuberta i Morral, and M. Borg, 'Fabrication of Single-Crystalline InSb-on-Insulator by Rapid Melt Growth', Physica Status Solidi (A) Applications and Materials Science, vol. 219, no. 4, p. 2100467, 2022.
- [192] N. M. Minhas, M. Irshad, K. Petersen, and J. Börstler, 'Lessons learned from replicating a study on information-retrieval based test case prioritization', Software quality journal, 2022.
- [193] N. M. Minhas, T. R. Koppula, K. Petersen, and J. Börstler, 'Using goal-question-metric (GQM) to Compare Research and Practice Perspectives on Regression Testing', Journal of Software: Evolution and Process, vol. 35, no. 2, 2022.
- [194] M. Moltafet, M. Leinonen, and M. Codreanu, 'Moment Generating Function of Age of Information in Multisource M/G/1/1 Queueing Systems', IEEE Transactions on Communications, vol. 70, no. 10, pp. 6503–6516, 2022.
- [195] M. Moltafet, M. Leinonen, M. Codreanu, and N. Pappas, 'Power Minimization for Age of Information Constrained Dynamic Control in Wireless Sensor Networks', IEEE Transactions on Communications, vol. 70, no. 1, pp. 419–432, 2022.
- [196] O. A. Morales Chacon, J. Wikner, C. Svensson, L. Siek, and A. Alvandpour, 'Analysis of energy consumption bounds in CMOS current-steering digital-to-analog converters', Analog Integrated Circuits and Signal Processing, vol. 111, pp. 339–351, 2022.



- [197] M. Morin and P. Giselsson, 'Cocoercivity, smoothness and bias in variance-reduced stochastic gradient methods', Numerical Algorithms, vol. 91, no. 2, pp. 749–772, 2022.
- [198] A. H. Mousa, D. Bliman, L. Hiram Betancourt, K. Hellman, P. Ekström, M. Savvakis, X. Strakosas, G. Marko-Varga, M. Berggren, M. Hjort, F. Ek, and R. Olsson, 'Method Matters: Exploring Alkoxysulfonate-Functionalized Poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) and Its Unintentional Self-Aggregating Copolymer toward Injectable Bioelectronics', Chemistry of Materials, vol. 34, no. 6, pp. 2752–2763, 2022.
- [199] M. Naseri-Rad, R. Berndtsson, A. Aminifar, U. S. McKnight, D. O'Connor, and K. M. Persson, 'DynSus : Dynamic sustainability assessment in groundwater remediation practice', Science of the Total Environment, vol. 832, p. 154992, 2022.
- [200] T. T. de A. T. Neves, R. M. Martins, D. B. Coimbra, K. Kucher, A. Kerren, and F. V. Paulovich, 'Fast and Reliable Incremental Dimensionality Reduction for Streaming Data', Computers & graphics, pp. 233–244, 2022.
- [201] L. Nie, B. K. Lau, H. Aliakbari Abar, S. Xiang, B. Wang, and X. Lin, 'A low-profile wideband dualresonance tri-port MIMO antenna', IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation, vol. 70, no. 6, pp. 4866–4871, 2022.
- [202] C. Niehorster, S. Bengtsson, N. Brodin, and A. Rasmussen, 'No evidence of conditioning of pupillary constriction despite overtraining', PeerJ, vol. 10, p. e12948, 2022.
- [203] K. Nielsen and G. Hendeby, 'Multi-Hypothesis SLAM for Non-Static Environments with Reoccurring Landmarks', IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Vehicles, pp. 3191–3203, 2022.
- [204] K. Nielsen and G. Hendeby, 'Survey on 2D Lidar Feature Extraction for Underground Mine Usage', IEEE Transactions on Automation Science and Engineering, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 981– 994, 2022.
- [205] Nordahl, V. Boeva, H. Grahn, and M. Netz Persson, 'EvolveCluster: an evolutionary clustering algorithm for streaming data', Evolving Systems, pp. 603–623, 2022.
- [206] R. L. Nordstrom, E. Lalander, I. Skog, and M. Andersson, 'Maximum likelihood separation of anthropogenic and wind-generated underwater noise', Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, vol. 152, no. 3, pp. 1292–1299, 2022.
- [207] S. Nowaczyk, A. Resmini, V. Long, V. Fors, M. Cooney, E. K. Duarte, S. Pink, E. E. Aksoy, A. Vinel, and M. Dougherty, 'Smaller is smarter: A case for small to medium-sized smart cities', Journal of Smart Cities and Society, pp. 95–117, 2022.
- [208] K. Orban, K. Vrotsou, K. Ellegård, and L. K. Erlandsson, 'Assessing the use of a portable timegeographic diary for detecting patterns of daily occupations', Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 293–304, 2022.
- [209] P. M. Osorio, I. Ahmad, J. D. Vega Sanchez, A. Gurtov, J. Scholliers, M. Kutila, and P. Porambage, 'Towards 6G-Enabled Internet of Vehicles: Security and Privacy', IEEE Open Journal of the Communications Society, vol. 3, pp. 82–105, 2022.



- [210] H. Padinhare, C. Yang, D. Tu, J. Gerasimov, A. M. Manan Dar, A. Armada Moreira, M. Massetti,
 R. Kroon, D. Bliman, R. Olsson, E. Stavrinidou, M. Berggren, S. Fabiano, and C. Y. Yang,
 'Organic electrochemical neurons and synapses with ion mediated spiking', Nature
 Communications, vol. 13, no. 1, 2022.
- [211] B.G. Palm, F. M. Bayer, R. Machado, M. Pettersson, V. T. Vu, and R. J. Cintra, 'Robust Rayleigh Regression Method for SAR Image Processing in Presence of Outliers', IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing, vol. 60, pp. 1–12, 2022.
- [212] K. Pandey, T. B. Masood, S. Singh, I. Hotz, V. Natarajan, and T. G. Murthy, 'Morse theory-based segmentation and fabric quantification of granular materials', Granular Matter, vol. 24, no. 1, 2022.
- [213] L. Papadopoulos, D. Soudris, C. Kessler, A. Ernstsson, J. Ahlqvist, N. Vasilas, A. I. Papadopoulos, P. Seferlis, C. Prouveur, M. Haefele, S. Thibault, A. Salamanis, T. Ioakimidis, and D. Kehagias, 'EXA2PRO: A Framework for High Development Productivity on Heterogeneous Computing Systems', IEEE Transactions on Parallel and Distributed Systems, vol. 33, no. 4, pp. 792–804, 2022.
- [214] D. Parker, Y. Daguerre, G. Dufil, D. Mantione, E. Solano, E. Cloutet, G. Hadziioannou, T. Näsholm, M. Berggren, E. Pavlopoulou, and E. Stavrinidou, 'Correction: Biohybrid plants with electronic roots via in vivo polymerization of conjugated oligomers (vol 8, pg 3295, 2021)', Materials Horizons, vol. 9, pp. 2317–1317, 2022.
- [215] R. Pates, 'Passive and Reciprocal Networks: From Simple Models to Simple Optimal Controllers', IEEE Control Systems, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 73–92, 2022.
- [216] R. Pates, A. Ferragut, E. Pivo, P. You, F. Paganini, and E. Mallada, 'Respect the Unstable: Delays and Saturation in Contact Tracing for Disease Control', SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, vol. 60, no. 2, pp. 196–220, 2022.
- [217] A. Pereira, F. Rusek, M. Gomes, and R. Dinis, 'Deployment Strategies for Large Intelligent Surfaces', IEEE Access, vol. 10, pp. 61753–61768, 2022.
- [218] E. O. Persson, Z. Zhu, R. Athle, and L.-E. Wernersson, 'Integration of Ferroelectric HfxZr1-xO2 on Vertical III-V Nanowire Gate-All-Around FETs on Silicon', IEEE Electron Device Letters, vol. 43, no. 6, pp. 854–857, 2022.
- [219] J. Persson, G. Johansson, I. Arvidsson, B. Östlund, C. Holgersson, R. Persson, and C. Rydenfält,
 'A framework for participatory work environment interventions in home care success factors and some challenges', BMC Health Services Research, vol. 22, no. 1, 2022.
- [220] O. Persson Lindell, L. Karlsson, S. Nilsson, E. Charitakis, E. Hagström, T. Muhr, L. Nilsson, M. Henriksson, and M. Janzon, 'Clinical decision support for familial hypercholesterolemia (CDS-FH): Rationale and design of a cluster randomized trial in primary care', American Heart Journal, vol. 247, pp. 132–148, 2022.



- [221] H. Pigot, K. Soltesz, A. Paskevicius, Q. Liao, T. Sjöberg, and S. Steen, 'A novel nonlinear afterload for ex vivo heart evaluation: Porcine experimental results', Artificial Organs, vol. 46, no. 9, pp. 1794–1803, 2022.
- [222] M. Ploumidis, N. Pappas, and A. Traganitis, 'Performance of Flow Allocation with Successive Interference Cancelation for Random Access WMNs', Applied Sciences, vol. 12, no. 6, p. 2866, 2022.
- [223] P. Popovski, F. Chiariotti, K. Huang, A. E. Kalor, M. Kountouris, N. Pappas, and B. Soret, 'A Perspective on Time Toward Wireless 6G', Proceedings of the IEEE, vol. 110, no. 8, pp. 1116– 1146, 2022.
- [224] M. Rafati, S. R. Qasemi, and A. Alvandpour, 'A configurable fluorescence sensing front-end for ultra-low power and high sensitivity applications', Analog Integrated Circuits and Signal Processing, vol. 110, no. 1, pp. 3–17, 2022.
- [225] M. Rameez, M. Pettersson, and M. Dahl, 'Interference Compression and Mitigation for Automotive FMCW Radar Systems', IEEE Sensors Journal, vol. 22, no. 20, pp. 19739–19749, 2022.
- [226] I. Reinhold and M. Sandsten, 'The multitaper reassigned spectrogram for oscillating transients with Gaussian envelopes', Signal Processing, vol. 198, p. 108570, 2022.
- [227] N. Reski, A. Alissandrakis, and A. Kerren, 'An Empirical Evaluation of Asymmetric Synchronous Collaboration Combining Immersive and Non-Immersive Interfaces Within the Context of Immersive Analytics', Frontiers in Virtual Reality, vol. 2, 2022.
- [228] N. M. Rezk, T. Nordström, and Z. Ul-Abdin, 'Shrink and Eliminate: A Study of Post-Training Quantization and Repeated Operations Elimination in RNN Models', Information, vol. 13, no. 4, p. 176, 2022.
- [229] N. Rezk, T. Nordström, D. Stathis, Z. Ul-Abdin, E. Aksoy, and A. Hemani, 'MOHAQ: Multi-Objective Hardware-Aware Quantization of recurrent neural networks', Journal of systems architecture, vol. 133, p. 102778, 2022.
- [230] F. Rietz, S. Magg, F. Heintz, T. Stoyanov, S. Wermter, and J. A. Stork, 'Hierarchical goals contextualize local reward decomposition explanations', Neural Computing & Applications, 2022.
- [231] F. Roger, H. R. Ghanavi, N. Danielsson, N. Wahlberg, J. Löndahl, L. B. Pettersson, G. K. S. Andersson, N. Boke Olén, and Y. Clough, 'Airborne environmental DNA metabarcoding for the monitoring of terrestrial insects—A proof of concept from the field', Environmental DNA, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 790–807, 2022.
- [232] C. Romare, P. Anderberg, J. Sanmartin Berglund, and L. Skär, 'Burden of care related to monitoring patient vital signs during intensive care; a descriptive retrospective database study', Intensive & Critical Care Nursing, vol. 71, p. 103213, 2022.



- [233] J. Rota, V. Twort, A. Chiocchio, C. Peña, C. W. Wheat, L. Kaila, and N. Wahlberg, 'The unresolved phylogenomic tree of butterflies and moths (Lepidoptera): Assessing the potential causes and consequences', Systematic Entomology, vol. 47, no. 4, pp. 531–550, 2022.
- [234] M. Röding, P. Tomaszewski, S. Yu, M. Borg, and J. Rönnols, 'Machine learning-accelerated small-angle X-ray scattering analysis of disordered two- and three-phase materials', Frontiers in Materials, vol. 9, 2022.
- [235] G. Sahin, P. Halje, S. Uzun, A. Jakobsson, and P. Petersson, 'Tremor evaluation using smartphone accelerometry in standardized settings', Frontiers in Neuroscience, vol. 16, 2022.
- [236] M. Salimnejad and N. Pappas, 'On the Age of Information in a Two-User Multiple Access Setup', Entropy, vol. 24, no. 4, p. 542, 2022.
- [237] R. Sánchez, F. Rusek, O. Edfors, and L. Liu, 'Distributed and Scalable Uplink Processing for LIS: Algorithm, Architecture, and Design Trade-Offs', IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing, vol. 70, pp. 2639–2653, 2022.
- [238] M. Sandsten, T. Parker, B. Sousa, S. Leu, S. Edmondson, C. Foo, A. Strauss, H. Kahl, K. Ballinger,
 E. Ross, M. Grosse Ruse, B. Verheijen, and W. Jensen, 'Cultural conformity and persistence in
 Dickcissel song are higher in locations in which males show high site fidelity', Ornithology,
 vol. 139, no. 1, 2022.
- [239] J. Sanmartin Berglund and A. Javeed, 'Long-Term Prediction of Dementia Using Machine Learning Algorithms', Innovation in Aging, vol. 6, pp. 243–243, 2022.
- [240] P. M. Santos, B. R. Manoj, M. Sadeghi, and E. G. Larsson, 'Universal Adversarial Attacks on Neural Networks for Power Allocation in a Massive MIMO System', IEEE Wireless Communications Letters, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 67–71, 2022.
- [241] M. G. Say, C. J. Brett, J. Edberg, S. V. Roth, L. D. Söderberg, I. Engquist, and M. Berggren, 'Scalable Paper Supercapacitors for Printed Wearable Electronics', ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, vol. 14, no. 50, pp. 55850-, 2022.
- [242] M. G. Say, I. Sahalianov, R. Brooke, L. Migliaccio, E. Głowacki, M. Berggren, M. Donahue, and I. Engquist, 'Ultrathin Paper Microsupercapacitors for Electronic Skin Applications', Advanced Materials Technologies, vol. 7, no. 8, p. 2101420, 2022.
- [243] S. Sayehli, M. Gullberg, A. J. Newman, and A. Andersson, 'Native Word Order Processing Is Not Uniform: An ERP Study of Verb-Second Word Order', Frontiers in Psychology, pp. 1–22, 2022.
- [244] K. Schab, L. Jelinek, M. Capek, and M. Gustafsson, 'Upper bounds on focusing efficiency', Optics Express, vol. 30, no. 25, pp. 45705–45723, Dec. 2022.
- [245] B. Scharinger, M. Borg, A. Vogelsang, and T. Olsson, 'Can RE Help Better Prepare Industrial AI for Commercial Scale?', IEEE Software, vol. 39, no. 6, pp. 8–12, 2022.



- [246] S. Seitanidou, M. Sygletou, K. Savva, M. Berggren, E. Stratakis, and D. Simon, 'Graphene-Enabled Electrophoretic Ion Pump Delivery Devices', Advanced Materials Interfaces, vol. 9, no. 12, p. 2102507, 2022.
- [247] Z. Shahriari, B. Bernhardsson, and O. Troeng, 'Convergence analysis of iterative learning control using pseudospectra', International Journal of Control, vol. 95, no. 1, pp. 269–281, 2022.
- [248] A. Shastri, N. Valecha, E. Bashirov, H. Tataria, M. Lentmaier, F. Tufvesson, M. Rossi, and P. Casari, 'A Review of Millimeter Wave Device-based Localization and Device-free Sensing Technologies and Applications', IEEE Communications Surveys and Tutorials, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 1708–1749, 2022.
- [249] T. Shi, X. Mao, A. Jakobsson, and Y. Liu, 'Extended PGA for Spotlight SAR-Filtered Backprojection Imagery', IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters, vol. 19, pp. 1–5, 2022.
- [250] T. Shi, X. Mao, A. Jakobsson, and Y. Liu, 'Parametric Model-Based 2-D Autofocus Approach for General BiSAR Filtered Backprojection Imagery', IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing, vol. 60, pp. 1–14, 2022.
- [251] G. Sidorenko, A. Fedorov, J. Thunberg, and A. Vinel, 'Towards a Complete Safety Framework for Longitudinal Driving', IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Vehicles, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 809–814, 2022.
- [252] G. Sidorenko, D. Plöger, J. Thunberg, and A. Vinel, 'Emergency braking with ACC: how much does V2V communication help', IEEE Networking Letters, pp. 157–161, 2022.
- [253] G. Sidorenko, J. Thunberg, K. Sjöberg, A. Fedorov, and A. Vinel, 'Safety of Automatic Emergency Braking in Platooning', IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology, pp. 2319– 2332, 2022.
- [254] S. Sidwall Thygesen, T. B. Masood, M. Linares, V. Natarajan, and I. Hotz, 'Level of Detail Exploration of Electronic Transition Ensembles using Hierarchical Clustering', Computer graphics forum (Print), vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 333–344, 2022.
- [255] O. Silfvergren, C. Simonsson, M. Ekstedt, P. Lundberg, P. Gennemark, and G. Cedersund, 'Digital twin predicting diet response before and after long-term fasting', PloS Computational Biology, vol. 18, no. 9, p. e1010469, 2022.
- [256] Silverå Ejneby, M. Jakesova, J. J. Ferrero, L. Migliaccio, I. Sahalianov, Z. Zhao, M. Berggren, D. Khodagholy, V. Derek, J. N. Gelinas, and E. Glowacki, 'Chronic electrical stimulation of peripheral nerves via deep-red light transduced by an implanted organic photocapacitor', Nature Biomedical Engineering, vol. 6, no. 6, pp. 741–753, 2022.
- [257] S. P. Singh, N. bin Ali, and L. Lundberg, 'Smart and Adaptive Architecture for a Dedicated Internet of Things Network Comprised of Diverse Entities: A Proposal and Evaluation', Sensors, vol. 22, no. 8, p. 3017, 2022.



- [258] S. Singh, H. Singh, N. Mittal, H. Singh, A. Hussien, and F. Sroubek, 'A feature level image fusion for Night-Vision context enhancement using Arithmetic optimization algorithm based image segmentation', Expert systems with applications, vol. 209, p. 118272, 2022.
- [259] T. K. Sjogren, V. T. Vu, M. Pettersson, and A. Gustavsson, 'Change Detection for Monostatic Pursuit SAR GMTI-Theories and Experimental Results', IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing, vol. 60, pp. 1–14, 2022.
- [260] A. Sjöström-Strand, B. A. Johnsson, M. Hena, B. Magnusson, and I. Kristensson Hallström,
 'Developing eHealth in neonatal care to enhance parents' self-management', Scandinavian
 Journal of Caring Sciences, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 969–977, 2022.
- [261] R. Skånberg, M. Falk, M. Linares, A. Ynnerman, and I. Hotz, 'Tracking Internal Frames of Reference for Consistent Molecular Distribution Functions', IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics, vol. 28, no. 9, pp. 3126–3137, 2022.
- [262] K. Socha, M. Borg, and J. Henriksson, 'SMIRK: A machine learning-based pedestrian automatic emergency braking system with a complete safety case', Software Impacts, vol. 13, p. 100352, 2022.
- [263] I. Soto, M. Calderon, O. Amador Molina, and M. Urueña, 'A survey on road safety and traffic efficiency vehicular applications based on C-V2X technologies', Vehicular Communications, vol. 33, p. 100428, 2022.
- [264] K. Sperling, L. Stenliden, J. Nissen, and F. Heintz, 'Still w(AI)ting for the automation of teaching: An exploration of machine learning in Swedish primary education using Actor-Network Theory', European Journal of Education, vol. 57, no. 4, pp. 584–600, 2022.
- [265] A. Spreco, Ö. Dahlström, A. Jöud, D. Nordvall, C. Fagerström, E. Blomqvist, F. Gustafsson, J. Hinkula, T. Schön, and T. Timpka, 'Effectiveness of the BNT162b2 mRNA Vaccine Compared with Hybrid Immunity in Populations Prioritized and Non-Prioritized for COVID-19 Vaccination in 2021–2022: A Naturalistic Case-Control Study in Sweden', Vaccines, vol. 10, no. 8, p. 1273, 2022.
- [266] A. Spreco, A. Jöud, O. Eriksson, K. Soltesz, R. Källström, Ö. Dahlström, H. Eriksson, J. Ekberg, C.-O. Jonson, C. J. Fraenkel, T. Lundh, P. Gerlee, F. Gustafsson, and T. Timpka, 'Nowcasting (Short-Term Forecasting) of COVID-19 Hospitalizations Using Syndromic Healthcare Data, Sweden, 2020', Emerging Infectious Diseases, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 564–571, 2022.
- [267] K. Stacke, J. Unger, C. Lundström, and G. Eilertsen, 'Learning Representations with Contrastive Self-Supervised Learning for Histopathology Applications', The Journal of Machine Learning for Biomedical Imaging, vol. 1, 2022.
- [268] M. Stahlgren, C. Forsell, and J. Drott, 'Information needs in patients with bladder cancer undergoing radical cystectomy - A qualitative review with thematic synthesis', European Journal of Oncology Nursing, vol. 61, p. 102231, 2022.



- [269] N. Stenberg, E. Axell, J. Rantakokko, and G. Hendeby, 'Results on GNSS Spoofing Mitigation Using Multiple Receivers', Navigation, vol. 69, no. 1, p. navi.510, 2022.
- [270] X. Strakosas, M. Donahue, A. Hama, M. Braendlein, M. Huerta, D. Simon, M. Berggren, G. G. Malliaras, and R. M. Owens, 'Biostack: Nontoxic Metabolite Detection from Live Tissue', Advanced Science, vol. 9, no. 2, p. 2101711, 2022.
- [271] L. Styve, C. Navarra, J. M. Petersen, T.-S. Neset, and K. Vrotsou, 'A Visual Analytics Pipeline for the Identification and Exploration of Extreme Weather Events from Social Media Data', Climate, pp. 174–174, 2022.
- [272] D. Ståhl, K. Sandahl, and L. Buffoni, 'An Eco-System Approach to Project-Based Learning in Software Engineering Education', IEEE Transactions on Education, vol. 65, no. 4, pp. 514–523, 2022.
- [273] K. Sulinskas and M. Borg, 'Advantage of Binary Stochastic synapses for hardware Spiking Neural Networks with realistic memristors', Neuromorphic Computing and Engineering, vol. 2, 2022.
- [274] N. Sundqvist, N. Grankvist, J. Watrous, J. Mohit, R. Nilsson, and G. Cedersund, 'Validationbased model selection for C-13 metabolic flux analysis with uncertain measurement errors', PloS Computational Biology, vol. 18, no. 4, p. e1009999, 2022.
- [275] N. Sundqvist, S. Sten, P. Thompson, B. J. Andersson, M. Engström, and G. Cedersund, 'Mechanistic model for human brain metabolism and its connection to the neurovascular coupling', PloS Computational Biology, vol. 18, no. 12, p. e1010798, 2022.
- [276] L. Södergren, P. Olausson, and E. Lind, 'Low-Temperature Characteristics of Nanowire Network Demultiplexer for Qubit Biasing', Nano Letters, vol. 22, no. 10, pp. 3884–3888, 2022.
- [277] B. Tanveer and M. Usman, 'An Empirical Study on the Use of CDIO in Software Engineering Education', IEEE Transactions on Education, pp. 684–694, 2022.
- [278] C. Tatino, N. Pappas, and D. Yuan, 'QoS Aware Robot Trajectory Optimization With IRS-Assisted Millimeter-Wave Communications', IEEE Open Journal of the Communications Society, pp. 1323–1336, 2022.
- [279] S. Thellman, M. de Graaf, and T. Ziemke, 'Mental State Attribution to Robots: A Systematic Review of Conceptions, Methods, and Findings', ACM Transactions on Human-Robot Interaction, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 1–51, 2022.
- [280] J. Tinnerholm, A. Pop, and M. Sjölund, 'A Modular, Extensible, and Modelica-Standard-Compliant OpenModelica Compiler Framework in Julia Supporting Structural Variability', Electronics, vol. 11, no. 11, p. 1772, 2022.
- [281] L. Tomasin, P. Andreani, G. Boi, F. Padovan, and A. Bevilacqua, 'A 12-GHz Reconfigurable Multicore CMOS DCO, With a Time-Variant Analysis of the Impact of Reconfiguration Switches on Phase Noise', IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 57, no. 9, pp. 2802–2811, 2022.



- [282] G. Tommasini, G. Dufil, F. Fardella, X. Strakosas, E. Fergola, T. Abrahamsson, D. Bliman, R. Olsson, M. Berggren, A. Tino, E. Stavrinidou, and C. Tortiglione, 'Seamless integration of bioelectronic interface in an animal model via in vivo polymerization of conjugated oligomers', Bioactive Materials, vol. 10, pp. 107–116, 2022.
- [283] T. Tongbuasirilai, J. Unger, C. Guillemot, and E. Miandji, 'A Sparse Non-parametric BRDF Model', ACM Transactions on Graphics, vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 1–18, 2022.
- [284] Z. Tóth, A. Sklyar, C. Kowalkowski, D. Sörhammar, B. Tronvoll, and O. Wirths, 'Tensions in digital servitization through a paradox lens', Industrial Marketing Management, pp. 438–450, 2022.
- [285] H. K. V. Tran, J. Börstler, N. bin Ali, and M. Unterkalmsteiner, 'How good are my search strings? Reflections on using an existing review as a quasi-gold standard', e-Informatica Software Engineering Journal, pp. 69–89, 2022.
- [286] Z. G. Turan, V. Richter, J. Bochmann, P. Parvizi, E. Yapar, U. Işıldak, S. K. Waterholter, S. Leclere-Turbant, Ç. D. Son, C. Duyckaerts, İ. Yet, T. Arendt, M. Somel, and U. Ueberham, 'Somatic copy number variant load in neurons of healthy controls and Alzheimer's disease patients', Acta Neuropathologica Communications, vol. 10, no. 1, 2022.
- [287] E. Uhlemann, 'Legislation Supports Autonomous Vehicles but Not Connected Ones', IEEE Vehicular Technology Magazine, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 112–115, 2022.
- [288] M. Usman, D. Badampudi, C. Smith, and H. Nayak, 'An Ecosystem for the Large-Scale Reuse of Microservices in a Cloud-Native Context', IEEE Software, pp. 68–75, 2022.
- [289] E. Uysal, O. Kaya, A. Ephremides, J. Gross, M. Codreanu, P. Popovski, M. Assaad, G. Liva, A. Munari, B. Soret, T. Soleymani, and K. H. Johansson, 'Semantic Communications in Networked Systems: A Data Significance Perspective', IEEE Network, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 233–240, 2022.
- [290] P. Vamplew, B. J. Smith, J. Källström, G. Ramos, R. Rădulescu, D. M. Roijers, C. F. Hayes, F. Heintz, P. Mannion, P. J. K. Libin, R. Dazeley, and C. Foale, 'Scalar reward is not enough: a response to Silver, Singh, Precup and Sutton (2021)', Autonomous Agents and Multi-Agent Systems, vol. 36, no. 2, 2022.
- [291] T. van Chinh, G. G. Mastantuoni, D. Belaineh Yilma, S. Aminzadeh, L. A. Berglund, M. Berggren, Q. Zhou, and I. Engquist, 'Utilizing native lignin as redox-active material in conductive wood for electronic and energy storage applications', Journal of Materials Chemistry A, vol. 10, no. 29, pp. 15677–15688, 2022.
- [292] J. G. Vinholi, B. Palm, D. Silva, R. Machado, and M. Pettersson, 'Change Detection Based on Convolutional Neural Networks Using Stacks of Wavelength-Resolution Synthetic Aperture Radar Images', IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing, vol. 60, pp. 1–14, 2022.



- [293] J. G. Vinholi, D. Silva, R. Machado, and M. Pettersson, 'CNN-Based Change Detection Algorithm for Wavelength-Resolution SAR Images', IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters, vol. 19, pp. 1–5, 2022.
- [294] E. Vladu and A. Rantzer, 'H-Infinity Control with Nearly Symmetric State Matrix', IEEE Control Systems Letters, vol. 6, pp. 3026–3031, 2022.
- [295] N. Vreman, P. Pazzaglia, V. Magron, J. Wang, and M. Maggio, 'Stability of Linear Systems under Extended Weakly-Hard Constraints', IEEE Control Systems Letters, vol. 6, pp. 2900– 2905, 2022.
- [296] K. Vrotsou and C. Turkay, 'Foreword to the Special Section on Visual Analytics', Computers & graphics, vol. 103, pp. A3–A4, 2022.
- [297] T. T. Vu, H. Q. Ngo, M. N. Dao, D. T. Ngo, E. G. Larsson, and T. Le-Ngoc, 'Energy-Efficient Massive MIMO for Federated Learning: Transmission Designs and Resource Allocations', IEEE Open Journal of the Communications Society, vol. 3, pp. 2329–2346, 2022.
- [298] T. T. Vu, Q. N. Hien, M. N. Dao, M. Matthaiou, and E. G. Larsson, 'Data Size-Aware Downlink Massive MIMO: A Session-Based Approach', IEEE Wireless Communications Letters, vol. 11, no. 7, pp. 1468–1472, 2022.
- [299] T. Vu and M. Pettersson, 'Sidelobe Control for Bistatic SAR Imaging', IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters, vol. 19, pp. 1–5, 2022.
- [300] T. Vu and M. Pettersson, 'Tilt phenomenon in bistatic SAR image', IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters, vol. 19, pp. 1–5, 2022.
- [301] V. T. Vu, M. Pettersson, A. Batra, and T. Kaiser, 'Fourier Transform of SAR Data Cube and 3D Range Migration Algorithm', IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems, pp. 2584–2591, 2022.
- [302] L. Wang, Y. Hong, G. Shi, and C. Altafini, 'Signed Social Networks with Biased Assimilation', IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, vol. 67, no. 10, pp. 5134–5149, 2022.
- [303] S. Wang, A. Hussien, H. Jia, L. Abualigah, and R. Zheng, 'Enhanced Remora Optimization Algorithm for Solving Constrained Engineering Optimization Problems', Mathematics, vol. 10, no. 10, p. 1696, 2022.
- [304] X. Wang, M. G. Say, R. Brooke, V. Beni, D. Nilsson, R. Lassnig, M. Berggren, J. Edberg, and I. Engquist, 'Upscalable ultra thick rayon carbon felt based hybrid organic-inorganic electrodes for high energy density supercapacitors', Energy Storage, vol. 4, no. 5, 2022.
- [305] Y. Wang, H. Johansson, M. Deng, and Z. Li, 'On the Compensation of Timing Mismatch in Two-Channel Time-Interleaved ADCs: Strategies and a Novel Parallel Compensation Structure', IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing, vol. 70, pp. 2460–2475, 2022.
- [306] A. Wigren and F. Lindsten, 'Marginalized particle Gibbs for multiple state-space models coupled through shared parameters', Journal of Computational and Graphical Statistics, 2022.



- [307] A. Wigren, J. Wågberg, F. Lindsten, A. G. Wills, and T. B. Schön, 'Nonlinear System Identification: Learning While Respecting Physical Models Using a Sequential Monte Carlo Method', IEEE Control Systems Magazine, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 75–102, 2022.
- [308] N. Wingren and D. Sjöberg, 'Nondestructive Testing Using mm-Wave Sparse Imaging Verified for Singly Curved Composite Panels', IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation, vol. 71, no. 1, pp. 1185–1189, 2022.
- [309] J. Wirtz and C. Kowalkowski, 'Putting the "service" into B2B marketing: Key developments in service research and their relevance for B2B', Journal of business & industrial marketing, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 272–289, 2022.
- [310] H.Y. Wu, C. Yang, Q. Li, N. B. Kolhe, X. Strakosas, M.-A. Stoeckel, Z. Wu, W. Jin, M. Savvakis, R. Kroon, D. Tu, H. Y. Woo, M. Berggren, S. A. Jenekhe, and S. Fabiano, 'Influence of Molecular Weight on the Organic Electrochemical Transistor Performance of Ladder-Type Conjugated Polymers', Advanced Materials, vol. 34, no. 4, p. 2106235, 2022.
- K. Xu, T.-P. Ruoko, M. Shokrani, D. Scheunemann, H. Abdalla, H. Sun, C. Yang, Y. Puttisong, N.
 B. Kolhe, S. Mendoza Figueroa, J. Oshaug Pedersen, T. Ederth, W. Chen, M. Berggren, S. A.
 Jenekhe, D. Fazzi, M. Kemerink, and S. Fabiano, 'On the Origin of Seebeck Coefficient Inversion in Highly Doped Conducting Polymers', Advanced Functional Materials, vol. 32, no. 20, p. 2112276, 2022.
- Y. Yang, D. Tu, T.-P. Ruoko, J. Gerasimov, H. Y. Wu, H. Padinhare, M. Massetti, M.-A. Stoeckel,
 R. Kroon, C. Müller, M. Berggren, S. Fabiano, C. Yang, and H. Wu, 'Low-Power/High-Gain
 Flexible Complementary Circuits Based on Printed Organic Electrochemical Transistors',
 Advanced Electronic Materials, vol. 8, no. 3, p. 2100907, 2022.
- [313] J. Yang, Q. Guo, T. Johansson, and M. Lentmaier, 'Revisiting the Concrete Security of Goldreich's Pseudorandom Generator', IEEE Transactions on Information Theory, vol. 68, no. 2, pp. 1329–1354, 2022.
- [314] Q. Yang, A. Dürr, E. A. Topp, J. A. Stork, and T. Stoyanov, 'Variable Impedance Skill Learning for Contact-Rich Manipulation', IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 8391– 8398, 2022.
- [315] S. Yang, W. Yi, and A. Jakobsson, 'Multitarget Detection Strategy for Distributed MIMO Radar With Widely Separated Antennas', IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing, vol. 60, pp. 1–16, 2022.
- [316] Z. Yong, R. Mamidala Saketh, K.-M. Persson, G. S. Subramanian, L.-E. Wernersson, and J. Pan, 'The Effect of Deposition Conditions on Heterointerface-Driven Band Alignment and Resistive Switching Properties', Advanced Electronic Materials, vol. 8, no. 11, p. 2200220, 2022.
- [317] H. Yu, H. Jia, J. Zhou, and A. Hussien, 'Enhanced Aquila optimizer algorithm for global optimization and constrained engineering problems', Mathematical Biosciences and Engineering, vol. 19, no. 12, pp. 14173–14211, 2022.



- [318] Z. Yu and D. Yuan, 'Resource Optimization with Interference Coupling in Multi-RIS-Assisted Multi-Cell Systems', IEEE Open Journal of Vehicular Technology, pp. 98–110, 2022.
- [319] M. Zabihipour, P. Janson, M. Berggren, D. Simon, P. Andersson Ersman, and I. Engquist, 'Organic electrochemical transistors manufactured by laser ablation and screen printing', Flexible and Printed Electronics, vol. 7, no. 3, p. 035018, 2022.
- [320] M. Zabihipour, D. Tu, R. Forchheimer, J. Strandberg, M. Berggren, I. Engquist, and P. Andersson Ersman, 'High-Gain Logic Inverters based on Multiple Screen-Printed Organic Electrochemical Transistors', Advanced Materials Technologies, vol. 7, no. 10, p. 2101642, 2022.
- [321] R. Zanetti, A. Arza, A. Aminifar, and D. Atienza, 'Real-Time EEG-Based Cognitive Workload Monitoring on Wearable Devices', IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering, vol. 69, no. 1, pp. 265–277, 2022.
- [322] A. Zenere, E. G. Larsson, and C. Altafini, 'Relating balance and conditional independence in graphical models', Physical review. E, vol. 106, no. 4, 2022.
- [323] A. Zenere, O. Rundquist, M. Gustafsson, and C. Altafini, 'Multi-omics protein-coding units as massively parallel Bayesian networks: Empirical validation of causality structure', iScience, vol. 25, no. 4, p. 104048, 2022.
- [324] A. Zenere, O. Rundquist, M. Gustafsson, and C. Altafini, 'Using high-throughput multi-omics data to investigate structural balance in elementary gene regulatory network motifs', Bioinformatics, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 173–178, 2022.
- [325] G. Zhang, J. O. Nielsen, X. Cai, G. F. Pedersen, and W. Fan, 'Geometry-Based Clustering Characteristics for Outdoor Measurements at 28-30 GHz', IEEE Antennas and Wireless Propagation Letters, vol. 21, no. 9, pp. 1797–1801, 2022.
- [326] K. Zhang, E. G. Larsson, P. Papadimitratos, and P. Papadimitratos, 'Protecting GNSS Open Service Navigation Message Authentication Against Distance-Decreasing Attacks', IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 1224–1240, 2022.
- [327] S. Zhang, M. Massetti, T.-P. Ruoko, D. Tu, C. Y. Yang, X. Liu, Z. Wu, Y. Lee, R. Kroon, P. O. A. Persson, H. Y. Woo, M. Berggren, C. Müller, M. Fahlman, S. Fabiano, and C. Yang, 'Synergistic Effect of Multi-Walled Carbon Nanotubes and Ladder-Type Conjugated Polymers on the Performance of N-Type Organic Electrochemical Transistors', Advanced Functional Materials, vol. 32, no. 1, p. 2106447, 2022.
- [328] Y. Zhang, Y. Ding, Z. Peng, H. Li, M. Fujita, and J. Jiang, 'BMC-Based Temperature-Aware SBST for Worst-Case Delay Fault Testing Under High Temperature', IEEE Transactions on Very Large-Scale Integration (vlsi) Systems, vol. 30, no. 11, pp. 1677–1690, 2022.
- [329] Y. Zhang, J. Li, M. Li, Y. Zhang, J. Luo, Y. Huang, J. Yang, and A. Jakobsson, 'Online Sparse Reconstruction for Scanning Radar Using Beam-Updating q-SPICE', IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters, vol. 19, pp. 1–5, 2022.



- [330] R. Zheng, A. Hussien, H.-M. Jia, L. Abualigah, S. Wang, and D. Wu, 'An Improved Wild Horse Optimizer for Solving Optimization Problems', Mathematics, vol. 10, no. 8, p. 1311, 2022.
- [331] Z. Zhu, A. Jönsson, Y. P. Liu, J. Svensson, R. Timm, and L. E. Wernersson, 'Improved Electrostatics through Digital Etch Schemes in Vertical GaSb Nanowire p-MOSFETs on Si', ACS Applied Electronic Materials, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 531–538, 2022.
- [332] Z. Zhu, J. Svensson, A. Jönsson, and L. E. Wernersson, 'Performance enhancement of GaSb vertical nanowire p-type MOSFETs on Si by rapid thermal annealing', Nanotechnology, vol. 33, no. 7, p. 075202, 2022.
- [333] T. Ziemke and S. Thellman, 'Do we really want AI to be human-like?', Science Robotics, vol. 7, no. 68, 2022.
- [334] E. Zohrevandi, C. Westin, J. Lundberg, and A. Ynnerman, 'Design and Evaluation Study of Visual Analytics Decision Support Tools in Air Traffic Control', Computer graphics forum (Print), vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 230–242, 2022.
- [335] E. Zohrevandi, C. Westin, K. Vrotsou, and J. Lundberg, 'Exploring Effects of Ecological Visual Analytics Interfaces on Experts' and Novices' Decision-Making Processes: A Case Study in Air Traffic Control', Computer graphics forum (Print), vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 453–464, 2022.
- [336] C. Åleskog, H. Grahn, and A. Borg, 'Recent Developments in Low-Power AI Accelerators: A Survey', Algorithms, vol. 15, no. 11, p. 419, 2022.
- [337] G. Öman Lundin, P. Mouyon, A. Manecy, and G. Hendeby, 'Non-redundant high-integrity position estimation robust to sensor bias jumps using MGLR', Drone Systems and Applications, pp. 343–366, 2022.

Scientific peer- reviewed conference papers

- P. Agheli, N. Pappas, and M. Kountouris, 'Semantic Source Coding for Two Users with Heterogeneous Goals', in 2022 IEEE Global Communications Conference (GLOBECOM 2022), IEEE, 2022, pp. 4983–4988.
- [2] P. Agheli, N. Pappas, and M. Kountouris, 'Semantics-Aware Source Coding in Status Update Systems', in 2022 IEEE International Conference on Communications Workshops (ICC WORKSHOPS), IEEE, 2022, pp. 169–174.
- [3] F. Agner, 'District Heating Model Parameter Estimation', 2022.
- [4] F. Ahmad, M. Mayr, E. A. Topp, J. Malec, and V. Krueger, 'Generalizing Behavior Trees and Motion-Generator (BTMG) Policy Representation for Robotic Tasks Over Scenario Parameters', 2022.



- [5] M. Ahrnbom, I. Persson, H. Ardo, and M. Nilsson, 'Generalized Urban Traffic Surveillance (GUTS): World-Coordinate Tracking for Traffic Safety Applications', in 25th IEEE International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems, ITSC 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 3813–3818.
- [6] M. Ahrnbom, I. Persson, and M. Nilsson, 'Seg2Pose: Pose Estimations from Instance Segmentation Masks in One or Multiple Views for Traffic Applications', in 17th International Conference on Computer Vision Theory and Applications, VISAPP 2022
br/>, SciTePress, 2022, pp. 777–784.
- [7] F. Akbarian, W. Tärneberg, E. Fitzgerald, and M. Kihl, 'Detection and mitigation of deception attacks on cloud-based industrial control systems', in 25th Conference on Innovation in Clouds, Internet and Networks, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.
- [8] M. Akesson and M. Sandsten, 'Phase Reassignment with Efficient Estimation of Phase Difference', in 30th European Signal Processing Conference, EUSIPCO 2022, European Signal Processing Conference, EUSIPCO, 2022, pp. 2126–2130.
- [9] G. Alce, P. Alm, R. Tyllström, A. Smoker, and D. C. Niehorster, 'Design and Evaluation of Three User Interfaces for Detecting Unmanned Aerial Vehicles Using Virtual Reality', in 19th EuroXR International Conference, EuroXR 2022, Springer Science and Business Media B.V., 2022, pp. 36–49.
- [10] J. V. Alegría, J. Huang, and F. Rusek, 'Cell-Free Massive MIMO: Exploiting the Wax Decomposition', in 47th IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing, ICASSP 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 5393–5397.
- [11] J. V. Alegria and F. Rusek, 'Channel Orthogonalization with Reconfigurable Surfaces', in 2022 IEEE GLOBECOM Workshops, GC Wkshps 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 37–42.
- [12] J. V. Alegria and F. Rusek, 'Enabling Decentralized Computation of the WAX Decomposition', in 2022 IEEE International Conference on Communications, ICC 2022, 2022.
- [13] J. V. Alegría, F. Rusek, and A. Lozano, 'Impact of Quantization in Decentralized Processing for Large Multi-Antenna Architectures', in 56th Asilomar Conference on Signals, Systems and Computers, ACSSC 2022, IEEE Computer Society, 2022, pp. 1351–1356.
- [14] H. Aliakbari Abar and B. K. Lau, 'Characteristic mode analysis of millimeter-wave series patch array', in 2022 IEEE International Symposium on Antennas and Propagation and North



American Radio Science Meeting. IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 225–226.

- [15] S. Almuktar, X. Cai, and P. Tejera, 'Universal Design for Learning (UDL) in Higher Education: A Case Study in LTH', in The 2022 Lund University Conference on Teaching and Learning, 2022.
- [16] M. Alutto, L. Cianfanelli, G. Como, and F. Fagnani, 'Multiple peaks in network SIR epidemic models', in 61st IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, CDC 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 5614–5619.
- [17] O. Amador Molina, E. Ronelöv, K. Boustedt, J. Blidkvist, and A. Vinel, 'Protection of Vulnerable Road Users using Hybrid Vehicular Networks', in 2022 IEEE International Conference on Vehicular Electronics and Safety (ICVES), IEEE, 2022.
- [18] P. Anistratov, B. Olofsson, and L. Nielsen, 'Dynamics-Based Optimal Motion Planning of Multiple Lane Changes using Segmentation', 10th IFAC Symposium on Advances in Automotive Control, AAC 2022, 2022.
- [19] D. F. Aranha, M. Hall-Andersen, A. Nitulescu, E. Pagnin, and S. Yakoubov, 'Count Me In! Extendability for Threshold Ring Signatures', in 25th IACR International Conference on Practice and Theory of Public-Key Cryptography, PKC 2022, Springer, 2022, pp. 379–406.
- [20] G. F. Araujo, R. Machado, and M. Pettersson, 'Assessment of preprocessing techniques in a model-based automatic target recognition algorithm for the SAMPLE dataset', in Image and Signal Processing for Remote Sensing XXVIII 2022, SPIE - International Society for Optical Engineering, 2022.
- [21] D. Arnström and D. Axehill, 'Lift, Partition, and Project: Parametric Complexity Certification of Active-Set QP Methods in the Presence of Numerical Errors', in 2022 IEEE 61st Conference on Decision and Control (CDC), Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2022, pp. 4381–4387.
- [22] C. Axell, A. Berg, J. Hallström, S. Thellman, and T. Ziemke, 'Artificial Intelligence in Contemporary Children's Culture: A Case Study', in PATT 39: PATT on the Edge Technology, Innovation and Education, Memorial University of Newfoundland, 2022, pp. 376–386.
- [23] D. Badampudi, 'Using Student-generated Questions in Software Engineering Courses', in CEUR Workshop Proceedings, Technical University of Aachen, 2022, pp. 72–76.
- [24] I. Baek, W. Chen, Z. Zhu, S. Samii, and R. R. Rajkumar, 'FT-DeepNets: Fault-Tolerant Convolutional Neural Networks with Kernel-based Duplication', in 2022 IEEE Winter Conference on Applications of Computer Vision (WACV 2022), IEEE COMPUTER SOC, 2022, pp. 1878–1887.



- [25] F. Bagge Carlson, M. Fält, A. Heimerson, and O. Troeng, 'ControlSystems.jl: A Control Toolbox in Julia', in CDC2021 60th Conference on Decision and Control, IEEE Press, 2022.
- [26] F. M. Barbosa and J. Löfberg, 'Time-optimal control of cranes subject to container height constraints', in Proceedings of 2022 American Control Conference (ACC), Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2022, pp. 3558–3563.
- [27] M. Bauer and F. Heskebeck, 'A Workplace Equality Workshop for the Control Engineering Classroom', in 13th IFAC Symposium on Advances in Control Education, ACE 2022, Elsevier BV, 2022, pp. 97–102.
- [28] E. Becirovic, Z. Chen, and E. G. Larsson, 'Optimal MIMO Combining for Blind Federated Edge Learning with Gradient Sparsification', in IEEE Workshop on Signal Processing Advances in Wireless Communications (SPAWC), IEEE, 2022, pp. 1–5.
- [29] B. Behmanesh, J. Rodrigues, and H. Sjöland, 'An 88% fractional bandwidth reconfigurable power amplifier for NB-IoT and LTE-M in 22 nm CMOS FDSOI', in 2022 IEEE Nordic Circuits and Systems Conference (NorCAS), IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., Nov. 2022.
- [30] A. Berg, M. O'Connor, K. Åström, and M. Oskarsson, 'Extending GCC-PHAT using Shift Equivariant Neural Networks', in Interspeech 2022, ISCA, 2022, pp. 1791–1795.
- [31] A. Berg, M. Oskarsson, and M. O'Connor, 'Points to patches: Enabling the use of self-attention for 3D shape recognition', in 26TH International Conference on Pattern Recognition, 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 528–534.
- [32] L. Besançon, K. Schönborn, E. Sundén, H. Yin, S. Rising, P. Westerdahl, P. Ljung, J. Wideström,
 C. Hansen, and A. Ynnerman, 'Exploring and Explaining Climate Change: Exploranation as a
 Visualization Pedagogy for Societal Action', 2022.
- [33] A. K. Bhunia, S. Khan, H. Cholakkal, R. M. Anwer, F. Khan, J. Laaksonen, and M. Felsberg,
 'DoodleFormer: Creative Sketch Drawing with Transformers', in Computer Vision Eccv 2022,
 Pt Xvii, SPRINGER INTERNATIONAL PUBLISHING AG, 2022, pp. 338–355.
- [34] C. Blomqvist, K. Enflo, A. Jakobsson, and K. Åström, 'Joint Handwritten Text Recognition and Word Classification for Tabular Information Extraction', in 26TH International Conference on Pattern Recognition, 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., Nov. 2022, pp. 1564–1570.
- [35] F. Boeira, M. Asplund, and M. Barcellos, 'No Doppelganger: Advancing Mobile Networks Against Impersonation in Adversarial Scenarios', in Proceedings of the 15th ACM Conference on Security and Privacy in Wireless and Mobile Networks (WISEC 22), ASSOC COMPUTING MACHINERY, 2022, pp. 280–281.



- [36] M. Borg, 'Agility in Software 2.0 Notebook Interfaces and MLOps with Buttresses and Rebars', in International Conference on Lean and Agile Software DevelopmentLASD 2022: Lean and Agile Software Development pp 3-16, Springer Science and Business Media Deutschland GmbH, 2022, pp. 3–16.
- [37] M. Borg, 'Using Search-Based Software Testing to Guide the Strive for Robust Machine Learning Components: Lessons Learned Across Systems and Simulators in the Mobility Domain', in Proceedings - 2022 IEEE 14th International Conference on Software Testing, Verification and Validation Workshops, ICSTW 2022, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.
- [38] M. Borg, J. Bengtsson, H. Osterling, A. Hagelborn, I. Gagner, and P. Tomaszewski, 'Quality Assurance of Generative Dialog Models in an Evolving Conversational Agent Used for Swedish Language Practice', in Proceedings - 1st International Conference on AI Engineering -Software Engineering for AI, CAIN 2022, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 22–32.
- [39] M. Borhani, I. Avgouleas, and A. Gurtov, 'Optimization of Relay Placement for Scalable Virtual Private LAN Services', ACM, 2022.
- [40] C. Boschini, D. Fiore, and E. Pagnin, 'Progressive and efficient verification for digital signatures', in 20th International Conference on Applied Cryptography and Network Security, ACNS 2022, Springer, 2022, pp. 440–458.
- [41] D. Bossér, G. Hendeby, M. L. Nordenvaad, and I. Skog, 'A Statistically Motivated Likelihood for Track-Before-Detect', in 2022 IEEE International Conference on Multisensor Fusion and Integration for Intelligent Systems (MFI), IEEE, 2022.
- [42] M. Boulasikis, F. Gruian, G. Callanan, and J. W. Janneck, 'Analysing Dataflow Programs with Causation Traces', in 31st International Conference on Parallel Architectures and Compilation Techniques, PACT 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 534–535.
- [43] G. Callanan and F. Gruian, 'Estimating Stream Application Performance in Early-Stage System Design', in 2022 56th Asilomar Conference on Signals, Systems, and Computers, IEEE -Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 816–823.
- [44] G. Callebaut, W. Tärneberg, L. van Der Perre, and E. Fitzgerald, 'Dynamic Federations for 6G Cell-Free Networking: Concepts and Terminology', in International Workshop on Signal Processing Advances in Wireless Communications (SPAWC), IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.



- [45] S. Cang, X. Sheng, A. Jakobsson, and H. Yang, 'Robust Deconvolution of Underwater Acoustic Channels Corrupted by Impulsive Noise', in 5th International Conference on Information Communication and Signal Processing, ICICSP 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 571–576.
- [46] M. Capek, L. Jelinek, M. Gustafsson, and K. Schab, 'Cloaking Synthesis Based on Exact Reanalysis', in 2022 IEEE International Symposium on Antennas and Propagation and USNC-URSI Radio Science Meeting, AP-S/URSI 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 293–294.
- [47] M. Capek, J. Lundgren, M. Gustafsson, L. Jelinek, and K. Schab, 'Characteristic Mode Decomposition of Scattering Dyadic', in 2022 IEEE International Symposium on Antennas and Propagation and USNC-URSI Radio Science Meeting, AP-S/URSI 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 283–284.
- [48] D. Cederberg, A. Hansson, and A. Rantzer, 'Synthesis of Minimax Adaptive Controller for a Finite Set of Linear Systems', in 2022 IEEE 61st Conference on Decision and Control (CDC), IEEE, 2022, pp. 1380–1384.
- [49] A. Chatzimparmpas, V. Park, and A. Kerren, 'Evaluating StackGenVis with a Comparative User Study', in Proceedings of the 15th IEEE Pacific Visualization Symposium (PacificVis '22), IEEE, 2022, pp. 161–165.
- [50] M. Cooney, E. Järpe, and A. Vinel, "Robot Steganography": Opportunities and Challenges', in Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on Agents and Artificial Intelligence -Volume 1: ICAART, SciTePress, 2022, pp. 200–207.
- [51] M. Cooney and A. Vinel, 'Magic in Human-Robot Interaction (HRI)', in 2022 Swedish Artificial Intelligence Society Workshop (SAIS), IEEE, 2022.
- [52] F. G. da Silva, L. P. Ramos, B. Palm, D. I. Alves, M. Pettersson, and R. Machado, 'Hybrid Feature Extraction Based on PCA and CNN for Oil Rig Classification in C-Band SAR Imagery', in Proceedings of SPIE - The International Society for Optical Engineering, SPIE - International Society for Optical Engineering, 2022.
- [53] L. Damonte, G. Como, and F. Fagnani, 'Targeting interventions for displacement minimization in opinion dynamics', in 61st IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, CDC 2022, IEEE -Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 7023–7028.
- [54] D. Deng, Z. Chen, H. H. Yang, N. Pappas, L. Hu, M. Wang, Y. Jia, and T. Q. S. Quek, 'Information Freshness in A Dual Monitoring System', in 2022 IEEE Global Communications Conference (GLOBECOM 2022), IEEE, 2022, pp. 4977–4982.



- [55] B. J. B. Deutschmann, T. Wilding, E. G. Larsson, and K. Witrisal, 'Location-based Initial Access for Wireless Power Transfer with Physically Large Arrays', in 2022 IEEE International Conference on Communications Workshops (ICC WORKSHOPS), IEEE, 2022, pp. 127–132.
- [56] B. Dunin-Keplicz and A. Szalas, 'Modeling and Shadowing Paraconsistent BDI Agents', in 10th International Workshop on Engineering Multi-Agent Systems, 2022.
- [57] H. Edison and D. Petrik, 'ICSOB Poster Track 2022 Preface', in CEUR Workshop Proceedings, CEUR-WS, 2022.
- [58] J. Edstedt, A. Berg, M. Felsberg, J. Karlsson, F. Benavente, A. Novak, and G. Grund Pihlgren, 'VidHarm: A Clip Based Dataset for Harmful Content Detection', in 2022 26th International Conference on Pattern Recognition (ICPR), Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2022, pp. 1543–1549.
- [59] J. Eek, D. Gustafsson, L. Hollmann, M. Nordberg, I. Skog, and M. Malmström, 'A Novel and Fast Approach for Reconstructing CASSI-Raman Spectra using Generative Adversarial Networks', in 2022 Eleventh International Conference on Image Processing Theory, Tools and Applications (IPTA), IEEE, 2022.
- [60] A. Ejjeh, L. Medvinsky, A. Councilman, H. Nehra, S. Sharma, V. Adve, L. Nardi, E. Nurvitadhi, and R. A. Rutenbar, 'HPVM2FPGA: Enabling True Hardware-Agnostic FPGA Programming', in 33rd IEEE International Conference on Application-specific Systems, Architectures, and Processors (ASAP 2022), IEEE Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.
- [61] M. Emami, E. Bezati, J. W. Janneck, and J. R. Larus, 'Auto-Partitioning Heterogeneous Task-Parallel Programs with StreamBlocks', in 31st International Conference on Parallel Architectures and Compilation Techniques, PACT 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 398–411.
- [62] D. Engelsons, M. Tiger, and F. Heintz, 'Coverage Path Planning in Large-scale Multi-floor Urban Environments with Applications to Autonomous Road Sweeping', in 2022 International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2022, pp. 3328–3334.
- [63] L. Ferranti, K. Aström, M. Oskarsson, J. Boutellier, and J. Kannala, 'Multiple Offsets Multilateration: A New Paradigm for Sensor Network Calibration with Unsynchronized Reference Nodes', in 47th IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing, ICASSP 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 4958–4962.



- [64] G. Flood, E. Tegler, D. Gillsjö, A. Heyden, and K. Åström, 'Minimal Solvers for Point Cloud Matching with Statistical Deformations', in 26th International Conference on Pattern Recognition, ICPR 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.
- [65] R. Forsling, Z. Sjanic, F. Gustafsson, and G. Hendeby, 'Optimal Linear Fusion of Dimension-Reduced Estimates Using Eigenvalue Optimization', in Proceedings of the 25th International Conference on Information Fusion (FUSION), IEEE, 2022.
- [66] E. Frisk, F. Jarmolowitz, D. Jung, and M. Krysander, 'Fault Diagnosis Using Data, Models, or Both – An Electrical Motor Use-Case', Elsevier, 2022, pp. 533–538.
- [67] Y. Ge, H. Chen, F. Jiang, M. Zhu, H. Khosravi, S. Lindberg, H. Herbertsson, O. Eriksson, O. Brunnegard, B. E. Olsson, P. Hammarberg, F. Tufvesson, L. Svensson, and H. Wymeersch, 'Experimental Validation of Single Base Station 5G mm Wave Positioning: Initial Findings', in 25th International Conference on Information Fusion, FUSION 2022, IEEE Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.
- [68] C. Geldhauser, A. D. Matt, and C. Stussak, 'I AM A.I. Gradient Descent an Open-Source Digital Game for Inquiry-Based CLIL Learning', in 36th AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence, AAAI 2022, The Association for the Advancement of Artificial Intelligence, 2022, pp. 12751– 12757.
- [69] F. Ghani Zadegan, Z. Zhang, K. Peterse'n, and E. Larsson, 'Reusing IEEE 1687-Compatible Instruments and Sub-Networks over a System Bus', in Proceedings - International Test Conference, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 219–228.
- [70] I. Ghotbi, B. Behmanesh, and M. Törmänen, 'A 1.7-6.4 GHz fourth-order RF filter with 1-40% fractional bandwidth in 22-nm FDSOI', in 2022 IEEE Asian Solid-State Circuits Conference (A-SSCC), IEEE Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 1–3.
- [71] I. Ghotbi, B. Behmanesh, and M. Törmänen, 'A Wideband Balun-LNA for Sub-6-GHz 5G NR with Multi-Mode Operation in 22-nm FD-SOI', in 20th IEEE Interregional NEWCAS Conference, NEWCAS 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 94–98.
- [72] D. Gillsjö, G. Flood, and K. Åström, 'Semantic Room Wireframe Detection from a Single View', in 26TH International Conference on Pattern Recognition, 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 1886–1893.
- [73] S. Gocht, R. Martins, J. Nordström, and A. Oertel, 'Certified CNF Translations for Pseudo-Boolean Solving', in 25th International Conference on Theory and Applications of Satisfiability Testing (SAT 2022), Schloss Dagstuhl - Leibniz-Zentrum für Informatik, 2022.



- [74] S. Gocht, C. McCreesh, and J. Nordström, 'An Auditable Constraint Programming Solver', in
 28th International Conference on Principles and Practice of Constraint Programming, CP
 2022, Schloss Dagstuhl Leibniz-Zentrum f
 ür Informatik, 2022.
- [75] M. Greiff, P. Persson, Z. Sun, K. Astrom, and A. Robertsson, 'Quadrotor Control on SU(2)×
 R3with SLAM Integration', in 2022 IEEE Conference on Control Technology and Applications,
 CCTA 2022, IEEE Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 291–298.
- [76] A. Gummeson, J. Engman, K. Astrom, and M. Oskarsson, 'Fast and efficient minimal solvers for quadric based camera pose estimation', in 26th International Conference on Pattern Recognition, ICPR 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 3973–3979.
- [77] S. Gunnarsson, A. Fahlgren, and P. Fagrell, 'Enhancing Interaction with External Stakeholders in Program Management', in Proceedings of the 18th International CDIO Conference, 2022, pp. 61–71.
- [78] S. Gunnarsson and M. Swartz, 'On the connectons between the CDIO framework and challenge-based learning', in Proceedings of the 50th SEFI Annual Conference, 2022.
- [79] O. Gustafsson and C. Bae, 'Shift-and-Add Realization Trade-Offs for Chromatic Dispersion Compensation FIR Filters', in Optica Advanced Photonics Congress 2022, Optical Society of America, 2022.
- [80] Z. Gülgün and E. G. Larsson, 'Channel Estimation for Massive MIMO in the Presence of Cauchy Noise', in ICC 2022 - IEEE International Conference on Communications, IEEE, 2022, pp. 1769– 1774.
- [81] O. Günlü, R. F. Schaefer, H. Boche, and H. V. Poor, 'Secure and Private Source Coding with Private Key and Decoder Side Information', in 2022 IEEE Information Theory Workshop (ITW), IEEE, 2022, pp. 226–231.
- [82] E. Gärtner, M. Andriluka, E. Coumans, and C. Sminchisescu, 'Differentiable Dynamics for Articulated 3d Human Motion Reconstruction', in 2022 IEEE/CVF Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, CVPR 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.
- [83] E. Gärtner, M. Andriluka, H. Xu, and C. Sminchisescu, 'Trajectory Optimization for Physics-Based Reconstruction of 3d Human Pose from Monocular Video', in 2022 IEEE/CVF Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, CVPR 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.



- [84] P. Hanji, R. K. Mantiuk, G. Eilertsen, S. Hajisharif, and J. Unger, 'Comparison of single image HDR reconstruction methods — the caveats of quality assessment', in SIGGRAPH '22 Conference Proceedings, Association for Computing Machinery (ACM), 2022.
- [85] K. Hansen, A. Osmanovic, B. Klerens, and H. Edison, 'The Evolution of Software Startup Research: A Survey of Literature', in Software Business, Springer Science+Business Media B.V., 2022, pp. 304–319.
- [86] J. Hansson, A. Govaert, R. Pates, E. Tegling, and K. Soltesz, 'Limitations of time-delayed case isolation in heterogeneous SIR models', in American Control Conference, 2022, 2022.
- [87] J. Hansson and E. Tegling, 'Input-Output Pseudospectral Bounds for Transient Analysis of Networked and High-Order Systems', in 61st IEEE Conference on Decision and Control (CDC), 2022, pp. 7497–7503.
- [88] M. Hatami, M. Leinonen, and M. Codreanu, 'Status Updating with an Energy Harvesting Sensor under Partial Battery Knowledge', in 2022 IEEE 23rd International Workshop on Signal Processing Advances in Wireless Communication (SPAWC), IEEE, 2022.
- [89] R. Hatti-Kaul, N. Leiva Eriksson, I. André, M. Carlquist, M. Hedlund, J. Malec, A. Nordberg, C.
 Troein, and E. Hadley Kershaw, 'Syntetisk biologi en hållbar lösning på klimatkrisen?', 2022.
- [90] A. Heimerson, J. Eker, and K.-E. Årzén, 'A Proactive Cloud Application Auto-Scaler using Reinforcement Learning', in 15th ACM-IEEE International Conference on Formal Methods and Models for System Design, Dec. 2022.
- [91] A. Heimerson, J. Ruuskanen, and J. Eker, 'Automatic Differentiation over Fluid Models for Holistic Load Balancing', in 2022 IEEE International Conference on Autonomic Computing and Self-Organizing Systems Companion (ACSOS-C), Nov. 2022, pp. 13–18.
- [92] A. Heimerson, J. Sjölund, R. Brännvall, J. Gustafsson, and J. Eker, 'Adaptive Control of Data Center Cooling using Deep Reinforcement Learning', in Proceedings - 2022 IEEE International Conference on Autonomic Computing and Self-Organizing Systems Companion, ACSOS-C 2022, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.
- [93] D. Helgesson, D. Appelquist, and P. Runeson, 'Cognitive Challenges for novice Software Development Teams', in 33rd Annual Workshop of the Psychology of Programming Interest Group, Psychology of Programming Interest Group, 2022, pp. 197–215.
- [94] A. Hellander and D. Axehill, 'On a Traveling Salesman Problem with Dynamic Obstacles and Integrated Motion Planning', in 2022 American Control Conference (ACC), IEEE, 2022, pp. 4965–4972.
- [95] R. Hersyandika, J. Sanchez, Y. Miao, S. Pollin, and F. Tufvesson, 'Measurement-based blockage and intra-cluster interference analysis in mmWave multi-point connectivity



networks', in 1st ACM International Workshop on Emerging Topics in Wireless, EmergingWireless 2022, co-located with ACM CoNEXT 2022, Association for Computing Machinery (ACM), 2022, pp. 12–17.

- [96] M. Heyden, R. Pates, and A. Rantzer, 'A Structured Optimal Controller for Irrigation Networks', in European Control Conference 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 2297–2304.
- [97] A. Hidayati, I. E. Ismail, A. R. Yuly, and H. Edison, 'Games for Scrum Team Collaboration in the Global Software Development Environment: A Literature Review', in 7th International Conference on Informatics and Computing, ICIC 2022, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2022.
- [98] A. Holscher, M. Asplund, and F. Boeira, 'Evaluation of an SDN-based Microservice Architecture', in Proceedings of the 2022 IEEE 8th International Conference on Network Softwarization (NETSOFT 2022): Network Softwarization Coming of Age: New Challenges and Opportunities, IEEE, 2022, pp. 151–156.
- [99] A. Hrusto, E. Engström, and P. Runeson, 'Optimization of Anomaly Detection in a Microservice System Through Continuous Feedback from Development', in 2022 IEEE/ACM 10th International Workshop on Software Engineering for Systems-of-Systems and Software Ecosystems (SESoS), IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 13– 20.
- [100] C. Huang, G. Hendeby, and I. Skog, 'A Tightly-Integrated Magnetic-Field aided Inertial Navigation System', in 2022 25th International Conference on Information Fusion (FUSION), IEEE, 2022.
- [101] Z. Huang, K. Kucher, and A. Kerren, 'Towards an Exploratory Visual Analytics System for Multivariate Subnetworks in Social Media Analysis', in Poster Abstracts, IEEE Visualization and Visual Analytics (VIS '22), IEEE, 2022.
- [102] C. Hvarfner, F. Hutter, and L. Nardi, 'Joint Entropy Search for Maximally-Informed Bayesian Optimization', in 36th Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems, NeurIPS 2022, Curran Associates, Inc, 2022.
- [103] C. Hvarfner, D. Stoll, A. Souza, M. Lindauer, F. Hutter, and L. Nardi, 'πBO: Augmenting Acquisition Functions with User Beliefs for Bayesian Optimization', in Tenth International Conference of Learning Representations, ICLR 2022, 2022.
- [104] C. Hynén and D. Axehill, 'On Integrating POMDP and Scenario MPC for Planning under Uncertainty - with Applications to Highway Driving', in 2022 IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium (IV), IEEE, 2022, pp. 1152–1160.



- [105] Y. Ivanenko, V. T. Vu, J. Barowski, H. Hellsten, and M. Pettersson, 'Phase Control in Interpolation for Backprojection of THz FMCW SAR Signals', in 2022 23rd International Radar Symposium (IRS), IEEE, 2022, pp. 10–15.
- [106] S. Javadi, B. Palm, V. T. Vu, and M. Pettersson, 'Performance Evaluation of Unsupervised Coregistration Algorithms for Multitemporal SAR Images', in International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium (IGARSS), Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2022, pp. 64–67.
- [107] L. Jelinek, M. Gustafsson, K. Schab, M. Capek, and E. Moreno, 'Transition Matrix in Characteristic Modes Theory', in 2022 IEEE International Symposium on Antennas and Propagation and USNC-URSI Radio Science Meeting, AP-S/URSI 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 291–292.
- [108] J. Johnander, J. Edstedt, M. Felsberg, F. Khan, and M. Danelljan, 'Dense Gaussian Processes for Few-Shot Segmentation', in Computer Vision, Eccv 2022, Pt Xxix, SPRINGER INTERNATIONAL PUBLISHING AG, 2022, pp. 217–234.
- [109] N. Jonas, G. Hendeby, and D. Axehill, 'LiDAR-Landmark Modeling for Belief-Space Planning using Aerial Forest Data', in Proceedings of the 25th International Conference on Information Fusion (FUSION), IEEE, 2022.
- [110] A. Jonnarth and M. Felsberg, 'Importance Sampling Cams for Weakly-Supervised Segmentation', in 2022 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), IEEE, 2022, pp. 2639–2643.
- [111] B. J. Josephrexon and M. Maggio, 'Experimenting with networked control software subject to faults', in 61st IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, CDC 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 1547–1552.
- [112] T. Jouini, A. Rantzer, and E. Tegling, 'Inverse optimal control for angle stabilization in converter-based generation', in American Control Conference, 2022, 2022, pp. 4945–4950.
- [113] D. Jung, B. Kleman, H. Lindgren, and H. Warnquist, 'Fault Diagnosis of Exhaust Gas Treatment System Combining Physical Insights and Neural Networks', in IFAC Papersonline, ELSEVIER, 2022, pp. 97–102.
- [114] D. Jung and J. Säfdal, 'A flexi-pipe model for residual-based engine fault diagnosis to handle incomplete data and class overlapping', in IFAC Papersonline, ELSEVIER, 2022, pp. 84–89.
- [115] D. Kadish, A. Sarkheyli-Hägele, J. Font, G. Hägele, D. C. Niehorster, and T. Pederson, 'Towards Situation Awareness and Attention Guidance in a Multiplayer Environment using Augmented Reality and Carcassonne', in 9th ACM SIGCHI Annual Symposium on Computer-Human



Interaction in Play, CHI PLAY 2022, Association for Computing Machinery (ACM), Nov. 2022, pp. 133–139.

- [116] A. Kaplan, J. Vieira, and E. G. Larsson, 'Dynamic Range Improvement in Bistatic Backscatter Communication Using Distributed MIMO', in 2022 IEEE Global Communications Conference (GLOBECOM 2022), IEEE, 2022, pp. 2486–2492.
- [117] U. Kargén, I. Härnqvist, J. Wilson, G. Eriksson, E. Holmgren, and N. Shahmehri, 'desync-cc: An Automatic Disassembly-Desynchronization Obfuscator', in 2022 IEEE International Conference on Software Analysis, Evolution and Reengineering, IEEE Computer Society, 2022, pp. 464–468.
- [118] J. Karlsson, J. Ramkull, I. Arvidsson, A. Heyden, K. Åström, N. C. Overgaard, and K. Lång, 'Machine learning algorithm for classification of breast ultrasound images', in SPIE Medical Imaging 2022, SPIE, 2022.
- [119] D. Kaufmann, P. Beame, A. Biere, and J. Nordstrom, 'Adding Dual Variables to Algebraic Reasoning for Gate-Level Multiplier Verification', in 2022 Design, Automation and Test in Europe Conference and Exhibition, DATE 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 1431–1436.
- [120] O. Keding and M. Sandsten, 'Robust Phase Difference Estimation of Transients in High Noise Levels', in 30th European Signal Processing Conference, EUSIPCO 2022, European Signal Processing Conference, EUSIPCO, 2022, pp. 2271–2275.
- [121] M. T. Khan and O. Gustafsson, 'ASIC Implementation Trade-Offs for High-Speed LMS and Block LMS Adaptive Filters', in 65th International Midwest Symposium on Circuits and Systems (MWSCAS), Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2022.
- [122] S. Khan, P. Kumar, B. An, and A. Gurtov, 'POSTER: FL-Guard: A Federated Learning Based Ground-AirSecure Communication Model for Future Aviation Network', 2022.
- [123] S. Khan, G. Singh Gaba, and A. Gurtov, 'A Federated Learning Based Privacy-Preserving Intrusion Detection System for The Cpdlc', International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences (ICAS), 2022.
- [124] H. C. Kiang, K. Bartoszek, S. Sakowski, S. M. Iacus, and M. Vespe, 'Summarizing Global SARS-CoV-2 Geographical Spread by Phylogenetic Multitype Branching Models', in Computational Intelligence Methods for Bioinformatics and Biostatistics, Cibb 2021, SPRINGER INTERNATIONAL PUBLISHING AG, 2022, pp. 170–184.
- [125] Y. H. Kifle and J. Wikner, 'A Reconfigurable 13.56MHz Wireless Powered CMOS Integrated Nerve Stimulator', in 2022 IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS 22), IEEE, 2022, pp. 956–959.



- [126] M. Kim, O. Günlü, and R. F. Schaefer, 'Effects of Quantization on Federated Learning with Local Differential Privacy', in 2022 IEEE Global Communications Conference (GLOBECOM 2022), IEEE, 2022, pp. 921–926.
- [127] O. Kjellqvist, 'Robust Output-Feedback Adaptive Control of Finite Sets of Linear Systems', in 25th International Symposium on Mathematical Theory of Networks and Systems, 2022.
- [128] O. Kjellqvist and A. Gattami, 'Learning Optimal Team-Decisions', in 61st IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, CDC 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 1441–1446.
- [129] O. Kjellqvist and A. Rantzer, 'Minimax Adaptive Estimation for Finite Sets of Linear Systems', in American Control Conference, 2022, 2022.
- [130] O. Kjellqvist and A. Rantzer, 'Learning-Enabled Robust Control with Noisy Measurements', in Proceedings of the 4th Annual Learning for Dynamics and Control, PMLR, 2022, pp. 86–96.
- [131] O. Kjellqvist and J. Yu, 'On Infinite-horizon System Level Synthesis Problems', in 61st IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, CDC 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 5238–5244.
- [132] S. Kjällander, A. Åkerfeldt, L. Mannila, and F. Heintz, 'Signs of learning in middle school computing education', Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2022.
- [133] M. Klang, D. Medved, P. Nugues, J. Nilsson, and D. Diaz, 'Using Operative Reports to Predict Heart Transplantation Survival', in 44th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, EMBC 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 2258–2261.
- [134] D. Kloetzl, T. Krake, Y. Zhou, J. Stober, K. Schulte, I. Hotz, B. Wang, and D. Weiskopf, 'Reduced Connectivity for Local Bilinear Jacobi Sets', in 2022 IEEE Workshop on Topological Data Analysis and Visualization (TOPOINVIS 2022), IEEE, 2022, pp. 39–48.
- [135] M. Klöckner, M. Haage, H. Eriksson, H. Malm, K. Nilsson, A. Robertsson, and R. Andersson, 'Insights into automation of construction process using parallel-kinematic manipulators', in 39th International Symposium on Automation and Robotics in Construction, ISARC 2022, International Association for Automation and Robotics in Construction (IAARC), 2022, pp. 25– 32.
- [136] E. Kochenborger Duarte, M. Shiomi, A. Vinel, and M. Cooney, 'Robot Self-defense: Robot, Don't Hurt Me, No More', in HRI '22: Proceedings of the 2022 ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction, IEEE Press, 2022, pp. 742–745.
- [137] E. Kochenborger Duarte, M. Shiomi, A. Vinel, and M. Cooney, 'Robot Self-defense: Robots Can Use Force on Human Attackers to Defend Victims', in IEEE RO-MAN 2022: 31st IEEE



International Conference on Robot and Human Interactive Communication, Social, Asocial, and Antisocial Robots, IEEE, 2022, pp. 1606–1613.

- [138] C. Kowalkowski, B. Tronvoll, D. Sörhammar, and A. Sklyar, 'Digital servitization: How datadriven services drive transformation', in Proceedings of the 55th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, 2022.
- [139] S. P. Koyyada, D. Deshmukh, D. Badampudi, V. Ahmadi Mehri, and M. Usman, 'Towards automated open source assessment An empirical study', in CEUR Workshop Proceedings, Technical University of Aachen, 2022.
- [140] K. Kucher, S. Bouchama, A. Ebert, and A. Kerren, 'Task-Based Evaluation of Sentiment Visualization Techniques', in Proceedings of the 17th International Joint Conference on Computer Vision, Imaging and Computer Graphics Theory and Applications (VISIGRAPP '22): Volume 3: IVAPP, Online Streaming, February 6-8, 2022, SciTePress, 2022, pp. 187–194.
- [141] J. D. Kumar, P. Mohapatra, and N. Pappas, 'Short Packet Communication over a Two-user Z-Interference Channel with Rayleigh Fading', in 2022 IEEE Global Communications Conference (GLOBECOM 2022), IEEE, 2022, pp. 4746–4751.
- [142] U. Kunnath Ganesan, E. Björnson, and E. G. Larsson, 'Bridging the Digital Divide Using SuperCell Massive MIMO', in 2022 IEEE 96th Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC2022-FALL), Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2022.
- [143] J. Kunz and M. Kuhlmann, 'Where Does Linguistic Information Emerge in Neural Language Models?: Measuring Gains and Contributions across Layers', in Proceedings of the 29th International Conference on Computational Linguistics, 2022, pp. 4664–4676.
- [144] M. Laiq, N. bin Ali, J. Börstler, and E. Engström, 'Early Identification of Invalid Bug Reports in Industrial Settings – A Case Study', in Product-Focused Software Process Improvement, Springer Science+Business Media B.V., 2022, pp. 497–507.
- [145] D. Lantz, F. Boeira, and M. Asplund, 'Towards Self-monitoring Enclaves: Side-Channel Detection Using Performance Counters', in Secure IT Systems, Nordsec 2022, SPRINGER INTERNATIONAL PUBLISHING AG, 2022, pp. 120–138.
- [146] E. Larsson, 'Graceful degradation to prolong lifetime of semiconductors', in Knowledge for Sustainable Development
 Lund University Research Conference, 2022.
- [147] M. Larsson, E. Tegler, K. Åström, and M. Oskarsson, 'Trilateration Using Motion Models', in 25th International Conference on Information Fusion, FUSION 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 01–07.
- [148] F. Lastow, E. Ekberg, and P. Nugues, 'Language-Agnostic Age and Gender Classification of Voice using Self-supervised Pre-Training', in 34th Workshop of the Swedish Artificial



Intelligence Society, SAIS 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.

- [149] H. Liang, X. Ding, A. Jakobsson, X. Tu, and Y. Huang, 'Adaptive Variational Nonlinear Chirp Mode Decomposition', in 47th IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing, ICASSP 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 5632–5636.
- [150] Q. Liang and B. Kiong Lau, 'Analysis of Partially Reflective Surface Antenna with Different Reflection Magnitudes Using Ray-tracing', in 2022 IEEE International Symposium on Antennas and Propagation and USNC-URSI Radio Science Meeting, AP-S/URSI 2022, IEEE -Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 1602–1603.
- [151] J. Liao, Z. Chen, and E. G. Larsson, 'Over-the-Air Federated Learning with Privacy Protection via Correlated Additive Perturbations', in 2022 58th Annual Allerton Conference on Communication, Control, and Computing (ALLERTON), IEEE, 2022.
- [152] K. Lindstrom, M. Johansson, and D. Jung, 'A Data-Driven Clustering Algorithm for Residual Data Using Fault Signatures and Expectation Maximization', in IFAC Papersonline, ELSEVIER, 2022, pp. 121–126.
- [153] J. Linåker and P. Runeson, 'Sustaining Open Data as a Digital Common Design principles for Common Pool Resources applied to Open Data Ecosystems', in ACM International Conference Proceeding Series. 7 September 2022, Article number 10, Association for Computing Machinery, 2022.
- [154] P. Liu, G. Hendeby, and F. Gustafsson, 'Joint Estimation of States and Parameters in Stochastic SIR Model', in 2022 IEEE International Conference on Multisensor Fusion and Integration for Intelligent Systems (MFI), IEEE, 2022.
- [155] J. Malmqvist, U. Lundqvist, A. Rosén, K. Edström, R. Gupta, H. L.-W. K. Huay, S.-M. Cheah, J. Bennedsen, R. Hugo, A. Kamp, O. Leifler, S. Gunnarsson, J. Roslöf, and D. Spooner, 'The CDIO Syllabus 3.0 An Updated Statement of Goals', in Proceedings of the International CDIO Conference, abo.fi, 2022.
- [156] M. Malmström, I. Skog, D. Axehill, and F. Gustafsson, 'Detection of outliers in classification by using quantified uncertainty in neural networks', in 25th International Conference of Information Fusion, IEEE, 2022.
- [157] R. Mamidala Saketh, K.-M. Persson, and L.-E. Wernersson, 'A 4F2 Vertical Gate-all-around Nanowire Compute-in-memory Device Integrated in (1T1R) Cross-Point Arrays on Silicon', in 2022 IEEE Silicon Nanoelectronics Workshop (SNW), IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 1–2.



- [158] L. Mannila, A. Åkerfeldt, S. Kjällander, and F. Heintz, 'Exploring Gender Differences in Primary School Programming', in 2022 IEEE Frontiers in Education Conference (FIE), Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2022.
- [159] B. R. Manoj, P. M. Santos, M. Sadeghi, and E. G. Larsson, 'Toward Robust Networks against Adversarial Attacks for Radio Signal Modulation Classification', in 2022 IEEE 23rd International Workshop on Signal Processing Advances in Wireless Communication (SPAWC), IEEE, 2022.
- [160] A. Martins and K.-E. Årzén, 'Storage Allocation for Camera Sensor Networks using Feedbackbased Price Discrimination', in Storage Allocation for Camera Sensor Networks using Feedback-based Price Discrimination, SCITEPRESS - Science and Technology Publications, 2022, pp. 34–44.
- [161] J. Martinsson, M. Sandsten, M. Willbo, A. Pirinen, and O. Mogren, 'Few-Shot Bioacoustic Event Detection Using an Event-Length Adapted Ensemble of Prototypical Networks', in 7th Workshop on Detection and Classification of Acoustic Scenes and Events (DCASE 2022), ri.se, 2022.
- [162] M. M. Mashauri, A. Graell I Amat, and M. Lentmaier, 'Robust Performance Over Changing Intersymbol Interference Channels by Spatial Coupling', in 2022 IEEE International Conference on Communications, ICC 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 2924–2929.
- [163] M. Mayr, F. Ahmad, K. Chatzilygeroudis, L. Nardi, and V. Krueger, 'How to Set Up & Learn New Robot Tasks with Explainable Behaviors?', in European Robotics Forum, 2022.
- [164] M. Mayr, F. Ahmad, K. Chatzilygeroudis, L. Nardi, and V. Krueger, 'Skill-based Multi-objective Reinforcement Learning of Industrial Robot Tasks with Planning and Knowledge Integration', in 2022 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Biomimetics, ROBIO 2022, IEEE -Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 1995–2002.
- [165] M. Mayr, C. Hvarfner, K. Chatzilygeroudis, L. Nardi, and V. Krueger, 'Learning Skill-based Industrial Robot Tasks with User Priors', in IEEE 18th International Conference on Automation Science and Engineering (IEEE CASE2022), IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 1485–1492.
- [166] A. McCabe, E. Söderberg, L. Church, and P. Kuang, 'Visual Cues in Compiler Conversations', in 33rd Annual Workshop of the Psychology of Programming Interest Group, Psychology of Programming Interest Group, 2022, pp. 25–38.
- [167] P. Melnyk, M. Felsberg, and M. Wadenbäck, 'Steerable 3D Spherical Neurons', in Proceedings of the 39th International Conference on Machine Learning, PMLR, 2022, pp. 15330–15339.



- [168] A. Mohammadi, M. Krysander, and D. Jung, 'Analysis of grey-box neural network-based residuals for consistency-based fault diagnosis', Elsevier, 2022, pp. 1–6.
- [169] O. Moliner, S. Huang, and K. Åström, 'Bootstrapped Representation Learning for Skeleton-Based Action Recognition', in 2022 IEEE/CVF Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition Workshops, CVPRW 2022, IEEE Computer Society, 2022, pp. 4153–4163.
- [170] O. Morales Chacon, J. Wikner, A. Alvandpour, and L. Siek, 'Comparative Analysis of CMOS Latch-Driver Circuits for Current-Steering Digital-to-Analog Converters', in 2022 29th International Conference on Mixed Design of Integrated Circuits and System (MIXDES), IEEE, 2022, pp. 93–98.
- [171] P. Moreau and M. Doggett, 'Real-Time Rendering of Indirectly Visible Caustics', in 17th International Conference on Computer Graphics Theory and Applications, GRAPP 2022; Part of the 17th International Joint Conference on Computer Vision, Imaging and Computer Graphics Theory and Applications, VISIGRAPP 2022, SciTePress, 2022, pp. 39–48.
- [172] R. R. Mostafa, A. Hussien, M. A. Khan, S. Kadry, and F. A. Hashim, 'Enhanced COOT optimization algorithm for Dimensionality Reduction', in 2022 Fifth International Conference of Women in Data Science at Prince Sultan University (WIDS-PSU 2022), IEEE, 2022, pp. 43– 48.
- [173] S. Muneer, J. R. Sanchez, L. Van Der Perre, O. Edfors, H. Sjöland, and L. Liu, 'System Design and Performance for Antenna Reservation in Massive MIMO', in 96th IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference, VTC 2022-Fall 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.
- [174] L. Nardi, A. Gramfort, J. Salmon, and K. Sehic, 'LassoBench: A High-Dimensional Hyperparameter Optimization Benchmark Suite for Lasso', in 1st International Conference on Automated Machine Learning (AutoML), 2022.
- [175] U. Nasir and M. Laiq, 'Threshold Concepts and Skills in Software Architecture: Instructors' Perspectives', in Proceedings - Asia-Pacific Software Engineering Conference, APSEC, IEEE Computer Society, 2022, pp. 547–553.
- [176] H. N. Nguyen, S. Souihi, H.-A. Tran, and S. Fowler, 'A Blockchain-based SDN East/West Interface', in 2022 IEEE Global Communications Conference (GLOBECOM 2022), IEEE, 2022, pp. 5759–5764.
- [177] K. Nielsen and G. Hendeby, 'Feature Based Multi-Hypothesis Map Representation for Localization in Non-Static Environments', in 2022 25th International Conference on Information Fusion (FUSION), IEEE, 2022.



- [178] L. Nielsen, 'Force-Centric Perspectives on Autonomous Safety Maneuvers', in IFAC Papersonline, ELSEVIER, 2022, pp. 1–6.
- [179] P. Nikbakht Bideh and C. Gehrmann, 'RoSym: Robust Symmetric Key Based IoT Software Upgrade Over-the-Air', in 4th Workshop on CPS and IoT Security and Privacy, CPSIoTSec 2022, Association for Computing Machinery (ACM), Nov. 2022, pp. 35–46.
- [180] E. Nilsson, J. Lukasczyk, W. Engelke, T. B. Masood, G. Svensson, R. Caballero, C. Garth, and I. Hotz, 'Exploring Cyclone Evolution with Hierarchical Features', in 2022 IEEE Workshop on Topological Data Analysis and Visualization (TOPOINVIS 2022), IEEE, 2022, pp. 92–102.
- [181] E. Nilsson, J. Lukasczyk, T. B. Masood, C. Garth, and I. Hotz, 'Towards Benchmark Data Generation for Feature Tracking in Scalar Fields', in 2022 IEEE Workshop on Topological Data Analysis and Visualization (TOPOINVIS 2022), IEEE, 2022, pp. 103–112.
- [182] P. Nugues, 'Connecting a French Dictionary from the Beginning of the 20th Century to Wikidata', in 13th International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation Conference, LREC 2022, European Language Resources Association, 2022, pp. 2548–2555.
- [183] D. Ohlin, F. Bencherki, and E. Tegling, 'Achieving consensus in networks of increasingly stubborn voters', in 2022 IEEE 61st Conference on Decision and Control (CDC), 2022, pp. 3531–3537.
- [184] I. Oleinikov, E. Pagnin, and A. Sabelfeld, 'Outsourcing MPC Precomputation for Location Privacy', in Proceedings - 7th IEEE European Symposium on Security and Privacy Workshops, Euro S and PW 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 504–513.
- [185] A. Olmin and F. Lindsten, 'Robustness and Reliability When Training With Noisy Labels', in Proceedings of the 25th International Conference on Artificial Intelligence and Statistics (AISTATS) 2022, JMLR, 2022, pp. 922–942.
- [186] G. K. Olsson, E. Axell, E. G. Larsson, and P. Papadimitratos, 'Participatory Sensing for Localization of a GNSS Jammer', in 2022 International Conference on Localization and Gnss (ICL-GNSS), Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2022.
- [187] J. Oskarsson, P. Sidén, and F. Lindsten, 'Scalable Deep Gaussian Markov Random Fields for General Graphs', in Proceedings of the 39th International Conference on Machine Learning, 2022, pp. 17117–17137.
- [188] J. Oxenstierna, V. Krueger, and J. Malec, 'Analysis of Computational Efficiency in Iterative Order Batching Optimization', in 11th International Conference on Operations Research and Enterprise Systems, ICORES 2022, SciTePress, 2022, pp. 345–353.



- [189] J. Oxenstierna, J. Malec, and V. Krueger, 'New benchmarks and optimization model for the Storage Location Assignment Problem', in 3rd International Conference on Innovative Intelligent Industrial Production and Logistics, IN4PL 2022, SciTePress, 2022.
- [190] B. Palm, S. Javadi, F. M. Bayer, V. T. Vu, and M. Pettersson, 'Inflated Rayleigh Distribution for SAR Imagery Modeling', in International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium (IGARSS 2022), Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2022, pp. 44–47.
- [191] L. Papenmeier, L. Nardi, and M. Poloczek, 'Increasing the Scope as You Learn: Adaptive Bayesian Optimization in Nested Subspaces', in Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 35, NeurIPS 2022, 2022.
- [192] A. Paulsson, P. Runeson, and R. Ros, 'A/B Testing in the Small', in 23:rd International Conference on Product-Focused Software Process Improvement, PROFES, Springer, Nov. 2022, pp. 449–463.
- [193] H. Peng, W. Tarneberg, E. Fitzgerald, F. Tufvesson, and M. Kihl, 'Evaluation of Control over the Edge of a Configurable Mid-band 5G Base Station', in 6th IEEE International Conference on Fog and Edge Computing, ICFEC 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 83–87.
- [194] A. Pereira, F. Rusek, M. Gomes, and R. Dinis, 'A Low Complexity Sequential Resource Allocation for Panel-Based LIS Surfaces', in 95th IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference -Spring, VTC 2022-Spring, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.
- [195] I. Persson, M. Ahrnbom, and M. Nilsson, 'Monocular Estimation of Translation, Pose and 3D Shape on Detected Objects using a Convolutional Autoencoder', in 17th International Conference on Computer Vision Theory and Applications, VISAPP 2022
br/>, SciTePress, 2022, pp. 390–396.
- [196] J. Persson, N. Svensson, A. Lindmark, R. Larsson, G. Erlingsdottir, and C. Rydenfält, 'Can journey mapping be used to visualize information sharing in home care?', in NES2022, Uppsala University, 2022, pp. 179–179.
- [197] H. Pigot and K. Soltesz, 'The differential-algebraic Windkessel model with power as input', in American Control Conference, 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.
- [198] C. Polepalle, R. S. Kondoju, and D. Badampudi, 'Evidence and perceptions on GUI test automation An exploratory study', in ACM International Conference Proceeding Series, Association for Computing Machinery (ACM), 2022.



- [199] M. Priisalu, A. Pirinen, C. Paduraru, and C. Sminchisescu, 'Generating Scenarios with Diverse Pedestrian Behaviors for Autonomous Vehicle Testing', in Conference on Robot Learning, ML Research Press, 2022, pp. 1247–1258.
- [200] M. Rafati, S. R. Qasemi, and A. Alvandpour, 'A Dynamic Range Extension Technique for Pseudo-Resistive Transimpedance Amplifiers Based on Two-Step Conversion', in 2022 IEEE Nordic Circuits and Systems Conference (NORCAS), IEEE, 2022.
- [201] A. Rantzer, 'Explicit Solution to Bellman Equation for Positive Systems with Linear Cost', in 61st IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, CDC 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 6154–6155.
- [202] A. Rao, W. Tärneberg, E. Fitzgerald, L. Corneo, A. Zavodovski, O. Rai, S. Johansson, V. Berggren, H. Riaz, C. Kilinc, and A. Johnsson, 'Prediction and exposure of delays from a base station perspective in 5G and beyond networks', in 5G-MeMU '22: Proceedings of the ACM SIGCOMM Workshop on 5G and Beyond Network Measurements, Modeling, and Use Cases, Association for Computing Machinery (ACM), 2022, pp. 8–14.
- [203] F. Rasheed, D. Jönsson, E. Nilsson, T. B. Masood, and I. Hotz, 'Subject-Specific Brain Activity Analysis in fMRI Data Using Merge Trees', in 2022 IEEE Workshop on Topological Data Analysis and Visualization (TOPOINVIS 2022), IEEE, 2022, pp. 113–123.
- [204] S. Rimalapudi, U. Kunnath Ganesan, Z. H. Shaik, and E. G. Larsson, 'Physical Layer Abstraction Model for RadioWeaves', in 2022 IEEE 95th Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC2022-SPRING), IEEE, 2022.
- [205] I. Riouak, G. Hedin, C. Reichenbach, and N. Fors, 'JFeature : Know Your Corpus', in 22nd IEEE International Working Conference on Source Code Analysis and Manipulation, SCAM 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 236–241.
- [206] A. Risberg Alaküla, G. Hedin, N. Fors, and A. Pop, 'Property Probes: Source Code Based Exploration of Program Analysis Results', in 15th ACM SIGPLAN International Conference on Software Language Engineering, SLE 2022, co-located with the ACM SIGPLAN conference on Systems, Programming, Languages, and Applications. SPLASH 2022, Association for Computing Machinery (ACM), 2022, pp. 148–160.
- [207] C. Rosdahl, A. Cervin, and B. Bernhardsson, 'Dual Control by Reinforcement Learning Using Deep Hyperstate Transition Models', in 14th IFAC Workshop on Adaptive and Learning Control Systems, ALCOS 2022, Elsevier BV, 2022, pp. 395–401.
- [208] J. Ruuskanen and A. Cervin, 'Distributed online extraction of a fluid model for microservice applications using local tracing data', in 2022 IEEE 15th International Conference on Cloud Computing (CLOUD), IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.



- [209] N. Rönnberg and C. Forsell, 'Questionnaires assessing usability of audio-visual representations', 2022.
- [210] J. Salt Ducaju, B. Olofsson, A. Robertsson, and R. Johansson, 'Fast Contact Detection and Classification for Kinesthetic Teaching in Robots using only Embedded Sensors', in 31st IEEE International Conference on Robot and Human Interactive Communication (RO-MAN), 2022, pp. 1138–1145.
- [211] J. Salt Ducaju, B. Olofsson, A. Robertsson, and R. Johansson, 'Robot Cartesian Compliance Variation for Safe Kinesthetic Teaching using Safety Control Barrier Functions', in IEEE 18th International Conference on Automation Science and Engineering (IEEE CASE2022), 2022, pp. 2259–2259.
- [212] M. Sandra, C. Nelson, and A. Johansson, 'Ultrawideband USRP-Based Channel Sounding Utilizing the RFNoC Framework', in The 2022 IEEE Conference on Antenna Measurements and Applications (IEEE CAMA), IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.
- [213] M. Sandra, G. Tian, X. Cai, and A. Johansson, 'Antenna Array Configuration for Reliable Communications in Maritime Environments', in The 2022 IEEE 95th Vehicular Technology Conference, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.
- [214] E. Sandström, M. R. Oswald, S. Kumar, S. Weder, F. Yu, C. Sminchisescu, and L. Van Gool, 'Learning Online Multi-sensor Depth Fusion', in 17th European Conference on Computer Vision, ECCV 2022, Springer Science and Business Media B.V., 2022, pp. 87–105.
- [215] H. Sehat, D. E. Lucani, and E. Pagnin, 'Bifrost: A Secure, Scalable and Efficient File Sharing System Based on Dual Deduplication', in 11th IEEE International Conference on Cloud Networking, CloudNet 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 203–210.
- [216] Z. H. Shaik, R. Sarvendranath, and E. G. Larsson, 'Energy-Efficient Power Allocation for an Underlay Spectrum Sharing RadioWeaves Network', in ICC 2022 - IEEE International Conference on Communications, Korea, Seoul, 16-20 2022, IEEE, 2022, pp. 799–804.
- [217] S. Shoja, D. Arnström, and D. Axehill, 'Exact Complexity Certification of a Standard Branch and Bound Method for Mixed-Integer Linear Programming', in Proceedings of 2022 Conference on Decision and Control (CDC), Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2022, pp. 6298–6305.
- [218] S. Shoja, D. Arnström, and D. Axehill, 'Overall Complexity Certification of a Standard Branch and Bound Method for Mixed-Integer Quadratic Programming', in 2022 American Control Conference (ACC), 2022, pp. 4957–4964.



- [219] F. Skarman and O. Gustafsson, 'Spade: An HDL Inspired by Modern Software Languages', in
 2022 32nd International Conference on Field-Programmable Logic and Applications (FPL),
 Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2022, pp. 454–455.
- [220] A. Sklyar, D. Sörhammar, C. Kowalkowski, and B. Tronvoll, 'Digital servitization: A customerfacing perspective', 2022.
- [221] E. Soderberg, L. Church, J. Börstler, D. C. Niehorster, and C. Rydenfalt, 'What's bothering developers in code review?', in 2022 ACM/IEEE 44th International Conference on Software Engineering: Software Engineering in Practice (ICSE-SEIP 2022), IEEE Computer Soc, 2022, pp. 341–342.
- [222] Q. Song, M. Borg, E. Engström, H. Ardo, and S. Rico, 'Exploring ML testing in practice Lessons learned from an interactive rapid review with Axis Communications', in Proceedings - 1st International Conference on AI Engineering - Software Engineering for AI, CAIN 2022, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 10–21.
- [223] Q. Song, P. Runeson, and S. Persson, 'A Scenario Distribution Model for Effective and Efficient Testing of Autonomous Driving Systems', in AUST 2022: The First Workshop on Autonomous Software Testing, Association for Computing Machinery (ACM), 2022.
- [224] G. J. Stamatakis, N. Pappas, A. Fragkiadakis, and A. Traganitis, 'Semantics-Aware Active Fault Detection in IoT', in 2022 20th International Symposium on Modeling and Optimization in Mobile, Ad Hoc, and Wireless Networks (WIOPT 2022), IEEE, 2022, pp. 161–168.
- [225] O. Stromann, A. Razavi, and M. Felsberg, 'Learning to Integrate Vision Data into Road Network Data', in 2022 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), IEEE, 2022, pp. 4548–4552.
- [226] D. Svedberg, F. Elvander, and A. Jakobsson, 'Determining joint periodicities in multi-time data with sampling uncertainties', in 2022 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2022, pp. 5737–5741.
- [227] J. Svensson, P. Olausson, H. Menon, E. Lind, and M. Borg, 'Template-Assisted Selective Epitaxy of InAs on W', in 2022 Compound Semiconductor Week, CSW 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.
- [228] F. Süberkrüb, R. Laezza, and Y. Karayiannidis, 'Feel the Tension: Manipulation of Deformable Linear Objects in Environments with Fixtures using Force Information', in 2022 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS), 2022, pp. 11216–11222.



- [229] A. Szalas, 'Inheriting and Fusing Beliefs of Logically Heterogeneous Objects', in 26th International Conference on Knowledge-Based and Intelligent Information & amp; Engineering Systems, Elsevier, 2022, pp. 299–308.
- [230] A. Szalas, 'Querying and Reasoning in Paraconsistent Rule-Object Languages with Inheritance Expressions', in ICCCI 2022: Computational Collective Intelligence, Springer, 2022, pp. 396– 409.
- [231] E. Söderberg, L. Church, J. Börstler, D. C. Niehorster, and C. Rydenfält, 'Understanding the Experience of Code Review: Misalignments, Attention, and Units of Analysis', in ACM International Conference Proceeding Series, Association for Computing Machinery, 2022, pp. 170–179.
- [232] E. Söderberg, L. Church, J. Börstler, D. C. Niehorster, and C. Rydenfält, 'What's bothering developers in code review?', in 44th ACM/IEEE International Conference on Software Engineering: Software Engineering in Practice, ICSE-SEIP 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 341–342.
- [233] M. Taromirad and P. Runeson, 'Near Failure Analysis Using Dynamic Behavioural Data', in 23rd International Conference on Product-Focused Software Process Improvement, PROFES 2022, Springer Science and Business Media B.V., Nov. 2022, pp. 171–178.
- [234] E. Tegler, M. Larsson, M. Oskarsson, and K. Åström, 'Sensor node calibration in presence of a dominant reflective plane', in 30th European Signal Processing Conference, EUSIPCO 2022, European Signal Processing Conference, EUSIPCO, 2022, pp. 1941–1945.
- [235] O. Thawakar, S. Narayan, J. Cao, H. Cholakkal, R. M. Anwer, M. H. Khan, S. Khan, M. Felsberg, and F. Khan, 'Video Instance Segmentation via Multi-Scale Spatio-Temporal Split Attention Transformer', in Computer Vision, Eccv 2022, Pt Xxix, SPRINGER INTERNATIONAL PUBLISHING AG, 2022, pp. 666–681.
- [236] G. Tian, X. Cai, T. Zhou, W. Wang, and F. Tufvesson, 'Deep-Learning Based Channel Estimation for OFDM Wireless Communications', in 2022 IEEE 23rd International Workshop on Signal Processing Advances in Wireless Communication (SPAWC), 2022.
- [237] J. Tinnerholm, F. Casella, and A. Pop, 'Towards Modeling and Simulation of Dynamic Overconstrained Connectors in Modelica', in Proceedings of Asian Modelica Conference 2022, Tokyo, Japan, November 24-25, 2022, Linköping University Electronic Press, 2022, pp. 35–44.
- [238] A. Tkalich and H. Edison, 'On the Characteristics of Internal Software Startups', in Software Business, Springer Science+Business Media B.V., 2022, pp. 320–327.



- [239] K. Toczé, N. Schmitt, U. Kargén, A. Aral, and I. Brandic, 'Edge Workload Trace Gathering and Analysis for Benchmarking', in 6th IEEE International Conference on Fog and Edge Computing (ICFEC 2022), 2022, pp. 34–41.
- [240] A. Tornhill and M. Borg, 'Code Red: The Business Impact of Code Quality A Quantitative Study of 39 Proprietary Production Codebases', in Proceedings - International Conference on Technical Debt 2022, TechDebt 2022, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 11–20.
- [241] M. Trimmel, M. Zanfir, R. Hartley, and C. Sminchisescu, 'ERA: Enhanced Rational Activations', in 17th European Conference on Computer Vision, ECCV 2022, Springer Science and Business Media B.V., 2022, pp. 722–738.
- [242] W. Tärneberg, E. Fitzgerald, M. H. Bhuyan, P. Townend, K.-E. Årzén, P.-O. Östberg, E. Elmroth,
 J. Eker, F. Tufvesson, and M. Kihl, 'The 6G Computing Continuum (6GCC): Meeting the 6G computing challenges', in 2022 1st International Conference on 6G Networking, 6GNet 2022,
 IEEE Computer Society, 2022.
- [243] M. Valtonen Ornhag, P. Persson, M. Wadenback, K. Astrom, and A. Heyden, 'Trust Your IMU: Consequences of Ignoring the IMU Drift', in 2022 IEEE/CVF Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition Workshops, CVPRW 2022, IEEE Computer Society, 2022, pp. 4467– 4476.
- [244] M. Valtonen Örnhag, P. Persson, M. Wadenbäck, K. Åström, and A. Heyden, 'Trust Your IMU: Consequences of Ignoring the IMU Drift', in Proceedings 2022 IEEE/CVF Conference on Computer Visionand Pattern Recognition Workshops: CVPRW 2022, IEEE Computer Society, 2022, pp. 4467–4476.
- [245] C. Veibäck, M. A. Skoglund, G. Hendeby, and F. Gustafsson, 'Linearized Direction of Arrival', in Proceedings of the 25th International Conference on Information Fusion (FUSION), Linköping, Sweden, 04-07 July 2022., IEEE, 2022.
- [246] R. Vestergaard, E. Pagnin, R. Kundu, and D. E. Lucani, 'Secure Cloud Storage with Joint Deduplication and Erasure Protection', in 2022 IEEE 15th International Conference on Cloud Computing (CLOUD), IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 554–563.
- [247] E. Vladu and A. Rantzer, 'Global Solution to an H-infinity Control Problem for Control-affine Systems', in 25th IFAC Symposium on Mathematical Theory of Networks and Systems, MTNS 2022, Elsevier BV, 2022, pp. 388–393.
- [248] N. Vreman, C. Mandrioli, and A. Cervin, 'Deadline-Miss-Adaptive Controller Implementation for Real-Time Control Systems', in 2022 IEEE 28th Real-Time and Embedded Technology and



Applications Symposium (RTAS), IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.

- [249] N. Vreman, R. Pates, and M. Maggio, 'Weaklyhard. jl: Scalable analysis of weakly-hard constraints', in 2022 IEEE 28th Real-Time and Embedded Technology and Applications Symposium (RTAS), IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.
- [250] V. T. Vu, T. Pernstal, T. K. Sjogren, and M. Pettersson, 'Image extra-coregistration based on GIP for radar applications', in Proceedings - 2022 RIVF International Conference on Computing and Communication Technologies, RIVF 2022, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2022, pp. 274–278.
- [251] Y. Wahlquist, K. Soltesz, and M. Morin, 'Pharmacometric covariate modeling using symbolic regression networks', in The 6th IEEE Conference on Control Technology and Applications, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 1099–1104.
- [252] L. Wang, G. Chen, Y. Hong, G. Shi, and C. Altafini, 'A social power game for the concatenated Friedkin-Johnsen model', in 2022 IEEE 61st Conference on Decision and Control (CDC), IEEE, 2022, pp. 3513–3518.
- [253] L. Wang, A. Fontan, Y. Hong, G. Shi, and C. Altafini, 'Multi-agent consensus over signed graphs with switching topology', in 2022 European Control Conference (ECC), IEEE, 2022, pp. 2216– 2221.
- [254] T. Westny, B. Olofsson, and E. Frisk, 'Uncertainties in Robust Planning and Control of Autonomous Tractor-Trailer Vehicles', in AVEC'22 The 15th International Symposium on Advanced Vehicle Control, 2022.
- [255] R. Whiton, J. Chen, T. Johansson, and F. Tufvesson, 'Urban Navigation with LTE using a Large Antenna Array and Machine Learning', in IEEE 95th Vehicular Technology Conference: (VTC2022-Spring), IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., Jun. 2022.
- [256] R. Whiton, J. Chen, and F. Tufvesson, 'LTE NLOS Navigation and Channel Characterization', in 35th International Technical Meeting of the Satellite Division of The Institute of Navigation (ION GNSS+ 2022), Institute of Navigation, 2022, pp. 2398–2408.
- [257] N. Wingren and D. Sjoberg, 'Finite Element-Boundary Integral Simulation of Icing Effects on a Marine Radar Reflector', in 2022 3rd URSI Atlantic and Asia Pacific Radio Science Meeting (AT-AP-RASC), IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.
- [258] M. Winikoff, G. Sidorenko, V. Dignum, and F. Dignum, 'Why Bad Coffee? Explaining BDI Agent Behaviour with Valuings (Extended Abstract)', in Proceedings of the Thirty-First International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence, International Joint Conferences on Artificial Intelligence, 2022, pp. 5782–5786.



- [259] E. Wåreus, A. Duppils, M. Tullberg, and M. Hell, 'Security Issue Classification for Vulnerability Management with Semi-supervised Learning', in 8th International Conference on Information Systems Security and Privacy, ICISSP 2022, SciTePress, 2022, pp. 84–95.
- [260] Z. Yu, T. Deng, Y. Zhao, and D. Yuan, 'Multi-cell Caching: Fresh Information with Minimum Cost', in 2022 IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference (WCNC), Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2022, pp. 327–332.
- [261] Y. Yuan, C. Gehrmann, J. Sternby, and L. Barriga, 'Insight of Anomaly Detection with NWDAF in 5G', in 2022 International Conference on Computer, Information and Telecommunication Systems (CITS), IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., Jun. 2022.
- [262] Y. Yuan, L. Lei, T. X. Vu, S. Fowler, and S. Chatzinotas, 'Efficient Resource Scheduling and Optimization for Over-Loaded LEO-Terrestrial Networks', in IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC 2022), IEEE, 2022, pp. 1052–1057.
- [263] A. Zakeri, M. Moltafet, M. Leinonen, and M. Codreanu, 'Minimizing the AoI in Multi-Source Two-Hop Systems under an Average Resource Constraint', in 2022 IEEE 23rd International Workshop on Signal Processing Advances in Wireless Communication (SPAWC), IEEE, 2022.
- [264] G. Zhang, X. Cai, J. O. Nielsen, G. F. Pedersen, and F. Tufvesson, 'A Scatterer Localization Method Using Large-Scale Antenna Array Systems', in The 2022 IEEE Conference on Antenna Measurements and Applications (IEEE CAMA), IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022.
- [265] Z. Zhang, E. Dean, Y. Karayiannidis, and K. Åkesson, 'Multimodal Motion Prediction Based on Adaptive and Swarm Sampling Loss Functions for Reactive Mobile Robots', in 2022 IEEE 18th International Conference on Automation Science and Engineering (CASE), 2022, pp. 1110– 1115.
- [266] Y. Zhao, Z. Yu, Q. He, and D. Yuan, 'Content Caching with Personalized and Incumbent-aware Recommendation: An Optimization Approach', in 20th International Symposium on Modeling and Optimization in Mobile, ad hoc, and Wireless Networks (WIOPT 2022), IEEE, 2022, pp. 97–104.
- [267] J. Zhou, B. Olofsson, and E. Frisk, 'Interaction-Aware Moving Target Model Predictive Control for Autonomous Vehicles Motion Planning', in 2022 European Control Conference (ECC), IEEE, 2022, pp. 154–161.
- [268] Y. Zhou, S. Samii, P. I. Eles, and Z. Peng, 'Time-Triggered Scheduling for Time-Sensitive Networking with Preemption', Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2022.
- [269] H. Zhu and C. Gehrmann, 'Kub-Sec, an automatic Kubernetes cluster AppArmor profile generation engine', in 14th International Conference on COMmunication Systems and



NETworkS, COMSNETS 2022, IEEE - Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 129–137.

- [270] M. Zhu, D. G. M. Mitchell, M. Lentmaier, and D. J. Costello, 'Systematic Doping of SC-LDPC Codes', in 2022 IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory, ISIT 2022, IEEE -Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022, pp. 536–541.
- [271] S. A. Zimmermann, M. Enqvist, S. Gunnarsson, S. Moberg, and M. Norrlöf, 'Improving experiment design for frequency-domain identification of industrial robots', in IFAC-PapersOnLine, ELSEVIER, 2022, pp. 475–480.
- [272] A. Åkerfeldt, S. Kjällander, L. Mannila, and F. Heintz, 'Exploring programming didactics in primary school - a gender perspective', in 2022 IEEE Frontiers in Education Conference (FIE), Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2022.
- [273] K.-E. Årzén, A. Martins, and H.-Y. Wei, 'Vickrey-Clarke-Groves Auction-Based Storage Allocation for Distributed Camera Systems', in Telematics Applications - 6th TA 2022, IFAC, Jun. 2022.
- [274] J. Åslund, F. Gustafsson, and G. Hendeby, 'On Covariance Matrix Degeneration in Marginalized Particle Filters with Constant Velocity Models', in 2022 25th International Conference on Information Fusion (FUSION), IEEE, 2022.

Licentiate theses

- F. Akbarian, 'Attack Resilient Cloud-based Industrial Control Systems', Licentiate Thesis, Lund University, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/fa9e39d4-3dd7-4a85-a3c3-bd1eb7fb3899</u>
- [2] A. Berg, 'Applications of Diversity and the Self-Attention Mechanism in Neural Networks', Licentiate Thesis, Lund University, Faculty of Science, Centre for Mathematical Sciences, Mathematics, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/81b7e624-4031-41ad-b03f-3cca05002ec8</u>
- [3] N. Couderc, 'Automatic Collection Selection using Machine Learning', Licentiate Thesis, Lund University, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/fc550dca-03ff-4f69-813d-674a6eb7685e</u>
- [4] A. Hrusto, 'Towards Optimization of Anomaly Detection Using Autonomous Monitors in DevOps', Licentiate Thesis, Lund University, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/e02869a2-16f5-429c-bc2c-bcd279ecab26</u>



- [5] O. Kjellqvist, 'On Control and Estimation of Large and Uncertain Systems', Licentiate Thesis, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/68b07d16-d433-4155-8d0f-f922e26ca795</u>
- [6] J. Nordlöf, 'On Landmark Densities in Minimum-Uncertainty Motion Planning', Licentiate Thesis, Linköping University Electronic Press, Linköping, 2022. Available: <u>https://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:liu:diva-183115</u>
- [7] C. Rosdahl, 'Learning-Based Controller Design with Application to a Chiller Process', Licentiate Thesis, Department of Automatic Control, Lund Institute of Technology, Lund University, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/b733cf46-30e3-42d5-a79c-d2b10095d26b</u>
- [8] G. Sidorenko, 'Safety of Cooperative Automated Driving: Analysis and Optimization', Licentiate Thesis, Halmstad University Press, 2022. Available: <u>http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:hh:diva-46288</u>
- [9] Q. Song, 'Critical Scenario Identification for Testing of Autonomous Driving Systems', Licentiate Thesis, Lund University, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/4b7d39b9-0dcd-4a43-9068-4b314e0437b7</u>
- [10] J. Tinnerholm, 'A Composable and Extensible Environment for Equation-based Modeling and Simulation of Variable Structured Systems in Modelica', Licentiate Thesis, Linköping University Electronic Press, 2022. Available: <u>https://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:liu:diva-185460</u>
- [11] H. K. V. Tran, 'Understanding Test-Artifact Quality in Software Engineering', Licentiate Thesis, Blekinge Tekniska Högskola, 2022. Available: <u>http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:bth-22819</u>

PhD theses

- M. Ahrnbom, 'Computer Vision for Automated Traffic Safety Assessment: A Machine Learning Approach', PhD Thesis, Lund University / Centre for Mathematical Sciences /LTH, 2022. Available: https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/07a85bc9-3aae-442c-b5d6-519ddd016227
- [2] E. Becirovic, 'Signal Processing Aspects of Massive MIMO', PhD Thesis, Linköping University Electronic Press, 2022. Available: <u>https://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:liu:diva-188500</u>
- [3] T. Berner, 'Modeling and Control for Improved Predictability of Cloud Applications', PhD Thesis, Department of Automatic Control, Lund University, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/f3425673-7804-4b65-9b3b-7188e3083a07</u>



- [4] A. Ernstsson, 'Pattern-based Programming Abstractions for Heterogeneous Parallel Computing', PhD Thesis, Linköping University Electronic Press, 2022. Available: <u>https://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:liu:diva-181853</u>
- [5] X. Li, 'Parametric Radio Channel Estimation and Robust Localization', PhD Thesis, Lund University, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/3c7b5c6c-4385-436a-bfdf-2db59e098816</u>
- [6] C. Mandrioli, 'Control-Theoretical Perspective in Feedback-Based Systems Testing', PhD Thesis, Department of Automatic Control, Faculty of Engineering LTH, Lund University, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/cc71bf33-b2a1-4081-a305-bcf5df16a29a</u>
- [7] N. M. Minhas, 'Understanding and improving regression testing practice', PhD Thesis, Blekinge Tekniska Högskola, 2022. Available: <u>http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:bth-23634</u>
- [8] O. Morales Chacón, 'Studies on the Performance Bounds and Design of Current-Steering DACs', PhD Thesis, Linköping University Electronic Press, 2022. Available: <u>http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:liu:diva-188672</u>
- [9] M. Morin, 'Fixed Point Iterations for Finite Sum Monotone Inclusions', PhD Thesis, Department of Automatic Control, Lund University, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/5557c471ff64-4cdc-9cfb-68afdc6e85eb</u>
- [10] N. Rezk, 'Deep Learning on the Edge: A Flexible Multi-level Optimization Approach', PhD Thesis, Halmstad University Press, 2022. Available: <u>http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:hh:diva-48680</u>
- [11] J. Rodríguez Sánchez, 'Systems with Massive Number of Antennas: Distributed Approaches', PhD Thesis, Electrical and Information Technology, Lund University, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/3f499912-5707-4b6b-bbec-7eff85f916e0</u>
- [12] R. Ros, 'Understanding and Improving Continuous Experimentation: From A/B Testing to Continuous Software Optimization', PhD Thesis, Department of Computer Science, Lund University, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/ab3676cc-bb8a-41c6-98f0-8b5c8380b404</u>.
- [13] J. Ruuskanen, 'Dynamical Modeling of Cloud Applications for Runtime Performance Management', PhD Thesis, Department of Automatic Control, Faculty of Engineering LTH, Lund University, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/0aafb37f-480a-4809-96f4-2499e3bc3f0c</u>
- [14] H. Sadeghi, 'Efficient and Flexible First-Order Optimization Algorithms', PhD Thesis, Department of Automatic Control, Lund University, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/f7e20e00-0d5f-4891-a68d-13c91802aabe</u>



- [15] M. Umar Farooq, 'Sparse Codes on Graphs with Convolutional Code Constraints', PhD Thesis, Electrical and Information Technology, Lund University, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/4171da2e-4b7d-4901-a0c0-01f56512c3a0</u>
- [16] S. Willhammar, 'Massive MIMO for Dependable Communication', PhD Thesis, Faculty of Engineering, Lund University, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/ef04caa0-b33d-4acf-b95b-408e0760033c</u>

Chapters in books

- M. Felsberg, 'Visual tracking: Tracking in scenes containing multiple moving objects', in Advanced Methods and Deep Learning in Computer Vision, Elsevier, 2022, pp. 305–336.
 Available: <u>http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:liu:diva-188549</u>
- [2] M. Gullberg, 'Bimodal convergence: How languages interact in multicompetent language users' speech and gestures', in *Gesture in language: Development across the lifespan -Development across the lifespan: Development across the lifespan*, edited by A. Morgenstern and S. Goldin-Meadow, Eds., Mouton de Gruyter, 2022, pp. 317–333. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0000269-013</u>.
- [3] M. Gullberg, 'Studying multimodal language processing: The integration of speech and gestures', in *The Routledge handbook of second language acquisition and psycholinguistics*, Routledge, 2022, pp. 137–149. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003018872-14</u>.
- [4] M. Gullberg, 'The relationship between gestures and speaking in L2 learning', in *The Routledge handbook on second language acquisition and speaking*, M. J. M. edited by Tracey M. Derwing and R. I. Thomson, Eds., Routledge, 2022, pp. 386–398. Available: https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/b7ce31b4-b349-4aab-b3be-cbd6b89e1cd9
- [5] D. Sörhammar, B. Tronvoll, and C. Kowalkowski, 'Managing digital servitization: a service ecosystem perspective', in *Management and information technology after digital transformation*, P. D. edited by Peter Ekman and C. Keller, Eds., Routledge, 2022, pp. 23–32. Available: <u>http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:liu:diva-180418</u>
- [6] C. Åleskog, V. M. Devagiri, and V. Boeva, 'A Graph-based Multi-view Clustering Approach for Continuous Pattern Mining', in *Recent Advancements in Multi-View Data Analytics*, Springer Science+Business Media B.V., 2022, pp. 201–237. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-95239-6_8</u>.



Reports

- [1] M. Andersson, D. Sjöberg, and G. Kristensson, 'Stabilization of evanescent wave propagation operators', Electromagnetic Theory Department of Electrical and Information Technology Lund University Sweden, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/10de1033-2db6-4451-a794a77e6b2b1138</u>
- [2] D. Badampudi, 'Student generated test questions', Blekinge Tekniska Högskola, 2022. Available: http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:bth-24038
- [3] R. Bydler, A. Björkström, P. Fritzson, A. Gullberg, L. Schütt, and Y. Sundblad, 'Omställning till ett hållbart transport- och mobilitetssystem med människan i centrum', Linköping University Electronic Press, 2022. Available: <u>http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:liu:diva-187628</u>
- [4] C. Collins, A. Fokkens, A. Kerren, C. Weaver, and A. Chatzimparmpas, 'Visual Text Analytics: Report from Dagstuhl Seminar 22191', Schloss Dagstuhl - Leibniz-Zentrum fuer Informatik GmbH, 2022. Available: <u>http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:liu:diva-190459</u>
- [5] I. Fredriksson, V. Angelakis, D. Eriksson, L. Eriksson, D. Gundlegård, N. Lemon, J. Löwgren, R. Ringhdahl, and A. A. Sezer, 'Störningsfri stad: slutrapport i projektet Visualiserad byggtrafikplanering för en störningsfri stadsutveckling', Linköping University, 2022. Available: <u>http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:liu:diva-184962</u>
- [6] M. Helali Moghadam, M. Borg, M. Saadatmand, S. J. Mousavirad, M. Bohlin, and B. Lisper, 'Machine Learning Testing in an ADAS Case Study Using Simulation-Integrated Bio-Inspired Search-Based Testing', Mälardalen University, 2022. Available: <u>http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:mdh:diva-57607</u>
- J. Linåker and P. Runeson, 'Rekommendationer för samverkan och delning av data, teknik och kunskap inom myndighetsdrivna öppna data-ekosystem', Department of Computer Science, Lund University, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/3d24bf5f-96ae-460c-9e01-9607882cc198</u>
- [8] M. Rasmusson and B. Bernhardsson, 'Activity Report 2021: Automatic Control, Lund University', Department of Automatic Control, Lund University, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/3d25c796-3969-4850-b850-21a4cdd1f146</u>
- [9] D. Sjöberg, 'Computation of radome reference cases using a rotationally symmetric full wave solver', Electromagnetic Theory Department of Electrical and Information Technology Lund University Sweden, 2022. Available: <u>https://lup.lub.lu.se/record/c675ab4a-b5cd-48a5-8c3e-71c4b21acd0d</u>



[10] S. W. Card, A. Wiethuechter, R. Moskowitz, and A. Gurtov, 'RFC 9153: Drone Remote Identification Protocol (DRIP) Requirements and Terminology', 2022. Available: <u>http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:liu:diva-190155</u>

Proceedings Edition

- [1] K. Bouatouch, A. A. de Sousa, M. Chessa, A. Paljic, A. Kerren, C. Hurter, G. M. Farinella, P. Radeva, and J. Braz, 'Computer Vision, Imaging and Computer Graphics Theory and Applications', 15th International Joint Conference, VISIGRAPP 2020, Revised Selected Papers, 1st ed. Springer Nature, xxv+546pp., 2022.
- [2] J. H. Cheon and T. Johansson, 'Post-Quantum Cryptography', 13th International Workshop, PQCrypto 2022, Virtual Event, September 28–30, 2022, Proceedings. Springer Nature, xi+523pp., 2022.

Books

[1] A. Lindholm, N. Wahlström, F. Lindsten, and T. B. Schön, 'Machine learning: a first course for engineers and scientists', Cambridge University Press, xi+ 338pp., 2022.